PLANNING COMMITTEE
10.00 am
THURSDAY
10 SEPTEMBER 2020
IMPORTANT NOTICE:
THIS MEETING WILL BE HELD REMOTELY AND CAN BE
VIEWED VIA: WWW.GLOUCESTERSHIRE.GOV.UK

MEETING PAPERS

PLANNING COMMITTEE
TIME:

10.00 am

DATE:

Thursday 10 September 2020

VENUE:

REMOTE MEETING
AGENDA

ITEM

TOPIC

CONTACT

1.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Andrea Griffiths

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive declarations by members of (a) personal interests
(including their nature) and (b) prejudicial interests under the
Code of Conduct.

3.

PUBLIC QUESTIONS
To answer any written public questions about matters which are
within the powers and duties of the Committee.

Andrea Griffiths

Andrea Griffiths

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is 10am on
Thursday 3rd September 2020.
4.

MEMBERS' QUESTIONS
To answer any written members’ questions about matters which
are within the powers and duties of the Committee.

Andrea Griffiths

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is 10.00am
on Thursday 3rd September 2020.
5.

6.

7.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 42)
To approve the minutes of the previous meeting held on the 9th
July 2020.
APPLICATION NO: 20/0003/GLMAJW SITE: ALLSTONES
SAND & GRAVEL CENTRE, LAND OFF MYERS ROAD,
GLOUCESTER GL1 3QD (Pages 43 - 126)
The Committee is asked to consider the proposal in relation to
the variation of Conditions.
APPLICATION NO: 19/0018/CWMAJW SITE: BADDOWN

Andrea Griffiths

Linda Townsend

INDUSTRIAL ESTATE, BABDOWN AIRFIELD, TETBURY,
GLOS GL8 8YL (Pages 127 - 182)
The Committee is asked to consider the proposal regarding the
variation of condition 8.
8.

APPLICATION NO: 19/0089/CMAJM SITE: LOADERS BARN,
LAND OFF STATION ROAD, BLOCKLEY, GLOS (Pages 183 282)
The Committee is asked to consider the proposal.

Nick Bainton

Denis Canney

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1.

In the event of the Committee not being able to complete
the meeting, the Committee will reconvene at 10am on
Friday 11th September 2020.

2.

Members of the public will be able to view the Planning
Committee via www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

3.

Anyone who wishes to register to speak should contact
Andrea Griffiths from 9:30am on Thursday 3rd September
2020 on 01452 324206; or Email:
andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk

4.

Registered speakers will be asked to provide the clerk with
a copy of their speech at least 24 hours prior to the
Committee Meeting. This is to ensure that in the event of
any technological failures, the clerk will be able to present
the speech, on the registered speakers behalf.

5.

The recorded meeting will be posted on the GCC Website
as soon as possible.

NOTES
MEMBERSHIP –Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Robert Bird, Cllr David Brown,
Cllr Dr John Cordwell, Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Stephen Hirst,
Cllr Graham Morgan, Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Steve Robinson,
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE, Cllr Robert Vines, Cllr Simon Wheeler and Cllr Will WindsorClive
(a)

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the
Monitoring Officer: Rob Ayliffe 01452 328506
e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the
meeting.

(b)

INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect
reports relating to any item on this Agenda or have any other general queries
about the meeting, please contact Andrea Griffiths, Democratic Services Unit

: 01452 324206 or e-mail: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk
(c)

TRAINING/SUBSTITUTION – All members must have received recent training
before they can sit on the Committee and take part in discussion and vote.
Substitution arrangements are as set out in the Constitution. A list of trained
Members is available from your Political Assistant.

Agenda Item 5

PLANNING COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Thursday 9th July 2020
commencing at 10.00 am.
PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:
Cllr Phil Awford
(Chairman)
Cllr Robert Bird
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Apologies:

17.

Cllr Graham Morgan
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE
Cllr Simon Wheeler
Cllr Robert Vines

Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Alan Preest & Cllr Will Windsor Clive

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor Awford declared he represented GCC on the Wessex & Severn and Wye
Regional Flood Coastal Defence Committees.

18.

PUBLIC QUESTIONS
No public questions were received.

19.

MEMBERS' QUESTIONS
No Member’s questions were received.

20.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
Resolved
That the Minutes of the meeting held 14th May 2020 be approved as a correct
record and signed by the Chairperson.

21.

APPLICATION NUMBER: 17/0122/FDMAJM SITE: CLEARWELL QUARRIES
LTD, STOWE, ST BRIAVELS, LYDNEY, GLOUCESTERSHIRE, GL15 6QW.
The Head of Democratic Services facilitated the meeting and advised the
Committee and registered speakers of the procedure which would be undertaken

-1-

Page 1

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

during the course of the virtual meeting. For the benefit of the public watching via
the live YouTube link the following Officers were introduced: Jason Betty: Senior
Planning Officer for the current application, Sarah Pearse: Principal Planning
Officer, Kevin Phillips: Planning Development Team Manager, Simon Excell: Lead
Commissioner and Martin Evans: Solicitor.
The facilitator introduced the following Technical Advisors: Professor John Gunn:
Limestone Specialist Consultant, Natural England, Jenny Spencer: Air Quality
Advisor, Atkins, Gary Kennison: County Ecologist, GCC, Rebecca Underdown:
Planning Advisor, Natural England, Paul Horswill: Senior Planning Advisor, Natural
England and Wendy Richards: Infrastructure Advisor, Atkins.
The Planning Development Team Manager explained that the National Casework
Team, who advises on Secretary of State on decisions, had contacted the Council
regarding the application. It was not known at this stage if the Secretary of State
would call in the application, but the Casework Team had informed Officers that if
Committee resolved to accept the recommendation as published, they would
consider whether the application should be called-in or not.. It was noted the legal
advice was that the published officer recommendation did not need to be altered
and the grant of permission would also be subject to the prior completion of a
Section 106 Agreement. Members were advised that the case officer would
elaborate on this during the course of his presentation.
The Senior Planning Officer, prior to his formal presentation, brought to Member’s
attention that the Mineral Planning Authority (MPA) had received 28 late objections
to the proposal objecting on a variety of grounds. The Committee were advised
that the MPA was of the opinion that all the matters raised in these late objections
had been considered in the Officer Report and many would be mitigated through
the proposed conditions as detailed in the report on pages 170- 194.
It was explained that the late representations had also raised issues relating to the
lack of public consultation, lack of publicity of the meeting, short notice of the
meeting, lockdown restrictions effecting the democratic process, access to public
buildings and that what consultation was carried out was inappropriate for such a
sensitive and destructive proposal. Furthermore, objectors had requested that the
planning meeting be postponed for 28 days to enable all those who wished to
object to do so.
Members were advised that in relation to the consultation on this planning
application, the MPA had complied fully with the Councils adopted Statement of
Community Involvement and was compliant with the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF).
The Senior Planning Officer stated that Chapter 5 of the report (pages 78-88)
detailed the consultation and the publicity that was undertaken from December
2017 to January 2019 and involved 3 separate consultations including site notices,
newspaper advertisements, letters and e-mails to near neighbours, contributors,
Newland Parish Council and St Briavels Parish Council which resulted in almost

-2-

Page 2

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

300 objections being received from residents of Clearwell, St Briavels, Newland,
Hewesfield and Coleford.
Members were advised that there had been claims that people wishing to object
were prevented from doing so via the Council’s public access system as there was
a technical fault. The Officer had since ascertained one of the reason for this was
due to the fact the objectors had been using a reference number relating to a
previous application dating back to 2014 (14/0119/FDM) for the ‘Extension of Stowe
Hill Quarry and retention of mineral processing plant at Clearwell Quarry’ which
was withdrawn in December 2015.
In order to address this and to assist the public who were trying to object to the
proposal, the Senior Planning Officer had given them the opportunity to submit their
objections and comments direct via his GCC e-mail or via the Development Control
inbox.
The Chairperson asked if Members had any questions based on the Officer’s
opening statement. There were none at this stage.
The Senior Planning Officer apologised for the length of the Committee report and
presentation but felt it was necessary under the current unusual circumstances, in
the absence of a site visit and the inability to display plans in the Council Chamber.
The Committee was asked to consider the Planning Application 17/0122/FDMAJM
submitted by, Clearwell Quarries Ltd, owned by Breedon for the Extension of Stowe
Hill Quarry & Retention of Mineral Processing Plant at Clearwell Quarry.
It was noted there were some amendments to the Officer Report, and these had
been circulated to Members of the Committee prior to the meeting for information.
The following amendments were noted as:
-

-

Paragraph 1.10 should read “The nearest residential properties to the
proposed Extraction Area are Shop House Farm which its boundary lies
approximately 105 metres to the north of the Phase 1 boundary and
approximately 170m to the Shop House (dwelling) and approximately 105
metres from the Phase 2 boundary and approximately 220m to the dwelling.
Longley Farm lies approximately 220 metres from the Phase 1 boundary”.
Councillor Cordwell had proposed an amendment to Paragraph 1.10. He
suggested that “The nearest residential properties to the proposed
Extraction Area are Shop House Farm the boundary of which lies
approximately 105 metres to the north”.

The Committee endorsed this amendment.
In addition, the MPA wished to amend recommended Conditions 59 and 61as
follows:
Condition 59 currently read as:
-3-

Page 3

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

-

“Perimeter Screening Bunds - Prior to commencement of development,
details including cross sections of the screening bunds as shown on
approved Plan No: 251L-01-06 shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning
Authority for written approval and constructed as approved prior to
commencement of mineral extraction in the Extension Area hereby
permitted.
Reason: To ensure satisfactory management of the landscape and
biodiversity features in accordance with Mineral Local Plan Policies DM01,
DM06 and DM09.”

The case officer recommended that Condition 59 be amended to:
-

“Perimeter Screening Bunds - Prior to commencement of development,
details including the location of the perimeter bunds and cross sections of
the screening bunds as shown on Plans 251L-01-06 and 251L-01-07 shall
be submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority for written approval and
constructed as approved prior to commencement of mineral extraction in the
Extension Area hereby permitted.
Reason: To ensure satisfactory management of the landscape and
biodiversity features in accordance with Mineral Local Plan Policies DM01,
DM06 and DM09”.

Condition 61 currently read as:
-

“The approved perimeter screening bunds shown in drawings 251L-01-06
shall be located at least 150 metres away from the boundary of Shop House
Farm.
Reason: to ensure appropriate screening to adjoining residential properties
and potential receptors on PROW in accordance with Policy DM09 of the
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

The case officer recommended that Condition 61 be amended to:
-

“The approved perimeter screening bunds shown in drawings 251L-01-06
shall be located at least 150 metres away from Shop House Farm.
Reason: to ensure appropriate screening to adjoining residential properties
and potential receptors on PROW in accordance with Policy DM09 of the
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.”

The Committee agreed to take these amendments as read.

-4-

Page 4

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

The Committee were also advised and accepted the minor amendments to the
written report, these were noted as follows:
-

-

-

-

Paragraph 1.2 should read Breedons not Breedens
Paragraph 1.8 (page) 47 should read “The nearest residential properties to
Clearwell Quarry (where the plant area will be retained) are the Travellers
Rest which is located approximately 10 metres from the boundary of
Clearwell Quarry. Margery Corner and Stowe Green Farm are 60 and 120
metres away, respectively of Clearwell and Stowe Hill quarries”.
Paragraph 2.1 (Page 48) should read north east and not east.
Paragraph 7.129 (page 137) refers to 0.69t and should read 0.69Mt.
Paragraph 7.158 (page 142) “To provide appropriate mitigation measures for
Shop House Farm from any potential noise and dust emanating from the
proposed extraction of mineral from the extension area (specifically phase 2)
the applicant is proposing a 150m Buffer zone from Shop House Farm to the
proposed perimeter screening bunds”.
Paragraph 7.161 “The applicant is proposing to establish the buffer zone by
locating perimeter bunds approximately 150m away from Shop House Farm
and the boundary of phase 2 of the proposed extraction area”.
Paragraph 7.243 (page 153) should read The variation application
17/0110/FDMAJM was determined in July 2020 and not June 2020 subject
to compliance with a Section 106 Agreement being agreed and could be
viewed via the Public Access Portal.
Condition 47 (page 182) 6rnms-1.

A summary of the application was presented by the Senior Planning Officer aided
by a power point presentation (A copy of the presentation is attached to the signed
Minute book).
At this point, the case officer proceeded to the main presentation and explained the
proposal before the Committee was for the extension of Stowe Hill Quarry,
improvements to the plant in Clearwell and Stowe Hill Quarries, the construction of
a noise mitigation bund, construction of a new access road for Longley Farm and
the restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry the proposed extension area and Clearwell
Quarry.
It was reported that the application site area was 28.55Ha in size and was located
within Allocation 01 of the adopted Minerals Local Plan. The application area
incorporated the proposed extension area (13.56Ha).
Slide 5 displayed the north east of the existing Stowe Hill Quarry boundary, the
southern area of Clearwell Quarry containing the plant and the haul road, the
primary crusher area and conveyor leading to Clearwell Quarry and the proposed
new road access for Longley Farm.
Slide 6 depicted a blue area which showed land in the applicant’s control and
included Stowe Hill Quarry and the northern area of Clearwell Quarry.

-5-

Page 5

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Slide 7 was an aerial view of the quarry extension which showed the location of
Clearwell Quarry, Stowe Hill quarry, the extension area, Longley Farm and Shop
House Farm.
The case officer gave a virtual tour of the quarries pointing out some key
characteristics of the quarries due to the absence of a Members Site Visit.
In terms of Stowe Hill Quarry, Slide 8 showed the restoration completed so far on
the north western side of the quarry adjacent to the unclassified highway looking
from the southern boundary of the quarry.
Slides 9 and 10 showed the restoration completed so far in the quarry with the
northern quarry faces in the background viewed from the southern boundary of
Stowe Hill quarry.
Slide 11 displayed the completed restoration works with the housed primary
crusher. Slide 12 showed the western face of the quarry in the process of being
restored as viewed from the north east of the quarry looking westward. Slide 13
showed the quarry floor, looking towards the southern end of the quarry from the
northern faces. Slide 14 showed the western rock face looking across from the
eastern side of the quarry and the internal haul road.
Slides 15 displayed the southern end of the quarry partially restored and the
internal haul road leading to the primary crusher. Slide 16 showed further
restoration of the western faces of the quarry. Slide 17 presented the haul road
used to transport the stone to the crusher and conveyor. Slide 18 exhibited the
conveyor that took the crushed stone into the plant in Clearwell Quarry under the
road viewed from the eastern boundary of the quarry.
Slides 19 – 22 displayed were further photos of the quarry. Slides 23 and 24
showed what restoration works had been carried out on the northern area of
Clearwell Quarry viewed from the eastern boundary adjacent to Marchery Lane.
It was explained that the applicant was proposing to extend Stowe Hill Quarry to the
north-east to extract approximately 2.5 million tonnes of mineral including
limestone, while keeping the haul road, primary crusher and conveyor in Stowe Hill
Quarry. The restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry and the extension area to epikarstbased restoration included a combination of agriculture, grassland, woodland,
hedgerows and wetland features, these features were displayed in Slide 25.
Slide 26 and 27 showed the extension area taken from the northern ridge of the
quarry looking northwards with the Orepool Pub in the background.
Slide 28 displayed the proposed extension area, which lay within Allocation 01 of
the adopted MLP. It was noted the extracted stone would contribute towards
reducing the current crushed rock land bank shortfall for Gloucestershire and the
requirement of the Forest of Dean to provide 10.426 million tonnes of crushed rock
in accordance with the Local Aggregates Assessment through to the end of 2032.

-6-

Page 6

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

It was explained that the extension area was required by the applicant to enable
quarrying to continue at Stowe Hill quarry, as current reserves were almost
exhausted and to provide the limestone shale required to restore Stowe Hill Quarry.
At Slide 29 for Clearwell Quarry the applicant was proposing to keep the site
offices, workshop, staff facilities, weighbridge and wheel wash facilities in situ while
improving the existing plant to reduce noise and dust emissions. The restoration of
the whole of Clearwell Quarry (including the plant area which currently does not
have an approved restoration scheme) to agriculture with associated landscaping
and planting, using both indigenous and imported inert materials.
Slide 30 showed the proposed new plant to be installed in Clearwell Quarry as part
of their environmental improvements that would include improvements to the
principal crusher in Stowe Hill and the plant to further mitigate dust and noise levels
emanating from both quarries during their operations.
Slide 31 displayed that the proposed site area lay approximately 1 km to the south
village of the Clearwell, with the two small hamlets of Stowe and Stowe Green
situated on the local road to the south and north of the quarry access respectively.
It was explained that the proposed extension area consisted mainly of agricultural
land divided by hedgerows forming part of Longley Farm. On the northern boundary
there was an unclassified road from Shop House Farm to Stowe. Longley Farm
including a farmhouse and agricultural buildings lay to the south-east. The
boundary of Shop House Farm lay to the north east.
The case officer advised Members that the nearest residential properties to
Clearwell Quarry where the plant area would be retained, were the Travellers Rest
with the dwelling being located approximately 10 metres from the boundary of
Clearwell Quarry, Margery Corner and Stowe Green Farm were approximately 60
and 120 metres away, respectively of Clearwell and Stowe Hill quarries.
The nearest residential properties to the proposed Extraction Area were Shop
House Farm with its boundary lying approximately 105 metres to the north of the
Phase 1 boundary and approximately 80 metres from the Phase 2 boundary and
Longley Farm which lay approximately 220 metres from the Phase 1 boundary.
Slide 32 depicted Orles Wood, Site of Nature Conservation Interest (SNCI) which
lay approximately 300m to the south-west of the extension area. Slide 33 displayed
the Slad Brook Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and this was approximately
1.2 km to the south-west.
Slide 34 showed the Wye Valley AONB approximately 800m to the west and 900m
to the south-west of Stowe Hill Quarry and the extension area. It was noted there
was a Public Right of Way Footpath 66 in pink on the plan that crossed the
boundary of the extension, which the applicant was proposing to divert during the
proposed development by applying to the Public Rights of Way Team.

-7-

Page 7

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Members were advised that an unclassified highway, Margery Lane, ran along the
western boundary of Clearwell Quarry and this formed the eastern boundary of the
Wye Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) which also runs just to the
south west of the existing Stowe Hill Quarry boundary.
Slide 35 showed the main highway access to the site used for the transportation of
mineral was at the Clearwell Quarry entrance, which accessed the highway network
via and the unclassified highway onto the B4228 at the Orlepool Inn junction.
It was noted at Slide 36 that lorries were only permitted to turn left. This was to
prevent the lorries going through the hamlet of Stowe when leaving Clearwell
quarry.
Slide 37 showed the road access into Stowe Hill Quarry from the unclassified
highway, slightly to the north of the main quarry access at Clearwell. The Stowe Hill
Quarry access was not used for the exportation or importation of stone but as an
operational access for plant, machinery and staff.
Slide 38 showed the location of the proposed new Longley Farm access. Members
were advised that a new access would be constructed for Longley Farm for their
sole use as the current access was part of the extension area. The Highway
Authority was of the opinion that the access road was suitable to accommodate the
movements of traffic travelling to and from Longley Farm and would achieve the
required visibility splays if maintained and clear of obstructions. Slide 39 showed
the proposed access currently and Slide 40 showed the details of the proposed
access.
At Slide 41 the applicant was proposing that the extraction area would consist of
two phases with Phase 1 consisting of two benches which would be worked to a
maximum depth of 170m AOD and would release approximately 1.78 mt of saleable
limestone and would take approximately 3 years to complete extraction.
The soil and overburden stripped from the extraction area would be used to
construct perimeter landscaped bunds in the northern corner of the extension area.
The bunds would be 5m high and located between the extension area boundary
and the Shop House Farm boundary and should mitigate any visual and acoustic
effects on Shop House Farm. It was explained that the exact location of the bunds
was still to be considered. The bunds should be constructed within eight weeks of
commencement limiting the impact on near neighbours from noise and visual
intrusion. Once constructed, it was proposed to immediately have them sown with a
low maintenance grass seed and managed for the duration of their existence to
avoid the ingress of weeds.
Slide 42 depicted Phase 2 of the extraction and would provide approximately
720,000 tonnes of limestone and would take approximately 48 months to complete.
The Committee was informed that limestone shale and poor quality limestone from
both phases would be used in epikarst construction as part of the proposed
restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry and the extension area.
-8-

Page 8

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

However, the proposed extraction of stone from the extension area and the
monitoring of the potential impacts of both the existing and proposed restoration of
Stowe Hill Quarry on the Slad Brook SSSI had been a concern of the Environment
Agency (EA) and Natural England (NE). This was an important matter which
required careful and protracted ongoing negotiations between the MPA, the
applicant, NE and the EA. Members were informed that the EA and NE had now
come to the opinion that, with their recommended conditions included within any
approval, including limiting the extraction level to 176 AOD until monitoring results
were acceptable in accordance with approved schemes and the safeguards that an
agreed Section 106 Agreement provided, they were satisfied for the proposal to be
recommended for approval.
In order to further address issues raised by NE and the EA, the applicant had
proposed setting up a Management and Monitoring Steering Group (MMSG) which
the NE, EA and the MPA would be asked to join. Once established all monitoring
results would be reported to the MMSG for analysis on how restoration was
progressing and especially to report any changes to the water management of the
Slad Brook SSSI.
It was explained that the applicant was proposing that the MMSG would be a key
component in optimising the restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry and the proposed
extension area, as it would be the regulator for how restoration progresses as a
result of the monitoring data. The applicant was proposing that the MMSG would
regulate this through a Section 106 Agreement. Officers agreed that a S106
planning obligation was an appropriate mechanism to ensure a monitoring regime
was put in place involving other parties to ensure the safeguarding of the offsite
SSSI of Slad Brook.
In line with existing monitoring at Stowe Hill Quarry, the operator would continue to
monitor surface and ground water flows through out Stowe Hill Quarry with the
addition of new lysimeters to increase monitoring points. The new lysimeters would
be created and monitored prior to extraction commencing.
Slide 43 denoted that Stowe Hill Quarry had not been fully restored as previously
approved and, to address this, the applicant had applied to the MPA to vary
planning Condition 2 of consent DF/2238/X to vary the restoration schemes for
Stowe Hill and Clearwell Quarries. The case officer informed the Committee that
this variation application 17/0110/FDMAJM would be determined subject to
compliance with conditions and Section 106 Agreement being agreed. This
consent could operate and be implemented unilaterally to this application. However,
if this application was approved, the restoration for each planning application area
would be implemented through a common scheme which applied to both.
The proposed restoration for Stowe Hill Quarry and the extension area would
provide an improved epikarst based restoration including a combination of
agriculture, grassland, woodland, hedgerows and wetland features. In order to
construct epikarst layers as part of the restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry and the
extension area, limestone shale was required which the applicant was proposing to
-9-

Page 9

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

source from the extraction of the proposed extension area, as it should provide
shale with the same geochemistry as the limestone previously extracted.
Slide 44 showed that Clearwell Quarry only had an approved restoration scheme
for the northern part of the quarry. It did not cover the southern half of the quarry
where the processing plant was currently located. The proposed development
would enable Clearwell Quarry to be fully restored once the plant was dismantled
and removed providing an improved landscape and biodiversity gain for the quarry.
If the application was approved, Stowe Hill Quarry, the extension area and
Clearwell Quarry would be fully restored within 8 years from the date of
commencement of development and would include the removal of the plant in
Clearwell Quarry.
Slide 45 showed the amount of schemes that were required to be submitted to the
MPA for written approval prior to Development and extraction and in many cases
implemented prior to Extraction as approved. The subject areas included:
 Archaeological written scheme of investigation;
 Details and plans of the improvements to the plant in both Clearwell Quarry
and Stowe Hill Quarry;
 Details of a wheel wash;
 A scheme detailing transport measures designed to minimise the impact
upon air quality in the designated Lydney Air Quality Management Area;
 Detailed methodology and timescale for the translocation of the hedgerow at
the new access;
 Dust management plan;
 Noise and vibration mitigation scheme;
 The noise attenuation bund and fence to be constructed as detailed in
approved Plans No: 17-01-01 and 17-01-02;
 A scheme for the monitoring of noise levels arising from the Site;
 A scheme for the implementation of blasting at Stowe Hill Quarry;
 A scheme for the monitoring of blasting;
 Details of the location of where topsoil, subsoil, overburden and waste rock
extracted from the Extension Area shall be stored within Stowe Hill Quarry;
 A Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Scheme for the Extension Area
and Stowe Hill Quarry;
 Arboriculture Method Statement;
 Details of boundary stand-offs of at least 5 metres either side for all retained
woodland and hedgerows and a scheme of maintenance to protect them
from disturbance or compaction, including from vehicle movements or
storage of materials or heavy plant;
 A landscape scheme for the Extension Area and Stowe Hill Quarry;
 Details of the perimeter screening bunds including their location;
 A planting and maintenance scheme for the screen bunds;
 A scheme of water Monitoring for Stowe Hill Quarry and the Extension Area;
 A Pollution, Prevention and Control Scheme;

- 10 -

Page 10

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting









A scheme for the Site Water Management Plan for Stowe Hill Quarry and the
Extension Area;
A plan detailing a comprehensive drainage and lagoon system to be installed
to intercept and treat any contaminated surface water run-off from this area;
A scheme for Epikarst Construction Trials;
A scheme for the restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry;
A scheme for the restoration of the extension area;
A scheme to review restoration works carried out in Stowe Hill Quarry to date
and a scheme/phasing plan for the remainder of the restoration works to be
completed;
A detailed Restoration and Landscaping and Aftercare Scheme.

It was noted at Slide 46 that, in response to the consultation process including two
further EIA Regulation 25 consultations, 271 letters of representation (all objecting)
were received in relation to the application and accompanying Environmental
Impact Assessment (EIA). These included residents from Stowe, Stowe Green, St
Briavels and Coleford. In addition, St Briavels Parish Council, Newland Parish
Council, Coleford Town Council, Stowe Green Resident’s Association and the
Campaign for the Protection of Rural England (CPRE) had all objected.
The main concerns raised from the objections related to the integrity of the Slad
Brook SSSI, effects on horseshoe bats, 150m buffer zones, perimeter bund size,
the condition of the plant, dust, noise, HGV movements and visual impact, impacts
on hydrology, local economy.
Further points raised by objectors included:
 The proximity of the site to the Wye Valley and that the site is worthy of
designation itself;
 Impact of blasting damaging property as working will be nearer;
 The loss of light from the proximity of the screening bunds has been raised
by the residents of Brick Cottage in their objection;
 Impact on property values;
 Damage to tourism from quarrying (noise, dust and HGVs);
 Need to stop quarrying in the Forest of Dean.
 Unemployment due to the impacts of the quarries development;
 Restoration off Stowe Hill and the extension area and its potential impacts;
 No benefit to community;
 Loss of amenity in quiet rural area;
 Compensation due to the effect of the quarrying; and
 Breach of human rights.
The Committee noted that Forest of Dean District Council objected on the grounds
of impacts on landscape character. The Local County Council Member objected on
the following grounds:
“Please record my full support for the position of Newland Parish Council in
relation to the Stowe Hill Quarry application. I fully endorse the Parish
- 11 -

Page 11

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Council response and I firmly object to the application for the reasons
therein”.
It was explained that the EA and NE initially objected to the proposal, but after
further information was submitted by the applicant, they no longer objected subject
to their recommended conditions and a Section 106 Agreement being agreed and
signed. The Committee noted that all the objections could be seen in more detail
on pages 78 – 88 of the Officer Report.
The case officer explained, that following careful consideration of all the matters
raised, Officers were of the opinion that, with the proposed planning conditions in
place protecting the amenity of the surrounding area including the Slad Brook SSSI,
the proposal would not give rise to any adverse impacts in terms of visual impact,
water environment and public amenity or detrimental effect on the surrounding
environment and was in accordance with the Development Plan as outlined within
the Officer Report.
Prior to the issuing of a consent if approved, a Section 106 Agreement was required
to be agreed and signed by all interested parties in order to ensure the monitoring
and safeguarding of the Slade Brook SSSI.
Accordingly, Officers recommended that permission be granted subject to the
recommended conditions being implemented as approved and that no development
shall take place on site until all the pre-commencement conditions have been
approved in writing by the MPA and a Section 106 Agreement and been agreed
and signed by all interested parties.
The Senior Planning Officer advised the Committee that responses to some
Member’s questions had been circulated prior to the meeting. He proceeded to run
through them:
Q1: Do we know what tonnage of crushed rock would be achieved if the extension
was limited to 176m AOD?
A:

No - the applicant is still hoping to extract to 170AOD if the monitoring data
supports it.

Q2: Is 176m AOD regarded as “safe” in relation to the chemistry of Slad Brook or
simply “safer” – a bit like the 2m versus 1m distance for covid-19? To date
there appear to have been no discernible ill effects on the Brook from
quarrying to the 176m AOD level.
A:

176 AOD is depth that was approved previously for Stowe Hill Quarry. To date
there does not appear to have been any discernible ill effects on the brook
from quarrying to the 176m AOD level from the monitoring that has been
carried out. Generally a depth of 176 AOD seems to be acceptable to all
interested parties.

- 12 -

Page 12

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Q3: Can the Planning Officer advise as to those adjoining Parishes who were
given advance notice and opportunity to make submissions when this
Application was to be determined?
A:

From the original consultation, Newland Parish Council & St. Briavels Parish
Council were consulted and subsequently consulted again through the
Regulation 25 consultations.

Q4: Can Professor Gunn clarify his understanding of the conditions in relation to
the Water Framework Directive around this somewhat untested model of
dealing with the monitoring, dewatering and potential impact on this unique
SSSI and watercourse? Would he suggest that should permission be granted
a far more regular and robust regime on water quality monitoring should be
undertaken given the offsite concerns?
A:

Prof Gunn advised the Committee that based on his understanding, there was
to be no dewatering. He explained that the conditions in relation to the Water
Framework Directive were a somewhat untested model of dealing with the
monitoring and the potential impact on this unique SSSI and water course. He
suggested that should permission be granted a far more regular regime of
water quality monitoring should be undertaken.
Professor Gunn reiterated there were no dewatering plans and this had not
been considered in relation to the Water Framework Directive. Professor
Gunn advised the Committee that he had been asked by NE to look
specifically at the impacts on the SSSI and the proposed epikarst construction
scheme. He added there was a recommended planning condition that would
require the applicant to do one year of testing before any work whatsoever
was undertaken in the extension area. So if the Committee were minded to
approve the application, the applicant would need to provide details of how
they were going to undertake trials to demonstrate that through epikarst
construction they would be able to replicate what was happening in the current
epikarst in the extension area. If they could then, in Professor Gunn’s
professional opinion, there was very unlikely to be any further impacts on the
SSSI. He referred to a robust scheme of monitoring and explained he was
previously very critical, about the monitoring. He explained there had been a
marked improvement in the proposals and, having assessed what was now
proposed, this should give confidence that any impacts will be detected.

The Chairperson invited the registered speakers to address the Committee. The
facilitator recapped the order of the speaker for the benefit of the public watching
via YouTube.
Mr Tim Hely Hutchinson (Objecting)
“My name is Tim Hely Hutchinson. I live at Scatterford, between Clearwell and
Newland.

- 13 -

Page 13

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

I shall focus on the Application’s threat to the Gloucestershire landscape and its
blight upon local people.
The site Extension would be onto peaceful farmland, forming part of the setting for
Bearse Wood and the Wye Valley AONB. Unlike the existing quarries, which are
reasonably screened from all but close views, the proposed extension area is in a
prominent place that cannot be screened from view. For example, it would be
impossible to screen it from the B4228 to and from Coleford past the Orepool Inn.
The B4228 is one of two roads that bring in tourists and residents from England and
South Wales; the area is the gateway to the Wye Valley. Furthermore, Clearwell
Castle and the Clearwell Conservation Area would be much more directly affected
than before. To reach Clearwell from the B4228, you would have to drive directly
beside the site, close to the centre of Clearwell.
Shop House Farm, immediately adjacent to the site, would be ruined by the
proposal to build 5–metre bunds around it and conduct quarrying only 150 metres
away. The proposed margin of 150 metres is plainly inhuman; no one in this
meeting would accept it for themselves.
The applicant seeks to belittle the admitted landscape destruction, mostly by
reference to restoration plans. But the proposal is not to restore the site to its
original form. Only instead to undertake modest filling and planting, as the
Applicant admits - and Natural England confirms - that full restoration is impossible.
Please imagine the human impact. Big-scale quarrying was first permitted at Stowe
Hill in 1994, with a 20-year time limit. It should be over by now. Then this was
extended in 2003 but only for a maximum of 20 years. So, until this Application,
local people could reasonably have hoped that their suffering would end soon.
Now, there’s the nightmare prospect of quarrying until at least 2026 and probably
beyond.
Enjoyment of nearby woods and fields would be confiscated. The proposal would
bombard us with more noise from blasting, drilling, processing and HGV traffic. It
would cover cars and gardens with toxic dust. It would harm birdlife and other
wildlife. It would endanger Slad Brook, the finest Tufa dam steam in England.
One objecting local resident has written:
“I have lived with the drone of traffic, the crunching of rock, and the weekly
explosions that still rock my house. I have lived with my beautiful countryside views
at the back of the house being completely eradicated by huge bunds…. rocky shale
mounds covered in weeds. I was promised in 1997 that the 35 acre extension then
would be the end of it and I am eagerly awaiting the rural countryside to come back
to me.”
The quarrying around Clearwell has gone on for far too long; this Application
threatens more irreversible destruction than ever before, and the site is in
ridiculously too prominent and too beautiful a place.
- 14 -

Page 14

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Please do a good thing today and refuse this Application. Thank you.”
Mr John James (Objecting)
“Chairman, Councillors, as you listen to what I have to say I would ask you to
consider whether you would approve this development in your Division.
My name is John James. I am a Chartered Engineer with 30 years experience in
dealing with all aspects of highway works specialising in Traffic management and
Road Safety.
The quarry access is onto a C road with a weight restriction in one direction and a
journey of ¾ of a mile via a staggered cross road junction with severely restricted
visibility before reaching a B road. There are further significant constraints before
reaching a Primary Route.
The 10 mile route to Chepstow is on a road which is very narrow in places & passes
through several villages (two with primary schools).
The route to the A48 at Lydney passes a hospital and a primary school, where the
road is often reduced to a single lane, only to then reach a poorly aligned T junction
where regular queuing and air quality problems occur.
The route through Coleford is urban for about 2 miles with a crossroads in Coleford
town centre governed by four stage traffic lights. This junction also gives concern in
respect of air quality. For those unfamiliar with this area, the situation at Coleford
would be comparable to similar junctions at Tetbury, Lechlade or Winchcombe.
I would now like to draw your attention to some of the human and social aspects of
the proposal in the immediate area.
The centre of the village of Clearwell (Population 380) lies within 750 metres of the
existing quarry. The village people and businesses have been suffering for many
years from the toxic dust, noise and ground vibrations from the quarry.
The extension proposed would bring operations to within 550 metres of the village
centre, directly in contravention of the advice in the National Planning Policy
Framework paragraphs 120, 122 and 123 which seek to improve the conditions in
which people live & work.
Paragraph 143 of the Framework is specifically aimed at sustainable use of
minerals, and states that “Authorities should….ensure that operations do not have
unacceptable adverse effects on human health.”
There are also individual properties in close proximity to the proposed quarry area.
Your Council’s adopted recommended distance between a property boundary and
a quarry working area is 200m. The normal requirement by most Mineral Planning
Authorities is 250m. How can the applicant’s proposal of a 100m separation be
acceptable? This is in direct contravention of the Human Rights Act 1998.
- 15 -

Page 15

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

I would contend that there are quarries in Somerset which are able to supply high
grade aggregate in a much more environmentally sustainable way. Somerset has a
land bank of 41 years and Somerset quarries have a nearby motorway connections
with four having direct rail links.
What I ask you to consider is "If this was an application for a new quarry at this
location with all the access and other problems would you even consider granting
permission".
Taking into account local, national and European policies I urge you to refuse this
application.”
Hari Fell (Objecting)
“My name is Hari Fell, and along with my husband Colin I run the Tudor Farmhouse
Hotel, which is situated in the centre of Clearwell.
Tourism is worth an estimated £300 million to the Forest of Dean and Wye Valley. A
recently conducted Visitor Survey, carried out by the Forest of Dean District Council
found that 79% of visitors chose the area because of the scenery and landscape
and 54% because of the peace and quiet. An extension of the quarry as proposed
will ruin the beautifully scenic view on one of the main entry points to the Forest of
Dean (B4228), as well as disturb the peace and tranquillity of the surrounding area.
A decline in tourism to the Forest of Dean would be catastrophic and this is
recognised by the District Council, who have prioritised tourism in their recent core
strategy, and who have also entered into a partnership agreement with the Wye
Valley and Forest of Dean Tourism Association to support the marketing and
promotion of the area for tourism.
Tudor Farmhouse Hotel is a Grade 2 listed building and incorporates a Site of
Special Scientific Interest. We can feel the blasts in the hotel restaurant, and the
dust often settles over the property and SSSI. We were supported by the RDPE
project administered by DEFRA to increase the quality of our accommodation. This
has resulted in us attracting people with a higher disposable income, who are
staying longer. This increases the spend in the local area and benefits the
economy. How many of these affluent guests will want to visit if they have to drive
past a large quarry to get here? How many will return once they are covered in toxic
dust?
Clearwell Castle is one of the country’s premier wedding venues. The owners of
Clearwell Castle have further invested in Clearwell with the purchase and
refurbishment of the Wyndham. They employ 50 permanent staff and a further 100
during the peak summer season.
Puzzlewood has become internationally renowned as a film destination, as one of
the locations for Star Wars: The Force Awakens, and more recently the Secret

- 16 -

Page 16

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Garden. Film companies are attracted to both Puzzlewood and Clearwell Caves to
film.
As business owners, we appreciate the value of jobs to the local economy. Breedon
Aggregates suggest that their site at Clearwell supports 32 jobs and that this
application will only see an additional 4 jobs created. We employ 25 people, all of
whom live locally, and between all the tourism businesses in Clearwell itself, over
120 people are employed year round. The number is much higher if you include the
other businesses which would be adversely affected by this planning application,
such as the pubs on the main road – the Orepool and The Miners at Sling – as well
as the tourist attractions of Puzzlewood and Perrygrove Railway, the Forest of
Dean campsite, and other businesses in St Briavels.
The application states that there would be benefits to the local economy with their
employee’s spending money locally. Even if they do, the value of this additional
spend from 36 employees will be far less than the spend lost from tourists who will
not visit the area should this application go ahead.
Tourism is the greatest sustainable economic driver in the local economy and it will
increase in importance in the coming years, with the continued decline of
manufacturing. In the next 20 years, based on current spend, tourism will bring in
£6 billion pounds into the local economy, and in comparison the quarry will
generate merely £140 million, of which only 5% will remain locally according to
Breedon’s estimate.
The NPPF states that “local businesses should not have unreasonable restrictions
put on them because of changes in nearby land use since they were established”.
Changing Longley Farm to further quarrying will certainly put unreasonable
restrictions on several tourism businesses locally.
As tourism Minister Nigel Huddleston said last week:
Our tourism sector is hugely important - creating jobs, supporting businesses and
driving local economies in villages, towns and cities across the country. It is vital
that we help the sector bounce back and give it the platform to recover when it
reopens.
Allowing this application will hinder this incredibly vital and growing sector. We urge
the council to reject this application, to protect the 120 jobs employed within tourism
in Clearwell.”
Mr Chris McFarling (Objecting):
“Thank you Chairman.
The Slad Brook, as it is locally known, is found in my parish of St Briavels.
I speak on its behalf.
I and hundreds of people in the local community have objected to these quarry
expansion plans for many years now.
- 17 -

Page 17

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

We have petitioned for a stop to the noise and air pollution this quarry creates and
the heavy lorries rushing past our village school.
Some parents are considering moving house away from the danger if this
application is granted permission.
We all understand the need for limestone in construction and concrete production.
We‘re not stupid. There are many sites where this can take place sustainably. But
this isn‘t one of them.
The Slad Brook is internationally important. The site is significant as actively
forming tufa dams are rare. Yet this site has approximately sixty of them; forming
the longest series of tufa dams in Britain.
A recent report shared with the Environment Agency and Natural England found the
Slad Brook to be one of the highest scoring sites for aquatic invertebrate interest in
the country.
Cuts in resources has meant this information has not been brought into planning
consideration, omitted from the Environmental Impact Statements before you now.
Once the limestone has been removed from the catchment, it can never be put
back as it was.
Neither the applicant nor the planning authority have sought to even begin the
restoration schemes; a critical condition of their current permit.
Why haven‘t past conditions been adhered to, or enforced?
Why has no effective, independent monitoring of the environmental impacts taken
place? What‘s going to change with this application? Perhaps this is why our MP
Mark Harper has urgently asked the Secretary of State to call-in this application.
The objection from the Wye Valley AONB office, to pollution of the Valley Brook
aquifer feeding into the River Wye, is of great concern. There is so much more at
stake here.
This application will remove a critical part of the slow-flow catchment crucial to the
survival of the Slad. Removing this huge limestone sponge will lead to desiccation,
disintegration and death of its fragile living tufa.
Have you walked the short distance from quarry to brook, across the ancient
landscape of Stowe Hill?
Have you observed the cascading pools and falls, the special fauna and flora, and
admired the intricate and beautiful natural architecture of the Slad?
Only by knowing what‘s there can you consider carefully what will be lost to future
generations.

- 18 -

Page 18

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Approving this application will accelerate the Slad‘s demise, and remove it from that
register of Gloucestershire‘s natural wonders we are supremely proud of.
It will go down on record, regrettably, as an act of gross environmental vandalism.
Today you determine the fate of the Slad Brook forever. Millions of years in the
making, irreversibly damaged at the press of a button.
Despite the immense power the quarry industry can bring to bear to influence and
downplay the fate of our natural heritage, we know in our hearts that places such as
these have value far beyond the short-term economic gain that could be derived
from destroying them.
If ever the precautionary principle were to be employed wisely, it is now.
Please refuse this application.
Thank you.”
Mr Brian Jones (Objecting):
“We live in an uncertain fragile world. Normality has gone and we are faced with an
unpredictable frightening future. Incarcerated for 5 months and unable to see
friends and family, isolating, shielding, living in fear; of the moment, of the future, for
our loved ones.
And yet, in the middle of all this uncertainty and fear, why are we bringing such a
contentious planning application to committee? Where residents cannot meet to
discuss, some have no internet access, and where the councillors are not allowed
to see the location, foregoing the opportunity to appreciate the enormity of the
current devastation and the tsunami of the future.
Why leave the announcement of this meeting, after endless successive
postponements, until only 7 days before committee? Why, after 7 years of
procrastination, urgently call this meeting during a pandemic so it can only be a
virtual meeting, forcing councillors to decide like an episode of Big Brother based
on a series of well positioned holiday snaps? It's simply not fair.
This application has been allowed to drag on for 7 years, with 3 bites of the cherry.
The client has been allowed to park the huge 2nd application, whilst this one is
decided. A planning 'sprat to catch a mackerel'. Unsurprisingly, these applications
have drawn over 1200 written objections from worried, fearful residents.
Quarries are finite, they have a life. In 2003 the GCC promised residents that this
quarry would finish at the head of this valley, the visual tipping point. A promise
broken and the visual impact doomed.
The devastating visual nightmare of this planning extension, which will
blitzkrieg a tourist route into the Forest is enough to warrant refusal on its own. Yet,
this Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty bordering the application landscape is one
- 19 -

Page 19

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

the councillors have not had the opportunity to view, to experience, to feel, to
admire, and then appreciate the planned destruction.
The “Highly Likely” destruction of Slad Brook, one of the UK's most important
SSSI’s is sacrilege. Despite Natural England and the Environmental Agency
objecting on ALL Three applications, then subsequently a questionable last minute
change of mind, in a secret closed door meeting.
The client did not do a required public presentation of this application and they
rejected numerous requests to meet the Parish council to discuss.
An Ombudsman investigation acknowledged serious breaches of noise and dust at
local residences. The district and county council are well aware of these due to the
1,000+ formal complaints. BOTH have admitted they have been unable to police
and enforce these issues due to ambiguous conditions, lack of resources, lack of
budget, and council distance from the quarry, thus these THREE Statutory
Nuisances have never been enforced, nor are they fixed in this application.
The daily copious dust, is respirable silica, already reaching Clearwell and Sling;
two villages with a primary school and large retiree population. It is this danger that
creates the most fear in local residents. NOTHING in this application fixes this
danger. SO….This application leaves more questions than it answers, which is why
it has lasted 7 years. And those questions have still NOT been answered, yet it’s
deemed to be a good time to steamroll the application through now,
URGENTLY.
The Precautionary Principal states that “When activities may lead to morally
unacceptable harm, actions shall be taken to avoid or diminish that harm. If it is
threatening to human life or health, serious and irreversible, unhealthy for future
generations, or imposed without adequate consideration of the human rights of
those affected. “it is better to be safe than sorry”.
This application creates more questions and long term dangers, than it answers. So
it is asked of you to please; think as a resident, a family member, and take action
now to stop this carnage and protect this beautiful corner of Gloucestershire and its
residents. Thank you”

Mr Ben Richardson (Supporting):
“My name is Ben Richardson and I am Clearwell Quarry’s Quarry Manager.
I am speaking to you today for myself and the other quarry workers, who could not
make it today, to support the planning application so that our jobs can be saved.
I live in the Forest of Dean and have strong family ties to Clearwell and surrounding
area, having spent all of my life in the area.

- 20 -

Page 20

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

I have worked for Breedon since 2013 and for the previous owners before that.
In total have spent 21 years at this site which is all my working life.
I started with a 4 year apprenticeship and have worked my way up to become the
quarry manager.
My roles include day to day operation of the site and compliance with Health and
Safety, Planning Permissions and environmental legislation.
I am the first point of contact at the quarry should there be a complaint.
There is only one persistent complainer who only moved near the quarry in 2014.
Nevertheless every complaint we receive is fully investigated and any problems are
fully dealt with promptly.
It is extremely rare that complaints are received from anyone else. Our nearest
other neighbours, whose back gardens look into the quarry, have never
complained.
You will have heard today from others urging Members to refuse the planning
application and have seen allegations that Clearwell Quarry causes pollution and
has a poor track record of environmental compliance.
This is simply not true! For example, Breedon Southern Ltd and Clearwell are
ISO14001 accredited.
This is a National and European Accreditation Scheme that requires strict
adherence with rigid standards to ensure that the environment is not negatively
impacted upon.
Compliance with these standards are independently assessed whilst there is a
requirement to make continuous environmental improvements.
If the allegations about the quarry’s performance were correct then we would not be
able to retain this Accreditation.
In addition Members will be aware that its own Officers carry out regular visits to the
quarry to check compliance with planning.
As part of Breedon’s commitment to environmental improvement, they have
recently employed a ‘Head of Sustainability’.
I am proud of this new role as it will ensure even greater focus on reducing impacts
and minimizing the carbon impact of our operations and their contribution to climate
change.

- 21 -

Page 21

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Like many of my work colleagues at Clearwell, I rely on my job to support my wife,
three children and to pay the mortgage.
Should planning permission be refused today, the quarry will be forced to close and
the harsh reality is that I will become a casualty and face redundancy.
Notwithstanding the present economic uncertainties caused by Covid and the
likelihood of recession, in my view it would be unwise for Clearwell to close as it will
undoubtedly result in significant negative local economic and employment impacts.
I also fear that it will be extremely difficult to find another job in the quarry industry
which like me and many of my colleagues has been the sole focus of my career.
I therefore respectfully request that Members should vote that planning permission
is granted today thereby securing the jobs of my co-quarry workers as well as
providing economic stability for the area.”
Mr Mike Wrigley (supporting):
“My name is Mike Wrigley and I am the assistant quarry manager at Clearwell.
My roles include day to day running of the quarry, ensuring a high standard of
Health and Safety and environmental compliance.
The main part of my job is to ensure that the operatives are doing their job without
impact to the environment or each other.
I live within 4 miles of the quarry and my wife has strong family ties and connections
in the Forest being a 5th generation Forester.
I support 2 children and the wife with this job and have a mortgage to pay.
My children use the local schools and facilities and my family are most definitely
part of the community.
I feel very angry when there are mischievous allegations made about the quarry’s
environmental performance.
The last thing that I want as a local is anything taking place which will damage my
own back yard.
These allegations are spurious and without any substance.
If planning permission is not granted today, I will be made redundant when the
quarry closes.
This will have a devastating effect on my family, as there are few job opportunities
in the Forest, let alone in the quarry industry.

- 22 -

Page 22

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

As a local I see the clear local economic benefits Clearwell provides including good
quality jobs, use of local tradesmen and spending in shops and local services.
‘My’ quarry also supplies a much needed supply of high quality aggregate products
which can only be found in the Forest.
With the recognised need for this quarry extension in your new mineral plan, it
seems to me that it would be illogical for Members not to grant planning
permissions for the extension.
Thank you for providing me the opportunity to speak today.”
Mr Kevin Morgan (Supporting):
“My name is Kevin Morgan and I am the concrete batching plant supervisor at
Clearwell Quarry.
I am a 5th Generation Forester.
I live in Cinderford and have worked at Clearwell Quarry for 11 years. Before this I
ran my own local transport business.
My job has allowed me to support my wife, 3 children and now grandchildren.
If the quarry closes, I will lose my job and fear that it will be very hard to find
another job in the Forest - especially in quarrying as these jobs are scarce.
My family and I therefore fear for our future should the quarry close.
I take great pride in my job, and as a Forester the environment I work and live in.
It is upsetting to hear accusations about the quarry creating impacts which are
simply not true.
We work extremely hard and are highly regulated to ensure that impacts do not
occur.
For example, the concrete plant operates under a LAPPC Permit which controls
dust.
I would like to point out that we supply mostly local businesses with an affordable
supply of high quality concrete products.
We also supply local organisations and charities such as Clearwell Primary School,
Lydney Ruby Club and Clearwell Caves. We often supply concrete to local
charities free of charge.

- 23 -

Page 23

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

If we were to close, concrete would have to be imported from elsewhere which will
result in an increase in lorry movements from outside of the local area and an
increase in the cost of concrete products.
This will negatively impact on the local community and its economy.
I hope that Planning Permission is granted today so that the quarry can stay open
without further job losses and I can keep my job.
Thank you for letting me speak.”
Mr Lyndon Edmonds (Supporting):
“Thank you for letting me speak.
My name is Lyndon Edmonds and I work as a Quarry Operative at Clearwell.
I have lived in the Forest all my life and have been working at this quarry for 38
years.
I mainly operate an excavator which is the most common plant used at the quarry.
During my working life I have seen many great improvements in plant operation and
working practises to noise and dust so that they do not impact on the local residents
or machine operators.
In the last 10 years, the plant I operate has become much quieter and we have
successfully developed working practises to reduce drop heights to control dust.
The other operators at the quarry and I take great pride in our work and are
committed to working in ways that do not impact on the environment.
After all, why, as locals, would we want to cause any damage to the area we were
all brought up in.
I therefore do not recognise the objections that the quarry creates problems with
noise and dust.
In an area such as the Forest, where good employment is hard to come by, I feel
lucky to have worked at the quarry and to have a well-paid job. This has allowed me
to support and bring up a family within the local community.
I am sure that you can understand my concern for myself, my family and other
quarrymen if Clearwell closes and more jobs are lost.
It would also be a great shame that others will be denied the opportunities that I
have had to work hard for if the Quarry closes.
I therefore hope that planning permission is granted today.”
- 24 -

Page 24

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Mr Nick Dunn (Agent):
“My name is Nick Dunn and I am the Planning Consultant for this application.
There is a clear recognition in mineral planning policy that minerals can only be
worked where they are found.
In Gloucestershire, the hard rock aggregate from Clearwell can only be found in the
Forest.
There is an identified need in Gloucestershire for aggregates from the Forest and
the Government requires maintenance of a 7 year land bank.
The extension to Clearwell is located in an area allocated in the Mineral Plan
adopted in March 2020, to contribute towards this land bank.
Its allocation followed an extensive and lengthy review of alternative options in
which it was evident that the County’s requirements for this mineral could only be
met from extensions to quarries in the Forest.
It was also recognised that the two other quarries in the Forest do not have the
reserves, or the ability, to increase production within acceptable environmental
constraints, to compensate for the loss of Clearwell.
New green field sites were also considered, but their development would have
greater environmental impact than extending Clearwell.
In the absence of this extension, the only feasible alternative is to import
aggregates from outside of the county.
This will significantly increase HGV movements and the emissions associated with
climate change. This is not an environmentally sustainable approach.
Refusing Planning Permission will therefore:
 undermine the new Mineral Plan
 result in a shortfall in the land bank; and
 result in a less sustainable supply of aggregate.
The application in front of you today is a result of 8 years of environmental study.
As recognised by your Officer and their Advisors:
 all environmental impacts have been reduced to an acceptable minimum;
 can be controlled by planning condition and legal obligation; and
 are wholly compliant with Planning Policy.
I therefore respectfully request that planning permission is granted today.
I am available to answer any questions should they arise.”
- 25 -

Page 25

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Mr Mike Young (Applicant):
“My name is Mike Young and I am Head of Land & Mineral Resources at Breedon
Southern Ltd, the largest independent aggregate Company in the UK.
Clearwell Quarry has been operating since the early 20th Century with its modern
development starting in the early 1980’s.
Breedon acquired the quarry in 2013 from Marshals plc - a Company who
specialised in natural stone and landscaping products and not construction
aggregates.
When Breedon assumed management control of the quarry it was evident that the
plant and machinery had been poorly maintained due to lack of capital investment.
Not only was the production inefficient but the neglected plant and machinery was
causing unnecessary release of dust, increased noise and consequential
complaints from our nearest local resident.
Breedon have since worked hard to maintain and update all plant and machinery
with a capital cost in excess of £640,000 spent to date and to train its staff to
successfully control and mitigate these impacts for our neighbours and the
surrounding natural environment.
In addition, there are extensive commitments made in the planning application to
undertake further environmental improvements to the plant and advanced
restoration of the previously worked out quarry areas. This commitment to invest is
only possible however if the planning permission is granted for the extension today.
This planning application represents the culmination of over 4 years discussion and
dialogue with Officers from the MPA and other statutory bodies including NE and
the EA. Over that time the application proposals have been modified to address
concerns raised with a consequential reduction in the proposed mineral extraction
area.
Before the recent exhaustion of mineral reserves at the quarry Breedon employed
36 staff mostly made up of local ‘Foresters’.
Due to the length of time it has taken to determine this application 11 of our
colleagues have unfortunately already been made redundant. Those remaining
colleagues will regrettably also be made redundant if planning permission is not
granted today.
As you have heard each of our colleagues have a name, a family and a real life
story with real consequences. If planning permission is granted, then Breedon will
return to full employment and as a result maximise our contribution to the local
economy.

- 26 -

Page 26

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

I would also like to echo what James Cousins said a few minutes ago in that
communities and environmental protection is at the heart of everything we do at
Breedon. We are for example ISO14001 Accredited. This is a family of standards
relating to environmental management which seeks to continually improve our
environmental performance. We are also keen to develop our ‘Good Neighbour
Commitment’ here at Clearwell quarry.
To reduce our carbon footprint further and contribute to our climate change
objectives we are in the process of replacing all our HGV Fleet to comply with the
Euro VI engine standards and FORS silver compliance.
In recognition of the need for this mineral as designated as ‘Preferred Mineral Site’
in your local mineral plan together with the local economic and environmental
benefits which the extension will provide, I urge you to approve this planning
application today as recommended by your planning officer.
Thank you for the opportunity to speak and I would be pleased to answer any
questions you may have.”
Mr Richard Crighton (Newland Parish Council):
“Councillors, you are required to consider this application based on national and
local planning policy, relevant legislation and with the benefit of advice from experts
in their respective fields, of which we have provided an abundance. My comments
focus on the Slad Brook SSSI.
The SSSI citation by Natural England states “Slad Brook is nationally important for
its active tufa-forming stream system; it forms the longest series of tufa dams in
Britain (700m)”.
Newland, St Briavels and West Dean Parish Councils & Coleford Town Council
have all OBJECTED to this application supported by the three hydrogeological
reports which Newland Parish Council commissioned. They conclude that:
“the proposed extension to the limestone quarry at Stowe Hill is considered to be
unsustainable due to potential medium impacts on the Slade Brook SSSI”.
Prof Gunn, the world’s leading expert on Tufa dam’s states in his report that “The
proposed extension area is in the catchment of the Slad brook springs. Quarrying in
this area would pose a very serious risk of damage to the tufa system in the SSSI.
The measures proposed to mitigate against that risk are inadequate and unproven.
”NE & EA (29/6/18) both originally objected to this proposal, quote “As submitted
we consider there is a high risk that it will damage or destroy the interest features
for which the SSSI”.
Following ‘closed door’ discussions between the applicant and both these
authorities, from which we were excluded, they modified their responses to “We
consider that there is still uncertainty, resulting in concern regarding unproven
methods of restoration”, thus confirming Prof Gunn’s concerns.

- 27 -

Page 27

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

FODDC (8/2/18) Objects to the scheme and concludes that it would “result in
significant short- and long-term harm to the character and appearance of the
landscape … it is judged that the proposal would be contrary to the NPPF”
WYE VALLEY AONB (7/2/20) Objects. “The Slad Brook is not only a SSSI in its
own right, but also a tributary of the River Wye SSSI and Special Area of
Conservation (SAC). The proposed development fails 3 tests of our Development
Strategy”
CAMPAIGN FOR THE PROTECTION OF RURAL ENGLAND (19/2/18) We
strongly support the precautionary principle. If there is a risk that the current
proposals could damage the special features of the SSSI then that, in itself, is a
case for refusing consent.
GCC: your own Lead Flood Authority (30/11/17) “This development could have
significant implications for the management of ground and surface water. Due to the
complex nature of this development we would recommend that you obtain specialist
advice.”
NPC has provided that specialist advice but it has been ignored!
So, to summarise, there is not one single expert who supports this application; on
the contrary they all object, and with very good reasons.
It will doubtless be argued that all these factors can be mitigated by conditions and
legal agreements, but let me tell you what regard the applicant has for conditions
and other legal obligations.
Over recent years the Health & Safety Executive has issued 4 “Immediate
Prohibition Notices” and 3 “Enforcement Notices” in respect of quarries owned by
the applicant, and breaches of planning conditions are reported by at least 2 local
authorities.
On the current site the conditions relating to restoration of worked areas has been
completely ignored.
These examples show beyond any shadow of doubt that the company ignores
planning and Health & Safety regulations, but worse, it fails to correct situation
previously reported. The applicant shows a total disregard for the statutory process
purely on the grounds of profit.
The company has refused to convene the usual 6-monthly Liaison Group meetings
with NPC for over 2 years, and also refused to attend a PC meeting in 2017 to
discuss the proposals.
Do you really want this company operating in this county, let alone at this particular
site?
Turning now to your own policies:

- 28 -

Page 28

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

The recently adopted MLP states with reference to proposals affecting the Wye
Valley AONB that “proposals will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated
that they will not prejudice the character of the landscape of the AONB”
The AONB boundary is only 700m away. (I remind you of the FODDC response)
The MLP states, with reference to this area that “Avoiding the derogation of the
SSSI must be the primary focus”. (I remind you of the concerns NE and the EA)
The European Union Directive 2011/92/EU is very clear that where any shadow of
doubt remains about a proposed development, the Precautionary Principle must be
applied. You will be aware from reading our responses that this is an aspect we
have maintained all along.
To summarise previous speakers and our objection, let me remind you that to
permit this application would:
 contravene the EC on Human Rights
 contravene the Precautionary Principle
 contravene the NPPF
 conflict with your own recently adopted MLP
 show total disregard for the expert advice provided by NE, the EA and
hydrogeological expert and consultants
 ignore the view of the FODDC
 ignore the views of several parish and town councils and literally hundreds if
not thousands of local objectors
Please REFUSE this application. Thank you.”
District Councillor Dave Wheeler (Presented by Chris McFarling in Cllr
Wheeler’s absence):
“My name is David Wheeler. I live in Redbrook, in the Parish of Newland in the
Forest of Dean. The quarry, which the application before you today seeks to
extend, lies in the Parish of Newland. I have been a Parish Councillor in Newland
for some 38 years. I am also a member of the Forest of Dean District Council. I
have, at various times, been a member of the Forest of Dean District Council for 21
years. I am currently a member of the Planning Committee for the Forest of Dean
District Council, and am currently the Chairman of that Committee. For avoidance
of any doubt, I am speaking to you today as a Newland Parish Councillor, and as
the Ward member on the Forest of Dean District Council, and am not representing
either the Forest of Dean District Council, nor the Planning Committee of that
Council.
Over many years Stowe Hill Quarry has exercised a disproportionate amount of
time for Newland Parish Council. I well recall the times in the 1980’s and 1990’s
when the quarry on the northern side of the road ceased operation as a quarry, and
plans for the expansion of extraction were passed on land on the southern side of
the road, with conditions. The current application seeks to further expand this
quarry into agricultural land which forms part of the setting of the Wye Valley Area
- 29 -

Page 29

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which lies only 70m away. In doing so, the
application seeks to destroy landscape that is of particular value, and crucially will
affect a Site of Special Scientific Interest – the Tufa Dams on the Slad Brook. This
in turn will adversely affect the actual landscape of the AoNB.
Many of the conditions imposed on the quarry under current permissions have
never been adhered to, and I would mention in this regard conditions relating to
dust and noise nuisance, and landscape renovation and restoration that appear to
have been systematically ignored, and not enforced by the appropriate Planning
authorities.
The area in which the quarry is set is of particular value both in terms of landscape;
geology and geological features. If this application is granted this landscape value
will be destroyed for ever, and can never be replaced.
Yet the landscape of the quarry is also the environment within which ordinary
people live. For too many years the expansion of this quarry has ridden roughshod
over the quiet enjoyment of people’s lives. The quarry comes far too close to
dwellings, and makes people’s lives intolerable. The hamlets of Stowe, Stowe
Green, and Trow Green have been living with this nuisance to my knowledge for 38
years and in all likelihood for far longer. The quarry has currently ceased operation,
and no stone is being extracted. It has come to the end of its natural life. It is now
time to close this quarry permanently; to enforce conditions relating to restoration of
the landscape and allow the whole area to regenerate naturally.
Members I ask you to reject your officer’s recommendation and refuse the current
application.”
County Councillor Patrick Molyneux:
“Thank you Chairman,
I am here this morning as the County Councillor for Sedbury in which Division these
quarries are situated and I am here to represent the overwhelming, if not
unanimous view of the residents and the local Councils who will be impacted by the
expansion of the quarry and extension of its operations. On that basis I am here to
strongly request that you REFUSE this application.
I will highlight just a few parts of the application and try to underline some of the key
issues.
The NPPF Chapter 15 ‘Conserving and enhancing the natural environment’ at
Paragraph 170 states that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance
the natural and local economy by:
a) protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological
value …;
b) recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the wider
benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – including economic ….;
d) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity ……;

- 30 -

Page 30

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of
pollution or land instability. And development should, wherever possible, help to
improve local environmental conditions.
Both the Environment Agency and Natural England originally objected to an
increase in quarrying on this site. They have since rowed back from the position but
in a meeting with the Newland Parish Council admit that they still had grave
concerns.
The EA stated that...
 Epikarst re-creation is an unproven mitigation measure and they have
concerns this may not work as intended, with the potential for irreversible
impact
NE objected to the proposal on similar grounds, they also considered there to be a
high risk that the proposal would damage or destroy the interest features for which
Slad Brook SSSI has been notified.
 Their objection was based on the grounds that there would be impacts on
hydrology, epikarst restoration, inability of monitoring to adequately protect
the Slade Brook SSSI and the inability of restoration to repair damage. …
in other words, once it’s gone it’s gone!
As you all know this site is in an extremely sensitive location, on the edge of the
AONB it is bounded by Slade Brooke, a SSSI of international importance that has
taken millions of years to form. One mistake, one miscalculation and it would be
destroyed forever.
The site also nestles in the heart of some of the forests finest tourist attractions and
amenities, Puzzle wood, The Tudor Farm House, St Briavels, Clearwell Castle,
Clearwell Caves to mention just a few, 100’s if not 1000’s of local tourism jobs are
completely dependent on the quality of the landscape and environment of the area.
I must say Chairman, given NPPF Chapter 15 and the concerns of the EA and NE
amongst many more, I am very surprised that the committee did not have the
opportunity to have a site visit to properly understand how the quarry sits within the
local area and potential impact it would have.
NPPF Chapter 17 ‘Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals’ at Paragraph 203
states that “It is essential that there is a sufficient supply of minerals … “, however,
this application would provide just 4 years supply of rock, hardly a sustainable
development.
Paragraph 205 states that “when determining planning applications, great weight
should be given to the benefits of mineral extraction, including the economy.....” yet
there would only be 36 jobs provided for just 4 or 5 years of extraction and very
minimal if any additional benefit to the local economy.
From an economic point of view these ‘benefits’ do not out way the risks this
application poses.

- 31 -

Page 31

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

This proposal would also in my opinion have a substantial impact on the landscape.
A prominent ridge would become a hole surrounded by bunding, all of which would
be visible from the 2 main tourist routes connecting Chepstow and Lydney to
Coleford and the Forest of Dean. This will not create the sort of gateway and
welcome to the FoD that will enhance its reputation as one of the most beautiful
parts of the country.
So, you are being asked to jeopardise local tourism and to put at risk some of our
greatest natural wonders such as Slade Brooke from irrevocable damage and
harm, all to extract just 4 years of minerals with absolutely no discernible benefit to
the local economy and certainly not for the environment.
The ‘Precautionary Principle’ should be applied, so please REFUSE this
application, or at the very least, postpone the decision so that you can have a site
visit and see for yourselves the impact this proposal could have on our beautiful
area. Thank you”
The Solicitor advised the Committee in relation to comments that were made in
public speaking about the identity of the applicant and their previous enforcement
history, these points were not material to Member’s consideration of the application
and they should just consider the application before them with the recommended
conditions and Section 106 Agreement..
Public speakers were invited to remain in the virtual meeting if they wished to do so
but were advised that they could no longer participate in the meeting.
The Chairperson invited questions from Members following the presentations.
For the purposes of the clarity, the facilitator asked each Member individually if they
had any questions for Officers at this stage.
Cllr Bird had a legal question for officers He explained that his internet failed for a
few minutes and he wished to know if he could continue to take part in this
committee meeting.
The facilitator clarified with Cllr Bird which public representations he had missed.
Cllr Bird confirmed he had missed the Agent‘s speech and part of the Applicant’s
speech. Cllr Bird confirmed he re-joined during the Applicant’s speech and he had
heard the representation from Newland Parish Council in full. After seeking legal
advice, it was agreed that the Clerk would email Cllr Bird of copy of the Agent’s and
Applicant’s speeches, so he could duly consider them and then continue to take
part in the meeting. The facilitator agreed to return to Cllr Bird for any questions in
due course, once he had read the representations.
It was confirmed for members of the public of watching on YouTube that copies of
all public representations were submitted beforehand in writing to the clerk and in
the event of any technological failures the clerk could access the speeches and if
necessary present on the individuals’ behalf.

- 32 -

Page 32

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Councillor Brown referred to Mr James’ reference to human health regarding air
quality and dust management. He asked if the Air Quality Advisor could clarify the
effect on air quality away from the site, with the HGV movements and possible
increase or decrease in the number of HGV movements. Councillor Brown also
referred to HGV engines being improved, and he questioned if this was for
ecological reasons and sought clarification on how the proposal would affect the
environmental aspect as far as air quality away from the site.
The Senior Planning Officer explained there was to be no increase in vehicle
movements. Regarding carbon emissions he referred Members to page 165,
paragraph 7.315 of the Officer Report which stated that the applicant was
committed to updating their fleet to European standards (as set out on page 166,
paragraph 7.326), which would reduce carbon emissions from the fleet. The Air
Quality Advisor added that she had nothing to add and it was clear in the
documentation there would be no increase in vehicle movements above and
beyond how the quarry had been operating to date. The Advisor welcomed the
applicant’s proposals to upgrade their vehicle fleet.
Councillor Cordwell remarked that the Minerals Local Plan was only adopted in
March 2020 and had undergone a rigorous consultation process prior to its
adoption. The application site was included in Allocation 01. Has therefore asked
for confirmation that the principle of this development had already been dealt and
that the Committee needed to consider the detail of the proposal and the planning
conditions that should applied to it. The Senior Planning Officer confirmed this was
the case.
Councillor Fisher wished to hear more from Professor Gunn about the Section 106
Agreement and the 12 month monitoring scheme. He wished to know if the
process would work and how confident was he in the process. Councillor Fisher
referred to the previous question relating to vehicle movements not increasing; he
disagreed with this point and added there was a seven and a half tonne weight limit
by their entrance to the quarry. He remarked that the roads there were of a nature
that would not take very large HGV’s. Councillor Fisher felt the size of vehicles and
the damage they were doing to the environment by their sheer size and volume
would be increased.
The Senior Planning Officer clarified in relation to Councillor Fisher's comments
there was no condition in place restricting the size of the HGV’s and there was no
proposal to increase the size of HGV’s either.
The Senior Planning Officer explained that the trial area and monitoring scheme
was a fundamental part of the proposal and would take place over a 12 month
period. This would determine how the application progressed and was entirely
dependent upon the data produced. The detail of the monitoring scheme and
criteria would be addressed through conditions. There would have to be 12 months
of monitoring as a minimum and depending on what the data produced, further
monitoring might be required. The details would be decided via conditions. The
purpose of the monitoring scheme was to show whether the proposed restoration
would work and what effects it could have on the water flow in the SSSI.
- 33 -

Page 33

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

Professor Gunn referred Members to recommended Condition 70; Page 190 of the
Officer Report which required that, prior to the commencement of mineral extraction
in the extension area, a scheme of trials would be submitted and approved. So the
first step was to secure a scheme of trials taken over a period of at least 12 months
before any extraction could take place in the new area. In terms of lysimeter trials
these would be a series of 10 experiments which would have different combinations
of materials in them. The experiment would look at the carbon dioxide in the soil in
each of these trials and the water quality coming out of the bottom. Professor Gunn
informed the Committee that this would provide target values, so specialists could
see the soil carbon dioxide in a natural soil in the area and how much of these
solutes were in the water in the natural epikarst.
It was necessary to establish if it was possible to achieve that water quality and that
carbon dioxide. If that could be achieved then, that would go a substantial way
towards mitigating the removal of epikarst from the extension area. If it was not
possible to achieve those concentrations, then it would be necessary for the
developer to fund a new series of trials that could demonstrate that removing of
rock from the epikarst from the extension area would be mitigated by the
construction of a new epikarst within the quarry.
Professor Gunn added it this process was experimental and these would be
important trials because this was not a tried and tested technique. However, he was
content with the wording of the condition.
Councillor Hirst had some reservations about this application centred on the noise
of the operation, the air quality in the surrounding communities and the harm to the
landscape. He referred to Councillor Molyneux’s suggestion that a site visit was
required. The Legal Advisor explained that site visits were not mandatory but it
was a matter Members as to whether they felt they had sufficient information
available to determine the application.
The Planning Team Manager reiterated that, in light of the Covid-19 pandemic, the
case officer had gone to great lengths with the photography in his presentation. As
it stood legally it was not necessary to undertake a site visit on any application.
The Chairperson referred to the Planning Team Manager who reminded Members
the purpose of a site visit was to point out salient features and there was no
discussion on site visits. The purpose of the Government regulations in the
pandemic was to allow Planning Committee to make decisions through remote
meetings. The facilitator also advised the Committee that the Local Government
Association discouraged councils from holding physical meetings in council offices
as decisions could be made virtually. The Chairperson also added it was not
possible to socially distance on a bus for a site visit.
The case officer explained that it would not be possible to see the calcium deposits
on the nearby countryside, as they were in the basin of the quarry. Also the quarry
was not currently operating, so there would be no noise, vehicle movements or

- 34 -

Page 34

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

additional impact on the landscape. In summary, he felt a site visit would not be of
particular benefit to Members in their decision making.
Cllr Hirst was comforted by the fact that these 12 month trials would have seven
performance indicators in place, which would give an objective view of what was
going on.
Councillor Morgan explained that his question had been answered by Professor
Gunn, in that he had confirmed no extraction would take place until these trials of
been concluded. He also wished to know if there were any plans to cover the open
primary crusher and the conveyor that sent the minerals into Clearwell Quarry for
the main crusher.
The case officer referred to Condition 71 which required the trials to be carried out
prior to mineral extraction commencing this would be monitored in association with
NE.
Professor Gunn clarified that the key part of Condition 71 related to the very last
sentence in that, in which required that “no mineral extraction shall commence until
the reported monitoring data from the epikarst trials have been approved by the
MPA”.
Professor Gunn confirmed that, providing the monitoring data from the trials was
approved to be satisfactory and gave the necessary reassurance, and then mineral
extraction could take place. However, if those trials did not result in the relevant
amounts of solute and carbon dioxide, the condition would prevent the extraction
taking place. Therefore it was a very crucial condition.
It was explained that Condition 10 required the crusher to be enclosed using
cladding and other improvements to the plant. There were also conditions relating
to dust and noise. This would be prior to commencement of extraction. It was
noted that the applicant had said that they were going to improve the environment
protection of the crusher and the screener.
Councillor Parsons remarked that he had never seen a planning application with so
many extensive conditions over such a long period of time. Councillor Parsons
asked if the details required by the conditions would be reported back the
Committee, once the trials were completed.
The case officer explained that Officers would usually deal with the discharge of
those conditions and the relevant technical advisors would be involved to ensure
compliance. However, there was a precedent for reporting conditions back to
Committee for ratification at Sprats Gate.
Councillor Parsons suggested only specific fundamental conditions should come
back to committee.
The Chairperson asked the Legal Advisor for clarification on this point. He advised
that if Members felt the need to see and comment on the detail of specific
- 35 -

Page 35

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

conditions then it was within their gift to do so, but it would be advisable to limit the
number of conditions returning to Committee for ratification, more specifically the
critical ones, in particular Condition 71.
Councillor Robinson asked if the crusher then would remain in Clearwell Quarry
and whether all the other buildings would be removed. The case officer explained
that the principal crusher was in Stowe Hill quarry and was not actually visible from
where the photographs were taken.
It was noted that the applicant was proposing that the principal crusher will be
enclosed and the screener would be removed from Clearwell Quarry and be
attached to the primary crusher. This again would be enclosed. The purpose of this
was to reduce dust levels created at Clearwell and was part of the environmental
improvement to the site. The case officer explained that this was, in order to
reduce the impact of dust on nearby residents
The other plant would remain in situ in Clearwell Quarry but only for the period of
the extraction. Ultimately, there would be 8 year period from the date of
commencement of development to the restoration of Clearwell Quarry including the
dismantling and removal of all the plant. . It was noted that Clearwell Quarry would
be addressed via the final restoration scheme.
Councillor Robinson asked if the footpath would be moved. The case officer
explained that the applicant would have to formally apply to divert the footpath from
across the extension area, but as part of the final restoration scheme, they were
intending to reconnect the footpath to where it was originally lay. He advised the
Committee that discussions had taken place with Public Rights of Way Team who
were in favour of the diversion at this stage.
Councillor Tracey thanked officers for a detailed report. She added that many of her
questions had already been answered. However, she had a question in relation to
the tunnel and would the site be left derelict and overgrown if planning consent was
not permitted. Cllr Tracey was pleased to note the applicant’s intention to invest in
a new fleet of environmentally friendly vehicles.
The case officer explained the crusher was connected to a conveyor belt. The stone
was then taken on the conveyor belt through a tunnel underneath the road into
Clearwell Quarry. He added that the proposal was to make some improvements to
the conveyor to mitigate dust. Members were advised that there was a restoration
scheme in place at Stowe Hill Quarry under the original planning application.
At this point Cllr Tracey left her screen for a few seconds. However, she continued
to participate verbally until she returned to the screen.
Councillor Vines had no further questions at this stage.
Councillor Wheeler sought clarification as to what the Committee was being asked
to vote on and if the Committee were minded to permit this application, would it

- 36 -

Page 36

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

need to be referred to the Secretary of State. He also referred to submissions
made by the public speakers and wished to know if the dust was toxic.
The Air Quality Advisor explained that historically there had been issues with dust
on the site and things had improved over recent years. She added there were
proposed improvements to the plant and operation in the application and there was
a requirement for a Dust Management Plan to be submitted prior to
commencement. It was noted that Public Health England and the public health
representative from the County Council were consulted on this application and
made no comment. Paragraph 7.122 of the Officer Report showed that, on a
previous application for extension of quarrying, it was determined that a public
health impact assessment was not required. She confirmed that dust mitigation
would need to be approved prior to works commencing.
The Legal Advisor confirmed that the Officer’s Recommendation was not being
amended. It was for the Committee to decide if it wished to approve the application
subject to the completion of the Section 106 Agreement. The Secretary of State
could have issued a holding direction to the MPS not to grant permission until they
determined whether to call-in the application. They had not done this, but the
National Casework Team had requested to be notified if the Committee accepted
the Officer Recommendation. Reference was made to the initial statement given by
the Planning Team Manager.
Councillor Wheeler also referred to the Ordinance Survey map and the 20 metre
drop off from the south to the northern boundary at Shop House Farm and wished
to know what the difference was. The Infrastructure Advisor explained the visual
impact had been assessed and, in terms of the land form, the final restoration
scheme was really the key issue. She explained that the restoration was heavily
conditioned within the planning permission conditions to ensure the applicant
delivered
The Infrastructure Advisor explained that the landscape restoration would be
consulted on with every interested party. There was the opportunity to put in
additional planting in, if the Landscape Advisor thought necessary. The case officer
confirmed that Forest of Dean District Council would be consulted on landscaping
and restoration plans.
At this juncture, the facilitator returned to Councillor Bird to confirm he had received
and read the representations from the Agent and Applicant. Councillor Bird
confirmed he had and had replied via email to the clerk to confirm this.
Councillor Bird felt Councillors had covered many of the areas. However, he noted
from the outset the application referred to a specific period of extraction. More
specifically he referred to Condition 3 in terms of mineral extraction and Condition
13 in terms of timing, namely in six years at Stowe Hill and tan additional 2 years at
Clearwell Quarry. The case officer confirmed this was correct.
Councillor Bird felt it was a question of a balanced judgement and in accordance
with the Minerals Local Plan there were various mitigations proposed within the
- 37 -

Page 37

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

application. Officers explained, in relation to landscape harm, that this was
sufficiently mitigated by the proposals for screening, etc. and this was supported by
the advice of the landscape consultants.
Councillor Cordwell raised a question in relation to Condition 71. If that could not be
satisfied, he wanted to know if the applicant could come back in the future to apply
for 176 metres AOD as the rest of the quarry had operated satisfactorily without
affecting the brook. The case officer replied there was nothing to prevent the
applicant coming back for another application in the future.
At this juncture, the Committee took a brief adjournment.
Members reconvened at 13:25pm and the Committee entered into debate.
The facilitator invited each Member in turn to debate the application.
Councillor Fisher informed the Committee that he had visited the site and the visual
impact was colossal and could not be under estimated. He referred to the impact
on the Slad Brook as advised by Professor Gunn -and Councillor Fisher doubted
what was proposed would actually give the required results.
Councillor Fisher also referred to the 7.5 tonne weight limit for HGVs While on his
visit to Clearwell, he witnessed a lorry which was he felt was obviously over the
weight limit and he felt that the applicant was showing blatant disregard. He
remarked that the economy of the local area was heavily based on tourism and it
was in a beautiful area of the Wye Valley.
Councillor Fisher raised concerns for the River Wye and the Slad Brook which fed
into the river. He felt as part of our County’s natural history there was a duty to
protect and to do anything that may affect the brook would be wrong.
Councillor Fisher had reservation about the restoration of the existing quarry in
accordance with conditions. He felt that the required planting and landscaping had
not occurred He noted that the surrounding landscape was prime agricultural land
and people earned a living off that. Councillor Fisher suggested that one farm
would lose 9 acres of land which was considerable and it may affect their business.
He added the visual impact of the bunds would be colossal and would change the
shape of the landscape forever. Councillor Fisher suggested that the way the
quarry was dug out and the mitigation to put it right would never restore it to back to
its former glory. He felt it would be a blot on the landscape and he moved that the
application should be refused on SSSI implications, visual implications for
residents, the noise from crushing and the dust factor. He did not have confidence
in the S106 testing to protect the Slad Brook and therefore moved refusal.
The Chairperson asked for a seconder to Councillor Fisher’s proposal. There were
no seconders.

- 38 -

Page 38

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

The Chairperson asked if any Councillor wished to propose to accept the Officer
Recommendation on page 170 of the report.
Councillor Wheeler proposed to accept the Officer Recommendation. He noted that
mineral exploitation within the Forest of Dean was extensive and went back to
Roman times. He added that the Forest produced some of the finest iron ore in the
world and coal extraction in the 1960s and 70s. He added that he used to go pot
holing in the Forest of Dean and was aware of the area and a lot of the landscape
within the Forest of Dean was as a result of slag heaps. Many of the slag heaps
had now grown into some beautiful areas and a number of old quarries that had
had no restoration done to them, were now part of the landscape.
Councillor Wheeler added that this was a short term development and the MPA
could enforce to make sure that it was properly reinstated. As this was an extension
of the existing quarry, he proposed to accept the Officer’s Recommendation.
Councillor Cordwell seconded the proposal. He felt the Officer’s Recommendation
was so heavily conditioned there were numerous safety nets in place. Councillor
Cordwell advised the Committee that the quarry extension was far away from the
north end of the site and was far away from the Wye Valley. He felt there was no
valid reason to refuse the application and was happy to second the proposal to
accept the Officer Recommendation.
Councillor Hirst agreed there were many conditions imposed on this application to
prevent any harm to the environment.
Councillor Morgan informed the Committee that he was from 6 generations of coal
miners in the Forest of Dean and knew a great deal about mining and digging holes
in the area. He added that he was very torn with this application because he felt for
the staff at the quarry but on the other hand there were obviously people whose
jobs were dependent on the growing tourist industry. He welcomed the dust and
noise mitigation levels put in place and welcomed the input of the EA and NE and
appreciated the comments from Professor Gunn.
Councillor Morgan referred to his efforts to prevent open cast operations in coal and
fracking. He noted the area was unique, not only on the surface in terms of
landscape, but also its geology which dictated the hydrology. He informed the
Committee that in the 1970’s, Cinderford lost its water supply and work was
undertaken to trace the basin hydrology. It was explained that the water did not run
naturally to the river and it went round the basin of the Forest and ended up in
Clearwell. So the very nature of hydrology especially in the Forest could cause
unexpected problems, which caused him great concerns.
Councillor Bird looking at the planning balance could not see many planning
reasons to refuse this application. In addition, he referred to the landscaping and
felt that a lot of work had been done to mitigate a lot of potential hazards.
Councillor Bird felt that the issue of landscape and landscape harm was not strong
enough to tip the balance against the application. While he was very disappointed
- 39 -

Page 39

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

that Members were not able to undertake routine site visits, he could not see any
reason to refuse this application.
Councillor Parsons advised the Committee that he was experiencing some difficulty
with his video. The facilitator confirmed with Councillor Parsons that he had been
able to hear the debate. Councillor Parsons confirmed he had heard everything
and his video was now working.
Councillor Parsons felt because the conditions were very extensive and providing
they were successfully implemented they would meet some of the concerns
expressed by local residents and others. He added that he would like the details
required by specific conditions, in particular Conditions 71, 73, 74 and 75, to be
reported back to the Committee for approval after the monitoring period.
Councillor Brown regretted the opportunity to not have a site visit but he accepted
that it was not possible in light of the Covid-19 pandemic. He felt it was difficult to
support this application and was very torn. He accepted there were a lot of
proposed conditions but wondered if the applicant would abide by them. He felt
that, in the absence of a site visit to a working quarry, it was not possible to
understand the levels of dust and noise.
The Legal Advisor informed the Members if they wanted certain conditions to come
back to Committee for approval of their discharge, then they needed to clearly
identify those conditions and ensure that the proposer and seconder were happy to
take that within their motion. The facilitator confirmed with Councillor Wheeler and
Councillor Cordwell they were happy to include this in their motion, to which they
agreed.
The summary of conditions was placed on the screen for all to view and Members
were referred to the detailed conditions within the report from page 170 onwards.
The case officer explained that Conditions 71, 72 and 73 were the most relevant
and related to the epikarst.
It was noted at 14:05pm Councillor Vines tendered his apologies and left the
meeting.
After some discussion Members felt that the details required by Conditions 58, 71,
72, 73 and 74 should be reported back to Committee.
The Legal Advisor once again reiterated it was for Members to specify which
conditions they wished to come back to Committee for approval. The case officer
explained that, in relation to Condition 74, Environment Officers from the Forest of
Dean District Council, EA, NE and the MPA would be involved in the MMSG to
consider the results and they would all have an active role to play in the monitoring
of the site and The Section 106 Agreement would also be put place as part of the
pre-commencement conditions. It was evident that Condition 74 would be
monitored closely through the appropriate specialist group.

- 40 -

Page 40

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

The facilitator once again confirmed with Cllr Wheeler as the proposer and Cllr
Cordwell they were satisfied with the Officer’s Recommendation as summarised in
Paragraph 7.33 to 7.347 of the report and that details required by proposed
Conditions 58, 71, 72 and 73 would be reported back to the Committee for Member
approval in due course. They both confirmed they were satisfied.
On being put to the vote, the application was passed (7 in favour, 3 against and one
abstention). .
The Planning Committee therefore:
Resolved
That the Planning Permission be granted for the reasons summarised in
Paragraphs 7.333 to 7.3474, subject to the prior completion of a Section 106
Planning Agreement to secure the long term monitoring and safeguarding of
Slad Brook SSSI and subject to conditions set out in section 8 of the report.
The details required by Conditions 58, 71, 72 and 73 would be reported to the
Committee for approval in due course.
The Chairperson thanked registered speakers for their representations on this
application and he proceeded to thank Jason Betty, Senior Planning Officer for his
detailed presentation.

Meeting closed 14:19pm

- 41 -

Page 41

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
VALIDATION
DATE:

APPLICATION NO:
DISTRICT REF:

20/0003/GLMAJW

27th February 2020

AGENT:

P E Duncliffe Ltd, The Chapel, Dean Lane, Stoke Orchard,
Cheltenham

APPLICANT:

Allstone Sand and Gravel Limited

SITE:

Allstone Sand and Gravel Centre, land off Myers Road,
Gloucester, GL1 3QD

PROPOSAL:

Variation of conditions 2, 3, 6 (Operating Conditions), 7
(Doors), 18 (Noise) and 23 (Loading) of planning permission
reference 07/0081/GLMAJW, dated 30/07/2008 for waste
transfer station
PARISH OF
Unparished
SITE AREA: 0.8 Ha
GRID
384687 E
218258 N
REF:

20/00249/DCC

RECOMMENDATION: That planning permission is GRANTED for the reasons
summarised in paragraphs 7.102 to 7.108 subject to the planning conditions
recommended in Section 8.0 of this report.
1.0

SITE DESCRIPTION

1.1

The application site lies 0.1km south-east of Gloucester city centre, to the
north of the Gloucester to Birmingham railway line. The 0.8 ha, roughly
rectangular shaped application site is located within a much larger parcel of
land extending to the south, east and west of the application site, owned and
operated by the Applicant. The application site has been used as a waste
transfer site WTS since 1999, before which it was used for storage and
distribution by Kemira Fertilizers. The Appliant employs in excess of 40
people in his waste management and aggregate supply business and is one
of the largest in the County. The facility accepts soils, wood, plastic, ferrous
and non-ferrous metal waste, most of which are brought to the site in the
Applicant’s own fleet of lorries, skip loaders and roll-on/roll-off bins. Waste is
sorted and bulked up for transport off-site for further processing/recycling.
The construction and demolition wastes such as soils, concrete and bricks are
processed by the Applicant on an adjacent site. The Applicant also supplies
aggregate products for the construction industry.

1.2

Nearly half of the application site area comprises the 3720 square metre
footprint of a large portal framed building described as a Materials Recycling
Facility (MRF) measuring 120 metres by 31 metres and 9.5 metres to the
ridge of the pitched roof. The western end of the building is a waste reception
area where waste loads are intially tipped from skip lorries. Materials are
loaded by two 360 degree loaders onto a conveyor which lifts waste up to a
mechanised sorting area from where the different waste streams into the
various holding bays located below the picking line. Wheeled loaders then

1

Page 43

Proposed Site Layout

2

Page 44

Layout of the Materials Recycling Facility Building and elevations

collect the materials for onward distribution by larger waste carrying vehicles.
This is a bespoke system (introduced into the building in the summer of 2019)
which has been designed to the company’s specification and the fully
enclosed picking area means employees no longer have to operate on the
‘shop floor’. The building has an impervious reinforced concrete floor and fully
automated dust suppression system.
1.3

The remaining half of the of the application site is open yard, located to the
south and west of the MRF only. Four x 5 metre high roller shutter doors have
been installed in the western elevaton of the MRF, two of which are 7.5
metres wide and two more are 5.5 metres wide which open out to access land
to the west of the MRF. This area of land measures 50 metres by 60 metres,
includes the weighbridge and two partly covered over 16 m x 6m sand storage
bays called Zappshelters. The Zappshelters provide a membrane covered
convex shaped roof with a maximimum height of 7 m at the highest point
which are sited against the western and southern boundaries of the external
yard and application site, to the west of the MRF. A small single storey brick
built office building, single storey modular building used as a canteen/welfare
facility and generator are located close to the northern site boundary. The two
storey modular office building and reception, straddles the northwestern
application site boundary. This is located to the west of the single brick built
office building and pedestrian access and gate which provides access in the
northern boundary fence to the land to the north of the site. The brick built
office and weighbridge were granted permission under a City Council
planning reference 97/00444/FUL on 01/10/97.

3

Page 45

1.4

The land immediately to the north and east of the MRF is not included within
the delineated application site area. This eastern part of the site is used for
the external storage of finished stone and aggregates in bays for the
construction industry. Materials is distributed in bulk using wheeled loaders to
load the customer and Allstone delivery vehicles. The use of this part of the
site for open storage has been established with a Certificate of Lawful
development. The eastern part of the Allstone site can be accessed via a 5
metre wide electric roller door in the eastern elevation of the MRF or by an
external road which runs along the full length of the northern elevation of the
MRF. Three electric roller shutter doors, each measuring 5 metres in width,
installed on the MRF’s northern elevation provide access to the land to the
north of the MRF. This land to the north of the building, lies outside the
application site boundary and is between 17 metres and 30 metres from the
northern Allstone site boundary, from west to east. This part of the site is
separated from the rugby clubhouse and Almscroft Park, to the north by a
belt of mature trees, which provides screening for the site.

1.5

An 18 metre wide strip of land to the south of the MRF which runs along its full
length is accessed from a single 5 metre wide roller shutter door in the MRF’s
southern elevation. Immediately to the south of the southern application site
boundary and Zappshelter and north of the railway line is a concrete batching
plant. Whilst the land is within the Applicant’s ownership, this plant is
independently operated by the Breedon Group and does not form part of the
application site.

1.6

A 1.89 ha parcel of land in the Applicant’s ownership, to the southwest of the
MRF is used for the recycling and processing of construction and demolition
wastes. Waste material is brought to the site in skips and deposited on the
western side of the site then crushed and washed on a campaign basis for
sale as secondary aggregates. There is a separate vehicular and gated
access from Myers Road, located 5 metres southwest of the main site
entrance. Where material is mixed with other types of waste, it will be first
sorted in the MRF building on the application site before being relocated to the
aggregates processing area. The inert waste processing part of the site is
linked to the application site by an internal haul road. This part of the Allstone
site is subject to a separate waste permission for a temporary period
reference 19/0070GLMAJW which requires waste processing to cease and
the site restored to hardstanding by the 5th October 2022.

1.7

Vehicular access to the application site is derived from a 180 metre long
private road that crosses the Applicant’s land to the west of the application
site to join Myers Road, which in turn links with Horton Road. Vehicles enter
through a gateway in the north western corner of the Applicant’s fenced site
and leave via the same gate. This part of the site, which runs parallel with the
vehicular access to the rugby club carpark, to the south of Swallow Park
houses, accommodates an open area for skip storage and parking on either
side of the access road. A second weighbridge has recently been installed for
the purposes of weighing loads of the secondary aggregate, to the west of the

4

Page 46

two storey office building. This part of the site lies outside of the current
application site boundary.
1.8

To the north of the application site lies Armscroft Park, an area of public open
space with rugby pitch, the Gloucester Old Boys Rugby Clubhouse, accessed
from Myers Road. The associated clubhouse car park is used by the
Applicant. To the north west and north east of the site lie residential
development known as Swallow Park and Armscroft Park respectively. The
nearest dwelling to the application site is 14 Norman Ball Way, approximately
50 metres north west of the northern boundary of the application site. Number
32 Blinkhorns Bridge Lane is the closest dwelling to the eastern edge of the
MRF building and the application site at 75 metres from the front elevation.
Land to the south of the railway line is a mix of commercial uses comprising a
large Morrisons Supermarket, Big Yellow self- storage rental facility,
Mercedes Benz dealership and small trading estate.

1.9

Public Right of Way (PROW) reference ZGL126 is located 40 metres east of site
and links Blinkhorns Bridge Lane to Metz Way in a generally north-east/southwesterly direction by passing under the railway line, close to the eastern edge of
the Allstone site. PROW ZGL181 lies 42 metres north of the application site,
running east-west between Norman Ball Way and Coronation Grove, passing
along the northern side of the Clubhouse. Wotton Brook is culverted under the
railway line as it flows from south to north through the public open space. It lies
about 34 metres from the eastern boundary of the application site but follows the
eastern boundary of the land in the Applicant’s control. None of the land in the
Applicant’s control, including the application site, is within a high risk flood zone
of the Wotton Brook, which primarily occupies the public open space land, to the
west of Coronation Grove.

2.0

THE PROPOSAL

2.1

The proposal is for the variation of six planning conditions of planning
reference 07/0081/GLMAJW, granted on 30th July 2008. Section 73 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 permits minor material amendments to
be made to a planning permission where a relevant planning condition can be
varied. The permission when granted should set out all the planning
conditions and restate the conditions of the earlier permissions that continue
to have effect. The reason for the submission of the application is described
in the Supporting Planning Statement as arising “from the various changes
that the Company have made to certain operational aspects of their business.”
The application has been made at the request of the Waste Planning Authority
(WPA) to regularise the changes made to the waste transfer operation,
changes made to the external appearance of the MRF building, including new
door openings, installation of new plant and structures on the site which have
occurred since planning permission was granted in 2008.

2.2

In addition to the proposed variation of planning conditions, the Applicant has
also submitted information to satisfy the requirements of three further planning
conditions of permission reference 07/008/GLMAJW which relate to a vehicle

5

Page 47

noise mitigation scheme (condition 19); mitigation scheme for dust, odour and
windblown litter (condition 21) and a dust suppression scheme for the eastern
doorway (condition 22).
2.3

The existing text of each of the six planning conditions is set out below along
with the Applicant’s proposed rewording of the condition. Strikethrough
indicates where the text has been deleted or changed and emboldened text
shows any revised new wording.
Existing Condition 2
Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority or
varied by other condition(s) attached to this permission, the development
hereby permitted shall be carried out with the site edged red with a continuous
line on the ‘Site Location Plan’. Drawing Number ASG/001/2005, dated June
2005, Revision A (‘the Site’), and in accordance with the ‘Building Layout’,
Drawing Number ASG/001/2005, Dated June 2005, Revision B and with the
details in the submitted planning application and supporting information.
Reason: in order to define the scope of the consent and in the interests of the
amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 37 of the adopted
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy BE.21 of the City of Gloucester
Local Plan Second Deposit.
Proposed Condition 2
Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority or
varied by other condition(s) attached to this permission, the development
hereby permitted shall be carried out with the site edged red with a continuous
line on the ‘Site Location Plan’. Drawing Number ASG/001/2020, dated
February 2020 (‘the Site’), and in accordance with the ‘Site Layout Plan
Drawing Number ASG/002/2019, Dated December 2019, and the MRF
Building Internal Layout drawing ASG/003/2019 dated December 2019
and with the details in the submitted planning application and
supporting information.

2.4

A revision is sought to condition 2 which defines the scope of the planning
permission for this part of the Allstone site. While the red lined site area
remains the same, the Applicant’s land ownership shown by the blue line has
been updated on Site Location Plan: ASG/001/2020 to reflect additional land
around the application site which has been purchased since the 2008
permission was granted and which is proposed to be substituted in this
application.

2.5

The proposed Site Location Plan also shows the position of a pedestrian gate,
modular canteen building and generator which have been installed without
prior permission on the site since the 07/0081GLMAJW permission was
granted in 2008, close to the northern site boundary. Paragraph 3.19 of the
Supporting Planning Statement describes the gate as being 1 metre wide, 2.2
metres high and of steel construction. Its purpose is described as providing

6

Page 48

“access to the site for members of staff who park their cars in the Old Boys
Rugby Club car park”. The generator is described in paragraph 3.20 of the
Supporting Planning Statement as “originally used to assist with the start up of
the MRF plant inside the Waste Transfer Building. Following refinements of
the electrical system of the MRF plant, the generator is no longer required for
the start up of the MRF plant. However the company wishes to retain the
generator for emergency back-up purposes.”
2.6

Details of the modular canteen building have been provided in drawing
reference ASG/CB/2020, dated February 2020, received on the 27th February
2020. These show the floorplan and elevations of the single storey flat roofed
unit which measures 15.3 m by 7.3 m and is 3.5 m high. The prefabricated
unit manufactured by Concept Accommodation Limited has an entrance door
on the southern elevation to allow access from the application site.

2.7

The Applicant seeks to regularise the installation of these structures and plant
on the application site as part of this planning application, which were installed
without planning permission. It should be noted that only the eastern half of
the two storey office modular office structure is located within the application
site boundary and was the subject of a separate planning application under
reference 20/0019/GLMAJW. A separate application was requested by the
WPA to retain the unauthorised two storey office structure because the
regulations do not permit the site area of a Section 73 planning application to
be enlarged so as to include the entire footprint of the office building. This
office structure was approved under delegated authority on the 23rd July 2020.

2.8

In addition, the Applicant seeks approval for the changes made to the site
layout and to the MRF building since 2008. It is proposed that the approved
‘Building Layout Plan’ is updated by the proposed Site Layout Plan
ASG/002/2019 and ASG/003/2019 - MRF Building Internal Layout.

2.9

When the Applicant was granted its original planning permission paragraph
3.2 of the Supporting Statement describes the process as involving “the
receipt of waste materials into the WTS building whereby vehicles (primarily)
skip loaders) would tip out the waste materials which would then be
segregated into ‘heavy’ and ‘light’ waste. It was primarily a simple segregation
process which was very labour intensive. The process was supplemented by
the use of a mobile screening machine mainly for soils and subsoils and a
Doppstadt wood shredder. Any waste which was not capable of being
recycled /beneficially used was bulked out and taken to a registered landfill
facility.”

2.10

Paragraph 3.4 of the Supporting Statement explains how the Applicant has
invested heavily in the business with “one of the primary objectives being to
focus on a more integrated and efficient system of processing incoming waste
streams which is less labour intensive. The Applicant has invested in a new
materials recycling facility MRF which has been supplied and installed by Blue
Southern (as agents of Wisteria – a German manufacturing company). The
MRF is effectively a conveyor belt system which separates various waste
streams into individual holding bays. It is a bespoke system which has been

7

Page 49

manufactured for the company’s specific operational requirements. It has a
fully enclosed and environmentally controlled picking station which means that
the site staff no longer have to operate on the ‘shop floor’.”
2.11

The substitution of drawing ASG/003/2019 - MRF Building Internal Layout for
the approved Building Layout drawing ASG/001/2005 is proposed in condition
3. The proposed drawing shows the revised working areas inside the MRF
building, with the western doors used to allow access to the waste reception
area, for the bulking out of waste for landfill and the new picking plant taking
up the majority of the central core of the building. Wood waste would be
shredded within the building along the southern wall and taken via the door in
the southern elevation to bulk up the shredded wood waste into skips, stored
outside the door, along the southern application site boundary. Fine soils
dropping from the conveyor above are collected once a day into an 8 wheel
tipper and taken via one of three doors in the northern elevation to the
adjacent waste processing site. The other two doors on the northern
elevation are used for access/egress for vehicles parking up at the start and
end of the day and the removal by a forklift of pallets of sand and gravel which
has been bagged up inside to the north of the MRF plant. Reference to
permission 01/00255/FUL which only permitted the use of eastern door in
emergencies is proposed to be removed. The Applicant proposes to use the
eastern door to remove the light recyclates such as shredded plastics which
are collected within northeast corner of the MRF building, to be removed by
waste vehicle.
Existing Condition 3
The premises (defined as the building shown on the ‘Building Layout’,
Drawing Number ASG/001/2005, Dated June 2005, Revision B (‘the
Premises’) attached to planning permission 05/01126/FUL granted planning
permission dated 22nd September 2005) shall be used for a waste transfer
station and for no other purpose other than that specified by permission
01/00255/FUL dated 3rd July 2001.
Reason: In order to define the scope of the consented use at the site and in
the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 37 of the
adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy BE.21 of the City of
Gloucester Local Plan Second Deposit.
Proposed Condition 3
The premises (defined as the building shown on the ‘MRF Internal Layout,
Drawing Number ASG/003/2019, Dated December 2019, (‘the Premises’)
shall be used for a waste transfer station and for no other purposes other than
that specified by permission 01/00255/FUL dated 3rd July 2001.

2.12

The Applicant seeks to amend the wording of approved condition 6 “to enable
the bulking out of waste through doors on the western elevation and wood
waste through the doors on the southern elevation.” The proposed external
areas which are associated with these doors are marked with hatching on the

8

Page 50

proposed Site Layout Plan ASG-002-2019. The approved condition limits
waste operations to within the confines of the building described as the
‘Premises’ and therefore no external working is permitted.
Existing Condition 6
All operations and activities for the processing, handling and storing of waste
shall take place within the Premises.
Reason: In order to define the scope of the consented use at the site and in
the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 37 of the
adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.
Proposed Condition 6
All operations and activities for the processing, handling and storing of waste
shall take place within the Premises except for the bulking out of waste
which shall be restricted to those area shown hatched black on the Site
Layout Plan drawing number ASG-002-2019, dated December 2019.
2.13

The Applicant states in paragraph 3.12 of the Supporting Planning Statement
that they seek to vary condition 7 to “enable the doors on the south elevation
to be used for bulking out of waste wood and for the doors on the west
elevation to be used for both the receipt of incoming waste and bulking out of
waste. The variation also seeks to allow the doors on the north and east
elevations to be used for operational purposes but not for bulking out waste.”

2.14

Existing condition 7 states that the door to the west cannot be used in
conjunction with the operations of the WTS and instead references the use of
the door to access the storage of building and garden supplies permitted
under 01/00255/FUL to which reference is proposed to be removed. It is
proposed that all doors to the building would be permitted to be open to allow
for operational use in connection with the use of the building but only two
would be used for bulking out of waste products in skips that require to be
removed by skip lorries. It should be noted that a single roller shutter door of
6 metres wide has been replaced by four x 5 metre high roller shutter doors,
with total opening width of 26 m on the western elevation of the building in
order to provide access to the waste reception area for skip lorries bringing
waste material into the building for sorting.
Existing Condition 7
All doors to the Premises except those existing on the south and east
elevation shall be kept closed at all times, except for emergency purposes.
The door to the west elevation may be opened solely for the purpose of
providing access to the stored goods area permitted under application
reference 01/00255/FUL dated 3rd July 2001 and shall not be used in
conjunction with the operations of the Waste Transfer Station.

9

Page 51

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy
37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policies BE.21,
FRP.10 and FRP.11 of the Second Deposit City of Gloucester Local Plan.
Proposed Condition 7
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the County Planning Authority ,
All the doors to the Premises shall be used for the following specified
operational purposes except those existing on the south and east elevation
shall be kept closed at all times, except for emergency purposes.
The doors on the north and east elevations shall not be used for bulking
out purposes and shall only be use for operational purposes associated
with the MRF building.
The door to the west on the south elevation may be used for the purposes
of bulking out wood waste and operational purposes associated with the
MRF Building and the doors on the west elevation may be used for the
receipt and bulking out of waste and for operational purposes
associated with the MRF building. opened solely for the purpose of
providing access to the stored goods area permitted under application
reference 01/00255/FUL dated 3rd July 2001 and shall not be used in
conjunction with the operations of the Waste Transfer Station.
2.15

The Applicant seeks amendment to condition 18 so that noise measurement
is related to the noise sensitive receptors rather than the site boundary as
currently stated in the approved wording. The Applicant explained in
paragraph 3.13 of the Supporting Planning Statement that: “It is considered
that the noise level at the site boundary is not the most appropriate way of
measuring noise levels as it is the noise impact at the receptors that is
considered more appropriate.”

2.16

The amendment of this condition was supported by a Noise Impact
Assessment (NIA) and Noise Management Plan (NMP) by 24Acoustic, dated
9th December 2019. Both documents were subsequently amended by
versions 1, 2 and 3, dated the 17th April 2020, 30th June 2020 (received on
24th July 2020) and 12th August 2020 following comments from the Council’s
acoustic advisor.

2.17

In paragraph 3.8 of the NIA, the Applicant’s acoustic consultant comments
that “the existing noise condition is considered dated and not appropriate to
the existing operation. The noise level at the site boundary is of little
relevance and it is the noise impact at the receptors that is considered most
appropriate. It is therefore considered that the rating methodology of BS 4142
is the most appropriate means of assessing the noise impact from the
proposals.”

2.18

In paragraph 2.3 of the NIA the scope of the assessment has been clarified
as:

10

Page 52

“This technical report addresses the noise impact from the operations within
the red line boundary of the planning application – namely the MRF together
with associated vehicle movements within the red lined area. Notably the
aggregate recycling and crushing operations and stone retailing areas fall
outside the redlined boundary (and do not fall under the control of the
environment permit) and therefore have not been considered further in this
assessment.”
Existing Condition 18
The equivalent noise level of the noise emitted from the Site shall not exceed
a 15-minute LAeq of 55dB at the Site Boundary.
Reason: To protect the amenities of local residents in accordance with Policy
37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policies BE.21,
FRP.10 and FRP.11 of the Second Deposit City of Gloucester Local Plan.
Proposed Condition 18
The equivalent noise level of the noise emitted from the Site shall not exceed
a 15-minute LAeq of 55dB at the Site Boundary nearest noise sensitive
receptors.
2.19

The Applicant explains in paragraph 3.14 of the SPS that he seeks to amend
approved condition 23 to allow the bulking out of waste into lorries for removal
outside of the building as this is currently only permitted within the building.
Two areas for this purpose to the south and west of door openings have been
indicated by hatching on the proposed Site Layout Plan ADG-002-2019.
Existing Condition 23
No loading of bulked out waste into lorries for removal from the site shall take
place except within the building.
Reason: In the interest of the amenity of the area in accordance Policy 37 of
the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.
Proposed Condition 23
No loading of bulked out waste into lorries for removal from the site shall take
place except within the building other than through the door on the south
elevation (in relation to wood waste) and the doors on the west elevation
(for other waste) and the bulking out process shall be restricted to those
area hatched in black on the Site Layout Plan drawing number ADG-0022019 dated December 2019.

11

Page 53

Submission of schemes to satisfy planning conditions:
2.20

In paragraph 3.16 of the Supporting Planning Statement, dated February 2020
the Applicant states that all the vehicles owned and operated by Allstone are
fitted with white noise reversing alarms in order to satisfy the requirements of
existing Condition 19 which requires:
The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until a
scheme for the control of noise from reversing bleepers attached to lorries or
other vehicles operating or visiting the Site, has been submitted to, and
approved in writing, by the Waste Planning Authority. The approved scheme
shall thereafter be implemented and complied with at all times.
Reason: To protect the amenities of local residents in accordance with Policy
37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policies BE.21,
FRP.10 and FRP.11 of the second Deposit City of Gloucester Local Plan.

2.21

In paragraph 3.17 of the Supporting Planning Statement, the scheme and
programme of measures includes the sheeting of all waste entering the site;
no waste material deposited outside the confines of the MRF building; all
vehicles carrying waste shall follow the circulation route. An automatic dust
suppression system operates within the building to control dust levels; all hard
surfaces around the site shall be kept clean by staff using hand sweeping and
supplemented by a road sweeper used twice a week and a high pressure
water hose used to dampen down. All waste processed within 48 hours of
receipt to keep odour nuisance to a minimum. If any malodourous source of
waste is identified by staff, this will be swiftly identified and segregated and
treated with deodorising equipment consisting of portable sprayers.
Windblown litter which has escaped the building or an unloading vehicle will
be picked up by staff during twice daily external inspection of the building.
The Applicant has set out detailed procedures for loading a skip and
procedure for tipping a load. The programme of dust odour and litter
suppression will be reviewed by the company every 6 months and a daily
record of weather conditions and monitoring/remedial actions taken shall be
recorded and kept for inspection for 2 years.
Condition 21 - Dust, Odour and Windblown Litter
The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until a
scheme and programme of measures for the suppression of odour, dust and
windblown litter has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Waste
Planning Authority. The scheme shall include:
(a)
(b)
(c)

Measures for the suppression of dust, odour and litter caused by the
moving, processing and handling of waste materials on the Site and a
definition of the occasion(s) when those measure will be used;
Procedures for the handling and movement of skips;
Twice daily monitoring at the Site boundary for odour, dust and litter. A
provision of a written record specifying weather conditions, results of
monitoring and any remedial action taken. This record shall be kept for

12

Page 54

(d)

a minimum of 2 years and be available for inspection by authorised
officers;
Provision for monitoring and review of the scheme.

The approved scheme shall thereafter be implemented and complied with at
all times.
Reason: to protect the amenities of the locality from the effects of any dust
arising from the development in accordance with Policy 37 of the adopted
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policies BE.21, FRP.10 and FRP.11 of
the Second Deposit City of Gloucester Local Plan.
2.22

In paragraph 3.18 of the Supporting Planning Statement, the Applicant has
stated that a dust suppression scheme comprising a system of water pipes
fixed to the underside of the internal roof area which emit a fine spray of water
across the internal operational area have been in operation for an unspecified
number of years in order to satisfy existing Condition 22 which requires:
Prior to the use of the eastern doorway commencing, details of a dust
suppression system for the loading area within the building adjacent to the
eastern doorway shall be submitted to and approved by the Waste Planning
Authority. Use of the eastern doorway shall not commence until such system
has been installed and is operational, and said system shall be maintained at
all times thereafter.
Reason: In the interest of the amenity of the area in accordance Policy 37 of
the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations
2017

2.23

The proposal being an amendment to an existing waste management
operation on a 0.8 ha site, that is within 35 metres of Wotton Brook falls under
the description of development, under Schedule 2, section 11 'Other projects'
(b) 'Installations for the disposal of waste (unless included in Schedule 1)';
where the following thresholds apply: (ii) the area of the development
exceeds 0.5 hectare; and (iii) the installation is to be sited within 100 metres of
any controlled waters.'

2.24

The WPA adopted the following screening opinion on the 17th March 2020:
“Whilst the approved annual throughput for the site is above the indicative
threshold of 50,000 tonnes set out in the National Planning Policy Guidance
Note, on the basis that annual throughput limit of 75,000 tonnes is not
exceeded, the operational improvements to the waste management operation
as set out in the proposed amendment of the planning conditions and
continuing monitoring of noise at the application site boundary, would not
have significant impact on the environment, either by themselves or in
combination with other development in the vicinity of the site. The potential
impacts are not considered to have a significant effect to warrant the
production of an Environmental Impact Assessment.”

13

Page 55

3.0

PLANNING HISTORY

3.1

The operations on the Allstone site are subject to a number of different planning
permissions, some of which were granted by the County Council and some by
the District Council. Those permissions relating to the waste transfer operation
and the main building are listed in the table below. It should be noted that the
Applicant’s inert waste recycling site, on land to the west of the current
application site was granted a renewal of temporary permission in January 2020
under planning permission 19/0070/GLMAJW.

3.2

The use of the application site changed from storage and distribution by Kemira
Fertilizers to a waste management operation submitted to Gloucester City
Council (at time where waste operations with in existing buildings were deemed
district planning matters) in 1999 when the application site was permitted on
appeal on 09.10.1998 to be used as a waste transfer station. There have been a
series of applications to vary the conditions placed upon the original permission.
This planning permission is not time limited like the inert waste processing site
which expires on 5th October 2022.

3.3

The whole of the Allstone site is subject to a grant of outline planning permission
for housing and student accommodation; construction of new vehicular access
etc. and demolition of existing buildings and structures under the City Council
planning reference 16/00948/OUT subject to a legal agreement that was signed
on 19/12/2018.
Application
number

Description of development

20/0019/GLMAJW

Retention of two storey Office building

16/00948/OUT

Outline application for housing and
student accommodation; construction
of new vehicular access; provision of
car parking, road, footpath and
drainage infrastructure; ground works,
provision of open space and
landscaping and demolition of existing
buildings and structures. (All matters
reserved except access).
Variation of conditions 7 (use of
doors), 11 (throughput returns) and 16
(hours of working) of planning
permission 07/0081/GLMAJW (dated
30 July 2008) relating to use of the
site as a Waste Transfer Station
Variation of conditions 7 (use of
doors), 11 (throughput returns) and 16
(hours of working) of planning
permission 07/0081/GLMAJW (dated

10/0054/GLMAJW

09/0045/GLMAJW

14

Page 56

Decision/dat
e
Consent
24.07.20
Granted
subject to
legal
agreement
signed on
19/12/2018

Withdrawn
27.10.2010

Refused
03.12.2009

07/0081/GLMAJW

05/01126/FUL

01/00254/FUL

01/00255/FUL

97/00789/COU
Appeal Ref:
T/APP/U1620/A/98/
294844/P7
97/00444/FUL

30 July 2008) relating to use of the
site as a Waste Transfer Station
Variation of condition 7 of planning
permission 05/01126/FUL to allow the
door on the east elevation to be used
in association with the Waste Transfer
Station
Variation of condition 2 of appeal
decision ref:
T/APP/U1620/A/98/294844/P7 to
allow the use of the site for
putrescible and special wastes (in
addition to the approved use of the
site as a Waste Transfer Station for
household, industrial and commercial
wastes)
Variation of condition 5 on planning
permission 97/00789/COU to allow
door in west elevation to remain open
during operational hours and door on
east elevation to be opened three
times per week for operational
reasons.
Variation of condition 2 on planning
permission 97/00789/COU to allow
use of part of waste transfer station
building for storage of building and
garden products.
Change of use from warehouse
(Class B8) to Waste Transfer Station.

Erection of 2 storey workshop with
ancillary offices. Installation of
weighbridge and aggregate bays,
construction of parking area,
landscaping and planting works,
demolition of storage building and
open store.

Consent
30.07.2008
Consent
22/9/05

Proposal to
use the
eastern door
refused and
refusal upheld
on appeal.
Approved
03/07/2001

Refused
31/03/1998.
Appeal
allowed
09/10/1998
Approved
01/10/1997

Enforcement History
3.4

The Planning Monitoring Officer (PMO) has visited the site in order to investigate
the most recent complaints of operations taking place on the Allstone site of
working outside of the hours permitted by planning condition on both the inert
waste recycling site and the Waste Transfer site and the installation of a
weighbridge. The operator has reminded a third party company which carries
out the crushing and screening on a campaign basis of the approved starting

15

Page 57

time for operating equipment. The PMO confirmed that while vehicles were
arriving on the WTS that plant within the MRF was not operational before the
approved start time of 07:30 hours. The PMO confirmed that the second
weighbridge had been installed outside the boundary of the waste management
site and was used for weighing loads of secondary aggregates sold from the site.
The matter has been referred to the City Council in order to regularise as a
district matter.
4.0

POLICY CONTEXT
NATIONAL POLICY GUIDANCE
National Planning Policy Framework

4.1

The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) published on 19th
February 2019(NPPF) sets out the Government’s planning policies for England
and how these are expected to be applied and is a material consideration in
determining the application. In assessing and determining planning proposals,
the local planning authority should apply the presumption in favour of sustainable
development, which is the main focus of the NPPF in relation to both the planmaking and decision making process. The NPPF does not contain specific
waste policies; however local authorities should have regard to policies in the
framework so far as relevant to waste applications.

4.2

Paragraph 7 NPPF advises that the purpose of the planning system is to
contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. Sustainable
development means that 3 overarching objectives of building a strong and
competitive economy, maintaining healthy and vibrant communities and
protecting the environment need to be pursued.

4.3

Paragraph 11 NPPF advises that decision takers should apply a presumption
in favour of sustainable development by:





4.4

approving development proposals that accord with an up to date
development plan without delay; or
where there are no relevant development plan policies or the policies
are out of date, granting permission unless;
the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provide a clear reason for refusing the proposed
development; or
any adverse impact of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF
taken as a whole.

Paragraph 108 NPPF advises in assessing proposals for development it
should be ensured that a safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved
for all users and significant impacts from the development on the transport
network (in terms of capacity and congestion) or on highway safety can be
cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree.

16

Page 58

4.5

Paragraph 109 NPPF requires that development should not be refused on
highway grounds unless there would be an unacceptable impact on highway
safety or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be
severe.

4.6

Paragraph 170 NPPF discusses how planning decisions should contribute to
and enhance the natural and local environment. In relation to air quality
NPPF notes that this can be achieve by:
“e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of
soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development should
wherever possible help to improve the local environmental conditions such as
air and water quality taking into account relevant information such as River
Basin Management Plans.”

4.7

Paragraph 180 NPPF advises that planning decisions should ensure that new
development is appropriate for its location, taking into account the likely
effects of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as
well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that
could arise from the development. In so doing they should mitigate and
reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise from new
development and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impact on
health and the quality of life.
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

4.8

Air Quality Paragraph 005: When could air quality considerations be relevant
to the development management process?
“Whether air quality is relevant to a planning decision will depend on the
proposed development and its location. Concerns could arise if the
development is likely to have an adverse effect on air quality in areas where it
is already known to be poor, particularly if it could affect the implementation of
air quality strategies and action plans and/or breach legal obligations
(including those relating to the conservation of habitats and species). Air
quality may also be a material consideration if the proposed development
would be particularly sensitive to poor air quality in its vicinity.
Where air quality is a relevant consideration the local planning authority may
need to establish:





the ‘baseline’ local air quality, including what would happen to air
quality in the absence of the development;
whether the proposed development could significantly change air
quality during the construction and operational phases (and the
consequences of this for public health and biodiversity); and
whether occupiers or users of the development could experience poor
living conditions or health due to poor air quality.

17

Page 59

4.9

Planning Obligations Paragraph 002: When can planning obligations be
sought by the local planning authority
Planning obligations also known as developer contributions assist in
mitigating the impact of unacceptable development to make it acceptable in
planning terms. They may only constitute a reason for granting permission if
they meet the tests that are necessary to make the development acceptable
in planning terms. They must be:




4.10

Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
Directly related the development; and
Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

Noise Paragraph 001: When is noise relevant to planning?
“Noise needs to be considered when development may create additional
noise, or would be sensitive to the prevailing acoustic environment (including
any anticipated changes to that environment from activities that are permitted
but not yet commenced). When preparing plans, or taking decisions about
new development, there may also be opportunities to make improvements to
the acoustic environment. Good acoustic design needs to be considered
early in the planning process to ensure that the most appropriate and costeffective solutions are identified from the outset.”

4.11

Noise Paragraph 002: Can noise override other planning concerns?
“It can, where justified, although it is important to look at noise in the context
of the wider characteristics of a development proposal, its likely users and its
surroundings, as these can have an important effect on whether noise is likely
to pose a concern.”

4.12

Noise Paragraph 009: How can the risk of conflict between new development
and existing businesses or facilities be addressed?
“Development proposed in the vicinity of existing businesses, community
facilities or other activities may need to put suitable mitigation measures in
place to avoid those activities having a significant adverse effect on residents
or users of the proposed scheme.
In these circumstances the Applicant (or ‘agent of change’) will need to clearly
identify the effects of existing businesses that may cause a nuisance
(including noise, but also dust, odours, vibration and other sources of
pollution) and the likelihood that they could have a significant adverse effect
on new residents/users. In doing so, the agent of change will need to take into
account not only the current activities that may cause a nuisance, but also
those activities that businesses or other facilities are permitted to carry out,
even if they are not occurring at the time of the application being made.
The agent of change will also need to define clearly the mitigation being
proposed to address any potential significant adverse effects that are

18

Page 60

identified. Adopting this approach may not prevent all complaints from the
new residents/users about noise or other effects, but can help to achieve a
satisfactory living or working environment, and help to mitigate the risk of a
statutory nuisance being found if the new development is used as designed
(for example, keeping windows closed and using alternative ventilation
systems when the noise or other effects are occurring).
It can be helpful for developers to provide information to prospective
purchasers or occupants about mitigation measures that have been put in
place, to raise awareness and reduce the risk of post-purchase/occupancy
complaints.”
4.13

Waste Paragraph 47: Should existing waste facilities be expanded/extended?
“The waste planning authority should not assume that because a particular
area has hosted, or hosts, waste disposal facilities, that it is appropriate to
add to these or extend their life. It is important to consider the cumulative
effect of previous waste disposal facilities on a community’s wellbeing.
Impacts on environmental quality, social cohesion and inclusion and
economic potential may all be relevant. Engagement with the local
communities affected by previous waste disposal decisions will help in these
considerations.”

4.14

Waste Paragraph 050 states that:
“There exist a number of issues which are covered by other regulatory
regimes and waste planning authorities should assume that these regimes will
operate effectively. The focus of the planning system should be on whether
the development itself is an acceptable use of the land and the impacts of
those uses, rather than any control processes, health and safety issues or
emissions themselves where these are subject to approval under other
regimes. However, before granting planning permission they will need to be
satisfied that these issues can or will be adequately addressed by taking the
advice from the relevant regulatory body.”
National Planning Policy for Waste – (October 2014)

4.15

The National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) was published in October
2014 setting out detailed waste planning policies which should be read in
conjunction with the NPPF. All local planning authorities should have regard
to its policies when discharging their responsibilities in relation to waste
management. The NPPW was published after the Gloucestershire Waste
Core Strategy was adopted.

4.16

Section 7 NPPW provides advice about the determination of planning
applications. Appendix B of this document provides advice on locational
criteria and in determining planning applications. Waste planning authorities
should consider where appropriate the following:
a) protection of water quality and resources and flood risk management
b) landscape instability

19

Page 61

c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)
j)
k)
l)

landscape and visual impacts
nature conservation
conserving the historic environment
traffic and access
air emissions, including dust
odours
vermin and birds
noise, light and vibration
litter
potential land use conflict

4.17

Consideration of air emissions and dust will include the proximity of sensitive
receptors including ecological as well as human receptors and the extent to
which adverse emissions can be controlled through the use of appropriate
and well maintained and managed equipment and vehicles.

4.18

Waste Planning Authorities are also asked in paragraph 7 not to concern
themselves with the control of processes which are a matter for the pollution
control authorities. WPAs should work on the assumption that the relevant
pollution control regime will be properly applied and enforced when
determining planning applications.
DEFRA Noise Policy Statement of England 2010

4.19

The Noise Policy Statement of England (NPSE) was published on 15 March
2010 by Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and it sets
out the long term vision of government noise policy to promote good health
and good quality of life through the management of noise.

4.20

Noise policy long term vision is supported by the following aims:
“Through the effective management and control of environmental, neighbour
and neighbourhood noise within the context of Government policy on
sustainable development:




4.21

avoid significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life;
mitigate and minimise adverse impacts on health and quality of life; and
where possible, contribute to the improvement of health and quality of
life.”

The NPSE defines a concept of a ‘significant observed adverse effect level’
(SOAEL) as ‘the level above which significant adverse effects on health and
quality of life occur.’ The NPPG expands the concept of SOAEL introduced
by the NPSE and adds a Lower Observable Adverse Effect Level (LOAEL)
and No Observable Adverse Effect Level (NOAEL) to provide a noise
exposure hierarchy for use in noise impact assessment in the planning
system. In general terms it is considered that a noise impact level lower than
an SOAEL is acceptable provided that the effect is mitigated to a minimum.

20

Page 62

4.22

British Standard 4142:2014 +A1:2019 provides a methodology for the
assessment of commercial sound at (the exterior of) residential properties.
The standard advocates a comparison between prevailing typical background
noise level and the source noise level. The difference between rating level
and background level of around +10 dB is an indication of ‘significant adverse
impact’ and a difference of around +5 dB is likely to be an indication of an
adverse impact depending on context. When rating level does not exceed
background noise this is an indication of sound source having a low impact.
DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE
Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (Adopted November 2012)

4.23

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 indicates
that development proposals should be determined in accordance with the
adopted Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
Gloucestershire’s Waste Core Strategy (WCS) was adopted 21st November
2012 and forms part of the Development Plan, providing a planning
framework for waste management across the county of Gloucestershire in the
period 2012 - 2027. It identifies a vision, objectives and strategy relevant to
Gloucestershire compliant with the NPPF. . The policies from the WCS
relevant to the determination of this application are:
Policy WCS1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
When considering development proposals the Council will take a positive
approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development
contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. It will always work
proactively with Applicants jointly to find solutions which mean that proposals can
be approved wherever possible, and to secure development that improves the
economic, social and environmental conditions in the area.
Planning applications that accord with the policies in the WCS (and, where
relevant, with policies in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out
of date at the time of making the decision then the Council will grant permission
unless material considerations indicate otherwise – taking into account whether:
Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the
National Planning Policy Framework taken as a whole;
or
Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be
restricted.
Policy WCS3 - Recycling & Composting
In order to achieve the Gloucestershire local authorities' household recycling and
composting target of at least 60% by 2020, and diversion of an additional 91,000
– 111,000 tonnes per year of C&I waste from landfill, the Council will support in
principle, proposals relating to the development of new and expanded recycling

21

Page 63

and composting facilities including businesses that process recyclates and reuse waste.
Planning permission will be granted subject to the following criteria being met:
1. It can be demonstrated that the impact on the environment and neighbouring
land uses is acceptable. Proposals for composting generally must be at least
250m from sensitive land uses such as housing unless it can be demonstrated
that it can operate in closer proximity without adverse impact.
2. The highway access is suitable for the proposed vehicle movements.
3. The proposal contributes towards providing a sustainable waste management
system for Gloucestershire.
4. If the proposal is of a 'strategic' scale (>50,000 tonnes/year) it is located in the
area defined as 'Zone C' (see Key Diagram).
Particular support will be given to proposals that:
- Are located within1 or close to an urban area; and/or
- Involve the re-use of previously developed land, vacant or underutilised
employment land and/or redundant rural buildings including farm diversification
opportunities; and/or
- Involve co-location with an existing operation of a similar or complimentary
nature; and/or
- Incorporate alternatives to the transport of waste by road (rail, water etc.),
and/or
- Are well located to allow employees to reach the site by foot, cycle or public
transport.
Proposals for the development of markets for recycled materials, in particular
initiatives to assist small to medium-sized businesses to re-use/recycle their
discarded waste materials will be supported and encouraged through partnership
working including the Gloucestershire Waste Partnership.
Policy WCS4 – Inert Waste Recycling and Recovery
In order to help reduce the impact of landfill and achieve the requirements of the
Waste Framework Directive (2008) the Council will aim to divert around 85,000
tonnes/year of inert waste from landfill through recycling and recovery
operations.
Proposals for inert waste recycling and recovery facilities will be permitted where
it can be demonstrated that:
1. The impact on the environment and neighbouring land uses is acceptable
including detailed assessment of the impact of noise and dust and
attenuation measures.
2. Where viable, the proposal incorporates the use of alternatives to road
transport such as rail and water and that where road transport is used the
highway access is suitable for the proposed vehicle movements and is
supported by a transport assessment and travel plan setting out measures
to encourage employees to reach the site by foot, cycle or public transport.
3. The proposal contributes towards providing a sustainable waste
management system for Gloucestershire.
22

Page 64

4. If the proposal is permanent and of a ‘strategic’ scale (>50,000 tonnes/year)
it is located in the area defined as ‘Zone C’ (see Key Diagram) except where
located within an existing or disused mineral working.
Developments may be acceptable on existing waste management sites and
mineral workings where it can be demonstrated that the minimum amount of
materials are being used for restoration/engineering purposes and that the use
will not unduly prejudice the agreed restoration principles and timescale for the
site. Temporary developments may be acceptable where the material is recycled
and re-used on site.
Policy WCS10 – Cumulative Impact:
In determining proposals for waste related development for new or enhanced
waste management facilities the Council will have regard to the cumulative
effects of previous and existing waste management facilities on local
communities alongside the potential benefits of co-locating complimentary
facilities together. Planning permission will be granted where the proposal would
not have an unacceptable cumulative impact.
In considering the issue of cumulative impact, particular regard will be given to
the following: 1. Environmental quality; 2. Social cohesion and inclusion; and 3.
Economic potential.
Within these broad categories this will, subject to the scale and nature of the
proposal, include an assessment of the following issues: noise, odour, traffic
(including accessibility and sustainable transport considerations), dust, health,
ecology and visual impacts.
Policy WCS18 – Bulking and Transfer:
In order to promote greater efficiency and to reduce the potential impact of
transporting waste by road, particularly on the Strategic Road Network (SRN) the
Council will support in principle, proposals relating to the development of new
and expanded bulking and transfer facilities.
Planning permission will be granted subject to the following criteria being met:
1. It can be demonstrated that the impact on the environment and
neighbouring land uses is acceptable.
2. The highway access is suitable for the proposed vehicle movements.
3. The proposal contributes towards providing a sustainable waste
management system for Gloucestershire.
Particular support will be given to proposals that:

Are located within or close to an urban area; and/or

Involve the re-use of previously developed land, vacant or underutilised
employment land and/or redundant rural buildings including farm
diversification opportunities; and / or

Involve co-location with an existing operation of a similar or complimentary
nature; and / or

Incorporate alternatives to the transport of waste by road (rail, water etc.),
and / or
23

Page 65



Are well located to allow employees to reach the site by foot, cycle or public
transport.

WCS19 – Sustainable Transport
In the interests of sustainable development and minimising the impact of waste
management on Gloucestershire's roads and the wider natural and historic
environment, proposals for waste-related development that utilise alternative
modes of transport such as rail and water will be positively supported. This is
subject to compliance with other relevant development plan policies and the
contribution to a sustainable waste management system for Gloucestershire.
Any development exceeding the thresholds set out in the Department for
Transport publication 'Guidance on Transport Assessment' must be supported by
a Transport Assessment (TA) and Travel Plan. Consideration will also be had to
the location of the proposed development in determining whether a TA is
required.
Development that would have an adverse impact on the highway network which
cannot be mitigated will not be permitted.
Where a Travel Plan is required the developer will be expected to enter into a
Section 106 or unilateral legal agreement to secure the development of the
travel plan and any contributions required to support its implementation. A
contribution towards costs of monitoring the travel plan will also be required.
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002 – 2012 (Adopted October 2004)
4.22

The Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan (WLP) was adopted in October 2004
and some of its policies still form part of the Development Plan. Therefore
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 applies to
these policies. Following the Secretary of State for the Communities and
Local Government’s Direction (dated 5 October 2007), the following WLP
policies are ‘saved’ until replaced and are relevant to the determination of the
proposed development:
Policy 33 WATER RESOURCES – POLLUTION CONTROL
Proposals for waste development will only be permitted where there would be no
unacceptable risk of contamination to surface watercourses, bodies of water or
groundwater resources.
Policy 37 – Proximity to other land uses:
Proposals for waste development will be determined taking into account such
matters as the effect on the environment, occupants’ and users’ amenity and
health, the countryside, the traditional landscape character of Gloucestershire,
the local highway network, any hazardous installation or substance and any
adverse cumulative effect in combination with other development in the area.
Where appropriate, suitable ameliorative measures shall be incorporated in the
proposals to mitigate, attenuate and control noise, dust, litter, odour, landfill gas,
vermin, leachate and flue emissions.

24

Page 66

Policy 38 – Hours of Operation:
The Waste Planning Authority will where appropriate impose a condition
restricting hours of operation on waste management facilities to protect amenity.
Joint Core Strategy – Adopted 23 November 2017
4.23

The Joint Core Strategy (JCS) also forms part of the Development Plan and
provides the strategic policy for development across the three administrative
areas of Cheltenham, Gloucester and Tewkesbury until 2031. Gloucester City
Council formally adopted the Joint Core Strategy (23rd November 2017) along
with Tewkesbury Borough Council (5th December 2017) and Cheltenham
Borough Council (11th December 2017). The JCS contains a number of
strategic objectives, one of which (Objective 9) is concerned with promoting
healthy communities by enhancing opportunities for working in partnership to
ensure that environmental quality and air quality is protected.
The following JCS policies are considered relevant to the determination of this
application:
Policy SD1 – Employment
Employment – related development will be supported:
vii. Where it allows the growth or expansion of existing business especially in
the key growth sectors, subject to all other policies of the plan.
viii. Where it would encourage and support the development of small and
medium sized enterprises, subject to all other policies of the plan.
Policy SD14 – Health and Environmental Quality
1. High quality development should protect and seek to improve
environmental quality. Development should not create or exacerbate
conditions that could impact on human health or cause health inequality.
2. New development must:
i. Cause no unacceptable harm to local amenity including the amenity of
neighbouring occupants;
ii. Result in no unacceptable levels of air, noise, water, light or soil
pollution or odour, either alone or cumulatively, with respect to relevant
national and EU limit values;
iii. Result in no exposure to unacceptable risk from existing or potential
sources of pollution. For example, by avoiding placing sensitive uses in
locations where national or EU limit values are exceeded, or by
incorporating acceptable mitigation measures into development;
iv. Incorporate, as appropriate, the investigation and remediation of any
land contamination within the site.
Second Stage Deposit City of Gloucester Local Plan (2002)

4.24

The Second Stage Deposit City of Gloucester Local Plan is a draft plan that
was published and approved for development control decision making in
2002. As it is not a formally adopted plan its policies cannot be superseded

25

Page 67

by the adoption of the Joint Core Strategy. However its policies have been
reviewed by the City Council in light of the JCS, NPPF and there are no
policies considered to have material weight in decision making for this
application.
Gloucester City Plan
4.25

The Pre-Submission Gloucester City Plan (GCP) was approved for public
consultation by the City Council on 26th September 2019, under Regulation
19 of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations
2012 . The Plan was published for consultation for a period of six weeks,
between Thursday 7th November and Friday 20th December 2019.

4.26

Together with the JCS, the GCP will guide the City's future growth up to 2031.
It covers a time frame of 15 years between 2016 and 2031. The GCP delivers
the JCS at the local level but will also set out policies that seek to address
local issues and opportunities in the City. It will identify where and how new
development will take place to make sure requirements are met, and that new
developments positively contribute to the City's needs.

4.27

There are no specific proposals for the application site, although there are two
draft site allocations: Policy SA19: Land off Myers Road for approximately 10
dwellings on 0.36 ha site to the west of the site entrance and Policy SA05:
Land at Great Western Road Sidings for approximately 200 residential
dwellings on a 4.3 ha site. The Policy SA19 overview makes reference to the
suitability of this allocation being dependent on the removal of the adjacent
Allstone Sand and Gravel Site which has planning permission for residential
development and student accommodation. The overview for Policy SA05 is
the brownfield site offers the opportunity for a high density scheme near the
city centre and transport hub.

5.0

REPRESENTATIONS

5.1

The application was publicised by site notices dated 5th March 2020 and a
press notice in the Gloucestershire Citizen newspaper on the 5th March 2020.
The expiry date given for comments was 26th March 2020.

5.2

Two hundred and sixty seven neighbour notification letters were sent to
nearby residents and businesses on 2nd March 2020 with comments
requested by 30th March 2020. A total of 6 objections have been recorded to
date. The issues raised in these objections relate to:




Increase in the amount of HGV using an unsuitable road;
Surfaces of Myers Road and Horton Road are already in poor state
and are being destroyed;
Reduction in Council Tax should be given to residents if this is
permitted;

26

Page 68
















6.0

Operation is too close to schools, hospital, medical practice; sports
club, children’s play area and old people homes. This should not be
permitted on health and safety and ethical grounds;
Disturbance to residential properties by banging from the crusher,
skips and traffic to and from the site;
History of concern by local residents over lack of enforcement of
planning conditions by either County or City Council and constant
changes by operator to the original permission with conditions
designed to protect residents, sought without gaining prior planning
permission;
loss of trees on site from pollution originally protected by Tree
Preservation Order;
Granting of more variations will lead to more noise and dust for
residents, making lives unbearable, affecting mental health and ability
to enjoy their homes;
Applying for permission for the breaches of planning conditions 6, 7,
18 and 23 which are occurring now as well as early morning
disturbance with staff arriving at 5:50 am;
Questions about the operation which have gone unanswered relating
to the operators use of the Rugby Club car park, use of land for skip
storage without permission; use of former coal yard land and other
land without planning permission;
Adding more doors and carrying out operations outside the building as
per the original permission makes noise and dust a problem for
residents as operations are not enclosed;
The County and City Councils along with the EA collude and
collaborate with the operator, refusing to take action over flouting of
planning regulations and unfairness of decision makers who do not
live near the site;
Cannot see evidence that the harm from noise, dust and emissions
from vehicles carrying waste is outweighed by benefits of recycling
other than to the operator;
Wording of condition 7 is ambiguous as to use of the doors and
clashes with condition 8 which is not subject of this application and
the use of either door must involve land outside the application site.
The use of the eastern door was refused and dismissed on appeal in
2002 and the County Council has failed in subsequent applications to
consider this a material consideration.

CONSULTATIONS
Gloucester City Council
Response dated 27th May 2020

6.1

The City Council has no objection to the physical works to the building in
respect of design issues but made the following additional comments:

27

Page 69

“Amenity issues
Noise:
It is noted that the County Council is employing the advice of its own noise
consultants. The City Council welcomes the use of this advice to ensure that
the amenity of neighbouring residents within the locality is preserved (subject
to amended or additional conditions as may be recommended by your noise
consultants). It is noted that the Applicants have submitted further noise
information in response to the initial review by your noise consultants and
further discussions are ongoing.
In this regard the City Council would welcome assurance through this
consultancy advice that the submitted noise impact assessment is fully
representational of the noise impacts that would arise as a result of
implementing the full extent of changes that would be allowed by the
Applicant’s proposed re-worded conditions, and not just an as-existing study
of only the already-implemented parts of the proposed works. Furthermore
that the study includes the true effects arising from activities on site (e.g.
vehicle reversing alarms, skip loading, the actual on-site usage of the
automatic door system, etc.). The City Council would also welcome assurance
that the worst-case scenario for the worst-affected resident has been
assessed. It is noted that the Applicant’s consultants 24Acoustics assert that
their study has been agreed as representational of this. Confirmation from the
County Council’s consultant would be welcomed.
It is furthermore assumed that the County Council’s consultant will comment
on the new information provided by 24Acoustics in respect of a cumulative
assessment of the noise environment to reflect the true experience of the
noise impacts (including any lawful activities on other sites within the
Applicant’s control).It is noted that clarity is also required over what precise
wording the Applicant is seeking (this is noted by the County Council’s noise
consultant). A suitable noise threshold may need to be altered from that
indicated by the Applicant to ensure an adverse impact is not allowed.
The City Council therefore currently objects to the application in respect of
noise impacts unless the above matters are satisfactorily addressed to the
satisfaction of the County Council’s noise consultant and valid amended
conditions are able to be agreed. The City Council comments further in
respect of condition wordings below without prejudice to its stated position of
objection.
Air quality:
There have been previous reports of dust nuisance associated with the site. It
is noted that the Applicant appears to have made some attempts to address
concerns about nuisance and it is noted from application correspondence that
a relocation of existing authorised activities around the site might in fact have
a positive effect on dust nuisance for local residents.
Having consulted the City Council’s Environmental Health Officer no objection
is raised to the proposed alterations in respect of dust impacts subject to a
28

Page 70

suitable scheme of dust suppression being secured. It is noted that Condition
21 of the current permission is relevant in this regard and a new scheme of
mitigation to be submitted under this condition should be comprehensive and
include the new operational arrangements for the site, if this application is
granted permission. The City Council’s Environmental Health Team would be
happy to provide further advice in relation to a mitigation scheme under
Condition 21.
Conditions:
The City Council has concerns about the precision and enforceability of the
re-worded conditions proposed by the Applicant and offers the following
further comments:
Condition 7- ‘Operational purposes’ should be more clearly defined. The City
Council suggests that an agreed list of activities may assist with defining this,
either within the condition wording or by a reference within the condition to
compliance with a list of activities having been submitted as an application
document. The list might even explicitly note excluded activities. That would
assist in addressing any concerns raised in future and would aid
understanding by the Applicant and local residents.
Equally if a further management strategy can be defined in writing to cover the
operation of the site (e.g. one which controls the opening and shutting of
doors on a timed mechanism) then compliance with this would assist in
enabling the operator to conduct their business in the manner they seek, while
equally limiting the divergence from the current arrangements imposed by
condition 7.
It is recommended that the proposed text ‘unless otherwise agreed in writing
by the County Planning Authority’ should not be used, as any further variation
should be subject to a further s73 application to vary the condition.
Condition 18 – Definition of the ‘nearest noise sensitive receptor’ needs
careful consideration to ensure the condition is effective. The application site
has several residential properties in close proximity to the north west and
north east, and activities ongoing in different parts of the site. It depends
where the noise is coming from as to which receptors would be most affected.
Measuring the noise level at what is technically the nearest noise sensitive
receptor may not be effective if noise is emitted from the other end of the site,
as it may not reflect the noise impact of the most affected occupants. E.g. if
no. 32 Blinkhorns Bridge Lane is used (which the 24Acoustics letter refers to
as the closest property) as the point of measurement, will this preserve the
amenities of residents to the north west? The City Council suggests that a
reference in the condition to a table of agreed levels at specified sites (the
nearest noise sensitive sites in different directions from the site) in the manner
suggested by the County Council’s noise consultants may address this
concern.
Noise management: A noise management plan is submitted but it is not clear
that the Applicant offers a condition requirement to comply with it. As noted by
29

Page 71

the County Council’s noise consultants it would be beneficial for the noise
management plan to be consistent in relation to locations for, and form of, the
monitoring. This would contribute to protecting the amenity of the local area.
As the submitted noise assessment documents a number of measures the
Applicant has taken to address noise disturbance (and therefore these
measures presumably underpin the noise survey results), the City Council
suggests consideration is given to a condition to ensure that these measures
and equipment are utilised and maintained on an ongoing basis. This would
preserve the basis on which the application has been assessed and protect
the amenity of the local area. The commitments made by the Applicant to a
liaison group and newsletter are also welcomed.”
Gloucester City Council’s Response dated 2nd July 2020
“Thank you for the recent notification that the County Council’s consultant
acoustician is now satisfied that noise from the development can be
adequately controlled. I write to provide the updated comments of the City
Council
Noise:
Noting that your expert consultant now raises no objection on noise grounds,
the City Council withdraws its objection on this matter, subject to valid
amended conditions being imposed on a new planning permission to preserve
the amenities of neighbouring residents in a manner that your consultant
approves. In this regard the City Council’s first letter set out comments in
respect of conditions [and I have copied them in below again for reference]. I
trust that the County Council is satisfied that the observations on noise
considerations made in the City Council’s initial objection letter have been
addressed.
Gloucester City Environmental Health
6.2

Worcestershire Regulatory Services (WRS) initially provided comments on
noise on behalf of the City Environmental Health Officer (EHO) while later
comments received (paragraph 6.5) in consideration of the CAA comments
were from the EHO rather than WRS.
“Noise: The submitted noise assessment appears satisfactory and robust. The
assessment concludes that noise from the Allstone site should not adversely
impact the nearest noise sensitive receptors in terms of the BS4142:2014
assessment. Additionally the assessment demonstrates that noise from the
Allstone site does not exceed the previous noise planning condition
(07/0081/GLMAJW condition 18) of 55dB at the site boundary.
The submitted Noise Management Plan appears comprehensive and I would
recommend that the proposed noise mitigation measures detailed in Section 4
of the plan are conditioned.

30

Page 72

I therefore have no objection to the application in terms of noise adversely
impacting the nearest noise sensitive receptors.”
6.3

The City Council’s Environmental Health Officer commented on air quality and
raised no objection to the proposed alterations in respect of dust impacts
subject to a suitable scheme of dust suppression being secured. It is noted
that Condition 21 of the current permission is relevant in this regard and a new
scheme of mitigation to be submitted under this condition should be
comprehensive and include the new operational arrangements for the site, if
this application is granted permission.

6.4

When it was pointed out that the Applicant had already submitted information
showing how dust was suppressed in order to satisfy conditions relating to air
quality as part of this application, the EHO stressed the importance that that
now mitigation is in place, that these measure are suitably maintained and
monitored to prevent a loss in protection to dust, odour and air quality in
future.

6.5

The EHO commented that he considered the revised noise condition would be
acceptable, however noted that the City Council would not be able to commit
to noise monitoring (measurements) as this would require commissioning of
specific equipment. The EHO advised that he would commit to indicative
monitoring if triggered by the Applicant’s survey results showing there to be
+5dBa 1hr LAeq.
County Councillor

6.6

Councillor Hilton responded as follows and also provided additional comments
to those made by the County Enforcement Officer (para 7.3) and a local
resident:
“I continue to be disappointed with this company's policy of carrying out
changes to the site ahead of securing planning permission. They have done
this by investing in a new Materials Recycling Facility (MRF) which has been
supplied and installed by Blue Southern (as Agents for Westeria- a German
Company who manufacture MRF systems). The MRF is a belt conveyor
system which separates various waste streams into individual holding bays.
Due to its size and operation Allstone now want to change the operating
conditions and change the use of the doors having already changed the
internal layout. In my view this planning application should have been
made ahead of installing the new processing plant.
If the committee is minded to approve the application, I would suggest that the
county council secures a section 106 financial contribution for community use
that will help compensate local residents for the nuisance this company is well
known for. A financial contribution towards the refurbishment of the
Elmscroft Community Centre would get my approval, say £20,000?

31

Page 73

In reading the documents I would also like to support in principle these
suggestions made by the county council enforcement officer. My
comments in [bold].

That specific measures and commitments set out in the Supporting
Statement regarding skip operations, the generator and dust litter and odour
control. Any permission should be conditional on compliance with these
measures.

That specific measures and commitments set out in the other
submitted documents, including the Noise Management Plan. Any permission
should be conditional on compliance with these measures.

That the unauthorised Zappshelters, canteen and pedestrian access
gate into the Rugby Club, other unauthorised structures and uses elsewhere
on the business premises should be as part of a separate application at a later
date.

That the use of the rugby club car park is a matter being dealt with by
Gloucester City Council, as owners. The planning committee determination
should make sure this matter is dealt with by the city council.

Noise sensitive receptors should also include Armscroft Park; he feels
that many use it and are entitled to peaceful enjoyment during their recreation.

Section 4 of the application form states that the development started on
3/7/2001. However he thinks it is important to clarify that the changed
operations for which this application seeks permission began no earlier than
November 2018.

Section 5 of the application form identifies under condition 7 changes
“The doors on the north and east elevations shall not be used for bulking out
purposes and shall only be used for operational purposes, associated with the
MRF Building”. This sentence seems contradictory, and to allow anything that
could be argued as operational purposes. He feels that this needs to be more
closely defined. The same applies for the South door comment. I agree with
the enforcement officer that very tight and clear conditions need to be
drafted so that proper use of the doors can be monitored and enforced.
One that anyone would understand, no ambiguity please!

In light of the number of complaints received over the years about
bulking out at the East End, and its proximity to residential properties, he
would in principal support moving this operation to the south of the building
I also have read the questions put by (sic) a local resident [name
removed]. These questions must be answered clearly in the officers report to
the planning committee, with any recommendations that officers feel can be
made.

32

Page 74


Why a company that operates its waste business on an area of land
many times larger than proposed on its first 'waste' permission in 1998 needs
to use the Old Boys Rugby Club car park, which is supposed to be part of a
Public Open Space, for car parking?

Why an area of scrubland that was used for hospital car parking for a
temporary period continues to be used without planning permission for the
storage of skips, containers, vehicles or whatever

Why the former coal yard is being used in association with Allstone's
various businesses, if not others, without the benefit of planning permission?
Finally the planning committee approved application 19/0070/GLMAJW on the
30th of January. I attach the decision notice. Could you ensure that a report is
drafted for the committee when they discuss 20/0003/GLMAJW of progress
made on ensuring that Allstone are complying with the conditions related to
19/0070/GLMAJW approved by the planning committee?
I am particularly interested in compliance with condition 15.
Within 3 months from the date of this permission, a scheme comprising a
monitoring, maintenance and reparation strategy for the access route along
Myers Road from Horton Road to the Site as identified on the Site Location
Plan reference ASG/001/2019, dated September 2019 shall be submitted for
approval in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The scheme shall be fully
implemented as approved and shall include the maintenance and repair of the
route throughout the lifetime of this permission, and subject to the planning
informative. Reason: To ensure a safe and suitable access in the interest of
highway safety for all users of Myers Road is provided in accordance with the
adopted Waste Core Strategy Policy WCS19.”
Environment Agency (EA)
6.7

The EA has no objections in principle to the proposed variation of conditions
and advised that the Applicant will need to contact their Waste Permitting
Team to discuss whether any of the proposed changes have any impacts in
relation to the Environmental Permitting Regulations, and the site’s Permit.
Highways Authority (HA)

6.8

The County’s HA advisor had no objections to the variation of conditions and
did not recommend any further or amendment to existing planning conditions.

33

Page 75

7.0

STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE OBSERVATIONS
County Ecologist

7.1

The County Ecologist raised no objection subject to an informative reminding
the operator of his duties to protect wildlife on site under the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981.
County Mineral & Waste Planning Policy

7.2

The Mineral and Waste Planning Policy Officer advised that:
“the proposal is going to be largely influenced by technical advice that will help
to determine the presence of and scale and significance of any unacceptable
adverse impacts that could be attributed to the change in conditions.
The case officer will need to be fully satisfied that the proposal, combined with
any measures for mitigation, accords with the requirements and standards set
by the policies of the current local waste planning policy framework and any
other material considerations that may arise.
In the event that a favourable recommendation is to be considered, careful
thought should be given to how new replacement conditions are constructed
to ensure that key policy requirements and standards will be sustained and
that the development will be acceptable in planning terms throughout its
duration.
It is advised that the use of conditions should accord with national policy set
out in paragraph 55 of the NPPF 2019. National policy is reinforced by
national Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), which confirms the use of the ‘6
tests’ for conditions - necessity; relevance (to planning); relevance (to the
development); enforceability; precision; and reasonableness.
It is also strongly encouraged that a co-ordinated approach is taken to any
preparations in drafting conditions. This should include engagement with
relevant technical experts and also those involved in monitoring and
enforcement of waste planning matters.”
County Planning Enforcement

7.3

The County Planning Enforcement Officer commented that the site had been
subject to numerous complaints from local residents on both the Swallow Park
and Armscroft Park Estates which focus on increase noise and dust, volumes
of material, highway capacity and safety concerns.
“The Council have been working together with the Environment Agency and
Gloucester City Council’s Environmental Health team to assess and measure
any impacts reported as a result of the above changes, particularly in
connection with the following condition requirements:

34

Page 76






11 – throughput limited to 75K tonnes within a calendar year, records to
be provided to Council through c12
13 – Operational hours (including deliveries) are 7:30am to 6pm Monday
to Saturday (unless emergency – which then should be notified to WPA)
18 – Noise limit of 55d from Site Boundary observed
21 – Dust control measures in place and effective

The assessments undertaken to date, particularly through Environmental
Health monitoring and a Noise Assessment undertaken by 24 Acoustics,
reveal no regular or significant breaches of this nor register as a Statutory
Nuisance under Environmental Protection legislation. The Environment
Agency returns state material volumes are within the limits stated above.
The Council’s assessment that an Environmental Impact Assessment is not
required also reflects these findings.
In the meantime all three agencies have been working closely with Allstones
to advise them on the nature of complaints being received, the status of their
operational permissions, and to hear about changes to operations that would
ameliorate some of the impacts. Some of these changes have now been
made, as set out in the planning application Supporting Information. While the
Council considers formal enforcement action as one of the options available to
it, this can only be considered where a breach has been evidenced, its
impacts clearly demonstrated, and it is in the public interest to do so.
Government guidance requires that regulatory bodies work with businesses to
address concerns and this is the approach that the Council is currently
undertaking, without prejudice to taking enforcement action in future, where
necessary.
The submission of this application provides a welcome opportunity for the
Waste Planning Authority, local residents, and other interested parties to
formally assess the company’s new working practices, its suitability at its
current location and what controls might be placed on any permission. If the
application is permitted, these controls will provide a clear and updated
baseline against which future operations can be assessed.
The important role the business plays in moving materials up the waste
hierarchy as well as providing local employment is recognised. However, this
has to be carefully balanced against the amenity of local residents, park
users, and those using the local road network. Also recognised are the recent
improvements the company has made to address concerns, and the
commitments made within the application, on which any future permission
should be conditioned.
More specifically my comments are:


I recognise the specific measures and commitments set out in the
Supporting Statement regarding skip operations, the generator and dust
litter and odour control. Any permission should be conditional on
compliance with these measures.

35

Page 77












I also recognise specific measures and commitments set out in the other
submitted documents, including the Noise Management Plan. Any
permission should be conditional on compliance with these measures.
I have no objection to the currently unauthorised Zappshelters, canteen
and pedestrian access gate into the Rugby Club, and welcome the
agent’s intention to address other unauthorised structures and uses
elsewhere on the business premises as part of a separate application at a
later date.
The use of the rugby club car park is a matter being dealt with by
Gloucester City Council, as owners.
Noise sensitive receptors should also include Armscroft Park, I feel that
the many that use it are entitled to peaceful enjoyment during their
recreation.
Section 4 of the application form states that the development started on
3/7/2001. However I think it is important to clarify that the changed
operations for which this application seeks permission began no earlier
than November 2018.
Section 5 of the application form identifies under condition 7 changes “The
doors on the north and east elevations shall not be used for bulking out
purposes and shall only be used for operational purposes, associated with
the MRF Building”. This sentence seems contradictory, and to allow
anything that could be argued as operational purposes. I feel that this
needs to be more closely defined. The same applies for the South door
comment.
In light of the number of complaints received over the years about bulking
out at the East End, and its proximity to residential properties, I would in
principal support moving this operation to the south of the building.”

County’s Acoustic Advisor (CAA)
7.4

Given the technical nature of the proposed changes to the noise, the County
were advised by the CAA who provided technical assessment of the
submitted NIA and NMP prepared by 24Acoustic, the Applicant’s acoustic
consultant.
Acoustic Comments dated 01/04/20
“Noise Impact Assessment
General:
In Section 5 of the application form, it is stated that the Applicant is seeking
“variation to ensure that noise emitted from the site shall not exceed 55dB
LAeq (1 hour) as measured at the nearest noise sensitive receptors as
opposed to the Site Boundary.”, with regard to Condition 18. It then goes on to
suggest the amended wording should be “The equivalent noise level of the
noise emitted from the Site shall not exceed a 15 minute LAeq of 55dB at the
nearest noise sensitive receptors.”. Moving to a limit at the nearest receptor
rather that the Site boundary would allow noisier activities to take place across
the Site. However, limiting the assessment period to 15 minutes would only
permit noisier activities to take place for shorter periods of time. The Noise

36

Page 78

Impact Assessment submitted assesses over a 1 hour period and this should
be amended to be consistent with the proposed planning condition.
For the purpose of this document, it is assumed that the assessment period is
1 hour as stated in the Noise Impact Assessment. [The CAA] are aware of
other applications that have been submitted recently for parts of the overall
Allstone site that are outside the redline boundary shown in the assessment.
It is our professional view that a cumulative assessment be undertaken to
show the total noise emissions from the site at the nearest noise sensitive
receptors.
Methodology:
It is noted that the assessment is based on BS4142: 2014, however this
Standard was updated in June 2019 to BS4142: 2014 + A1: 2019. Whilst the
updated standard does not fundamentally change the assessment method, it
would be best practice to refer to the most up to date version in the
assessment.
Baseline Measurements:
The measurements undertaken at the junction of Hamer Street and Coldray
Close have been used to determine the background levels at Norman Ball
Way and Coronation Grove. This measurement location is a similar distance
to main transportation noise sources as the assessment locations. The
measured levels are also the lower of the two measurement locations and
therefore it is considered appropriate to use these measurements for the
assessment locations on Norman Ball Way and Coronation Grove.
BS4142: 2014 + A1: 2019 states that “details of the latest verification test
including dates” should be reported for all measurement equipment used. This
information is not included in the report. This requirement is also present in
the previous version of the Standard, BS4142: 2014 that is referenced in the
report.
Paragraph 4.3 in the Noise Impact Assessment states that measurements
were taken in samples of 5 minutes, however BS4142 states that
“measurements of normally not less than 15 min intervals” should be used.
Please could a justification be provided for why a shorter time interval is
considered appropriate.
Paragraph 4.4 in the Noise Impact Assessment states that a graph of the
measured noise levels is included in Appendix B. Appendix B includes a table
of Sound Power levels used in the acoustic modelling, but no graph of
measured data. It is recommended that the report be revised to include the
measured data so that the summary levels provided can be validated.
The footnotes to Table 2 and Table 3 in the Noise Impact Assessment state
that 24 Acoustics’ interpretation of the typical background noise level is the
average less one standard deviation. Please could justification of this
interpretation be provided.

37

Page 79

Source Measurements:
As with the baseline surveys, no information has been provided on the most
recent laboratory verification of the equipment used for the measurement.
This should be provided.
BS4142 states that “Measurement locations, their distance from the specific
sound source, the topography of the intervening ground and any reflecting
surface other than the ground, including a photograph, or a dimensioned
sketch with a north marker. A justification for the choice of measurement
locations should also be included”. This information has not been presented
for the source noise levels in Appendix B.
Assessment:
The addresses of the assessment locations should be checked for accuracy.
For example, one assessment location labelled as “2 Blinkhorns Bridge Lane”
is directly adjacent to the application site, however, from available online
mapping, this address seems to be at the eastern end of Blinkhorns Bridge
Lane.
Can justification please be provided for not assessing at properties on the
south side of Normal Ball Way, as these properties are closer than the
receptor that has been assessed on this road.
The assessment makes reference to acoustic corrections in BS4142 for
tonality and impulsivity but does not mention intermittency. Has this correction
been discounted, and if so, a justification should be provided.
The assessment discounts tonal and impulsive correction factors in favour of
the “other sound characteristics” correction. Was this approach discussed with
the LPA prior to submission, and if so, reference should be made to those
conversations.
It is understood that the Specific Noise Levels at receptors have been
calculated using noise modelling software. No details have been provided
about the durations of operation for each item of plant. With the current
assessment period of 1 hour, [the CAA] feel this information should be
included. However, if the assessment period is to be 15 minutes (as per the
proposed amendment to Condition 18) then this information may not be
required.
The noise contour presented looks sensible, and therefore it would appear the
noise modelling is appropriate.
Other:
The assessment makes numerous references to Planning Condition 16
relating to noise. [The CAA] feel that this should be Condition 18 as Condition
16 is in reference to operational time periods.

38

Page 80

Noise Management Plan
The noise management plan details a number of locations for continued
annual monitoring. It is noted that these locations are different to those that
formed the baseline survey, and the assessment locations in the Noise Impact
Assessment. [The CAA] feel that keeping monitoring locations consistent with
those assessed in the Noise Impact Assessment would be best practice.
The proposed monitoring states that measurements “will be undertaken in
samples of 5 minutes for at least 1 hour in total at each location”. As noted
previously in this report, BS4142 states that measurements should normally
be undertaken with samples of at least 15 minutes. Justification should be
provided for deviation from these recommendations.
[The CAA] recommend additional text is added to specify that noise
monitoring is undertaken whilst typical daily activities are taking place.
The Noise management plan states “Allstone management will undertake
checks that the NMP is being implemented on a weekly basis during crushing
campaign.”, however, the Noise Impact Assessment does not assess crushing
activities. From [the CAA] involvement with other recent Allstone applications,
we are aware that crushing works take place on a different part of the site that
has been explicitly excluded from assessment in this application. Why has
reference been made to these activities in the Noise Management Plan for the
current application?”
Acoustic Comments 01.05.20
“[The CAA] are pleased that most of the comments have been taken on board
by 24 Acoustics, and where they have not, an explanation has been provided
to justify this.
[The CAA] note that the calculations provided show there is a low impact at
the assessed receptors. However, the calculations show Rating noise levels
at receptors are in the order of 40-47dB LAeq,1hour with impacts ranging from 5dB to +2dB on weekdays and -4dB to +3dB on Saturdays.
If the noise limit is changed to 55dB LAeq,1hour at receptors and the site emits
noise to reach this limit, then the impacts at receptors could be up to +10dB
on weekdays and +11dB at weekends, which would be considered significant.
Therefore, [the CAA] would query why, given the predicted impacts are
already within the existing noise limit, the Applicant is seeking to change the
noise limit to a level that would allow future operational changes to have the
potential to cause significant impacts at receptors.”
Acoustic Comments 04/05/20
“On the changing condition side – in their report they indicate that BS4142
would be the most appropriate guideline for assessing noise impacts. Surely if
the noise limit for the site is to be changed to be in line with their
39

Page 81

recommendations, then BS4142 should be used. I think that Rating =
Background would be a good starting point as their report para 3.7 indicates
that this would have a Low impact. This would give noise limits for MRF
operations of a Rating level of 44-46dB at the receptors identified. A
consequence would be that noise levels at 14 Norman Ball Way would no
longer meet the criteria as this is shown to be 2-3dB above background (Table
8).
For clarity the BS4142 noise limit inferred by their report is some 13dB lower
than the absolute limit they are proposing in the application (about 10dB on
level, and 3dB for the acoustic character correction which is not explicitly
mentioned in the proposed condition change).
However, since we know there are noise complaints we could put the case
forward for bringing the limit lower than this, so rating level is less than
background. I don’t suppose you can say:




Which receptors/streets the noise complaints come from?
Which activities on the site they relate to,
How recent they are?

If there are complaints from the MRF side post mitigation measures then this
doesn’t support their comments in para 5.10 about habituation or in 5.9 about
noise levels not causing material changes in behaviour (I think making a
complaint would count as a material change in behaviour).
The latest report and the noise management plan makes lots of good points
about improvements in noise levels, and it would be interesting to know if
these changes have been noticed by those living near the site. The reductions
in noise described come across like they are effective, and if they are it would
hopefully have led to a drop in the number of complaints? On the other hand,
the work may have improved noise levels from activities which have not been
the subject of complaints which would put a different perspective on it.
On the cumulative impact front, they indicate in their letter that the noise from
the MRF is significantly lower than the noise from crushing operations, and I
agree that noise from MRF (as given in their report) would not make a
difference to total noise levels during a crushing campaign. Whilst I accept
that the waste side is under a temporary consent, nearby residents may not
consider a repetitive cycle of applications since 2011 as being “temporary”.
(2011 comes out of a quick Google search, I’m not sure if they were on the
site doing this prior to that date)
It is interesting to think of potential unintended consequences of making the
change to the noise limit – it would mean that MRF operations on one side of
the site are under one noise limit (rating not to exceed background at
receptors) whilst the Waste side of the site would remain at 55dB at the
nearest receptors (except as recently modified during crushing campaigns). “

40

Page 82

Acoustic Comment dated 19.05.2020
“We note that a number of the complaints relating to the site mention "open
doors". According to the assessment by 24 Acoustics, an automatic door
system has been installed which should address these complaints. However, I
note from you email on 14th May that the automatic door system may have
been disabled. If that is the case then the assessment should take account of
it.
There is also mention of "beeping" that should be addressed by the
requirement for "All vehicles under Allstone’s control will be fitted with
broadband (white noise) reversing alarms" as set out in the Noise
Management Plan. If there are vehicles regularly accessing the site which do
not have a broadband reversing alarm then an additional Rating Noise Level
Character Correction for tonality may need to be applied to the assessment.
Furthermore, a more conservative assessment could include additional
corrections for impulsive noise from the loading of skips.
From the summary sent through on 14th May (Gloucester City Environmental
Health), many of the recent complaints refer to early working hours. The Noise
Management Plan states that no operations are to take place outside of the
consented hours i.e. before 07:30 or after 18:00. In addition, no deliveries are
to be made before 07:00 or after 18:00. If works or deliveries are taking place
outside of these times then the site is not operating within it’s permitted hours.
We note the local councillor’s wish to include Armscroft Park as a receptor.
The noise mapping provided in the report suggests noise levels emitted from
the application site are in the range 40-45dB at the play area. This is below
the WHO guidelines of 50dB for outside spaces. Therefore the amenity of this
space should not be impacted by noise from the application site. It would be
up to Allstone and 24 Acoustics to include this receptor in their assessment.
Regarding the revised proposed noise limit from 24 Acoustics of 50dB
LAeq,1hour Rating Noise Level at receptors and remaining with their +3dB
acoustic feature correction, we note that this would result in +5dB over
background on weekdays and +6dB over background at weekends at 14
Norman Ball Way. BS4142 states that “A difference of around +5 dB is likely
to be an indication of an adverse impact, depending on the context”. Given the
history of noise complaints relating to the site we would suggest that a Rating
Noise Level equal to or below background noise levels would be best practice.
With Rating Noise Levels at or below background, BS4142 states "Where the
rating level does not exceed the background sound level, this is an indication
of the specific sound source having a low impact, depending on the context."
In order to meet this suggested limit, the following table details the maximum
Rating Noise Levels at each receptor:

41

Page 83

10 Norman Ball Way

32 Blinkhorns Bridge
Lane

Weekdays

Saturdays

Weekdays

Saturdays

Background
Noise Level

45

44

47

46

Suggested
Rating Noise
Level

45

44

47

46

3 Coronation Grove
Weekdays

14 Norman Ball Way

Saturdays

Weekdays

Saturdays

45

44

45

44

45

44

45

44

Therefore, if the desire is to set a single noise limit across all receptors, we
would suggest 44dB LAeq,1hour Rating Noise Level at the receptors.
Alternatively, separate limits for weekday and weekends could be set. These
would be 45dB LAeq,1hour Rating Noise Level for weekdays and 44dB
LAeq,1hour Rating Noise Level for weekends.
Acoustic Comments dated 25.06.2020
This Technical Note provides a response drafted on behalf of Gloucestershire
County Council (GCC) with regards to noise impacts associated with planning
application 20/0003/GLMAJW received from Allstone, the Applicant.
The application relates to proposed variation of condition 18 which currently
states:
“The equivalent noise level of noise emitted from the Site shall not exceed a
15-minute LAeq of 55 dB at the Site Boundary.”
There have been various communications discussing the proposed variation
to the wording of the planning condition from[the CAA[ and 24Acoustics
(acting on behalf of the Applicant).
The most recent suggested wording from [the CAA] on 15th June 2020 is:
“The equivalent noise level of the noise emitted from the Site shall not exceed
47dB LAeq,1hour at the nearest noise sensitive receptors.”
The latest proposed wording from the Applicant on 17th June 2020 is:
“The equivalent noise level of the noise emitted from the operations shown in
the red line boundary in drawing Reference XXXX shall not exceed 47dB
LAeq,1hour under free-field conditions 1.5 m above ground level in the curtilage
of the nearest noise sensitive receptors”
[The CAA] had suggested the condition wording include “…noise emitted from
the Site shall not exceed…”. The Applicant has suggested a wording of
“…noise emitted from the operations shown in the red line boundary in
drawing Reference XXXX shall not exceed…”. Provided the drawing reference
shows the same boundary as in Figure 2 of Technical Report: R8129-1 Rev 1
(dated 17th April 2020), then [the CAA[ are satisfied with this suggested
wording.
Both [the CAA] and the Applicant are in agreement with a limit of 47dB
LAeq,1hour.
[The CAA] had suggested the limit is applicable “…at the nearest noise
sensitive receptors”. The Applicant has suggested
42

Page 84

a wording of “…under free-field conditions 1.5 m above ground level in the
curtilage of the nearest noise sensitive receptors”. [The CAA] are satisfied
with this suggested wording.
Conclusion
[The CAA] has reviewed the suggested variation in wording of planning
condition 18 and are satisfied with the amendments.
For clarity, providing that the drawing reference shows a red line boundary the
same as in the figure above, [the CAA] agree that the wording should be:
“The equivalent noise level of the noise emitted from the operations shown in
the red line boundary in drawing Reference XXXX shall not exceed 47dB
LAeq,1hour under free-field conditions 1.5 m above ground level in the curtilage
of the nearest noise sensitive receptors”
Acoustic Comments dated 14th July 2020
“[The CAA] has previously been consulted regarding the planning application
20/0003/GLMAJW and had agreed on a planning condition of:
“The equivalent noise level of the noise emitted from the operations shown in
the red line boundary in drawing Reference XXXX shall not exceed 47dB
LAeq,1hour under free-field conditions 1.5 m above ground level in the curtilage
of the nearest noise sensitive receptors”
On 6th July 2020, [the CAA] were informed that the planning agent for the
application had suggested the condition be amended to:
“The equivalent noise level of the noise emitted from the operations shown in
the red line boundary in drawing Reference XXXX shall not exceed 47dB
LAeq,1hour under free-field conditions 1.5 m above ground level in the curtilage
of the nearest residential receptors”
[The CAA] is happy to accept this amended wording.
In addition, [the CAA] have been asked to consider comments made by
Gloucester City Council in relation to the application.
The City Council have suggested that consideration should be given as to
what is defined as the ‘nearest noise sensitive receptor’ noting that this will be
dependent on where activities are taking place on the site. The City Council
also suggest that the condition should make reference to a table of locations
with agreed levels.
The Noise Management Plan details locations at which monitoring will be
undertaken and this includes the receptors closest to the site to the north-west
and north-east. If desired, the condition could make reference to the list of
locations set out in the Noise Management Plan. The condition currently sets
a limit of 47dB LAeq,1hour at all locations.
43

Page 85

The Noise Management Plan states that monitoring will take place whilst
typical daily activities are taking place on site and that a report of survey
results will be submitted to the LPA within 10 days. It is suggested that the
Noise Management Plan is amended slightly to include a commitment to
report the activities taking place and their locations during the survey.”
Acoustic Comments dated 6th August 2020
“[The CAA] have been requested to review documents R8129-1 Rev 2 (Noise
Impact Assessment) and R8129-2 Rev 2 (Noise Management Plan) in relation
to application 20/0003/GLMAJW. [The CAA] have previously undertaken
reviews of earlier revisions of these documents and engaged in discussions
regarding noise limits for inclusion in planning conditions.
Following the review of the latest documents, [the CAA] have the following
comments:
Document References
Each document makes numerous references to the other, however in most
instances no revision number is provided, and there is one instance in R81291 Rev 2 that references R8129-2 Rev 0 which has now been superseded.
For the avoidance of doubt, all references to R8129-2 in R8129-1 should be
updated to ‘R8129-2 Rev 2’, and all references to R8129-1 in R8129-2 should
be updated to ‘R8129-1 Rev 2’.
Drawing Reference
Both the Noise Impact Assessment and Noise Management Plan state the
agreed planning condition and noise limit text. However, this text still includes
“…drawing Reference XXXX…” when referring to the drawing showing the red
line boundary.
For the avoidance of doubt, this reference should be updated so that it is clear
which drawing is being referenced. It would also be useful to show the noise
monitoring locations on this drawing.
General Comments
Aside from the points raised above, [the CAA] are satisfied that the Noise
Impact Assessment shows that noise levels from the site are not predicted to
exceed the agreed noise limits of 47dB LAeq,1hour at the nearest residential
receptors and the Noise Management Plan details a suitable noise monitoring
programme.”
Acoustic Comments dated 13th August 2020
“We’re happy that these documents are all now in order and that noise levels
are not expected to exceed the agreed limit of 47dB LAeq,1hour at receptors.

44

Page 86

One minor point is that in paragraph 6.4 of the impact assessment there is still
a reference to the wrong Noise Management Plan, however the correct one is
referenced elsewhere.”
Planning Considerations
7.5

This Section 73 application has been submitted to amend six planning
conditions on an existing planning permission 07/0081/GLMAJW for a site
where the principle of the use for waste transfer was established by planning
appeal in 1998. Since the original permission was granted subject to
conditions to control how the waste transfer operation is carried out, a series
of applications have been made to reflect changes to the use of the building
and the application site. The proposed changes in this application would if
approved regularise a number of more recent changes which have already
been carried out without first obtaining planning permission.

7.6

One objector commented that the changes made were in breach of planning
conditions and the Local Member expressed concern that it appears to be the
Applicant’s policy to make changes without first obtaining permission. While
the Applicant can be seen as taking a financial risk in undertaking changes to
his business operation without first obtaining planning permission, Section 73
of the Town and Country Planning Act (TCPA) 1990 allows applications to be
made for permission to develop land without complying with conditions
previously imposed on a planning permission. Section 73A permits
applications to be made in respect of development which has already been
carried out. The WPA can grant such permission unconditionally or subject to
different conditions or they can refuse the changes if they decide that the
original conditions should continue. The Applicant would have the right of
appeal against both decisions. Any amended planning conditions would form
part of a new planning permission which would be issued containing all extant
planning conditions relevant to the original substantive planning permission.

7.7

The most significant change for which the Applicant seeks retrospective
permission for result from changes made in the handling methods of different
waste streams to make it more efficient both within the MRF building and on
the application site. This is achieved through the increased mechanisation of
the sorting process by the installation of a large piece of equipment, located in
the middle of the MRF building. While the waste sorting processes still take
place within the MRF building, the Applicant proposes to use all the doors in
the building and use 2 areas outside the MRF building to bulk up waste
materials. A number of planning conditions on the current permission
07/0081/GLMAJW would need to be amended to accommodate these
changes because these new operations would be prevented to fully operate
as envisaged by planning conditions on the permission as currently worded.
The reason the planning conditions were imposed was to protect the amenity
of residents from noise and dust from the waste management operation.

7.8

Other changes for which retrospective permission is sought include the
installation of a backup power generator; modular canteen/staff welfare
building; pedestrian gate on parts of the application site and changes to the

45

Page 87

appearance of the MRF building particularly to the number and size of door
openings.
7.9

Information has also been submitted in order to satisfy the requirements of
three planning conditions (19, 21 and 22) of planning permission
07/0081GLMAJW which remained outstanding when the application was
submitted on 17th January 2020 and which provide additional information
relating to mitigation measures to control the impact of the site operations.
The 3 conditions require the submission of schemes for approval by the WPA
to reduce the effects of noise from vehicles reversing, a scheme for the
suppression of dust, odour and litter for the whole application site and a dust
suppression system for the eastern doorway of the MRF building.

7.10

The main considerations in the determination of this proposal to amend the
6 planning conditions of 07/0081/GLMAJW relate to the acceptability of the
changes in policy terms and whether their impact on residential amenity
particularly from noise and dust as well as from any impacts on the public
highway have been satisfactorily demonstrated. A number of issues were
raised during the consultation process which were not considered material to
the determination of this application. These other issues relating to lack of
enforcement of conditions; payment of compensation and contributions to
community facilities; need to relocate and other uses of land owned by the
Applicant have been addressed in paragraphs 7.87 to 7.99.

7.11

Consideration has also been given to the acceptability of the information
pursuant to three outstanding planning conditions of permission reference
07/0081/GLMAJW. Officers of the WPA have carried out a review of all extant
planning conditions which is required before any new planning permission can
be issued under Section 73.
Compliance with the National and Development Plan Policy

7.12

The NPPF has a presumption of favour of sustainable development. A key
aim of the National Planning Policy for Waste (Oct 2014) is to drive waste up
the waste hierarchy. Reducing waste going to landfill and driving it up the
waste hierarchy is also reflected in the development plan for Gloucestershire.
Waste Core Strategy Policy WCS1 reflects the presumption in favour of
sustainable development.

7.13

Policy WCS18 promotes the bulking and transfer of waste materials. Policy
WCS 18 states that particular support will be given to proposals that: “are
located within or close to an urban centre, and/or involve the reuse of
previously developed land, vacant or under utilised employment land; and/or
involves co-location with an existing operation of a similar of complimentary
nature.” The application site, being a former warehouse/distribution depot, is
close to the city centre and is adjacent to the Applicant’s aggregates
processing site which produces soils and aggregates which are then sold from
the site.

46

Page 88

7.14

The Applicant has been successful in diverting waste material that would
otherwise go to landfill through the operations on this site. While one local
resident is of the opinion that they do not see any evidence of the benefits of
recycling other than to the Applicant, the EA requires the operator to submit
data on the rates of recycling achieved by the site in order to comply with their
Environmental Permit. Details of rates of recycling from individual sites such
as this are made publicly available from the EA’s website. Data collected
provides evidence of how much material is diverted from landfill and assists in
achieving the minimum 60% recycling diversion target central to the
sustainable waste management strategy for Gloucestershire as set out in
Policy WCS 3 of the Waste Core Strategy.

7.15

Objectors consider that these waste operations are too close to hospitals,
schools, old people’s homes, playing fields and playgrounds. Proposals are
considered to accord with the aims of Policy WCS4 (inert waste recycling and
recovery) to divert waste away from landfill provided it can be demonstrated
that the impact on the environment and neighbouring uses is acceptable and
the highway access is suitable for the proposed vehicle movements. The
Applicant has submitted information in relation to the mitigation of noise and
dust from his operations to support the proposals and which have been
considered acceptable by the Council’s technical advisors.

7.16

Policy WCS10 requires that in determining proposals for new or enhanced
facilities, the WPA should have regard to the cumulative effects of previous
and existing waste management facilities on local communities alongside the
potential benefits of co-locating complementary facilities together. Although
this proposal does markedly change the way the site and building are used in
order to increase efficiency and recycling rates, by reducing manual handling,
it still operates as a waste transfer operation by sorting and bulking up
different waste streams for onward transportation to recycling processes to be
carried out. There is no proposal to increase the waste throughput or vehicle
movements at the site as part of this application. While some local residents
continue to object to any changes made to the operations of this site,
considering it to be in the wrong place, the impact of the changes introduced
and/or pending from the development upon the neighbouring land uses has
been taken into consideration. Following consultation responses it is
considered that appropriate controls can be put in place to mitigate any
adverse effects. Officers therefore consider that the proposal accords with the
aims of national and local development plan policies.

7.17

While some objectors are concerned that the Applicant keeps changing the
permission granted, it has to be accepted that a waste management use on
this site has been authorised since the planning appeal was allowed in 1999.
It also needs to be recognised that business practices do change over time
and the planning system exists to manage such changes in the public interest.
A Section 73 application allows changes to be made to planning conditions
which control how that operation is carried out, but does not affect the
principle of development, which in this case is still a waste transfer operation
with the same waste throughput. Objectors express concern that the
Applicant has already made changes without the benefit of planning

47

Page 89

permission, however while the WPA does not condone such action, it can only
work within the regulations of the system available to us.
Noise impacts
7.18

The Applicant acknowledges in the Supporting Planning Statement that the
primary issue in the determination of the planning application is to understand
how the changes made to the processing of waste would affect the residential
amenity of the area, specifically related to noise. Consideration of the impact
of noise pertains to the all the proposed amended conditions and not simply
the proposed amendment to condition 18. A Noise Impact Assessment (NIA)
has been submitted to demonstrate according to the Applicant as to how the
proposals are acceptable in terms of noise and have submitted a Noise
Management Plan (NMP) to show the mitigations that will be put in place.
The introduction of the NMP explains that, “This NMP forms part of the
environmental management control system to ensure that the operations meet
the legislative requirements and operate to high environmental standards.”
The NIA “also provides an overall assessment of the noise impact of the
operations to inform an updated noise management plan as requested by the
Environment Agency”.

7.19

The operations on the application site are regulated by the Environment
Agency under the Environmental Permitting Regulations 2010 and the permit
which relates to noise states:
“Emissions from the activities shall be free from noise and vibration at levels
likely to cause pollution outside the site as perceived by an authorised of the
Environment Agency, unless the operator has used appropriate measures,
including but not limited to those specified in any approved noise and vibration
plan, to prevent, or where that is not practicable, to minimise the noise and
vibration.”

7.20

The NIA in paragraph 2.3 notes that it “addresses the noise impact from the
operations within the red line boundary of the planning application – namely
the MRF together with associated vehicle movements within the red lined site.
Notably the aggregate recycling and crushing operations and stone retailing
areas fall outside the redline boundary (and do not fall under the control of the
environmental permit) and therefore have not been considered further in this
assessment.”

7.21

The noise survey was carried out between the 14th August 2019 and 23rd
August 2019 with measurements taken at two locations; the junction between
Hamer Street and Coldray Close and outside the front of 14 Blinkhorns Bridge
Lane. Background noise levels showed a weekday representative average of
45 dB and 44 dB on Saturday at the first location and a 47 dB weekday
representative average with 46 dB on Saturday at the second location. An
assessment of noise impact from operations on the application site which
assumes all fixed and mobile plant operating during hourly assessments and
15 HGV movements in an and out of the site during the assessment period.

48

Page 90

7.22

The noise assessment was undertaken in accordance with the requirements
of the British Standard BS 4142:2014+A1:2019. The BS states that certain
acoustic features can increase the significance of impact of that expected
from a basic comparison between the specific sound level and the
background sound level. Where such features are present at the assessment
location a character correction should be applied to the specific sound level to
determine the rating level. The NIA calculates the following receptor noise
levels:
Receptor
Front of 10 Norman Ball Way
Rear of 32 Blinkhorns Bridge Lane
Front of 3 Coronation Grove
Rear of 14 Norman Ball Way

Noise Level, dB LAeq, 1 hour
40
42
37
44

7.23

The Applicant’s acoustic consultant’s assessment indicates that noise impact
at all receptors with the exception of those backing onto Myers Road in
Norman Ball Way will be ‘low/negligible’ at all times in respect of the proposed
operations. The noise impact at the rear of 14 Norman Ball Way and the
neighbouring properties was assessed as between ‘low and ‘adverse
according to context’. Paragraph 5.10 of the NIA explains that, “In practice,
although an adverse impact is acceptable in planning terms (providing it is
mitigated to a minimum) it is considered, given the history of the site and the
operations and the time that residents have had to habituate to the noise that
the impact once this context is taken account of will be ‘low’. Again this is
considered to result in an impact which can be heard but does not cause any
material change in behaviour.”

7.24

Objections have been received referring to noise from the crusher, banging of
skips and from traffic entering and leaving the site. There is a concern that to
permit this variation would lead to an increase in noise emitted from the site,
making living conditions intolerable.

7.25

Noise from the application site is currently controlled by planning condition 18
which limits it to a 15 minute LAeq of 55 dB at the site boundary. The Applicant
initially proposed that this condition is amended so that the 55dB would be
measured at the nearest noise sensitive receptor rather than the at the site
boundary. However the CAA thought that by moving the limit to the receptor
from the site boundary would allow noisier activities to take place across the
site and the assessment period of 15 minutes would only permit noisier
activities to take place for shorter periods of time. The CAA queried why,
“given the predicted impacts are already within the existing noise limit, the
Applicant is seeking to change the noise limit to a level that would allow future
operational changes to have a potential to cause significant impacts at
receptors.”

7.26

In response, the Applicant’s acoustic advisor proposed a revised noise limit of
50 dB LAeq 1 hour rating noise level at receptors; however the Council’s acoustic
advisor thought that this could still indicate an adverse impact on at 14
Norman Ball Way. The Council’s acoustic advisor recommended that, “Given

49

Page 91

the history of noise complaints relating to the site we would suggest that a
Rating Noise Level equal to or below background noise levels would be best
practice.”
7.27

After further discussion about specific wording of revised condition 18, it was
agreed by the Applicant that the proposed rewording of condition 18 would
amend the equivalent noise level of the noise emitted from the operations
shown in the red line boundary shall not exceed 47 dB LAeq 1 hour under free
field conditions 1.5 m above ground level in the curtilage of the nearest noise
sensitive receptors. The City Council when consulted with the revised
condition, suggested that consideration should be given defining the nearest
noise sensitive receptors in the condition for clarity.

7.28

The NMP details the locations at which monitoring will be undertaken and this
includes the receptors closest to the application site. While it would be
possible to list the locations within the planning condition, for the sake of
simplicity it is recommended that proposed condition 18 is slightly amended to
include a reference to the locations set out in the NMP.

7.29

It is recommended that the provisions of the NMP are secured under revised
condition 17. The NMP states that noise monitoring will be undertaken
annually (or more frequently if necessary in the event of complaints) whilst
typical daily activities are taking place and that a report of survey results will
be submitted to the WPA within 10 days. The CAA is of the opinion that the
NIA shows noise levels form the site are not predicted to exceed the agreed
noise limits of 47 dB LAeq 1 hour at the nearest residential receptors and the
NMP details a suitable noise monitoring programme. The WPA considers that
the Applicant has satisfactorily demonstrated that environmental noise from
the facility should not adversely affect residential amenity.

7.30

Planning conditions restricting the use of the various doors on different
elevations of the MRF building have changed since the original permission
was granted in 1998. The reason for the restrictions in use and imposition of
planning conditions was in order to protect the amenity of the closest
residents to the site from excessive noise and dust which can be carried
outside the building when waste materials are handled inside. Objectors are
concerned that if doors are left open and there are more door openings in the
building than before, there is a greater chance that noise and dust can escape
from the building.

7.31

The original 1999 permission was granted on the basis that the waste transfer
operation took place within the MRF building. The Applicant now wishes to
add two areas outside the doors on the southern and western elevations of
the MRF building for bulking out of waste. The use of external areas for
bulking out waste has the potential to increase noise from delivery vehicles
and create dust and windblown litter from external storage of materials before
transportation.

7.32

The Applicant makes a distinction between operational use and bulking out in
the proposed amendments and this has been defined by the agent in his

50

Page 92

email of the 6th August 2020 as “In my opinion operational purposes means
any purpose associated with the business other than bulking out waste. “
Bulking out would imply that different waste streams are collected up either in
a larger container such as a skip or baled up for onward transportation by a
waste carrying vehicle such as a skip lorry which would be a HGV.
7.33

Local residents have complained about early morning noise from the site and
have noticed doors of the building being left open. While complaints have
been investigated it is not always easy to differentiate whether noise is from
the application site or from another part of Allstone’s site that do not in fact
have any restrictions on operational hours or noise limits which can be
enforced by the WPA or the City Council. The County Enforcement Officer
commented that he would welcome the noise mitigation measures set out in
the Supporting Planning Statement in relation to vehicle loading and driver
conduct on site forming part of an enforceable planning condition. This would
try to address some of the resident concerns in relation to early morning
activities on the wider site.

7.34

Objections have been made to the changed use of the doors in the building
and attention drawn to the previous attempts by the Applicant to change the
use of doors and an upheld appeal decision to prevent changes to a door on
the eastern elevation.

7.35

The Inspector in the appeal took a precautionary approach to noise and dust
escaping from the building by requiring that the eastern door to be kept
closed. This was due to the door on the eastern elevation being closest to
properties in Blinkhorns Bridge Road on Almscroft Park and the potentially
significant effects of noise and dust emanating from within the building
associated with the door being open, and noise and dust associated with
vehicle movements in and out of the doorway.

7.36

The Applicant is proposing that the eastern door is used to remove plastics
from the building which have been shredded. When sufficient shredded
material, stored inside the building has built up, a collection lorry is loaded by
the eastern door to take the recyclates off site. The Applicant has clarified
that this would take place on average once a day. Provided that the eastern
door is used as stated by the Applicant for this minimal use, and kept closed
for the remaining time, it would be unlikely to have a greater impact on the
amenity of residents of Blinkhorns Bridge Road than the existing loading and
unloading operations associated with the lawful use of the eastern part site for
the storage aggregates for sale.

7.37

One objector considers that the proposed changes to condition 7 would
conflict with condition 8 which is not proposed to be amended in this
application. Condition 8 prevents the use of the eastern doorway for bulking
out waste. The Applicant has clarified that plastic recyclates are both
shredded and bulked up in storage bays within the building as shown on the
building floorplan and he does not consider there is a need to amend
condition 8. The eastern door would not be used for bulking out but loading.
The part of the site immediately to the east of the building façade is not part of

51

Page 93

the application site boundary. The loading and unloading of vehicles in this
part of the site is not prevented by the lawful use which has been established
in the eastern part of the Allstone site.
7.38

Noise levels associated with vehicles being loaded outside of the doorway
would be set against the existing noise from lorries already using the route
around the MRF building to exit the site. Although there will be loading
movements associated with the door, it is not considered that noise arising
from this specific source would be materially different to that from lorries
leaving the site via the same route around the eastern end of the building.
The process along with other operations would be covered by the proposed
amended noise condition.

7.39

There may be potential for additional dust to be generated from loading of
plastic recyclates from inside the eastern doorway. It is considered that this
can be controlled effectively by the dust suppression system which has been
installed within the building and in the lobby area at the eastern doorway. The
door has been fitted with an automated roller shutter door closing system,
which would allow the door to open when a loading vehicle needs to pass
through it then close again to limit the external exposure of noise and dust
from within the building to the closest properties to the eastern façade of the
MRF building. It is considered that potential dust arising from one vehicle
movement a day associated with the loading of plastic recyclates through the
eastern doorway would not be materially different to those from lorries already
passing the doorway than exist at present.

7.40

The doors on the western elevation are closest to the properties on Norman
Ball Way on the Swallow Park estate. The Applicant proposes to use these
doors for ‘bulking out’ residual waste, where those wastes which aren’t
possible to recycle or transfer for further processing are removed from the
building and taken to licensed landfill for disposal. The process involves
lorries being loaded adjacent to the doors and then driving out of the site
along the site access route to Myers Road. Noise levels associated with
vehicles being loaded outside of the doors would be set against the existing
noise from lorries already delivering waste to the MRF building. The process
along with other operations has been assessed in the NIA and the maximum
permitted noise level would be covered by the proposed amended noise
condition in order to protect the amenity of the closest properties in Norman
Ball Way. This would comply with Policy 37 of the adopted Gloucestershire
Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy.

7.41

The three new doors on the northern elevation are proposed to be used for
operational purposes which have been further clarified as being used by
forklift trucks to transport pallets of aggregates bagged up within the building;
to remove fine soils which have dropped from the MRF, to be taken once a
day to the inert waste processing site and to allow site vehicles to enter the
building to be parked up overnight. The northern door openings are closest
to the site boundary with the Rugby Club car park and public open space
beyond. In order to limit the potential for noise and dust escaping the MRF
building when vehicles enter and exit through these doors, they have also

52

Page 94

been fitted with automated closure systems which, provided the doors are
maintained in the closed position for most of the time when operations within
the building are being carried out, only opened for the minimum amount of
time for a vehicle to pass through, then closed again would not adversely
affect amenity in terms of any noise and dust escaping from the building. The
operations have been assessed in the NIA with this mitigation in place and the
maximum noise level imposed by the proposed amended noise condition
should protect the amenity of local residents.
7.42

The southern door and area to the south of this door is proposed to be used
for bulking out wood waste. This arrangement was at the request of the EA in
order to reduce the potential for dust escaping from the eastern door. The
southern door faces the railway line and Metz Way beyond the Triangle Retail
Park where background noise levels are highest and there are no nearby
sensitive noise receptors. The position of the building between the receptors
to the north does have the benefit of providing additional noise mitigation
which makes the external use of the land to the south more acceptable.

7.43

The table below summarises the current permitted use of doors and the
proposed use by orientation.

7.44

Building
Elevation
North

Permitted Use

Proposed Use

No doors

Operational:
Moving pallets, parking vehicles inside,
removal of soil fines from MRF to inert
recycling site

South

WTS

Bulking out wood in associated
external area

East
West

Residual waste
Access to stored
aggregates only

Operational: Loading plastic recyclates
Waste reception and bulking out in
associated external area

The noise surveys take account of the use of the two external areas for
bulking out of waste and use of skip vehicles. In considering noise
management, section 6.0 of the NIA explains that wood loading operations
would take place on the southern side of the building so that the building acts
as an acoustic barrier to the residential receptors to the north. In addition, the
roller shutter doors on the northern elevation have been fitted with an
automatic door opening/closing system which means that the doors should be
closed unless a vehicle is passing into or out of the building. The same
automation has been provided on the eastern elevation of the building to
minimise the time in which the door is open. The Applicant has advised that
over £100,000 has been spent on replacement plant and building repairs to
the roof and walls of the MRF building to reduce noise emissions.

53

Page 95

7.45

The amendment of the six planning conditions proposed by the Applicant
would be a significant change to the way that waste is handled on the existing
site. Allowing the use of additional doors and use of two additional areas
outside of the MRF building as part of the waste management operation
would appear to conflict with the original planning permission which imposed
planning conditions as a precautionary measure in order protect residential
amenity. However in the 20 years since the planning permission was
originally granted, waste management processes and mechanisation
available have changed. It is part of the planning process to manage such
change and for the WPA to assess whether proposed changes are acceptable
and will protect amenity and the environment. The Applicant has submitted
noise impact information to support the proposal which has been assessed by
technical specialists. The Environmental Health Officer and the CAA are
satisfied with the method of assessment and conclusions of the NIA. “The
assessment of the noise impact relating to the operation of the MRF and
associated operations has shown that the noise impact at all residential
receptors is between low and negligible. This falls below the lowest
observable effects level as defined in the PPG meaning that the noise can be
heard but does not cause any material change in behaviour.” On that basis,
Officers of the WPA consider that there are no grounds on account of
environmental noise from the facility why planning consent for the changes
cannot be granted.
Highways and car parking

7.46

Some objectors have commented that the proposals would lead to an
increase in HGV traffic using an unsuitable road and that the surfaces of
Myers Road and Horton Road, which lead to the site, are already in a poor
state of repair. Myers Road up to the entrance gates of the Allstone site and
Horton Road are publicly maintained highway. During the consideration and
determination of the planning application for the adjacent inert waste site
under reference 19/0070/GLMAJW the poor condition of the road surface in
the vicinity of the site was noted. This permission was granted subject to a
planning condition that the Applicant submits a strategy of how the road
surface of Myers Road could be maintained and repaired. The planning
condition required the submission of the strategy within 3 months of the
permission dated 30.01.20. The Applicant has advised the WPA that he does
not intend to comply with this condition as he considers it to be unreasonable.
When the WPA set out the options open to the Applicant in this situation, the
Applicant has advised that a further Section 73 application to remove the
condition will be submitted following the determination of the current
application.

7.47

The Highway Authority has clarified that it does not require a similar planning
condition to be applied to this permission and is unlikely to resist the deletion
of the condition on 19/0070/GLMAJW permission through a Section 73
application. This follows a recent appeal decision in January 2020 at Oxted
Quarry, Surrey where the Inspector criticised the Highway Authority’s use of a
similar planning condition seeking to recover the cost of highway condition
surveys and any repairs deemed necessary. It was considered that the

54

Page 96

planning condition was unreasonable and unnecessary as it would duplicate
the existing regulatory mechanism under Section 59 of the Highways Act
1980.
7.48

The Highway Manager is aware of the poor condition of the road surface of
Horton Road and Myers Road. It is understood that Horton Road will be
resurfaced in the next financial year, but unfortunately this will not extend into
Myers Road which may be considered in future maintenance programmes

7.49

In spite of concerns by some residents that the proposal would lead to an
increase in traffic to and from the site, the Applicant has not proposed to vary
the approved throughput of the waste operation which is currently set at
75,000 tonnes a year by planning condition 11. HGV numbers which might be
associated with an increase in waste throughput would be unlikely. The
Highway Authority has not raised any objections on the grounds that there is
no proposal to increase throughput and therefore there is no proposed
increase in traffic and therefore no requirement for a transport assessment.

7.50

The existing wording of planning condition 11 requires the Applicant to weigh
all material brought to the site and keep monthly records to be submitted in
order for the WPA to be able to monitor the approved site throughput. The
submission of details of different waste streams on a quarterly basis to the EA
is also a requirement contained within the environmental permit. The WPA
considers that to simplify this condition that the reporting requirement should
also be quarterly and for this to be on a rolling 12 months rather than calendar
year basis to improve precision. The ability for the WPA to check and if
necessary take action to control throughput likely to go above the 75,000 tpa
permitted for the remaining 3 months in any 12 month period will be retained
by this amendment. Given that the changes are to make the processing more
efficient so that more waste is capable of being recycled and less waste is
required to be sent to landfill this would comply with the principles of
sustainable waste management in the WCS.

7.51

A pedestrian gate has been installed in the northern site boundary to provide
access to an adjacent off-site area of car parking. Councillor Hilton and a
local resident have asked why it necessary for the Applicant to use this car
park. It is understood that the Applicant has made a private arrangement with
the Rugby Club to use their car park during the working day. Some objectors
consider that the Applicant should have obtained planning permission for the
use of the car park. However the City Council has advised that as the car
park is still being used for car parking, albeit by Allstone staff during the
working day rather than by Rugby Club patrons, that no change of use has
occurred and they are satisfied that this does not require planning permission.
The Highway Authority did not wish to condition the use of the car park as part
of this proposal in relation to the application site. .
Canteen Building, back up power generator and Zappshelters

7.52

Councillor Hilton considers that the additional plant and structures which have
been installed on the site should be the subject of separate planning

55

Page 97

applications. Planning condition 10 of the 07/0081/GLMAJW removed
permitted development rights which would normally apply to waste sites to
install and make changes to the plant and buildings and would require an
application to be submitted. As details of the ancillary plant and structure
have been provided in this application, the proposal includes these additional
items in order that they may be considered and regularised accordingly.
7.53

The canteen building is a single storey, modular, prefabricated structure which
provides facilities for employees working on site to take rest breaks. The
structure is not particularly visible from outside the application site boundary,
being screened to the northern site boundary by existing hedge and tree line
and set back on the site away from the public highway. The design is similar
to the two storey office building which has been recently consented under
planning reference 20/0019/GLMAJW under delegated powers. The overall
design is not outstanding and is considered acceptable within this waste site
environment. The use and appearance of the structure is not considered to
give rise to any adverse impacts on the area or amenity of residents. The
proposal would comply with Policy 37 of the Waste Local Plan.

7.54

The two Zappshelters used for the storage of ”fast moving primary stock
(mainly sand)” are located at the southwestern edge of the application site.
The material stored arises from that processed on the site and used in
connection with the adjacent concrete batching plant. The structures are not
particularly visible from outside the application site boundary, being screened
to the northern site boundary by existing hedge and tree line and set back on
the site away from the public highway. The use and appearance of the
structure is not considered to give rise to any adverse impacts on the area or
amenity of residents. The walls and roofing are designed to provide some
weather protection and prevent sand from blowing off the stockpiles. The
proposal would comply with Policy 37 of the Waste Local Plan.

7.55

The Applicant proposes to use the generator as a backup power supply in
case of power cut. It would not be used on a regular basis. Condition 20
currently prevents the use of all plant and machinery outside operating hours
except in an emergency. It is recommended that condition 20 is amended to
include the generator rather than prevent its use in all but power cuts in a
new, separate condition in order to protect amenity of nearby residents. This
is considered to comply with Policy 37 of the Waste Local Plan.
Review of extant planning conditions:
Revised Condition 1
The standard commencement condition has been reworded to reflect that as
this is a retrospective permission and the development has already been
carried out that permission is granted from the date of the decision letter.

56

Page 98

Proposed condition 2 amendment
7.56

Condition 2 sets out the scope of the planning permission by listing the
relevant drawings which define the boundary of the application site and the
site layout. The Applicant proposal is to substitute the latest drawings
showing the extended areas of land now in his ownership and also the
drawing which reflects the current layout of the site including the canteen,
Zappshelters and generator. It is recommended that the wording “Unless
otherwise approved in writing by the WPA” is also deleted to clarify that any
changes made to the planning consent would require permission to be
granted by the WPA by a planning application and cannot be agreed by letter.
It is also recommended that the information submitted in support of this
application is also specified in the condition wording and would include the
Supporting Planning Statement, NIA and NMP. Provided that the revised
waste management operations as detailed in other conditions proposed for
amendment in this application are considered acceptable then it would follow
that the revised plans set out in condition 2 would be acceptable. The need to
define the scope of the consent is considered to be in the interests of the
amenity of the area and accords with Policy 37 of the adopted
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core
Strategy.
Acceptability of condition 3 amendment

7.57

The condition is concerned with the internal uses of the MRF building and the
proposed amendment of this condition substitutes the revised internal layout
of the MRF building including the new sorting plant and waste reception area.
These changes have been made to make the process of sorting and bulking
up of different waste streams more efficient and provide improved employee
working conditions which is supported by national planning policy. The
NPPW in its introduction sets out the Government’s ambition of delivering
sustainable development and resource efficiency, including provision of
modern infrastructure, local employment opportunities and wider climate
change benefits by driving waste management up the waste hierarchy. The
new plant has been installed within the building and improvements made to
the building fabric so as to improve sound mitigation. The EA has approved a
revised Environmental Permit to control this plant from a pollution control
perspective and is satisfied that impacts can be satisfactorily controlled. The
NIA demonstrates that noise from the building would not harm the amenity of
nearby residents. Environmental Health Officers and the CAA are satisfied
with the findings of the assessment. The proposed amendment to condition 3
is considered in to have an acceptable impact on the of the amenity of the
area in accordance with Policy 37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste
Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy.

7.58

The revision to condition 3 also proposes the deletion of reference to planning
permission 01/00255/FUL which permitted the storage of aggregates in the
area now used for the reception of waste on the site as part of this proposal.
This amendment is considered acceptable and more precise by dealing only
with the revised internal layout of the MRF building for waste management as

57

Page 99

shown on the updated drawing, leaving the details of the use of the all the
doors of the building to be set out in revised condition 7.
Condition 4
7.59

Sets out the type of material accepted at the site. No change proposed other
than to update the policy references.
Condition 5

7.60

Restricts the storage and handling of chemical wastes. No change proposed
other than to update the policy references.
Proposed condition 6 amendment

7.61

The proposed amendment of this condition would permit some waste handling
outside of the building in two defined areas where the condition had
previously not permitted any processing, handling or storing of waste outside
of the building. The two areas are located outside the doors on the western
and southern elevations. The mechanical shredding of wood, is a noisy
activity, that would take place within the building but the bulking up into skips
would take place outside, by the southern doorway. The southern elevation
faces the railway and Metz Way where background noise levels are higher.
The NMP notes that the MRF building acts and acoustic barrier to the
residential receptors to the northeast and northwest. This appears to be
supported by the Noise Contour Map supplied as part of the NIA, with which
both the EHO and the CAA are satisfied.

7.62

The waste arriving at the application site would be brought by skip lorries and
placed within the MRF building for sorting and processing into different waste
streams as previously. The proposal is now that skip lorries would also take
away bulked up wastes from this area outside the western elevation of the
building. The NIA has taken account of vehicle movements going into and out
of the site and the noise profile does not show excessive noise would result
from this activity. This appears to be supported by the Noise Contour Map
supplied as part of the NIA with which both the EHO and the CAA are
satisfied. The external processes appear capable of being carried out without
harming the amenity of the area. Noise from these activities should not
exceed the maximum permitted of 47 dB in the curtilage of nearest residential
receptor set by revised noise condition 18. It is considered that the bulking
out in the two specified external areas of the application if carried out in the
way specified in condition 17 would be in accordance with Policy 37 of the
adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core
Strategy.
Proposed Condition 7 amendment

7.63

This condition is concerned with the use of the different doors in connection
with the processing of different waste streams within the building and that
these doors should be closed for most of the time. The City Council considers

58

Page 100

that the proposed wording of ‘operational uses’ in condition 7 is not precise
enough and a list of those operations covered should be listed. This would
help clarify the use of all the doors, particularly the eastern door and that
bulking out, is specifically excluded by condition 8. In order to improve the
clarity of the condition and avoid ambiguity, it is recommended that the
proposed wording of condition 7 sets out the operational uses listed in the
table in paragraph 7.43 under ‘Proposed Use’ in order to add precision to
condition 7. Additional wording recommended to clarify that the doors on the
northern and eastern elevation of the MRF building are only to be opened and
remain open for the time it takes for a vehicle to pass through for operational
reasons. At all other times the doors should be closed in order to maximise
the mitigation provided by them for noise and dust. This is considered to be in
accordance with Policy 37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan
and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy.
7.64

It is recognised that there is a risk that the automatic door closing system can
be manually overridden preventing the door from closing as has been
reported by some residents. No information has been provided to time how
long it takes to open and close the door. The requirement for the automatic
door closing system to be fully operational throughout the working day would
be reinforced by disciplinary sanction on any member of staff who disobeys
has been included as part of the NMP. However like all many of the other
provisions approved as part of schemes pursuant to planning conditions these
rely on the cooperation of the operator, good site management and the WPA’s
ability to monitor compliance with planning conditions on the site. The Council
has recently adopted a Mineral and Waste Site Monitoring Plan which sets out
how planning conditions covering operational development on both mineral
and waste sites will be carried out. A combination of regular site liaison with
all the site regulators and site visits by the dedicated PMO to check
compliance should increase confidence that all mitigation measures are in
place to protect the environment and amenity of the area in accordance with
Policy 37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14
of the Joint Core Strategy.
Revised Condition 8

7.65

The Applicant is not proposing to amend condition 8 which prevents the use
of the eastern doors for bulking out waste. The Applicant proposed that the
phrase ‘unless otherwise agreed in writing with the WPA’ was also added.
However, the use of this phrase in a planning condition is not considered
appropriate as changes should be agreed by planning application.

7.66

The Applicant has clarified that plastic recyclates are both shredded and
bulked up in storage bays within the MRF building as shown on the building
floorplan and he does not consider there is a need to amend condition 8. The
eastern door would not be used for bulking out waste but for the loading of a
waste carrying vehicle parked by the eastern door. The part of the site
immediately to the east of the building façade is not part of the application site
boundary. The loading and unloading of vehicles in this part of the site is not
prevented by the lawful use which has been established. One additional HGV

59

Page 101

movement a day associated with transporting plastic is not considered to have
any greater impact on amenity than the existing vehicles loading and
unloading gravels in the eastern part of the Allstone site or by vehicles
travelling around the building in order to exit the site. Given the response
from consultees and technical advisers, the use of the eastern door on
average once a day in order to load a vehicle with plastic recyclate is not
considered to have an adverse impact on amenity and would accord with
Policy 37 of the Waste Local Plan. In order to improve the clarity of this
condition it is recommended that the phrase ‘unless otherwise agreed in
writing by the County Planning Authority’ is deleted and the following revised
wording is recommended:
The use hereby permitted of the eastern doorway shall only be by loading
vehicles removing plastic recyclates which have been bulked within the
MRF building for onward transportation and no other purpose.
Reason: In the interest of the amenity of the area in accordance Policy 37 of
the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core
Strategy.
Revised Condition 9
7.67

The burning of waste on site is not allowed. Reference to ‘unless otherwise
agreed in writing’ removed for clarity. Policy references have been updated.
Condition 10

7.68

The condition is concerned with the removal of permitted development rights.
Reference to prior written approval is amended to the need to obtain planning
permission to improve clarity. Policy references updated.
Revised Condition 11

7.69

The condition is concerned with limiting the throughput of the site and the
provision of monitoring information on a monthly basis to ensure that the
agreed throughput would not be exceeded. Officers of the WPA recommend
revising the wording of this planning condition to remove the reference to
calendar year to allow the condition to apply to a 12 month rolling period and
not reset each year. Quarterly reporting is considered to be an acceptable
monitoring period and would still allow the WPA to monitor the throughput
against the agreed maximum limit for the site. This would enable the WPA to
better monitor the operations of the site in the interests of the amenity of the
area in accordance with Policy 37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste
Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy.
Revised Condition 12

7.70

Condition 12 is not proposed to be amended by the Applicant however it is
recommended that this should be amended. This condition is concerned with
the provision of records of material brought to the site. As the proposed

60

Page 102

amendment to condition 11 requires records to be kept quarterly and
submitted to the WPA, it is considered that this condition could be amended to
require records of the amount of waste recyclates leaving the site to be
supplied on demand. This would demonstrate the effectiveness of the MRF
processing on the site and amount of waste diverted from landfill and also in
the interests of monitoring the use of the highway in accordance with Policy
37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.
Condition 13
7.71

The condition prevents mud and debris on the highway. No change other
than to update the policy references.
Condition 14

7.72

The condition requires loads to be sheeted. No change other than to update
policies.
Condition 15

7.73

The condition requires that there should be no waste from the public
accepted. No change is proposed other than to update policy references.
Revised Condition 16

7.74

The condition controls hours of operation which are unchanged. However
reference to the phrase ‘without the prior written agreement of the WPA’ is
removed for the sake of clarity. The policy references are updated.
Revised condition 17

7.75

This condition is concerned with maintaining the fabric of the MRF building in
good repair in order reduce both sound and dust escaping from the waste
management operations within the building. The NMP which has been
submitted with the NIA includes the building maintenance as well as a number
of other requirements. However its is recommended that all the provisions of
the NMP should be secured by a revised planning condition 17 to ensure that
all mitigation measures are maintained and not just limited to maintaining the
fabric of the building in good repair as currently set out in condition 17.

7.76

The revised wording of condition 17 is considered to complement the
proposed amendment of condition 18. The amendment to planning condition
18 would set a maximum permissible noise limit at the closest property, while
the provisions of the NMP, secured by an amended condition 17, would set
out how the operations on the site can be effectively managed to minimise the
noise emissions to the neighbouring residential community. It is considered
that the amended condition complies with NPPF paragraph 180 which states
the aim is to “mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts
resulting from noise from new development and avoid noise giving rise to
adverse impacts on health and quality of life.” Such mitigation can be

61

Page 103

delivered through the use of planning conditions. The provisions of the NMP
are considered acceptable in protecting the amenities of local residents in
accordance with Policy 37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan
and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy
Proposed condition 18 amendment
7.77

The Applicant originally proposed to amend condition 18 which sets a
maximum noise level of 55 dB at the site boundary to 55 dB at the nearest
residential receptor. The reason given for this change to the condition in
paragraph 3.8 of the NIA is that such a condition is considered dated and not
appropriate to the existing operations. The noise level at the site boundary is
considered of little relevance and it is the noise impact at the receptors that is
considered most appropriate. It is therefore considered that the rating
methodology of BS 4142 is the most appropriate means of assessing the
noise impact from the proposals.

7.78

However because this original proposed amendment could have had the
effect of increasing the noise level for the closest residents , the Applicant
now proposes that the noise level should be reduced to 47 dB within the
curtilage of the nearest noise sensitive receptors and reflect the results of
noise impact assessment which has been carried out. It should be noted that
the NMP has a requirement for further noise monitoring surveys to be carried
out at least annually or in case of complaint. The onus is on the operator to
carry out the survey to check that agreed levels are not exceeded. This and
other noise mitigation set out in the NMP would be secured in the
recommended revised wording for condition 17. The City Council and the
CAA are satisfied the following revision to the proposed condition 18 would
not adversely affect amenity in accordance with Policy 37 of the Waste Local
Plan and it is considered that their ability to monitor compliance in the public
interest would be improved.
Proposed and Revised condition 18 wording
The equivalent noise level of the noise emitted from the operations
shown in the red line boundary in the Site Location Plan drawing
Reference ASG/001/2020, dated February 2020 shall not exceed 47dB
LAeq,1hour under free-field conditions 1.5 m above ground level in the
curtilage of the nearest residential receptors as set out in the approved
Noise Management Plan.
Revised Condition 19

7.79

The Applicant submitted information in order to comply with the outstanding
condition. The Applicant has confirmed in the Supporting Planning Statement
that in common with most HGVs, that all of Allstone’s vehicles are fitted with
white noise reversing bleepers. This would appear to satisfy the requirements
of condition 19 which is recommended should be reworded to reflect the
information and that the noise cancelling equipment needs to be maintained in

62

Page 104

order to protect amenity in accordance with Policy 37 of the Waste Local Plan
and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy. The revised wording is:
The use of white noise reversing bleepers fitted to all Allstone vehicles
operating on the site as set out in Supporting Planning Statement, dated
February 2020, Reference ASG/005/SS shall be operated and maintained as
approved for the duration of the development.
Reason: To protect the amenities of local residents in accordance with Policy
37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the
Joint Core Strategy.
Revised Condition 20
7.80

The condition requires all plant and machinery should only operate during
permitted hours which remain unchanged. Additional wording restricting the
use of the generator has been added and policy references have been
updated.
Revised Condition 21

7.81

The Applicant has set out in the Supporting Planning Statement the details of
the practices of how odours, dust and windblown litter will be managed on a
daily basis outside the MRF building in order to satisfy the requirements of
condition 21. These methods are fairly standard ‘good housekeeping’ such as
regular sweeping and dampening down and satisfy the requirements of the
Environmental Permit for environmental management controls. It is
recommended that the condition is reworded to reflect that the agreed scheme
is implemented as approved. Although it is recognised that the successful
implementation of this dust suppression scheme will depend good site
management as evidenced by site monitoring by the PMO and the EA in order
to protect the amenities of the locality in accordance with Policy 37 of the
adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core
Strategy. The following rewording of condition 21 is recommended:
The programme of measures for the suppression of odour, dust and
windblown litter on the Site as set out in the Supporting Planning Statement,
dated February 2020, Reference ASG/005/SS shall be operated and
maintained as approved for the duration of the development.
Reason: to protect the amenities of the locality from the effects of any dust
arising from the development in accordance with Policy 37 of the adopted
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy.
Revised Condition 22

7.82

The Applicant has set out in the Supporting Planning Statement the details of
the control of dust within the MRF building in order to satisfy the requirements
of condition 22. This method of dust suppression is a recognised industry
standard and satisfies the requirements of the Environmental Permit for

63

Page 105

environmental management controls. It is recommended that the condition is
reworded to reflect that the agreed scheme is implemented as approved.
Although it is recognised that the successful implementation of this dust
suppression scheme will depend on the system being maintained in good
repair, good site management as evidenced by site monitoring by the PMO
and the EA in order to protect the amenities of the locality in accordance with
Policy 37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14
of the Joint Core Strategy. The following rewording of condition 22 is
recommended:
The dust suppression scheme within the Premises as detailed in the
Supporting Planning Statement, dated February 2020, Reference
ASG/005/SS shall be operated and maintained as approved for the duration of
the development.
Reason: In the interest of the amenity of the area in accordance Policy 37 of
the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.
Proposed amendment of condition 23
7.83

The amendment of condition 23 is proposed by the Applicant. The loading
and bulking out of waste outside the MRF building is prevented by this
condition as currently worded. The proposed change would permit waste to
be bulked up outside the building on the south and west sides of the MRF
building. This would involve the two defined areas referenced in revised
condition 7 and shown on Proposed Site Layout Plan: ASG/002/2019. The
external operations would be covered by the proposed noise condition 18 and
the Council’s acoustic advisors are satisfied with the mitigation proposed in
the NMP which include vehicle movement and plant operation which would be
secured by conditions 2 and 17. The proposed wording by the Applicant
appears acceptable for the use of these external areas in terms of protecting
amenity to satisfy Policy 37 of the Waste Local Plan. Amended condition 23
would read:
No loading of bulked out waste into lorries for removal from the site shall take
place except within the building and those areas to the west and south of
the Premises hatched to the west and south of the Premises on Site
Layout Plan Drawing Number ASG/002/2019, Dated December 2019.
Reason: In the interest of the amenity of the area in accordance Policy 37 of
the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.
Condition 24

7.84

This condition is concerned with preventing contaminated drainage from the
site entering ground or surface water. No change is proposed to this
condition.

64

Page 106

Condition 25
7.85

This condition is concerned with the requirement for surface water from
hardstandings to pass through an oil interceptor prior to being discharged to a
soakaways. No change is proposed to this condition.
NEW Condition 26

7.86

In order to have consistency between both parts of the Allstone site which
have waste management permissions, it is recommended that a new
condition is imposed which would be identical to the one on
19/0070/GLMAJW requiring the terms of reference for the Site Liaison Group
to be agreed within 3 months of the date of permission. Given that
discussions have already taken place at the last liaison meeting held, it is
hoped that the community representatives will be included in future meetings
to improve communication with the community and increase transparency of
the various discussions with the site regulators. The new recommended
wording is:
Within 3 months of the date of this permission, details of an operator led multiagency liaison group including its terms of reference (which shall include a
public complaints scheme and consideration of the quarterly reports set out in
this permission), shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The approved details shall be
implemented and adhered to fully thereafter for the duration of this
permission.
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy
37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.
OTHER ISSUES RAISED:

7.87

During the publicity and consultation on these proposals a number of other
issues were raised by respondents which are not considered to be material to
the determination of this application, these were:







Allegations of collusion and collaboration with operator by the EA, City
and County Councils over lack of enforcement of planning conditions,
unfairness of decision makers who do not have to live near the site and a
reduction in Council Tax paid by residents as compensation;
Developer contribution to community hut;
Alternative site required for relocation of business;
Loss of protected trees from pollution/poor air quality;
Use of land for skip storage and former coal yard by the Applicant without
planning permission.

Enforcement of planning conditions
7.88

There has been criticism by some residents of the perceived lack of
enforcement of the planning conditions of the current planning permission,

65

Page 107

allegations of collusion with other regulators leading to a lack of confidence
that the enforcement powers which are available will be used against the
operator. The WPA has been working with the City Council’s EHO, the EA
Permitting Officer and the Applicant to try and address operational concerns
which have been brought to the WPA’s attention. The Applicant is convening
quarterly liaison meetings with the EA Permitting Officer, City EHO and a
representative of the WPA to discuss operational issues and complaints from
the public. As part of the requirement of a planning condition on the inert
waste processing site permitted under planning reference 19/0070/GLMAJW,
the terms of reference for the liaison group are required to be agreed.
Following discussions at the last liaison meeting, community representatives
from each of the two housing estates are to be invited to the next meeting
which has been scheduled for October 2020 and publicity given to it in the
Applicant’s community newsletter in order to increase openness and
transparency of discussions taking place with the operator.
7.89

In order to secure better compliance and consistency on both parts of the
sites involved in waste management a new planning condition which would
mirror the condition on planning permission 19/0070/GLMAJW to require the
Applicant to organise and agree the terms of reference of a quarterly meeting
of a liaison group is recommended. The timing of the meeting quarterly could
also be useful to review the quarterly reports which have been recommended
to be subject to planning conditions. The meeting could also provide a forum
for the public to attend or where complaints by the public can be reviewed and
remedial action is discussed. The requirement for the agreement of the terms
of reference of a site liaison group is considered to be in the interests of the
amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste
Local Plan.

7.90

It should be noted that the planning condition on 19/0070/GLMAJW which
requires the agreement to the terms of reference of the liaison group was
required to be agreed by the end April 2020 and remains outstanding. The
matter of how community representation can best be reflected in the group
has required the Applicant to seek agreement from two community
representatives from Swallow Park and Armscroft Park. Now that
representatives have been found, an application to discharge the planning
condition is expected to quickly follow the determination of this planning
application. This discharge application may well include information in relation
to the Applicant’s efforts to secure an alternative site for relocation which
would be due by the end of January 2021. The Applicant is keen that
Members should be apprised of the difficulties in finding alternative sites for
waste management operations.

7.91

While there continues to be criticism of the lack of the WPAs lack of use of
enforcement powers available, the County Planning Enforcement/Monitoring
Officers have investigated and visited the site each time any complaint has
been received in accordance with the Council’s published Enforcement Plan.
Paragraph 03 of the National Planning Practice Guidance on Enforcement
states that “Local planning authorities have discretion to take enforcement

66

Page 108

action, when they regard it as expedient to do so having regard to the
development plan and any other material considerations.”
7.92

Paragraph 11 of the National Planning Practice Guidance on when formal
enforcement action may not be appropriate states that:
“Nothing in this guidance should be taken as condoning a wilful breach of
planning law. Enforcement action should, however, be proportionate to the
breach of planning control to which it relates and taken when it is expedient to
do so. Where the balance of public interest lies will vary from case to case.”
“In deciding, in each case, what is the most appropriate way forward, local
planning authorities should usually avoid taking formal enforcement action
where:

there is a trivial or technical breach of control which causes no material
harm or adverse impact on the amenity of the site or the surrounding area;

development is acceptable on its planning merits and formal enforcement
action would solely be to regularise the development;

in their assessment, the local planning authority considers that an
application is the appropriate way forward to regularise the situation, for
example, where planning conditions may need to be imposed.”

7.93

Formal enforcement action is seen as a last resort and, in accordance with
NPPG, no formal action has been taken on this site against the various
planning breaches which have occurred whilst the application to regularise
these various breaches is under consideration by the WPA as this would not
be considered to be in the public interest.
Community Contribution

7.94

The local Member has recommended that in the event of planning permission
being granted that a financial contribution should be paid by the Applicant to
benefit the community subject to a Section 106 agreement of the TCPA. The
requirement for such a contribution to be payable would fail to meet the tests
as set out in NPPG paragraph 001 –When can planning obligations be sought
by the LPA, particularly the test of necessity to make the development
acceptable in planning terms and would not be fairly and reasonably in scale
and kind to the development. The Applicant is under no obligation to provide
community benefit and objectors may perceive that planning permission has
been bought by the receipt of such payments. However given the local
Members request the Applicant was asked if he might like consider making a
community contribution to the Elmscroft Community Centre. The Applicant
declined and advised that over £100,000 has been spent on replacement
plant, new automated roller shutter doors and repairs to the roof and walls of
the MRF building to reduce noise emissions to make the proposals more
acceptable.

67

Page 109

Alternative Sites
7.95

Some objectors have suggested that Allstone’s operation is too close to
residential areas and other sensitive receptors such as schools, open spaces
and hospitals/clinics and that the Applicant needs to find an alternative
location, although one resident was doubtful if they would move given the
level of investment in the site. Some residents have expressed unfairness of
decision makers who do not have to live near the site, while another resident
suggested that they should pay lower Council Tax to compensate them for the
inconvenience caused. The WPA is sympathetic to the concerns of local
residents however the principle of a waste management use on this site has
been established and is not now a matter for determination. The only decision
before the WPA in this application is whether or not to accept changes to the
operational conditions of the site. Consideration of the acceptability is
considered in more detail in the foregoing paragraphs. The WPA does not
have the power to compel the Applicant to relocate or to provide
compensation in the form of Council Tax reductions.

7.96

The Applicant has obtained an outline planning permission in 2018 from the
City Council to redevelop their site for residential and has advised the WPA
that they have sought the assistance of both the City and County Councils in
helping them find an alternative site but so far without success. While, it is not
for the WPA to proactively assist the Applicant in finding an alternative site,
officers of the WPA are aware of resistance that operators face by some
landlords to waste operations being located on existing industrial sites.

7.97

A planning condition to secure an annual progress report on alternative site
search and methods is a requirement of the temporary planning permission
19/0070/GLMAJW, however this is not considered to be necessary for the
existing permission which is not time limited.
Pollution and Trees on site

7.98

One objector has made reference to there having been a Tree Preservation
Order on the site and to pollution from the operation having affected them.
The majority of the waste management operation would continue to take place
within the MRF building. The Applicant has submitted a scheme for approval
to satisfy condition 21 which deals with dust suppression and windblown litter
from external areas of the site. The EHO was satisfied with air quality
mitigation on the site. The city council made no specific reference to the trees
in their response or there being any current TPOs on the site which is a
district planning matter. The County’s Ecology made no recommendation with
regards to biodiversity except to recommend an informative to protect nesting
birds if found. There are existing mature trees growing along the northern site
boundary which currently appear healthy and provide a useful visual
screening for the buildings on the site from views from the open space to the
north. No additional landscape protection is considered necessary for this
proposal.

68

Page 110

Other uses of parts of the Allstone site
7.99

Some objectors have indicated that the Applicant is using other parts of the
land in his ownership for his business without planning permission for parking
and skip storage. The County Enforcement/Monitoring Officers are satisfied
that all the activities within the red lined application site are waste
management uses controlled by the WPA and other activities such as skip
hire and storage and distribution of recycled aggregate are not county matters
and for the City Council to enforce as they see fit.
Human Rights

7.100 From 2nd October 2000, the Human Rights Act 1998 has the effect of
enshrining much of the European Convention on Human Rights in UK law.
Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 1998 guarantees a right to respect for
private and family life and Article 1 of the First Protocol guarantees the right to
peaceful enjoyment of possessions. Article 8 also provides that there shall be
no interference by a public authority with the exercise of this right except in
the interests of national security, public safety, or the economic well-being of
the country, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health
or morals, or for the protection of the freedom of others.
7.101 No objection has been received from a statutory consultee. There have been
six objections received from local residents and one from the local County
member concerned primarily with the loss of amenity on grounds of lack of
enforcement of planning controls relating to noise and dust, hours of operation
and from HGV travelling to and from the site. For the reasons set out in the
Planning Considerations above it is not considered that there would be any
breach of the Convention rights. Even if there was to be an interference with
Convention rights then, in this case, it is considered that the interference
would be justified in the interests of economic well-being and proportionate.
Accordingly, it would not be unlawful to grant planning permission for this
development.
Summary Reasons for the Grant of Planning Permission
7.102 The proposal in this application under Section 73A of the TCPA1990 is to
amend 6 planning conditions of the existing planning permission for a waste
recycling/transfer site under reference 07/0081/GLMAJW granted on the 30th
July 2008. The Applicant has made some significant changes to the way
waste is processed on the site since planning permission was first granted in
1999 and since the current amended permission was granted in 2008. The
changes made, particularly the introduction of a large sorting plant, will
increase efficiency in the way the facility is operated, together with
improvements in the safety of workers within the building. The facility
contributes to the County’s sustainable waste management objectives as set
out in the Waste Core Strategy, handling commercial and industrial wastes
and construction and demolition wastes from the local area and also supports
national waste policy by driving waste up the waste hierarchy by recycling and
reducing i the quantities of waste requiring disposal by landfill.
69

Page 111

7.103 Six local residents have objected to the proposed changes to the site
concerned primarily with the loss of amenity on grounds of lack of
enforcement of planning controls relating to noise and dust, hours of operation
and from HGV travelling to and from the site. The local County member for
the division also supports these residents by adding his own objection. While
Gloucester City Council initially objected to the proposals, this was
subsequently withdrawn following further submission and clarification of noise
impacts by the Applicant. No statutory consultee maintained an objection.
7.104 While some objectors are concerned that the Applicant keeps changing the
permission granted, it has to be accepted that a waste management use on
this site has been authorised since the planning appeal was allowed in 1999.
It also needs to be recognised that business practices do change over time
and the planning system exists to manage such changes in the public interest.
A Section 73 application allows changes to be considered and made to
planning conditions which control how that operation is carried out, but does
not affect the principle of development, which in this case is still a waste
transfer operation, sorting and bulking up different waste products for onward
transportation to recyclers, with the same waste throughput. Objectors
express concern that the Applicant has already made the changes without the
benefit of planning permission, however while the WPA does not condone
such action, it can only work within the regulations of the system available to
us. It should be noted that the WPA has been working with the operator and
other site regulators; City Council and the EA, to encourage the operator to
share his plans for the site in advance so as to provide the opportunity to
discuss any planning or permitting requirements prior to changes being made.
7.105 The acceptability of the amended conditions in terms of the effects of noise on
the closest residential properties has been demonstrated by the noise
assessment submitted in support of the application. Based on the technical
advice from the CAA, the WPA considers that noise effects from the internal
and external changes to the process of sorting and bulking up waste for
recycling will not adversely affect the amenity of residents. The WPA
considers that the risk of dust impacts on nearby residential properties can be
satisfactorily controlled by a dust suppression system operating within the
building and by an agreed mitigation scheme to control the impacts of dust on
external parts of the site. It is for these reasons that the WPA is satisfied that
the previous reasons of keeping door closed to protect amenity can be
amended provided that the impacts can be adequately controlled through
planning conditions. Therefore the WPA considers that the proposal to amend
conditions which allows some doors to be opened for operational purposes
accords with Policy 37 of the Adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and
WCS10 of the WCS.
7.106 As no change is proposed by the Applicant to throughput, the proposed
amendment of conditions is not considered to have an adverse impact on the
highway by increasing traffic generation. The Highway Authority has not
objected or requested any conditions.

70

Page 112

7.107 It is considered that this application provides for the more sustainable
management of waste, meaning more waste can be recycled/recovered with
less waste sent to landfill without increasing the throughput of waste and this
needs to be weighed in the planning balance against any amenity impacts
arising from these changes in operation. As it would be possible for amenity
impacts to be effectively controlled by compliance with planning conditions,
these proposals to amend conditions 2, 3, 6, 7, 18 and 23 are considered to
accord with the provisions of national policy framework and the Development
Plan. The WPA considers that there is no justifiable reason to refuse the
application.
7.108 In determining this planning application, the WPA has worked with the
Applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking solutions to
any potential problems arising in relation to dealing with the planning
application by liaising with consultees, respondents and the agent, and by
discussing outcomes, findings and comments with the Applicant where
considered appropriate or necessary. This approach has been taken
positively and proactively in accordance with the requirement in the National
Planning Policy Framework, as set out in Article 35 of the Town and Country
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.
8.0

RECOMMENDATION

8.1

It is recommended that permission for the variation of planning conditions is
GRANTED for the reasons summarised in paragraphs 7.102 to 7.108 subject
to the following conditions (where emboldened text indicates proposed
wording of conditions, underlining indicates revised wording recommended by
the WPA, strikethrough indicates where wording has been deleted/ or the
condition has already been implemented) and underlining and strikethrough
indicates where the WPA recommends wording is deleted:
Commencement

1.

The development hereby permitted shall commence from the date of this
permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004, and in the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with
Policy 37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.
Operating Conditions

2.

Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority or
varied by other condition(s) attached to this permission, The development
hereby permitted shall be carried out with the site edged red with a continuous
line on the ‘Site Location Plan’. Drawing Number ASG/001/2005, dated June
2005, Revision A (‘the Site’), and in accordance with the ‘Building Layout’,
Drawing Number ASG/001/2005, Dated June 2005, Revision B Number

71

Page 113

ASG/001/2020, dated February 2020 (‘the Site’), and in accordance with the
‘Site Layout Plan Drawing Number ASG/002/2019, Dated December 2019,
and the MRF Building Internal Layout drawing ASG/003/2019 dated
December 2019 and with the details in the submitted planning application
and the following supporting information: Supporting Planning Statement;
Noise Impact Assessment by 24Acoustic and Noise Management Plan,
rev 3, dated 12th August 2020.
Reason: in order to define the scope of the consent and in the interests of
the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 37 of the adopted
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core
Strategy.
3.

The premises (defined as the building shown on the ‘Building Layout’,
Drawing Number ASG/001/2005, Dated June 2005, Revision B ‘MRF Internal
Layout, Drawing Number ASG/003/2019, Dated December 2019, (‘the
Premises’) attached to planning permission 05/01126/FUL granted planning
permission dated 22nd September 2005) shall be used for a waste transfer
station and for no other purpose. other than that specified by permission
01/00255/FUL dated 3rd July 2001
Reason: In order to define the scope of the consented use at the site and in
the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 37 of the
adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core
Strategy.

4.

No material other than inert wastes, soil and subsoils and naturally excavated
material, biodegradable waste, non-biodegradable waste, hazardous waste
and metals, from household, construction and demolition commercial and
industrial sources shall be imported to the Site, unless otherwise approved in
writing by the Waste Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to define the scope of the consented use at the site and in
the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 37 of the
adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core
Strategy.

5.

The Premises shall not be used for a purpose of processing, handling and
storing of liquid chemical waste, solvents, pesticides, clinical waste or waste
oil products, unless otherwise approved in advance and in writing by the
Waste Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to define the scope of the consented use at the site and in
the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 37 of the
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core
Strategy.

6.

All operations and activities for the processing, handling and storing of waste
shall take place within the Premises except for the bulking out of waste

72

Page 114

which shall be restricted to those area shown hatched black on the Site
Layout Plan drawing number ASG-002-2019, dated December 2019.
Reason: In order to define the scope of the consented use at the site and in
the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 37 of the
adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core
Strategy.
7.

All doors to the Premises accept those existing on the south and east
elevation shall be kept closed at all times, except for emergency purposes.
The door to the west elevation may be opened solely for the purpose of
providing access to the stored goods area permitted under application
reference 01/00255/FUL dated 3rd July 2001 and shall not be used in
conjunction with the operations of the Waste Transfer Station.
The All doors to the Premises shall be used for the following specified
operational purposes except those existing on the south and east elevation
shall be kept closed at all times, except for emergency purposes.
The doors on the north and east elevations shall not be used for bulking
out purposes and shall only be use for the following operational
purposes associated with the north door of the MRF building removal of
pallets of bagged aggregates; removal of fine soils; overnight parking of
vehicles. Only plastic recyclates may be removed from the eastern
door. The doors on the northern and eastern elevation of the MRF
building shall only be open for the time it takes a vehicle to enter or exit
the building for operational purposes and shall remain closed at all
other times.
The door on the south The door to the west elevation may be used for the
purposes of bulking out wood waste and operational purposes
associated with the MRF Building and the doors on the west elevation may
be used for the receipt and bulking out of waste and for operational
purposes associated with the MRF building. opened solely for the purpose of
providing access to the stored goods area permitted under application
reference 01/00255/FUL dated 3rd July 2001 and shall not be used in
conjunction with the operations of the Waste Transfer Station.
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy
37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the
Joint Core Strategy.

8.

Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the County Planning Authority
The use hereby permitted of the eastern doorway shall only be for vehicles
bulking out residual waste removing plastic recyclates and shall not be
used by skip loaders or other waste carrying vehicles or for any other
purposes.

73

Page 115

Reason: In the interest of the amenity of the area in accordance Policy 37 of
the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core
Strategy.
9.

There shall be no burning of any waste or other material of substances on the
Site unless otherwise approved in advance and in writing by the Waste
Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interest of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy
37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the
Joint Core Strategy.
Permitted Development

10.

Notwithstanding the provision of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995, or any order revoking and re-enacting
that Order with or without modification, no buildings, no extensions or
alterations to the Premises, external floodlighting or other illumination or fixed
or mobile plant shall be erected on any part of the Site without the prior written
approval of planning permission by the Waste Planning Authority.
Reason: There is a need to secure control over additional plant and
machinery in the interests in the amenity of the area and in accordance with
Policy 37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14
of the Joint Core Strategy.
Traffic, Transport and Highway Safety

11.

The throughput of the facility shall be limited to 75,000 tonnes in any 12
months period calendar year (for the avoidance of doubt a calendar year
shall represent the period from 1st January to 31st December inclusive). The
75,000 tonnes per annum shall comprise no more than 27,000 tonnes per
annum of biodegradable waste, non-biodegradable waste, hazardous waste
and metals. All waste materials brought to the Site shall be weighed, which
shall be recorded by general description along with the date and vehicle
registration and monthly quarterly returns summarising the preceding 3
months shall be submitted in writing to the Waste Planning Authority for
monitoring purposes no later than 14 days after the end of each quarter. If,
after any 9 month period it seems that the annual limit may be exceeded,
measures to reduce the rate of throughput for the remainder of the calendar
year shall be agreed in writing to the Waste Planning Authority for monitoring
purposes.
Reason: To limit the scope of the development to that described on the
application, in order that the Waste Planning Authority can monitor the site, in
the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 37 of the
adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core
Strategy.

74

Page 116

12.

From the date of this permission the operators shall maintain records of the
quantity of material brought onto leaving the Site, and shall make them
available to the Waste Planning Authority at any time upon request. All
records shall be kept for at least 24 months.
Reason: In order that the Waste Planning Authority can monitor the site and
in the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy 37 of the adopted
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.

13.

No mud, debris or materials shall be deposited on the highway from vehicles
entering or leaving the site.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to prevent mud, debris and
materials getting onto the highway and in accordance with Policy 37 of the
adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.

14.

No loaded vehicles carrying waste, or recycled or recovered material, shall
enter or leave the Site unsheeted, except those only carrying materials in
excess of 500 mm in any dimension.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policy 37
of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.

15.

The Site shall not accept waste direct from members of the public and
members of the public shall not be permitted access to the facility.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy 37 of the
adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan
Hours of Working

16.

No operations shall take place, no machinery shall be operated, no process
shall be carried out, no skips shall be moved and no deliveries taken at or
despatched from the Site except between the following hours, without the
prior written agreement of the Waste Planning Authority:
7.30 am and 6.00 pm Monday to Saturday
There shall be no operations on Sundays, Bank Holidays or Public Holidays.
Reason: To protect the amenities of local residents in accordance with
Policies 37 and 38 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.
Noise

17.

In order to help attenuate noise and mitigate dust and odour, the building
enclosure, roof and walls shall be regularly inspected and maintained to
ensure gaps or cracks do not appear on the premises.

75

Page 117

Reason: To protect the amenities of local residents in accordance with Policy
37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the
Joint Core Strategy.
The noise management measures as set out in the Noise Management Plan
Revision 3 dated 12/08/2020 by 24Acoustics shall be implemented as
approved unless amended by written agreement with the Waste Planning
Authority for the duration of the development.
18.

The equivalent noise level of the noise emitted from the Site shall not exceed
a 15-minute LA eq of 55dB at the Site Boundary.
The equivalent noise level of the noise emitted from the operations
shown in the red line boundary in the Site Location Plan drawing
Reference ASG/001/2020, dated February 2020 shall not exceed 47dB
LAeq,1hour under free-field conditions 1.5 m above ground level in the
curtilage of the nearest residential receptors, as set out in the approved
Noise Management Plan or by written agreement with the Waste Planning
Authority. .
Reason: To protect the amenities of local residents in accordance with Policy
37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the
Joint Core Strategy.

19.

The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until a
scheme for the control of noise from reversing bleepers attached to lorries or
other vehicles operating or visiting the Site, has been submitted to, and
approved in writing, by the Waste Planning Authority. The approved scheme
shall thereafter be implemented and complied with at all times.
The use of white noise reversing bleepers fitted to all Allstone vehicles
operating on the site as set out in Supporting Planning Statement, dated
February 2020, Reference ASG/005/SS shall be operated and maintained
as approved for the duration of the development.
Reason: To protect the amenities of local residents in accordance with Policy
37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the
Joint Core Strategy.

20.

All plant and machinery shall operate only during the hours permitted under
condition 16 of this consent, except in emergency (which shall be notified to
the Waste Planning Authority as soon as practicable), and shall be silenced at
all times in accordance with the manufacturer’s recommendations. The backup power generator shall only be operated during permitted hours if there has
been a power cut and until the resumption in power supply.
Reason: To protect the amenities of local residents in accordance with Policy
37 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the
Joint Core Strategy.

76

Page 118

Dust, Odour and Windblown Litter
21.

The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until a
scheme and programme of measures for the suppression of odour, dust and
windblown litter has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Waste
Planning Authority. The scheme shall include:
(a) Measures for the suppression of dust, odour and litter caused by the
moving, processing and handling of waste materials on the Site and a
definition of the occasion(s) when those measure will be used;
(b) Procedures for the handling and movement of skips;
(c) Twice daily monitoring at the Site boundary for odour, dust and litter. A
provision of a written record specifying weather conditions, results of
monitoring and any remedial action taken. This record shall be kept for
a minimum of 2 years and be available for inspection by authorised
officers;
(d) Provision for monitoring and review of the scheme.
The approved scheme shall thereafter be implemented and complied with at
all times.
The programme of measures for the suppression of odour, dust and
windblown litter on the Site as set out in the Supporting Planning
Statement, dated February 2020, Reference ASG/005/SS shall be
operated and maintained as approved for the duration of the
development.
Reason: to protect the amenities of the locality from the effects of any dust
arising from the development in accordance with Policy 37 of the adopted
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy SD14 of the Joint Core
Strategy.

22.

Prior to the use of the eastern doorway commencing, details of a dust
suppression system for the loading area within the building adjacent to the
eastern doorway shall be submitted to and approved by the Waste Planning
Authority. Use of the eastern doorway shall not commence until such system
has been installed and is operational, and said system shall be maintained at
all times thereafter.
The dust suppression scheme within the Premises as detailed in the
Supporting Planning Statement, dated February 2020, Reference
ASG/005/SS shall be operated and maintained as approved for the
duration of the development.
Reason: In the interest of the amenity of the area in accordance Policy 37 of
the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.

23.

No loading of bulked out waste into lorries for removal from the site shall take
place except within the building and those areas to the west and south of

77

Page 119

the Premises hatched to the west and south of the Premises on Site
Layout Plan Drawing Number ASG/002/2019, Dated December 2019.
Reason: In the interest of the amenity of the area in accordance Policy 37 of
the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.
24.

There shall be no discharge of foul or contaminated drainage from the Site
into either groundwater or any surface waters, whether direct or via
soakaways.
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance with
Policy 33 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.

25.

Prior to being discharged into any watercourse, surface water sewer or
soakaway system, all surface water drainage from parking areas and
hardstandings shall be passed through an oil interceptor designed and
constructed to have a capacity and details compatible with the area being
drained. Roof water shall not be passed through the interceptor.
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance with
Policy 33 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.
NEW Site Liaison

26

Within 3 months of the date of this permission, details of an operator led multiagency liaison group including its terms of reference (which shall include a
public complaints scheme and consideration of the quarterly reports set out in
this permission), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste
Planning Authority. The approved details shall be implemented and adhered
to fully thereafter for the duration of this permission.
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy
37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.

Informatives:
1.

2.

The Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) which makes it an offence
to kill, injure or take any wild bird, and to intentionally remove, damage or
destroy the nest of any wild bird while that nest is in use or being built. It is
also an offence to take or destroy any wild bird eggs. If at any time nesting
birds are observed on or close to the site then works which might affect them
should cease and advice sought from a suitably qualified or experienced
person.
Contact the Waste Permitting Team at the Environment Agency to check if
any changes may have impacts in relation to the Environmental Permitting
Regulations and the site’s permit.

78

Page 120

BACKGROUND PAPERS:
Planning Application file 20/0003/GLMAJW containing the planning application,
supporting statement, drawings, consultation responses and representations may be
viewed by appointment with the case officer below or on the Council’s Public Access
website www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning by a search with the application
reference.
Links to Public Access:
Noise Management Plan, Rev 3, dated 12th August 2020.
Planning decision 07/0081/GLMAJW current permission for waste transfer
Planning decision 19/0070/GLMAJW for inert waste processing.
CONTACT OFFICER:
Case Officer: Linda Townsend.
Telephone: 01452 426896
Email: planningdc@gloucestershire.gov.uk

79

Page 121

This page is intentionally left blank

From: planningdc@gloucestershire.gov.uk [mailto:planningdc@gloucestershire.gov.uk]
Sent: 08 September 2020 17:06
To: Env - Planning Development Control
Subject: Comments for Planning Application 20/0003/GLMAJW

Planning Application comments have been made. A summary of the comments is provided below.
Comments were submitted at 5:06 PM on 08 Sep 2020 from Mr Robert Pidgeon.
Application Summary
Address:

Allstone Myers Road Gloucester Gloucestershire GL1 3QD

Proposal:
Variation of condition 2, 3, 6 (Operating Conditions), 7 (Doors), 18 (Noise) and 23
(Loading) of planning permission reference 07/0081/GLMAJW, dated 30/07/2008 for waste transfer
station
Case Officer:

Linda Townsend

Click for further information

Customer Details
Name: Mr Robert Pidgeon
Comments Details
Commenter Type:

Member of the Public

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application
Reasons for comment:
Comments:
Having read the Committee Report drafted for Planning Committee on 10th
September 2020 regarding planning application 20/0003/GLMAJW I have the following additional
comments. Please ensure that Planning Committee is aware of these comments and that answers
are provided before coming to a decision.
2.1 if it is the case that a planning permission granted to vary conditions should "restate the
conditions of the earlier permissions that continue to have effect" then why did permission
05/1126/FUL not repeat those conditions (i.e. 1 and 3-11 inclusive of the earlier appeal decision)
other than condition 2 that the applicant had applied to vary?

Page 123

2.2 the operations carried out in the building are significantly different from those envisaged when
permission was granted on appeal on 9 October 1998. Firstly, the building is now used as a materials
recycling facility rather than for waste transfer. Secondly, many of the operations involved in the
uses carried out (whether for materials recycling or waste transfer) take place outside of the building
- something that was not envisaged in the application determined by the Inspector in 1998 and I am
certain would have resulted in the appeal being dismissed. Is it not the case that rather than
regulate development on this site that the WPA has simply assisted the site operator to achieve
something very different than the original development through constant tweaking of conditions
that are either unnecessary, unenforceable or just won't be enforced other than through protracted
negotiations rather than any penalty being imposed?
2.2 why has it taken more than 12 years for the applicant to submit, or for the Waste Planning
Authority to require the applicant to submit, details required by condition 19, 21 and 22 of
permission 07/0081/GLMAJW? On the assumption that those conditions were supposed to achieve
something useful and prevent harm, and that in the absence of their approval harm has been
caused, how does the WPA intend to compensate me for its negligence and why should the WPA be
trusted as a competent authority to deal with any planning application on this site or probably
throughout Gloucestershire?
2.4 please explain why the amendment of the blue line (land in the applicant's control) is at all
relevant and warrants variation of the condition? Given that the applicant routinely carries out
activities on land beyond the application site 'red line', why is that allowed to occur in the absence of
any 'full' application to regularize the situation?
2.5 why do staff park in the rugby club car park on land owned by Gloucester City Council when the
applicant has plentiful land to provide parking facilities and why has planning permission not been
needed for that use as it is obviously significantly different to the infrequent use by the rugby club
and the occasional dog-walker and brings the applicant's activities closer to users of the Public Open
Space?
2.7 when were these unauthorised developments carried out, why are the majority of developments
on this site carried out without planning permission, why does it take so long for the WPA to do
anything about it, and why is no penalty ever imposed?
2.7 "the regulations do not permit the site area of a Section 73 planning application to be enlarged"
and yet the permissions you have granted since 1998 have allowed exactly that by allowing openings
in the building that the use of must result in use of land outside the application site to the north and
east of the main building. Why have you allowed this to happen, and those areas outside the
application site to be used for the bulking up and storage of waste?
2.11 ditto.
2.12 - the permission granted on appeal in 1998 and thus the 'root' permission as no other full
permission has been granted stated "the premises shall be used for a waste transfer station and for
no other purpose". How is an MRF not another purpose?
2.14 there is simply no need for conditions to include "Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
County Planning Authority" in the wording. This creates ambiguity and, moreover, results in a

Page 124

situation where it is impossible for anyone outside the WPA to know what informal agreement has
been given. The public are entitled to have clarity in knowing what has been applied for, what has
been approved, and what can be expected afterwards, and the planning system and democracy
should not be bypassed by a secondary, undemocratic process that puts all the power in the hand of
officers that in my opinion have an appalling track record in terms of regulating this site.
2.14 notwithstanding that the use of the eastern door for any purpose must result in use of land
beyond the application site, can someone explain the meaning of 'operational purposes' and why
that term would not include 'bulking out'?
2.15 given that 22 years have elapsed since the original planning permission was granted and several
applications have been made to vary/remove conditions since then, why has it taken so long for
anyone to decide that the noise condition ought to be varied? Furthermore, as the WPA does not
have the specialist expertise to monitor the noise, and the City Council can't be bothered to monitor
noise, or both have selective hearing, what in fact does anyone actually intend to do about the
pollution caused by operations on this site and adjoining land?
2.18 historically, noise and dust from the waste operations has been blamed on the sand and gravel
use, or vice versa, or has been blamed on the concrete batching plant. How does the WPA intend to
identify whether unacceptable noise at the receptor is coming from the noisy waste operations as
opposed to the noisy sand and gravel business or indeed any of the sundry activities that the
applicant company might choose to carry out on a whim - with or without the prior approval of the
WPA?
2.20 what does the WPA intend to do to ensure that reversing bleepers do not cause a nuisance and
why do they have to be so loud that the whole area knows that a vehicle is reversing rather than
someone potentially in danger from being run over?
7.3 various sources of information give strong reason to suggest that the annual tonnage limit is
being exceeded and in my opinion the audit of the annual tonnage by figures provided by the
applicant company provides an obvious conflict of interest and is a far from robust basis for
ascertaining whether or not that condition is being breached.
7.4 the information about noise is to me nothing but technical jargon. Unless it deals with those
short-length noises such as skips being dropped and dragged, material being dropped from height
into lorries and skips, and loading buckets being shaken, and all sorts of other banging, clanging and
scraping, then it is pointless other than to create a mirage where the applicant company, the WPA,
the City Council, and the EA can claim that there isn't a problem. I would ask that Members, or
anyone that's interested, walk around the local neighbourhood on several occasions and ask
themselves whether they regard the noise as a nuisance regardless of whether it does or does not
exceed the decibel level specified by someone that probably lives somewhere much quieter.

Page 125

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
APPLICATION NO:
DISTRICT REF:

19/0018/CWMAJ
W
19/001170/CPO

VALIDATION
DATE:

18th March 2019

AGENT:

Mr Douglas Symes & Land and Mineral Management Ltd.

APPLICANT:

Mr Trevor Kent, Hughes and Salvidge Holdings Ltd. Trading
as Valley Trading.

SITE:

Babdown Industrial Estate, Babdown Airfield, Tetbury,
Gloucestershire. GL8 8YL.

PROPOSAL:

Variation of condition 8 (throughput) relating to planning
consent 09/0036/CWMAJW dated 15/01/2010 to increase
the annual throughput from 45,000 tonnes to 75,000 tonnes.
PARISH OF
Beverston
SITE AREA: 3.5 Ha
GRID
384902 E
193430 N
REF:

RECOMMENDATION: That planning permission is GRANTED for the reasons
summarised in paragraphs 7.89 to 7.92 and subject to the planning conditions
recommended in Section 8.0 of this report.
1.0

SITE DESCRIPTION

1.1

The application site was first established as a Waste Transfer Station (WTS)
following County Council approval as Waste Planning Authority for planning
permission in May 2001.

1.2

The site is located on the 13.2 hectare Babdown industrial estate near
Beverston, within the Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB),
Gloucestershire. The land was formerly used as a wartime (WW2) airfield.
The industrial estate is located to the south west of the small settlement of
Beverston, which is designated as a Conservation Area. Tetbury lies 3.5
kilometres to the east. The entire Valley Trading site covers approximately 3.5
hectares in total and is bounded on its northern side by further industrial units
and on three other sides by agricultural land characteristic of the Cotswolds.
The site is currently used as a trading compound and waste transfer facility.

1.3

The main office building is located adjacent to the northern boundary of the
site and adjacent to the vehicular entrance to the site, with the surface area
comprised of a mixture of bound and unbound hard surface, extending to the
south. A converted for purpose shed is located at the south eastern end of the
site, laid on a concrete pad, which extends westward. This building functions
as a storage and sorting area. The remainder of the site is open ground and is
used for storage of waste and parking of vehicles, plant and machinery.

1

Page 127

Figure 1 – Site Location Plan

2

Page 128

1.4

The site is located amongst open countryside, with access via the existing
entrance from the A4135 along the existing internal access road. There are no
scheduled ancient monuments on or near the application site. The nearest
PROW (NBE14) is a Bridleway which crosses the internal access road
approximately 200 metres south of the junction of the access road with the
A4135. The point of crossing is located at an elevation above the A4135, with
no obstructions to the clear view of both pedestrians and drivers of vehicles.
The site falls outside Flood Zones 2 and 3, therefore it is deemed to be land
with a low probability of flooding.

1.5

The nearest residential property is Babdown Cottage, located to the north of
the application site, fronting the A4135, at a distance of approximately 750
metres. To the south east there a number of properties associated with
Nesley Farm, approximately 1 km from the application site.

1.6

The application site has a planted 4 metre high bund to the south and west.
An area of woodland known as Park Bottom is located approximately 100
metres to the south east of the application site. The surrounding landscape is
open, typical of former airfield sites comprising expanses of open fields, with a
gentle slope falling to the southeast.

2.0

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

2.1

The Applicant seeks to vary condition 8 of planning permission
09/0036/CWMAJW, which is itself a variation of planning permission
CT.3058/T granted in May 2001. The application is submitted under Section
73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. (TCPA)

2.2

Condition 8 of planning permission 09/0036/CWMAJW limits the throughput of
all material imported to the site to no more than 45,000 tonnes per calendar
year. The proposal seeks to vary condition 8 to permit an increase up to
75,000 tonnes of all materials to be imported to the site in any calendar year.

2.3

The operation accepts inert waste from households and commercial and
industrial sources. The types of waste accepted at the site for recycling and
processing include the following: soils, natural excavated materials, plastics,
metals, rubble, concrete and similar demolition waste: These waste arise from
householder DIY projects and larger commercial developments, such as new
housing and industrial units.

2.4

The Applicant already operates an established business from the premises.
The day to day operations comprise in the main, the delivery and collection of
skips in the local area, mainly within the Cotswold AONB. Skips are delivered
to customers, filled and collected. The full skip then enters the site, where its
contents are sorted within the purpose built building at the southern end of the
compound. The empty skip is then released for hire again.

2.5

Materials are then sorted and processed on site, by the automated plant
located within the building. Initially materials are sorted upon reception, and
then loaded into the first stage of the plant – a 6 cubic metre capacity belt
3

Page 129

which transports waste from the feed hopper. The conveyer belt transports
the material to a Spaleck double deck flip flow screen, which separates the
materials into three sizes - <10mm, 10mm – 65mm and >65mm. The <10mm
size material is removed first, the 10-65mm materials then travel further
onwards. An overband magnet then extracts ferrous material. Remaining
materials are passed through an eddy current separator, which removes the
non ferrous metals. The materials larger than 65mm move to a 6 sided picking
station. All lighter materials are then separated using wind technology.
Residual materials and wastes are sorted in this manner into separate silo
bays before bulked up into larger single HGVs for transportation off site.
2.6

Clean reclaimed aggregate is by far the largest element of materials by
weight. The Applicant states that the operations achieve a 95% recycling rate
of materials entering the site.
Pre-application Engagement

2.7

The advice of the Waste Planning Authority (WPA) was sought prior to
submission to determine if Section 73 TCPA was the correct method for the
submission.

2.8

The proposal was screened for Environmental Impact Assessment and this is
covered in Section 7 under the heading of Other Issues. The original planning
application (09/0036/CWMAJW) was not the subject of an Environmental
Impact Assessment.
Proposal

2.9

The Applicant seeks to vary the existing consent to permit an increase in
imported materials per year from 45,000 tonnes to 75,000 tonnes. The
Applicant states that this increase will not occur instantaneously and will likely
be incremental over a period of years.

2.10

The Applicant states through a supporting statement, that by securing a
variation of condition, the planning permission will be in line with the
provisions of the Environmental Permit, which allows up to 75,000 tonnes of
material to be imported to the site per calendar year.

2.11

The Applicant states that waste management, storage and treatment methods
have evolved, as has the waste industry in general. There is growing
expectation that both in terms of percentages and actual amounts, more
waste is recycled and less material is lost to uses such as landfill. By
investment in the business and more efficient practices, the business has
grown to currently require and support an increase in throughput. This is
reflected by an increase, especially locally, in the amount of demand for
recycled product.

2.12

The application is supported by a Transport Statement (TS). The TS details
traffic numbers along the A4135 in Beverston over the period covering
Monday 3rd June 2019 to Sunday 9th June 2019 inclusive. The TS also makes
4

Page 130

quantitative statements regarding vehicle class numbers and percentages,
using this information to provide an executive summary.
2.13

No physical changes to the site are involved as a result of this proposal. The
existing site plant, machinery and buildings are capable of providing sufficient
capacity for this proposed increase in throughput.
Further Information submitted December 2019

2.14

2.15

3.0

Further information was submitted by the Applicant on 2nd December 2019.
This further information consisted of a plan of the operational areas of Valley
Trading and the sister company AASVOGEL based in Wantage, Oxfordshire,
to show the boundaries of the areas covered by each operation.
Further Information submitted August 7th 2020
Further information was submitted by the Applicant on 7th August 2020. This
information seeks to consolidate the business purpose of being in the location
and being permitted to expand the throughput.
PLANNING HISTORY
Application
Description of Development
number
17/0127/CWMAJW Non Material amendment to amend the
wording of condition 8 of planning
consent 17/0017/CWMAJW dated
23/05/2017
17/0017/CWMAJW Erection of building for waste recycling,
recovery and storage
09/0036/CWMAJW Variation of conditions 2, 10, 11 and 12
relating to planning permission
CT.3058/T.
06/0037/CWFUL
Variation of condition 12 of planning
consent CT/3058/R to permit the
outdoor recovery of aggregate, hardcore
and soils from imported excavation,
demolition and construction wastes and
of woodchip from imported timber
wastes.
01/00008/COUNT Commercial recovery/recycling and
Y (CT.3058/R)
waste transfer centre, new office
headquarters and workshop and storage
building.

4.0

POLICY CONTEXT
National Planning Policy Framework
5

Page 131

Decision/
date
Granted
February
2018
Granted
May 2017
Granted
January
2010
Granted
July 2006

Granted
June 2001

4.1

The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) published on 19th
February 2019 sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and
how these are expected to be applied and is a material consideration in
determining the application. In assessing and determining planning
proposals, the local planning authority should apply the presumption in favour
of sustainable development, which is the main focus of the NPPF in relation to
both the plan-making and decision making process.

4.2

Paragraph 2 of the NPPF states that planning law requires that applications
for planning permission should be determined in accordance with the
development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The
National Planning Policy Framework must be taken into account in preparing
the development plan, and is a material consideration in making planning
decisions. Planning policies and decisions must also reflect relevant
international obligations and statutory requirements. Within this context, the
NPPF references Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

4.3

Paragraph 8 of the NPPF identifies sustainable development: Achieving
sustainable development means that the planning system has three
overarching objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in
mutually supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to secure net
gains across each of the different objectives):
a) an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the
right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;
b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by
ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to
meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a welldesigned and safe built environment, with accessible services and open
spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities’ health,
social and cultural well-being; and
c) an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of land,
helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising
waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including
moving to a low carbon economy.

4.4

Paragraph 80 states that:
Planning policies and decisions should help create the conditions in which
businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be placed
on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking into account
both local business needs and wider opportunities for development.

4.5

Paragraph 82 states that decisions should:
6

Page 132

…. recognise and address the specific locational requirements of different
sectors….
4.6

By supporting a prosperous rural economy… (Paragraph 83)
…Planning policies and decisions should enable:
a) the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural
areas, both through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new
buildings; …
c) sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments which respect the
character of the countryside;…

4.7

Paragraph 102 states:
Transport issues should be considered from the earliest stages of planmaking and development proposals, so that:
a) the potential impacts of development on transport networks can be
addressed;…..
d) the environmental impacts of traffic and transport infrastructure can be
identified, assessed and taken into account – including appropriate
opportunities for avoiding and mitigating any adverse effects, and for net
environmental gains…..

4.8

Paragraph 109 states that development should only be prevented or refused
on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be
severe.

4.9

Paragraph 111 requires that all developments that will generate significant
amounts of movement should be required to provide a travel plan, and the
application should be supported by a transport statement or transport
assessment so that the likely impacts of the proposal can be assessed.

4.10

Paragraph 170 advises that planning…. decisions should contribute to and
enhance the natural and local environment by:
a) protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or
geological value and soils (in a manner commensurate with their statutory
status or identified quality in the development plan); …

4.11

Continuing in Paragraph 172… Great weight should be given to conserving
and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in….. Areas of Outstanding
Natural Beauty, which have the highest status of protection in relation to these
issues….. The scale and extent of development within these designated areas
should be limited. Planning permission should be refused for major

7

Page 133

development other than in exceptional circumstances, and where it can be
demonstrated that the development is in the public interest. Consideration of
such applications should include an assessment of:
a) the need for the development, including in terms of any national
considerations, and the impact of permitting it, or refusing it, upon the local
economy;
b) the cost of, and scope for, developing outside the designated area, or
meeting the need for it in some other way; and
c) any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and recreational
opportunities, and the extent to which that could be moderated.
4.12

Paragraph 183 identifies that the focus of planning … decisions should be on
whether proposed development is an acceptable use of land, rather than the
control of processes or emissions (where these are subject to separate
pollution control regimes). Planning decisions should assume that these
regimes will operate effectively. Equally, where a planning decision has been
made on a particular development, the planning issues should not be revisited
through the permitting regimes operated by pollution control authorities.

4.13

Paragraph 193 states that when considering the impact of a proposed
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight
should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the
asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial
harm to its significance.
National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW)

4.14

Paragraph 1. Identifies that the Waste Management Plan for England sets out
the Government’s ambition to work towards a more sustainable and efficient
approach to resource use and management. Positive planning plays a pivotal
role in delivering this country’s waste ambitions through:
- delivery of sustainable development and resource efficiency, including
provision of modern infrastructure, local employment opportunities and wider
climate change benefits, by driving waste management up the waste
hierarchy
- ensuring that waste management is considered alongside other spatial
planning concerns, such as housing and transport, recognising the positive
contribution that waste management can make to the development of
sustainable communities;
- providing a framework in which communities and businesses are engaged
with and take more responsibility for their own waste, including by enabling
waste to be disposed of or, in the case of mixed municipal waste from
households, recovered, in line with the proximity principle;
8

Page 134

4.15

Paragraph 7 states that.
When determining waste planning applications, waste planning authorities
should:



only expect applicants to demonstrate the quantitative or market need for new
or enhanced waste management facilities where proposals are not consistent
with an up-to-date Local Plan. In such cases, waste planning authorities
should consider the extent to which the capacity of existing operational
facilities would satisfy any identified need;…



consider the likely impact on the local environment and on amenity against
the criteria set out in Appendix B (of the NPPW)



and the locational implications of any advice on health from the relevant
health bodies. Waste planning authorities should avoid carrying out their own
detailed assessment of epidemiological and other health studies;…



concern themselves with implementing the planning strategy in the Local Plan
and not with the control of processes which are a matter for the pollution
control authorities. Waste planning authorities should work on the assumption
that the relevant pollution control regime will be properly applied and
enforced;…
Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy – Adopted 21st November 2012

4.16

Under Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004,
planning applications should be determined in accordance with the
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The
County Council’s Waste Core Strategy (WCS) forms part of the Development
Plan and provides the strategic policy for development across the county for
waste matters until 2027. The following are the main policies of the WCS that
are relevant to the consideration of this planning application.

4.17

Following the presumption in favour of sustainable development at the time of
adoption in 2012, Local Plans were required to incorporate a Policy to reflect
this:
Policy WCS1 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
When considering development proposals the Council will take a positive
approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development
contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. It will always work
proactively with applicants jointly to find solutions which mean that proposals
can be approved wherever possible, and to secure development that
improves the economic, social and environmental conditions in the area.
Planning applications that accord with the policies in the WCS (and, where
relevant, with policies in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay,
9

Page 135

unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are
out of date at the time of making the decision then the Council will grant
permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise – taking into
account whether:
• Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
policies in the National Planning Policy Framework taken as a whole;
or
• Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should
be restricted.
4.18

Policy WCS3 – Recycling and Composting
In order to achieve the Gloucestershire local authorities' household recycling
and composting target of at least 60% by 2020, and diversion of an additional
91,000 – 111,000 tonnes per year of C&I waste from landfill, the Council will
support in principle, proposals relating to the development of new and
expanded recycling and composting facilities including businesses that
process recyclates and re-use waste.
Planning permission will be granted subject to the following criteria being met:
1. It can be demonstrated that the impact on the environment and
neighbouring land uses is acceptable. Proposals for composting generally
must be at least 250m from sensitive land uses such as housing unless it
can be demonstrated that it can operate in closer proximity without
adverse impact.
2. The highway access is suitable for the proposed vehicle movements.
3. The proposal contributes towards providing a sustainable waste
management system for Gloucestershire.
4. If the proposal is of a 'strategic' scale (>50,000 tonnes/year) it is located
in the area defined as 'Zone C' (see Key Diagram).
Particular support will be given to proposals that:
- Are located within or close to an urban area; and/or
- Involve the re-use of previously developed land, vacant or underutilised
employment land and/or redundant rural buildings including farm
diversification opportunities; and/or
- Involve co-location with an existing operation of a similar or
complimentary nature; and/or
- Incorporate alternatives to the transport of waste by road (rail, water
etc.), and/or
- Are well located to allow employees to reach the site by foot, cycle or
10

Page 136

public transport.
Proposals for the development of markets for recycled materials, in particular
initiatives to assist small to medium-sized businesses to re-use/recycle their
discarded waste materials will be supported and encouraged through
partnership working including the Gloucestershire Waste Partnership.
1 It is acknowledged that in the case of composting it may prove difficult to
locate within an urban area due to a 250m buffer generally being required for
issues relating to bio-aerosols.

Figure. 2 – Extract from the Waste Core Strategy showing location of
Zone C, referred to in WCS3 and WCS4. Red star shows approximate
location of the site within the AONB.
4.19

Policy WCS4 - Inert Waste Recycling and Recovery
In order to help reduce the impact of landfill and achieve the requirements of
the Waste Framework Directive (2008) the Council will aim to divert around
85000 tonnes /year of inert waste from landfill through recycling and recovery
operations.
Proposals for inert waste recycling and recovery facilities will be permitted
where it can be demonstrated that:
11

Page 137

1. The impact on the environment and neighbouring land uses is
acceptable including detailed assessment of the impact of noise and
dust and attenuation measures.
2. Where viable, the proposal incorporates the use of alternatives to road
transport such as rail and water and that where road transport is used
the highway access is suitable for the proposed vehicle movements
and is supported by a transport assessment and travel plan setting out
measures to encourage employees to reach the site by foot, cycle or
public transport.
3. The proposal contributes towards providing a sustainable waste
management system for Gloucestershire.
4. If the proposal is permanent and of a ‘strategic’ scale (>50,000
tonnes/year) it is located in the area defined as ‘Zone C’ (see Key
Diagram) except where located within an existing or disused mineral
working.
Developments may be acceptable on existing waste management sites and
mineral workings where it can be demonstrated that the minimum amount of
materials are being used for restoration/engineering purposes and that the
use will not unduly prejudice the agreed restoration principles and timescale
for the site. Temporary developments may be acceptable where the material
is recycled and re-used on site.
4.20

Policy WCS10 - Cumulative Impact
In determining proposals for waste related development for new or enhanced
waste management facilities the Council will have regard to the cumulative
effects of previous and existing waste management facilities on local
communities alongside the potential benefits of co-locating complimentary
facilities together. Planning permission will be granted where the proposal
would not have an unacceptable cumulative impact.
In considering the issue of cumulative impact, particular regard will be given
to the following:
1. Environmental quality;
2. Social cohesion and inclusion; and
3. Economic potential.
Within these broad categories this will, subject to the scale and nature of the
proposal, include an assessment of the following issues: noise, odour, traffic
(including accessibility and sustainable transport considerations), dust, health,
ecology and visual impacts.

4.21

Policy WCS14 – Landscape
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)
12

Page 138

Proposals for waste development within or affecting the setting of the
Cotswolds, Wye Valley and Malvern Hills Areas of Outstanding Natural
Beauty (AONB) will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that:
- There is a lack of alternative sites not affecting the AONB to serve the
market need; and
- The impact on the special qualities of the AONB as defined by the
relevant management plan (including the landscape setting and
recreational opportunities) can be satisfactorily mitigated; and
- The proposal complies with other relevant development plan policies.
In the case of major development within the AONB, a proven public interest
must be demonstrated. Planning permission will only be granted in
exceptional circumstances following the most rigorous examination and
subject to the criteria above.
The County Council will continue to work in partnership with the respective
AONB Conservation Boards and/or Joint Advisory Committees to help deliver
the vision and objectives of the AONB Management Plans and Waste Core
Strategy (WCS).
4.22

Policy WCS16 – Historic Environment
Planning permission for waste management that would have a significant
adverse impact upon heritage assets including their integrity, character and
setting will only be granted where it can be demonstrated that:
- The benefits of the development clearly outweighs the impacts that
the proposal would have in the key features of the site; or
- The proposal includes adequate measures to mitigate adverse
impacts; and
- The proposal complies with other relevant polices of the development
plan.
There will be a presumption in favour of the conservation of designated
heritage assets, and of those heritage assets with archaeological interest that
are of demonstrably of equivalent significance.

4.23

Policy WCS18 – Bulking and Transfer
In order to promote greater efficiency and to reduce the potential impact of
transporting waste by road, particularly on the Strategic Road Network (SRN)
the Council will support in principle, proposals relating to the development of
new and expanded bulking and transfer facilities.
Planning permission will be granted subject to the following criteria being
met:
1. It can be demonstrated that the impact on the environment and
13

Page 139

neighbouring land uses is acceptable.
2. The highway access is suitable for the proposed vehicle
movements.
3. The proposal contributes towards providing a sustainable waste
management system for Gloucestershire.
Particular support will be given to proposals that:
- Are located within or close to an urban area; and/or
- Involve the re-use of previously developed land, vacant or
underutilised employment land and/or redundant rural buildings
including farm diversification opportunities; and/or
- Involve co-location with an existing operation of a similar or
complimentary nature; …
4.24

Policy WCS19 – Sustainable Transport
Development that would have an adverse impact on the highway network
which cannot be mitigated will not be permitted.
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan (2002-2012)

4.25

Whilst the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy is the main policy document
for waste proposals, selected policies from the Waste Local Plan (Adopted
2004) have been saved by Direction of the Secretary of State, therefore form
part of the development plan and are relevant to this proposal:

4.26

Policy 33 – Water Resources – Pollution Control.
Proposals for waste development will only be permitted where there would be
no unacceptable risk of contamination to surface watercourses, bodies of
water or groundwater resources.

4.27

Policy 37 – Proximity to other Land Uses.
Proposals for waste development will be determined taking into account such
matters as the effect on the environment, occupants’ and users’ amenity and
health, the countryside, the traditional landscape character of Gloucestershire,
the local highway network, any hazardous installation or substance and any
adverse cumulative effect in combination with other development in the area.
Where appropriate, suitable ameliorative measures shall be incorporated in
the proposals to mitigate, attenuate and control noise, dust, litter, odour,
landfill gas, vermin, leachate and flue emissions.

4.28

Policy 38 – Hours of Operation.
The Waste Planning Authority will where appropriate impose a condition
restricting hours of operation on waste management facilities to protect
amenity

14

Page 140

Cotswold District Local Plan – Adopted 3rd August 2018
The Cotswold District Local Plan (CDLP) also forms part of the development
plan and provides local planning policies for development within the district
until 2031. The following policies of the CDLP are relevant to this application:
4.29

Policy EC1 – Employment Development
Employment Development will be permitted where it:
… b. maintains and enhances the vitality of the rural economy;…

4.30

Policy EC2 – Safeguarding Employment Sites
1. Within established employment sites, proposals for B Class employment
development, including intensification of the site, will be permitted…..

4.31

Policy EN4 – The Wider Natural and Historic Landscape.
1. Development will be permitted where it does not have a significant
detrimental impact on the natural and historic landscape (including the
tranquillity of the countryside) of Cotswold District or neighbouring areas.

4.32

Policy EN5 – Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)
1. In determining development proposals within the AONB or its setting, the
conservation and enhancement of the natural beauty of the landscape, its
character and special qualities will be given great weight.
2. Major development will not be permitted within the AONB unless it satisfies
the exceptions set out in national Policy and Guidance.

4.33

Policy EN15 – Pollution and Contaminated Land
1. Development will be permitted that will not result in unacceptable risk to
public health or safety, the natural environment or the amenity of existing land
uses through:
a. pollution of the air, land, surface water, or ground water sources; and/or
b. generation of noise or light levels, or other disturbance such as spillage,
flicker, vibration, dust or smell.

4.34

Policy INF3 – Sustainable Transport
1. Development will be permitted that assists in delivery of the objectives of
the Local Transport Plan and in particular: …
… c. does not have a detrimental effect on the environment by reason of
unacceptable levels of noise, vibration or atmospheric pollution;
15

Page 141

4.35

Policy INF4 – Highway Safety
Development will be permitted that:
a. is well integrated with the existing transport network within and beyond the
development itself, avoiding severance of communities as a result of
measures to accommodate increased levels of traffic on the highway network;
…
d. avoids locations where the cumulative impact of congestion or other
undesirable impact on the transport network is likely to remain severe
following mitigation; and
e. has regard, where appropriate, to the Manual for Gloucestershire Streets or
any guidance produced by the Local Highway Authority that may supersede it.
Other District Council Policy
Tetbury and Tetbury Upton Neighbourhood Plan

4.36

On 13th December 2017, the Tetbury and Tetbury Upton Parish
Neighbourhood Plan was made part of the Development Plan for the
purposes of determining applications.
Other County Council Policy
Gloucestershire County Council Climate Change Commitment

4.37

On the 15th May 2019, Gloucestershire County Council endorsed a climate
change emergency and committed to help deliver a carbon neutral County by
2050. Councillors agreed at Full Council to work with partners to identify what
measures are needed to deliver a stepped target of 80 percent reduction of
carbon emissions by 2030. This commitment refers to the inclusion in the
Council’s major strategies such as the Local Transport Plan to having clearly
identified strategies to reduce carbon emissions.

4.38

On 20th December, Gloucestershire County Council Cabinet met to discuss
the Climate Change Strategy for the period 2019/20 to 2024/25. Cabinet
members resolved (Subject to Scrutiny Committee call in) to approve the
immediate action plan (on climate change) and endorse the Climate Change
Strategy.

4.39

While not part of the Development Plan, the Council’s Climate change
commitment could be considered a material consideration when determining
planning applications. Members have expressed a desire to consider climate
change matters in Planning Committee meetings.
Gloucestershire’s Local Transport Plan 2015 – 2031
16

Page 142

4.40

Whilst not part of the Development Plan, the adopted Local Transport Plan
(LTP) Adopted June 2016 is a material consideration when determining
planning applications. The current LTP sets out the long-term transport
strategy up to 2031. It aims to influence how and when individuals choose to
travel so that individual travel decisions do not cumulatively result in the
failure of the transport network, negatively impacting on the desirability of
Gloucestershire as a place to live, work and invest. A formal LTP
Consultation Report will be published shortly. The outcomes from the
consultation, the Post Adoption Statement appraisal and further scrutiny will
feed into the revised Local Transport Plan for adoption by early 2021.
Other Material Policy Considerations
Cotswolds AONB Management Plan 2018 - 2023

4.41

The Cotswolds AONB Management Plan (‘the Management Plan’), whilst not
forming part of the Development Plan, it is a statutory plan, which sets out the
vision, outcomes and policies for the management of the Cotswolds AONB
(‘the AONB’) for the period 2018-2023 and is therefore a material
consideration. The Management Plan has two primary purposes:
1. To conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the Cotswolds AONB.
2. To increase the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of the
Cotswolds AONB.

4.42

Policy CC7 – Climate Change – Mitigation.
1. Greenhouse gas emissions should be reduced through a range of
measures, including:
…• purchasing locally produced food products and services.
2. Climate change mitigation should be a key consideration in all new
development, infrastructure and transport provision.

4.43

Policy CE4 – Tranquillity.
1. Proposals that are likely to impact on the tranquillity of the Cotswolds
AONB should have regard to this tranquillity, by seeking to
(i) avoid and
(ii) minimise noise pollution and other aural and visual disturbance.
2. Measures should be taken to enhance the tranquillity of the Cotswolds
AONB by
(i) removing
17

Page 143

and (ii) reducing existing sources of noise pollution and other aural and visual
disturbance.
4.44

Policy CE6 - Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage
2. Designated historic environment sites, such as Scheduled Monuments and
listed buildings, should be protected, in line with national policy.
and guidance.

4.45

Policy CE10 - Development and Transport – Principles
1. Development and transport in the Cotswolds AONB and in the setting of the
AONB should have regard to – and help to deliver – the purposes of
conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the AONB and increasing the
understanding and enjoyment of the AONB’s special qualities. They
should also contribute to the economic and social well-being of AONB
communities.
2. Proposals relating to development and transport in the Cotswolds AONB
and in the setting of the AONB should comply with national planning
policy and guidance. They should also have regard to – and help to deliver –
the Cotswolds AONB Management Plan and be compatible with
guidance produced by the Cotswolds Conservation Board, including the:
(i) Cotswolds AONB Landscape Strategy and Guidelines;
(ii) Cotswolds AONB Landscape Character Assessment;
(iii) Cotswolds AONB Local Distinctiveness and Landscape Change;
(iv) Cotswolds Conservation Board Position Statements.

4.46

Policy CE11 - Major Development
1. Proposals for major development in the Cotswolds AONB and in the setting
of the AONB, including site allocations in Local Plans, must comply with
national planning policy and guidance and should have regard to – and be
compatible with – the guidance on major development provided in
Appendix 9 of the Cotswolds AONB Management Plan.

4.47

Policy CE12 - Development Priorities and Evidence of Need
1. Development in the Cotswolds AONB should be based on robust evidence
of local need arising from within the AONB.

4.48

Policy CE13 - Waste Management
1. The waste hierarchy, shown below, should be promoted:
• Reduce.
18

Page 144

• Reuse.
• Recycle.
2. Proposals for new landfill sites and strategic waste facilities should not
normally be permitted in the AONB. Any waste management facilities that
are permitted in the AONB should be sited and managed in such a way that
adverse environmental impacts are minimised, in line with relevant
permitting regimes.
Cotswolds AONB Landscape Character Assessment
4.49

Commissioned in 2002 by the Cotswold Conservation Board, the Landscape
Character Assessment (CALCA) provides background to and descriptions of
the key landscape features located within the Cotswold AONB. The CALCA
does not form part of the statutory Development Plan, but is used to provide
information relevant to the consideration of character within the AONB and the
potential impacts posed by development.

5.0

REPRESENTATIONS

5.1

The application was publicised by site notices dated 4th April 2019 and a
press notice in the Wiltshire and Gloucester Standard newspaper also on the
4th April 2019. The expiry date for comments was 30th April 2019 for both
forms of advertisement. The methods of publication are in line with the
statutory requirements and the prescribed procedures contained within the
adopted Development Management Statement of Community Involvement
(SCI) 1st Review (2013) and with reference to the (at the time) emerging SCI
2nd Review.

5.2

No near neighbour notification letters were sent due to the discrete location of
the proposal from neighbouring residential properties (in excess of 700
metres) and local settlements. A total of 148 responses have been recorded,
and apart from a couple of local businesses, the vast majority being from
residents nearby, in Beverston and in Tetbury. A summary of issues raised
were:
CSJ Planning on behalf of Calcot Manor – (Hotel complex located north west
of the application site).






Section 73 TCPA 1990 is not the appropriate mechanism for considering
the application before the WPA.
The applicant has not provided sufficient clarity on the waste streams to
be processed at the facility.
The proposal is contrary to the policies of the Waste Core Strategy,
especially in terms of location as a Strategic Site.
There will be significant highway capacity, safety and amenity impacts
due to the increased HGV traffic.
There will be significant negative impacts upon the AONB and historic
assets, including tranquillity of the rural setting.
19

Page 145






There will be significant negative impacts upon tourism within the AONB
locally and generally and specifically upon Calcot Manor as a leisure and
tourism location.
The proposal conflicts with local neighbourhood plans.
An Environmental Statement should have accompanied the application as
it represents EIA development.
The proposal is restrictive upon the business and generates complaints
from guests on its existing restrictions.

Comments from Residents























Negative impact upon the highway network in terms of damage and
maintenance directly related to an increase in HGVs connected to this
proposal.
Negative impacts upon highway safety due to the increase in HGV traffic
associated with the proposal.
Negative impacts upon public safety in Tetbury.
Negative impact upon Tetbury commercial centre due to HGV traffic
associated with this proposal.
Negative impact upon the fabric of buildings (including heritage assets) by
passing HGV traffic.
Negative impacts of congestion, which an increase in HGV traffic would
add to.
Negative impact upon the beauty of the Cotswold AONB.
Support for the application which is contributing towards recycling targets
and is a local business, meeting a local need.
Negative noise impact of increased HGV traffic associated with the
proposal, generally and due to skip chains rattling.
Negative impact upon pedestrians and vulnerable road users.
Increase in pollution (non specific).
Suggestion that the applicant should use an alternative route for HGVs,
other than via Beverston / Tetbury.
Recent residential development has increased road traffic volumes in the
locality.
The proposal is contrary to Policy WCS4 – locational reasons.
Vehicles exceed the speed limits for the local road network.
Support for the application, which represents significant investment in the
business and provides local jobs.
Negative impact of dust and odour for residents adjacent to public
highways.
Concerns regarding the maintenance of the access from the application
site to the A4135.
Concerns regarding unsecured loads unshipping on the public highway.
A4135 is the location of numerous road traffic collisions which are not
officially recorded.
Concerns that a Section 73 application is not subject to the same level of
scrutiny as other planning applications.
The proposal would be responsible for making the locality dirty.
20

Page 146

















Negative impacts upon the Conservation Areas of the locality.
The proposal is contrary to the Policies and Statements of the Cotswold
AONB Management Plan.
Critical assessment of the GCC Highways consultation response,
questioning its robustness.
The Environmental Permit is being used to justify the application for an
increase in throughput at the site.
Uncertainty regarding the types and volumes of each type of waste to be
processed.
The Babdown Valley Trading operation is claimed to be for sale.
The proposal would have a negative impact upon wildlife.
Support for the application, stating that no lorries have been the cause of
recorded accidents, other businesses operate HGVs from the industrial
estate, the road was existing when recent residential purchases were
made. The site can accommodate the increase in throughput.
Traffic calming measures are required on the approaches to Tetbury.
The proposal will increase carbon emissions.
Redirect the waste to other sites.
Over-development of Babdown Industrial Estate.
Light pollution created by businesses at Babdown Industrial Estate.
Comparisons with figures quoted for waste dealt with in Bristol and the
proposal.

5.3

The Applicant submitted a Transport Statement in October 2019 to support
the application. An additional round of consultation was carried out on 9th
October 2019 with the original consultees and the document was made
available on public access for reference of those who had made
representations on the proposals. Comments were requested by 1st October
2019. The Transport Statement was submitted in response to public
comments and a request from the planning case officer in an attempt to
address the points raised.

5.4

The agent acting on behalf of Calcot Manor has submitted a rebuttal
representation, written to address the submitted Transport Statement. This
too has been published on the public access system. The main
representations contained within the rebuttal are:



5.5

Considers that the Transport Statement (TS) is light on detail and
technical assessment of the vehicle leaves doubt that the impact of the
proposal has been considered fully.
Considers that the increase in HGV numbers should require an
Environmental Statement to be submitted to support the application.

The agent acting on behalf of Calcot Manor has commented on the further
information submitted by the Applicant on 7th August 2020. The agent stated
that nothing in this further information adds weight to the Applicants proposal
and that the ‘immediate impression is that it appears to be based on much
conjecture with very little actual operational detail, analysis, or data.’

21

Page 147

6.0

CONSULTATIONS
Cotswold District Council

6.1

To date, Cotswold District Council has not formally objected to the proposal.
On the issue of noise; The Senior Environmental Health Officer (Noise)
(“EHO”) initially commented that a noise report had not been submitted with
the application documents and that a noise report would assist in assessing
how the increased throughput might be expressed in noise and nuisance
impacts.
For completeness, further comments were sought from the Senior EHO
following the subsequent submission of the noise report by the Applicant in
October 2019 in order to address this issue. The Senior EHO notes that whilst
the processing operations will undergo longer periods of activity, the
separation between those operations and noise sensitive receptors remains
significant. Therefore, retention of the existing noise mitigation condition is
requested. Noise from vehicles using the public highway network is a matter
which does not fall within the EHO remit.
The Senior Environmental Health Officer (Contaminated Land) has no
objection to the proposal.
Following receipt of the formal consultation response, the Head of Planning
Services at Cotswold District Council has not submitted further comments on
the application. (Last request for additional comments sent 13/12/2019)
Beverston Parish Council

6.2

“Beverston Parish Council has major concerns over the proposal to expand
the business and wishes to draw the following related issues to the attention
of the Planning Committee:
Beverston Parish Council OBJECTS to this application which will be highly
detrimental to the local AONB and the conservation village of Beverston, and
has far reaching implications for traffic management in GL8 and the town of
Tetbury.
The Beverston Parish Council supported the 2009 application for Valley
Trading throughput on condition that it was capped. GCC implied at the time
that up on the Cotswold escarpment we should bear some of the burden of
such waste operations, but a cap on the throughput was essential due to its
rural location in the AONB.
As the GCC vision and architecture consultant states, planning permission
that was granted had conditions 14, 15, 16, 17 and 22-25 that relate to
ensuring tranquillity, screening the operation, and setting noise levels and
operation hours. Beverston and its surrounding communities have worked
hard to live with Valley Trading, and have maintained a good relationship that
22

Page 148

includes site visits by councillors and open communications to remove wind
borne litter, and regular reminders about lack of sheathing on the chains of
their trucks. However there is little doubt that the business has had a huge
impact on the traffic locally. This new proposal now asks for an increase in VT
total vehicle movements equating to 100 vehicles, 20 vehicle movements an
hour, or one every three minutes. An increase of 67% in what is supposed to
be an area of outstanding national beauty, movements through a conservation
village, and which will inevitably two miles away also have a significant impact
on the historic streets (and heritage buildings) of Tetbury. Since 2009, the
conversion of Babdown Farm to homes has added a further 21 residents to
the parish, who have to live with the access road to Valley Trading (which is
only a dusty and noisy track). The clanking of unsheathed skip chains on
every truck impacts all of us, and indeed residents of Tetbury.
Regarding the detail of the application:
- The language in the application is misleading from the outset and throughout
by suggesting the Environmental Permit (EP) can be used to justify an
increase in throughput.
- The EP is not site specific nor is it specific to Valley Trading.
- The permit is generic to all operators of recycling and waste transfer
operations. Their permit is S200803 No3 (superseded by SR2015 No6).
- The cost of the permit is £3,926 per annum. The cost to vary with this
application is £1,178.
- There seems to be no other charge levied by the EA, so VT pay no charges
on throughput.
Valley Trading need to justify this application in much more detail.



The application contains no information on which to base a plausible stance
on the plans for the Babdown site and the effect the increase in throughput is
likely to have on our parish.
The parish and wider community feel a considerable negative impact from the
vehicle movements associated with the current operation and fear a 67%
increase in throughput would bring disproportionately even more disruption.



The onus should be on Valley Trading to support their application by
providing the necessary data on the current operation in terms of throughput,
the different types of waste as a percentage, the number of vehicle
movements travelling via the Calcot crossroads and through Beverston village
plus the success of the operation in the percentage of waste recycled and
how much goes to landfill.



A prediction should be provided of the likely source of the increased tonnage
given that the building bonanza in Tetbury will imminently cease, and provide
a prediction of the breakdown of waste types, vehicle movements and
distances likely to be traveled. In the absence of these figures it is impossible
for anyone to decide if the application has merit.

23

Page 149



Great emphasis is placed on the EA licence permitting a throughput of 75000
tonnes which is absolute nonsense as it is not prescriptive to Valley Trading
but is a generic licence issued to any waste operator as there is no other type
of licence and this should not therefore be a point of consideration in this
application.
We understand that Bristol Waste Company has the contract to collect and
dispose of Bristol's waste and collects 160,000 tonnes and recycles 75,000
tonnes. These figures give some gauge as to the scale of the Valley Trading
variance application. There is no mention of current throughput at the site, nor
the breakdown of material types, nor the vehicle movements associated with
the operation. If we had these figures it would be possible to extrapolate the
impact of the increase in a defined manner. There is acceptance within the
application that the increase is likely to be of heavier types of waste but if this
is associated with building works there are further implications. The house
building programme in Tetbury is nearing completion and therefore the locally
sourced materials will diminish markedly. This must raise the question of
whether Babdown is a suitable site going forward for an increase in
throughput as the distances required to acquire material will increase
considerably to encompass areas where waste is generated (for example
Cirencester, Swindon, Gloucester). There will be other recycling centres more
conveniently sited to offer the same service as VT with much lower transport
costs to themselves and less transport related effects on the environment in
general (for example pollution, traffic issues etc.).
In 2015 a planning application was turned down for an Anaerobic Digester at
Chavenage because of its impact on the AONB and impact on traffic in
Tetbury, on the A4135, the A46 and local lanes. Surely the same must apply
with this application? This is also relevant as our point about travelling further
afield to acquire materials (above) was also raised in respect of the inputs to
the proposed AD.
Notwithstanding the impact that the extra traffic will have on Beverston and
Babdown and Calcot Manor along the A4135, Tetbury itself will be very
adversely affected. Current Valley Trading Traffic is congesting the centre of
town and the A4135 at Charlton Hill. Either side of the accident prone corner
at Charlton Farm, the road has been blighted by potholes and there is
regularly severe road deterioration on the Charlton bend due in some part to
the already frequent HGV traffic, leaving a dangerous road surface that is only
'patched up' by County Highways. What confidence do we have that GCC
ensure County Highways outlay expense on better maintenance on this route
due to the proposed 67% increase of throughput from VT? We require greater
clarity on current vehicle sizes and numbers, and future numbers, and a view
taken on what would be an appropriate increase in vehicle movements.
Other disappointing planning decisions in this AONB:
- Despite opposition from Beverston PC, a planning application has been
granted recently to Woodlodge products to expand their site and operations

24

Page 150

into open farmland in the AONB, and beyond the boundaries of the original
airfield site at Babdown, thus leading to more lorry movements by Woodlodge.
- A wind turbine erected by Woodlodge at Babdown in 2010 (17.1 metres
high) has not worked since 2011 and generates no electricity. The original
decision notice did not include a (now standard) requirement for the removal
of generating equipment once it was no longer in operation. Despite a
notification for replacement in 2017 the turbine is still not operating eight years
on.
- The opening of a Wood chipping plant just 200m from Babdown farm,
although reasonable neighbours, is already a significant new development
close to residential premises.
- With new housing having been built on the extent of industrial areas in
Tetbury, more expansion is occurring at Babdown. It is something of an
oxymoron that a waste sorting operation should ever have been considered
appropriate for an Area of Outstanding National Beauty”.
The following comments are from neighbouring Parish Councils.
Tetbury Upton Parish Council
6.3

“The Parish Council strongly opposes the application and the increase in
vehicle movements , which will impact on a road which is not wide enough for
the traffic generated and will lead to congestion and pollution in Tetbury.”
Kingscote Parish Council

6.4

Kingscote Parish Council commented as follows:
 “the application is situated within the Cotswolds which is an Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty. Due to the uniqueness of the Cotswolds there
has been a lobby to get the whole area designated as a National Park.
 the local infrastructure is not capable of coping with such an increase in heavy
lorry vehicle movements.
 highways are carrying out 'once in a generation' improvements; an A road
such as the access to the site, will not sustain this level of heavy truck
movement. Deterioration to road surfaces will happen quickly and will cause
physical hazards to other motorists.
 local business will be affected by noise, dust, pollution. This is unacceptable
as the nearest local business is actually a hotel and spa.
 impact to local villages and Tetbury town itself is unacceptable. The vast
increase in traffic movements will further exacerbate already busy roads
(especially in the holiday seasons as Tetbury itself is a 'holiday' destination for
many tourists - not only domestic but also overseas). Visitors want to enjoy
peace and tranquility, not noise and pollution.

25

Page 151

 highways safety. Local roads are not wide enough to sustain heavy lorry
movement.
 lack of public consultation on such a large application
 wider impact of such an increase in traffic movements must be taken into
account. Lorries will cut through to the M5 affecting Kingscote, Frocester,
Eastington; travelling in the other direction will affect Beverstone and Tetbury.
Travelling to the M4 via the A46 will impact on Petty France which has always
been an accident blackspot, as well as numerous houses and hamlets en
route.
 An application such as this should be occuring in an industrial/heavy business
location. Babdown former airfield is not one of these sites”.
Nailsworth Town Council
6.5

“Nailsworth Town Council strongly objects due to the increase in large traffic
through the town (Nailsworth) and surrounding areas”.
Horsley Parish Council

6.6

Horsley Parish Council commented as follows:
“Horsley Parish Council strongly objects to this application. As a neighbouring
parish, the increase in traffic on roads throughout Horsley Parish would be
significant. An increase in traffic of this level would be detrimental to the
AONB and to Horsley Parish residents who live near the A46, B4058 and the
surrounding lanes which all cut through the parish. The existing level of traffic
generated by the tip already cause traffic problems in Horsley village and its
surrounding hamlets. To add additional heavy lorries from Valley Trading
would exacerbate these problems on narrow winding, often steep, roads in a
rural area in the AONB”.
Local Member

6.7

Councillor Stephen Hirst, (the Local Member) for Tetbury Division, responded
as follows:
“I wish to formally call in this application for the following reasons.
The Valley Tradings application to increase tonnage throughput at their facility
in Babdown to 75,000 tons per year from 35,000 tons grossly increases the
number of vehicle movements needed to service this plant. Following the
increase in the number of vehicles the amount of heavy vehicles on the A4135
towards Tetbury causes added harm to the town, particularly in Long Street
where a large number of the properties are Grade 2 listed. Already property
holders report their windows and homes suffering added vibrations caused by
an increased number of passing heavy vehicles. The amount of harm caused
26

Page 152

by daily congestion in the narrow Main Street of the town has to be reduced
and added vehicle throughput has the opposite effect.
The village of Beverston also suffers from an increasing number of heavy
commercial vehicles passing through the village in both directions. Pavements
are narrow and there have been unsuccessful attempts to achieve lower
vehicle speeds by increased speed reduction signage.
There is also an increase in heavy vehicles passing through Tetbury on the
road to Cirencester on the A433 entering from the A4135.
I hope that you will agree to call in this application so that the matter may be
fully discussed by the Planning Committee”.
Officer Response: As a result of Councillor Hirst’s request, the application is
reported to Planning Committee to be considered.
Highways Authority
6.8

The initial Highways Authority (HA) response was received by the case officer
on 15th April 2019. Due to the crucial nature of the impact of vehicle
movements in the consideration of this proposal, the HA comments are
included in full below:
“I refer to the above application received in my department on the 27th March
2019 submitted with application form, location plan and statement of
permission for variation of conditions.
The proposed encompasses the variation of condition under Section 73 of the
Planning Act to vary Condition 8 (Annual Throughput) from 45,000 tonnes to
75,000 tonnes in line with an existing Environmental Permit. Hughes and
Salvidge Holdings Ltd trading as Valley Trading Ltd (hereby further addressed
as ‘the applicant’) have demonstrated the intent to expand their business
which is co-related with the use of large HGV vehicles and comprehensively
associated with the proposed.
I note that a site visit was undertaken on 10 April 2019 to have an
appreciation of the existing development and the local impacts on Tetbury and
Beverston.
Access to the site is made through A4135 from A46 to Beverston Old Brake a
class ‘A’ highway subject to a sign posted limit of 60mph. The access
therefore requires visibility to 2.4m x 215m visibility splays in both directions.
Previous planning consents have not brought to existence a conditioned
restriction for the number of vehicular movements which could occur per day,
and the highways authority is aware there are various daily fluctuations of
vehicle movements for this site in relation to the associated use. Further to a
desktop assessment, I was not able to verify a comparable use which could
be associated with this site and the number of vehicular trips. The applicant
27

Page 153

has been contacted in order to provide the Authority with values data in order
for our formal response to be robust, however given the lack of previous
restrictions on the vehicular movements which could occur, the Highways
Authority underlines this matter is not materially significant in order to restrict
future vehicular movements nor warrant a recommendation of refusal for this
application. In addition, it is noted Valley Trading is located within other
industrial businesses which make equal use of large HGV vehicles for daily
operational purposes and equal use of the A4135 through Beverston and
Tetbury and the A46.
The increase of 30,000 tonnes per year is significant, in pro-rata terms the
increase reflects a 40% (percent) growth in vehicular movements when
compared to the existing permitted development. In the absence of data from
the applicant we have made an assumption that 30,000 tonnes are handled
with an average of 10 tonnes loads, this would to result in 3000 deliveries
(6000 two-way movements) per year. When spreading these movements over
approximately 250 working days in a year, this would generate an additional
24 movements per day (12 exiting and 12 entering).
The nature of the development is supply and demand, so for the purposes of
this assessment we have assumed that over the course of a year the split of
movements westbound and eastbound will be 50/50.
On this basis the variation in condition would, on average, generate 12
additional vehicular movements through Beverston and Tetbury and 12
movements heading towards the A46. It is considered, given the existing
number of vehicle movements on the A46 which accounts for an average of
5369 daily fluctuations, for which 2.6% (140no.) are associated to HGV
vehicles that over the course of the year the annual average of daily increase
in HGV movements (8.6%) and 0.2% increase of daily fluctuations would not
be materially significant to the existing movements which already occur.
Given the road works on the A4135 on the day of our visit we were not able to
fully appreciate what may be typical inter-peak traffic speeds and flows when
speeds tend to be higher. That being said the recorded average and 85th
percentile speeds on this length of highway is 44 to 45mph. Within the context
of the number of accidents in this location and the recorded speeds there
would not be a justifiable reason to implement traffic calming based on the
impacts of this development.
Whilst beyond the remit of our statutory duties we undertook a cursory
assessment of the site and noted that all vehicles entering and leaving the site
are weighed and recorded at reception. Drivers are provided with welfare
facilities and from observation all vehicles on site were less than 10 years old.
Finally, I note previous circumstances on which the applicant has debated
local concerns with Beverston Parish Council in order to overcome the above
raised matters, however such scenarios have failed to arise beneficial
outcomes for both entities. The Highways Authority is nonetheless mindful to
encourage further discussions between these parties.
28

Page 154

Recommendation:
The Highways Authority recommends no highways objection to be raised
subject to the following conditions attached to any permission granted:A routing strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority in order to address local concerns in relation to the vehicle
manoeuvres through Beverston and Tetbury. The strategy shall be
implemented and adhered to throughout the duration of the development.
Reason: To avoid an unacceptable impact on highway safety in accordance
with paragraph 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework”.
Following the submission by the Applicant of the Transport Statement in
September 2019, the Highways Authority reviewed the submitted information
and is satisfied with the contents and conclusions within it. The requirement
for the above condition is still reiterated. No objection is raised, subject to the
imposition of this condition.
County Landscape Advisor
6.9

The County Landscape Advisor (CLA) noted that the only factor likely to
impact upon landscape and visual matters will be the increase in vehicle
movements associated with the proposal.
The movement of vehicles will have an effect on the tranquillity of the area
and the immediately adjacent residential properties and it is important that
existing conditions relating to tranquillity, screening and mitigating noise levels
and operational hours be maintained. The exact proposed number of vehicles
has been questioned in relation to visual impacts at the point of access onto
the public highway network.
Environment Agency

6.10

The Environment Agency (EA) has no objection to the proposal and stated the
following: “The proposal will bring the planning permission in line with the
waste permit, there will be no material changes to the operations relating to
the control of pollution, the environmental impacts were assessed at the time
the permit was granted.”
Officer Comment: Legislation requires that any business which uses, recycles,
treats, stores or disposes of waste or mining waste must apply to the EA for
an Environmental Permit. The permit which Valley Trading holds in respect of
operations at the Babdown site permits (amongst other matters) a maximum
of 75,000 tonnes of inert waste to be processed per annum.
Minerals and Waste Planning Policy

6.11

Comments received as follows:
29

Page 155

‘For clarification, it is understood the proposal is to vary the existing permitted
waste management operation at Babdown Industrial Estate under GCC
planning reference 09/0036/CWMAJW. The proposal is to allow an increase in
the maximum throughput of waste by an additional 30,000 tonnes from 45,000
tonnes to 75,000 tonnes per annum. It is assumed all other elements of the
development remain unchanged.
It is understood that site-specific matters have been carefully scrutinised
already including potential highways and related impacts associated with the
proposed increase in the maximum throughput by an additional 30,0000
tonnes per annum.
However, from a local policy perspective it is worth clarifying the key
development plan policies that will need to be considered include: - Waste
Core Strategy Core Policies 3, 4, 10, 14 and 19 and ‘saved’ Waste Local Plan
Policies 33, 37 and 38.
Officers will need to be satisfied that the applicant’s proposal has sufficiently
demonstrated that it will not risk generating unacceptable adverse impacts on
neighbouring land uses and the natural environment or that the
consequences of not allowing the proposal would result in more harmful
adverse impacts occurring.
Beyond the careful scrutiny of site-specific matters, a critical issue for this
proposal is the fact it is located within the Cotswold Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty (AONB). This means specific policy tests will need to be
carried out (see policy WCS 14). They are concerned with demonstrating the
lack of / or unsuitability of alternative arrangements to allowing the proposed
increase in throughput; and a focused consideration of the potential impacts of
the proposal on the defined ‘special qualities’ of the AONB as set out in the
Cotswold AONB Management Plan (2018 – 2023). In addition, due to the
scale of the resulting development a case could be made that the proposal
represents ‘major development’ within the AONB. However, a decision on
whether the development is major or not will need to be taken by the case
officer having carefully reviewed all of the circumstances surrounding the
proposal. If it is indeed deemed to be ‘major’ – a public interest test would be
required. This in essence sets the bar quite high as to what would be
acceptable. It would need to be an exceptional circumstance for permission to
be granted and would need the WCS 14 policy tests mentioned above to be
met.
It is also worth noting that in respect of both policies WCS 3 and WCS 4 there
is a criteria relating to positive support for the zoning (zone c) of more
‘strategic’ waste management facilities (those handling over 50,000 tonnes
per annum), which does not incorporate the proposal site. In light of the fact
the proposal would create a waste development that falls into the ‘strategic’
category, the evidence from the alternative arrangements assessment could
be useful to counter balance any potential undesirable outcome of falling
outside of the ‘zone c’ from a policy adherence perspective.’
30

Page 156

6.12

Following the submission of the further information on 7th August 2020, the
comments of the Policy Team reflect that while the policy tests of the increase
in capacity in the AONB do not appear to be clearly justified, the position has
moved closer to a neutral one. It is considered therefore that where a conflict
of policy exists, the merits of the proposal must be weighed in the planning
balance. This is discussed in the Officers’ consideration below.
Gloucestershire County Council Public Rights of Way

6.13

No comments received to date.
Cotswold Conservation Board

6.14

No comments received to date. The proposal has been brought to the
attention of the CCB, but to date, no formal response has been received.
Planning Considerations:

7.1

The main considerations material to the determination of this planning
application to vary condition 8 (throughput) of planning consent
09/0036/CWMAJW to increase the annual throughput from 45,000 tonnes to
75,000 tonnes are:
 the extent to which this development complies with national planning
policies and the policies of the Development Plan for Gloucestershire;
 impact of the additional traffic created;
 impact of the development on the special qualities of the Cotswold
AONB;
 impact of the development on heritage assets in nearby settlements.

7.2

Additional issues have been raised through consultees which relate to:
 the necessity for an Environmental Impact Assessment;
 the appropriateness of the County Council to determine a planning
application according to the provisions of Section 73 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990.
 the impact of the proposal on the Council’s climate change
commitment.

7.3

These additional issues are addressed in paragraphs 7.71 to 7.86 of this
report under ‘Other Issues’ but are not considered to be principal material
planning matters to the determination of this planning application.
The extent to which this development complies with national planning
policies and the policies of the Development Plan for Gloucestershire.

7.4

The proposal to increase the throughput at the site will have no physical
impacts to the site in the sense of requiring new or additional buildings or
equipment. The proposal will make use of existing plant, equipment and
buildings.
31

Page 157

7.5

Under Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004,
planning applications should be determined in accordance with the
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The
main parts of the Development Plan relevant to this planning application will
be the Cotswold District Council Local Plan adopted 2018 and the
Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy adopted 2012.

7.6

At the national planning policy level, the NPPF does not contain policies which
relate directly to waste planning proposals, but has policies which are cross
cutting in effect, which can be applied to a variety of proposals. The proposal
involves the growth of a local business and receives support from paragraph 8
of the NPPF in that it represents working towards the economic objectives
and also the environmental objectives by minimising waste and pollution.

7.7

The proposal is clearly in line with NPPF paragraph 80, in that the proposal
will create the conditions where businesses can invest, expand and adapt.
The Applicant is a local business which meets a local need. It is
acknowledged that in a location so located near to the County boundary, a
proportion of that business will be located outside of the defined
administrative boundary.

7.8

It is acknowledged that the proposal will generate an increase in vehicle
movements. NPPF Paragraph 111 requires that development which
generates significant amounts of highway movement will be supported by a
Transport Statement in order to properly assess the likely impacts of the
proposal. The Applicant has submitted a Transport Statement which has been
available for review and comments. The Highway Authority has reviewed the
document and their comments will be further expanded upon below in
following sections on highway safety and capacity. Representations have also
been received in relation to the Transport Statement from Calcot Manor.

7.9

Paragraph 172 requires that great weight be given to Areas of Outstanding
Natural Beauty when considering development proposals. Consideration of
the public interest of permitting major development in exceptional
circumstances must include an assessment of the impact on the local
economy, meeting the need in some other way and any detrimental effects on
environment, landscape and recreation and possible mitigation. The manner
in which the proposal complies with this paragraph of the NPPF is considered
in more detail starting at Section 7.48 of this report.

7.10

Paragraph 193 requires the impact of any proposal upon heritage assets to be
considered. This is considered starting at paragraph 7.63 of this report.

7.11

The National Planning Policy for Waste, which sits alongside the NPPF seeks
to ensure that waste is driven up the waste hierarchy. An important
component of this is the efficient use of resources via increasing opportunities
for recycling and reuse of waste. On the principle of reducing waste going to
landfill and an increase in recycling and reuse, this proposal supports the
aims of this policy and the document as a whole.
32

Page 158

7.12

The Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (WCS) is the County Council’s core
document for considering waste applications. The WCS is the development
plan for proposals involving waste. Respondents have raised the
requirements of WCS2 – Waste Reduction as an issue to be addressed.
WCS2 is considered to be an intrinsic element of the proposal, in that it
concerns recycling of materials and its core function is waste minimisation. It
is considered that the proposal automatically complies with the policy.

7.13

The proposal seeks to permit a maximum of 75,000 tonnes of material
through the site per annum. WCS Policy 4 seeks to influence planning
decisions in order to divert 85,000 tonnes of inert waste from landfill. If one
assumes that the site is currently operating sub optimum, but within its
restrictions, then if operating at full throughput this site would divert an
additional 30,000 tonnes per annum from landfill, making a significant
contribution to the aims of the document and the requirements of the Waste
Framework Directive.

7.13

Policy WCS4 is a positive policy in that it states a set of conditions against
which proposals should be assessed. The proposal is considered to meet
three of the four conditions: The proposal elevates the operation over the
recognised threshold to become a strategic site. The operations have been
proceeding just under the 50,000 tonnes per annum threshold for a number of
years with no recorded complaints for a period exceeding 5 years.

7.14

The extent to which the uplift over the 50,000 tonnes has a material effect on
the locality is a matter of fact and degree. These issues are evaluated later in
the report under separate heading. Nonetheless, the proposal is supported by
WCS4 in three parts but is not consistent under the fourth locational element
as it would transition into a strategic site. Policy WCS3 – Recycling and
Composting is also relevant here, in that a small proportion of the waste
accepted into the site will be non inert and will require separating and dealing
with appropriately. According to the criteria, the proposal is supported by the
policy requirements in three parts, but is inconsistent again with the fourth
locational element. Having identified that, the amount to which Policy WCS3 is
relevant to this proposal is limited because the amount of relevant waste
imported will be minimal, not forming the intended waste stream.

7.15

Both Policy WCS3 and WCS4 have a criteria based approach to supporting
proposals for waste management. WCS3 is more limited in its regard to this
proposal, because the level of applicable waste is lower, but WCS4 is highly
relevant. Conveniently, the criteria under each heading are broadly similar:

7.16

The first criteria seeks to ensure that the proposal does not pose a significant
negative impact upon neighbouring land uses and the environment. Policy
WCS3 adds a 250 metre exclusion zone from sensitive land uses such as
housing. The Valley Trading site is location in a discrete location on an
industrial estate which is itself located a significant distance from any other
land uses, including sensitive ones such as housing. As previously described,
the site is located within an isolated area, surrounded by agricultural uses
33

Page 159

which are not contradictory to the proposal, with very effective screening
involving bunding and planting whilst benefitting from complimentary local
topography, meaning views into the site are limited.
7.17

The proposal will rely upon existing capacity on site within permitted,
bespoke, functioning buildings. There will be no requirement to undertake
further operational development on site, nor open for longer on a daily basis.
The site itself will not change. The potential impact from the increase in HGV
movements has been covered elsewhere in this report. It is therefore
considered that the proposal is compliant with the first criteria of both policies.

7.18

Criteria two requires suitable access for the proposal. In this location and
application, there are no suitable alternatives to HGV movements. The site
currently operates a fleet of HGVs for importing waste materials and exporting
products from the site. Factors including safe access and highway capacity
have been the subject of scrutiny by the HA. The HA has considered the
location, the methods of transportation and the safety and capacity of the local
highway network.

7.19

The proposal is therefore considered to provide suitable, appropriate access
to the site, along the existing on site access road and then the further local
highway network, given its links to the community that the business serves,
incorporating good access to the A46. Accordingly, the proposal is considered
to be compliant with the second criteria of both policies.

7.20

Criteria three requires that development proposals contribute towards
providing a sustainable waste management system for Gloucestershire.
Setting aside the current contribution of the Valley Trading operation to this
goal, the proposal would permit up to 30,000 tonnes more material to be
recycled within the County, greatly enhancing the ability of the County to
sustainably deal with its waste.

7.21

The proposal seeks to be even more sustainable by addressing a business
need with in the locality. The Applicant has produced documentation in an
attempt to demonstrate that the majority of its business is conducted within
the AONB. The proposal seeks to enable the Applicant to make the
contribution sustainably by meeting a local business need for materials
recycling. It is therefore considered that the proposal satisfies the third criteria
of both policies.

7.22

The fourth criteria of both Policies states that permanent proposals dealing
with greater than 50,000 tonnes of waste per annum will be permitted if
located within Zone C as defined within the Waste Core Strategy. The
proposal seeks to increase the capacity of the site into that regarded as of
strategic scale, without relocating from its established location.

7.23

The proposal therefore is considered to be inconsistent with the fourth criteria
of both policies and relies upon other material considerations to demonstrated
that it should be granted consent. These other material considerations are
outlined below in the following paragraphs.
34

Page 160

7.24

Additionally, possible non compliance with Policy WCS6 is another issue
raised by respondents to the proposal. Policy WCS6 is not considered
relevant to the planning application because it concerns wastes not already
covered in Policies WCS3, 4 and 5. The current application relates to wastes
identified by Policy WCS4 and a small percentage under WCS3, meaning
WCS6 is not relevant to this matter.

7.25

In relation to cumulative impact of the characteristics of the development, the
proposal will be assessed against the criteria set in Policy WCS10 later in this
report. Likewise, the extent to which the proposal complies with Policy
WCS14 is also considered later. How the proposal poses any impacts for the
historic environment (WCS16) is also addressed in a following section.

7.26 Whilst the Cotswold District Local Plan forms part of the statutory
development plan in the locality, for the purposes of proposals involving
waste, the Waste Core Strategy and the Waste Local Plan are the primary
development plan documents. The decision maker must apply all relevant
policies, give them the appropriate weight and come to an overall decision on
whether the proposal complies with the Development Plan or not.
7.27

Neighbourhood Plans are supporting documents for the development plan.
Neighbourhood Plans are not designed nor intended to provide comment or
guidance on waste proposals. They are a material consideration, however
and must be accorded relevant weight in the decision making process.

7.28

There exist a number of other policy documents, highlighted as relevant
advice within Section 4 of this report. Due regard is paid to these documents
within the sections which follow.

7.29

It is considered that the proposal does not have elements which clearly
contradict the development plan, national planning policy nor other material
planning documents. There are further considerations to be made against
specific policies later in this report, but there is not present any significant
conflict with the development plan which would cause in its own right, the
proposal to be refused.
Impact of the additional traffic created.

7.30

It is clear that the proposal will generate an increase in HGV traffic. This is a
logical effect of the proposed increase throughput limit. The likely impacts of
an increase in HGV traffic locally are considered to be as follows:





Safety concerns relating to the access of the site with the A4135
Safety concerns relating to HGVs using the A4135
Capacity concerns relating to HGVs using the A4135
Potential impacts upon tourism interests at Calcot Manor and in
Tetbury.
The report will address these issues in turn.
35

Page 161

Safety concerns relating to the access of the site with the A4135
7.31

The Highways Authority notes in responding to the application that:
“Access to the site is made through A4135 from A46 to Beverston Old Brake
a class ‘A’ highway subject to a sign posted limit of 60mph. The access
therefore requires visibility to 2.4m x 215m visibility splays in both directions.”
(These visibility splays are already provided at the junction of the A4135 and
the access to the industrial estate). The Highways Authority further note that
the recorded average and 85th percentile speeds on this length of highway is
44 to 45mph.

7.32

The access point is established and well known in the locality. Numerous
other companies operate from the trading estate and use large HGVs in their
operations. The Transport Statement submitted by the Applicant in support of
the application contains accident data supplied by Gloucestershire County
Council. The data covers the period 1st January 2014 to 23rd May 2019
inclusive. During that period, a total of 6 accidents on the A4135 between the
junction with the A46 and Tetbury were recorded. None of these were at the
access point, or involved vehicles using the access and none involved a HGV.
Combined with the lack of concerns raised over safety by the Highway
Authority, the empirical data shows no elevated risk to safety, it is therefore
concluded that the proposal is unlikely to negatively impact the safety of
highway users at this point.

7.33

The proposal is therefore acceptable in terms of safety and use of the access
on to the A4135 and complies with Paragraph 109 of the NPPF, Policy WCS4
and WCS19 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy and Policy INF4 of
the Cotswold District Local Plan.
Safety concerns relating to HGVs using the A4135

7.34

Several of the responses received from members of the public, together with
Parish Council representations state that an increase in HGV traffic along the
A4135 will cause either an actual negative impact on highway safety or a
perceived negative impact on highway safety. Case law has been provided
that perceived risks can potentially be a material consideration as much as
actual risks. The perception is shared across a broad range of respondents –
residents, commuters, parents (on behalf of their children) and vulnerable
road user groups such as cyclists. The effective method for removing the
perceived risk is via schemes for traffic calming, driver education and
enforcement, but this is generally beyond the scope of the determination of
planning permission unless the HA deem them necessary.

7.35

In respect of concerns relating to highway safety along this entire stretch of
the A4135, between the A46 junction to the west and Tetbury to the east, the
collision data reports do not support a quantifiable risk to safety posed by
HGVs. There may be a perceived risk to highway safety for those living on or
adjacent to the public highway, but this is not substantiated by the data. The
36

Page 162

Highway Authority has not objected to the use of the A4135 – or any of the
surrounding highway network by HGVs on grounds of safety. Therefore the
HA have not recommended the need for any measures to be put in place to
make the application acceptable in highway safety terms. Any potential risks
for users of the public footpath where it crosses the access road will be
mitigated by the infrequent occurrence of HGV traffic, coupled with
unobstructed visibility over a long distance for walkers using the route. It is
considered therefore that the proposal does not represent a risk to users of
the public highway, is acceptable and complies with the guidance in the
NPPF, Policy WCS4 and WCS19 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy
and Policy INF4 of the Cotswold District Local Plan.
Capacity concerns relating to HGVs using the A4135
7.36

There are concerns raised by public respondents and statutory consultees –
specifically the Parish and Town Councils - that the Public Highway has
insufficient capacity to accept the additional HGV movements that the
proposal would generate. The concerns identify purely the capacity on the
A4135, which is seen as congested and in particular the local environment of
Tetbury where congestion is viewed as a major concern for both residents
and visitors.

7.37

The Highway Authority response considers the capacity of the highway at
length. The Highway Authority has entered into calculations which would
result from the proposal. Working on the given data, the Highway Authority
has made a number of assumptions backed by figures supplied by the
Applicant to identify the potential impact upon the capacity of the highway.
The average daily HGV traffic is recorded at 140 HGV trips per day along the
A4135. This represents 2.6% of all vehicular trips on that road on an average
daily basis. The proposal if operated to the maximum capacity, would
represent an increase in 8.6% of HGV trips per day – equating in real terms to
an increase in 0.2% of that 2.6% figure. i.e. the proposal would equate to
2.8% of all vehicular trips on that road comprising HGV traffic. This does not
represent 2.8% of that traffic would be HGVs from Valley Trading, but all HGV
traffic. Therefore, whilst the increase is large in terms of Valley Trading
vehicles taken on their own, in the context of the low percentage of existing
HGV traffic compared to the volume of traffic on the local highway network as
a whole, the increase is regarded as not significant. The above is consistent
with an assumed 50/50 split in HGVs turning left or right onto the A4135 from
the access.

7.38

Referring to the Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan, the A4135 and the
adjoining A46 are indicated as primary route corridors for HGVs on the
Advisory Freight Route Map. Also shown on the map is the extent of the
Cotswold Lorry Management Zone. The application site, the A4135 and the
A46 all lie outside the Lorry Management Zone.

7.39

Owing to the proximity of the site to Tetbury, it is acknowledged that a large
proportion of the HGVs travel along the A4135 through Beverston and
Tetbury. Localised congestion is acknowledged to be an issue within Tetbury,
37

Page 163

especially the A433 – Long Street. Nevertheless, regardless of the origin of
the HGVs, the increase in HGV traffic in terms of HGV traffic and traffic as a
whole is not considered to be significant.
7.40

In conclusion, whilst there are recognised concerns that at certain times,
especially during peak times, there may be congestion and delays due to the
overall volume of traffic on sections of the A4135, there is no quantitative lack
of capacity on the local highway network. The Highway Authority recommends
no objection on capacity grounds and the proposal therefore poses no
significant negative impact to the capacity of the local highway network.
Therefore the proposal complies with the guidance in Paragraph 109 of the
NPPF, Policy WCS19 of the Waste Core Strategy and Policy INF4 of the
CDLP.
Potential impacts upon tourism interests at Calcot Manor Hotel and in
Tetbury.

7.41

Calcot Manor Hotel and Spa has responded to the proposal in detail. The
location is a hotel and spa business long established within a range of historic
buildings adjacent to both the A4135 and the A46. The hotel and spa
business is clearly rooted within the tourism sector and also located within the
Cotswolds AONB, which is a major tourism destination. The Calcot Manor
Hotel has expressed concerns that the core business will be affected by HGV
movements associated with this proposal in a significantly negative manner.
The comments received highlight disruption to the peace of visitors during
their stay, specifically from 0700hrs, but continuing throughout the day. Road
and transit noise, including vibration and clanking of chains are cited as noted
impacts.

7.42

The venue is somewhat of a hostage to its location; sited as it is
approximately a mile away from the Valley Trading site and at a major
crossroads of the A4135 and the A46. Whilst these highways certainly already
attract a lot of traffic with its associated impact upon tranquillity, it also means
that the Hotel and Spa is easily accessible by its clients and for deliveries and
services. As already stated, these roads are part of the freight network within
the county. There is already a significant amount of traffic using both of the ‘A’
class roads. The majority of the Hotel and Spa buildings are located away
from either road, and separated by car parks, which would mitigate some of
the traffic impacts to a certain extent due to the distance involved.

7.43

As noted in the preceding section, the proposal will add 0.2% in real terms to
the vehicular load of the A4135. It is difficult to conceive that such a minor
increase in overall traffic would have a significant negative impact in its own
right. Furthermore, conditions can be imposed upon the grant of planning
permission to ensure that vehicles do not leave the site and enter the local
road network with unsheathed chains. Other respondents have also
mentioned the issue of chain noise, so there is recognition of this as a
negative impact, which can be addressed by condition.

38

Page 164

7.44

To the east of the application site, situated along the A4135 are first the
settlement of Beverston, then Tetbury. Both have Conservation Areas and are
attractive settlements. Beverston is a small settlement with an attractive area
to the north featuring the Church (of St. Mary) and the castle. This is a
relatively tranquil area of the settlement, set back from the road as it is. There
are however no facilities such as restaurants, pubs or shops within the
settlement and it is unlikely given the current level of use of the public
highway that tourists would walk along in in significant numbers.

7.45

Tetbury is a larger settlement with a notable selection of facilities, including
cafes, shops, a tourist information centre and, like Beverston, has a high
proportion of listed buildings. It is worthy of note that the closest residential
property in Beverston is located in excess of 1.2 kilometres from the actual
site where the processing takes place and Tetbury is located in excess of 3.5
kilometres from the processing building. The activities on site are so discrete
from both these two settlements, Calcot Manor and the closest residential
properties in any direction, that it is realistically considered that on site
operations will not cause any noticeable negative impact. The potential for
impact to tourism will arise from the additional vehicle movements on the
public highway.

7.46

It has already been assumed by the Highway Authority that vehicle
movements will naturally split 50/50 west and east on the A4135 upon leaving
the site, with the reciprocal return journeys. It therefore follows that Calcot
Manor will receive half of the impact of the additional traffic arising from the
proposal, and likewise Beverston and Tetbury will receive the other half of the
additional impact associated with the proposal. It has been already stated that
the proposal will add 8.6% to the average daily HGV movements and 0.2% to
the real terms 2.6% of all traffic which HGVs represent. It is considered that
on its own, this increase in traffic is not materially significant as outlined by the
Highway Authority and therefore is unlikely to cause a significant negative
impact upon tourism.

7.47

Even in cumulative terms, the potential impacts from the HGV movements
associated with the proposal are considered by the Waste Planning Authority
unlikely to have a significant negative impact upon the viability of tourism in
the locality, given the real terms numbers involved. As Cotswold District
Council Environmental Health Officers have not objected, subject to the
retention of the noise condition, the processing activities on site are not
considered by the Waste Planning Authority to cause any significant negative
impact on neighbouring land uses or the Cotswold AONB. The proposal is
therefore considered to be acceptable in terms of its impact upon tourism and
to comply with the guidance in the NPPF, Policy WCS4 and WCS14 of the
Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy and Policy EN4 and EN5 of the
Cotswold Local Plan.

39

Page 165

Impact of the development on the special qualities of the Cotswold
AONB
7.48

Policy WCS14 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy sets out the
proposed approach for determining waste planning applications within the
boundaries of the Cotswold AONB – the largest AONB in England and Wales.
The Cotswold AONB includes 51% of the land area of Gloucestershire and
extends beyond the county boundaries into Wiltshire and South
Gloucestershire to the south, Oxfordshire to the east and Worcestershire and
Warwickshire to the north.

7.49

Policy WCS14 requires waste proposals to meet certain criteria and will only
be permitted where it can be demonstrated that:
- There is a lack of alternative sites not affecting the AONB to serve the
market need; and
- The impact on the special qualities of the AONB as defined by the
relevant management plan (including the landscape setting and
recreational opportunities) can be satisfactorily mitigated; and
- The proposal complies with other relevant development plan policies.
In the case of major development within the AONB, a proven public interest
must be demonstrated. Planning permission will only be granted in
exceptional circumstances following the most rigorous examination and
subject to the criteria above.

7.50

There are alternative sites with potential capacity which are located outside
the AONB. None of these alternative sites would currently seek to cater for the
business need in this location, however, and even if they did, this would
require HGV movements across the AONB, potentially transporting waste
over greater distances than those involved in this proposal, with the
associated disturbance. The key element of this criterion is whether granting
planning permission would affect the AONB. The applicant has an existing
business which meets a market need which is local to the site, within the
AONB. There are also alternative sites which accept waste within the AONB –
the nearest being at Aston Down, 6 miles north of Tetbury.

7.51

Planning permission was originally granted in 2001 for a commercial recovery
/ recycling and waste transfer station, with new office headquarters and
workshop and storage building. Under the relevant policies, the establishment
of a waste transfer station was considered acceptable in the AONB at that
time. The appropriateness of the location was also taken into account by the
Planning Committee. At that time, ‘it was considered that a Waste Transfer
Station on the site would fill an important gap in the provision of waste
facilities in this part of the county so that waste in this area could be handled
locally.’ The AONB was already established in 2001and location and the
impact upon the AONB would have been a material consideration for the
County Council in this application.

40

Page 166

7.52

The subject of location is somewhat less straightforward than purely the
consideration of granting permission for a new waste transfer facility within the
AONB. The site has been operating with planning permission for the greater
part of two decades in this location. The site is therefore established within the
location and operations on site are to some extent the principle of this location
has previously been tested against harm and amenity issues. The proposal
will provide extra waste handling capacity if granted permission, but within a
proven setting.

7.53

The minority of the respondents who objected to the proposal identify the
location of the site as affecting the AONB directly. The majority of respondents
targeted their objections to the increase in HGV movements on the local
highway network. If there is sufficient local demand for the increase in
capacity, these movements will occur in any event. It is therefore more
desirable that the waste is treated closer to its source than transported longer
distances across the AONB. The impact of HGV movements within the AONB
would still be present, if the market need was accommodated by sites outside
the AONB, as the vehicle movements through the AONB would still be
necessary. The option of transporting waste further through the AONB to
alternative sites outside its boundaries would have reciprocal negative
sustainability impacts.

7.54

Any activity has the potential to cause an impact upon the special qualities of
the Cotswold AONB. What is of importance is the consideration of impacts
which can either be accepted as complimentary to the designation, or those
which can be mitigated effectively to be acceptable in the AONB. The
proposal being considered has two elements which may affect the tranquillity
of the AONB. These are:



7.55

Potential impacts arising from the increased tonnage of throughput whilst
being processed on site, and
Potential impacts arising from the additional HGV movements associated
with the proposal.

Planning permission was granted in 2017 under reference 17/0017/CWMAJW
for the erection of a substantial extension to the existing processing building
located along the southern boundary of the application site. This larger
processing building is sufficiently capacious to allow the business to deal with
an increase in throughout within its confines, reducing and mitigating any
impact of the processing activities on site. The site benefits from existing soil
bunding on the west, south and east boundaries. (The northern boundary is
adjacent to other established industrial operations). The closest residential
property is located approximately 750 metres from the site. The intervening
distance, acting in unison with the bunding serves to ameliorate any issues
relating to noise occurring within the site. No complaints relating to the
activities creating noise have been received by the Waste Planning Authority
(including via the Cotswold District Council EHO) in the past five years,
41

Page 167

including the time during which the new processing building has been erected
and in use.
7.56

The Cotswold AONB Landscape Character Assessment (CALCA) identifies
the site as being located in area characterised as High Wold Dip Slope. The
landscape exhibits key features such as soft, gently rolling landscape
dissected by a series of predominantly south east flowing rivers, a transitional
landscape with large scale open arable fields with little tree cover. Of note is
the intermittent occurrence of airfields on shallow sloping elevated
landscapes. The area is generally sparsely settled with intermittent isolated
farmsteads and dispersed hamlets.

7.57

The application site is well screened from views due to its discrete location
amidst open agricultural land. There are no public highways passing directly
by the site and the nearest public footpath affords only passing, distant views
from a distance of about 800 metres. Beverston can be considered a hamlet,
but the application site is also close to the larger settlement of Tetbury. In this
respect, the site location is somewhat atypical of the landscape description.

7.58

Information has been provided by the Applicant to show the catchment areas
from within which the business operates. In accordance with the proximity
principle within the National Planning Policy for Waste, the proposal will
ensure compliance with Paragraph 1 by taking responsibility for waste derived
from the AONB.

Figure 3 – Applicant supplied business catchment areas.
7.59

A significant amount of the waste processed by the site is produced within the
Cotswold AONB. Should the facility be refused planning permission, this
waste would still arise and still generate HGV movements through this part of
the AONB, but also further into the AONB and onwards into sites within Zone
C (see figure 2 above). The vehicle movements would not cease. The waste
42

Page 168

would still require transporting through the AONB along the same roads as
those proposed by Valley Trading, but would involve longer journeys, leading
to increased carbon emissions. By permitting the proposal, a significant
number of HGV movements will be removed from the local highway network,
removing the associated carbon emissions.
7.60

The site is almost centrally located within the catchment area for this
established business. The situation is certainly not one of waste being
unnecessarily imported through and into the AONB. Given the scope of the
existing business operations, even if the site was itself not located within the
AONB, the business would still transport waste to a location similarly centrally
located within the area and the movements would still occur. Arguing that the
site itself should be located within Zone C does not have merit in this
circumstance. The waste would still need collecting from this area (marked
red on the business catchment plan) and would not simply cease to arise. The
business need exists because waste arises within the AONB, rather than the
waste is arising because a business exists.

7.61

The site itself represents a sustainable option for the processing of waste due
to its suitable location giving rise to no significant negative impacts relative to
its location within the immediate locality and the AONB. Residents within the
AONB forming a proportion of the customer base for the company must seek
to comply with the waste hierarchy and deal with waste at or near to source in
a sustainable manner. The proposal seeks to cater for waste arising close to
source, and given the wide catchment area, HGV movements throughout the
wider AONB will be diluted and not focussed in certain locations in such a way
to significantly impact upon the tranquillity of the AONB.

7.62

It is therefore considered by the Waste Planning Authority that the proposal
does not represent a significant negative impact upon tranquillity in terms of
location and HGV movements to the wider AONB. There may be an increased
impact upon tranquillity due to HGV movements in the localised vicinity of the
site, but this will quickly dissipate on the local highway network. The proposal
is therefore considered to be acceptable and to comply with the guidance in
the NPPF, Paragraph 1 of the National Planning Policy for Waste, Policy
WCS4, WCS10, WCS14, WCS18 and WCS19 of the WCS, Policy 33, 37 and
38 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan, Policy EC1, EC2, EN4 and EN5
of the CDLP, Policy CC7, CE4, CE10, CE12 and CE14 of the Cotswolds
AONB Management Plan.
Impact of the Proposal on Heritage Assets

7.63

The proposal is located in close proximity to areas which feature a higher than
average agglomeration of heritage assets such as Scheduled Ancient
Monuments and Listed Buildings. There is therefore the potential for the
proposal to cause a negative impact upon these heritage assets.

7.64

The application site, as already discussed is located on a former airfield
amongst contoured agricultural land, the topography of which serves to
conceal it from the majority of wider views. There are no Scheduled Ancient
43

Page 169

Monuments or Listed Buildings located in such proximity to the site as to
affect their fabric or setting, and therefore the application was not
accompanied by a Heritage Impact Assessment.
7.65

Therefore the potential impact to be assessed in that of the transportation of
waste materials along the local highway network by HGVs. The potential for
impact is further identified and focussed on the passage of HGVs on the
highways travelling past listed buildings. The effect of the potential impact is
also regulated and mitigated by the position of the building in relation to the
public highway. Furthermore, the proposal does not include the creation of
any new highway or accesses. It is therefore in the context of the use of an
existing public highway in relation to the effect on adjacent listed buildings,
that such considerations must be made. Setting of heritage assets can
therefore also be excluded from the consideration.

7.66

There is a scarcity of academic research published on the effects of vibration
from HGVs on the fabric of listed buildings. Reference has been made by the
agent acting on behalf of Calcot Manor Hotel and Spa to the following
documents to assist consideration of the impacts; ‘TRRL Report 207 (1989)
the effects of traffic induced vibrations on heritage buildings – further case
studies’ and ‘English Heritage Archaeology Commissions Project Ref. ALSF
3555 – Impact of Aggregates Extraction and Transportation on the Historic
Environment (2007)’.

7.67

These documents comprise the most readily available documentary analysis
into the effect of HGV induced vibration on heritage buildings. It must be noted
that the HGVs typically sampled for the publication of the findings in both
these documents are large HGVs carrying mineral products, and unladen
HGVs of the same type, but this is the closest available comparison to the
potential impacts from this proposal. Both documents conclude that the level
of vibration induced by HGVs using the public highway quantifiably falls below
the threshold at which damage would occur. The reports recognise that
vibration does occur to the fabric of heritage assets, primarily on road
frontages and at first floor level, rather than foundations.

7.68

Mention is made, particularly in ALSF 3555 that the use of the public highway
by HGVs can detract significantly from the setting of historic settlements. This
impact is acknowledged, but this planning application is not the mechanism
for controlling HGV movements through the historic centre of Tetbury and
Beverston. To consider that this application in isolation is responsible for
causing a significant negative impact upon the historic environment of these
settlements and other heritage assets would not be proportionate to the
development proposal. The control of vehicles using a public highway which is
considered by the Highway Authority to have sufficient capacity for such traffic
is beyond the scope of the land use planning regime.

7.69

Both Beverston and Tetbury centres are designated Conservation Areas. The
designation protects the historic and architectural elements of the locality. The
proposal to increase the throughput of material through the facility does not
directly impact the historic and architectural integrity of these conservation
44

Page 170

areas. The potential impact of the additional HGV traffic associated with the
proposal is a worthy material consideration. The results of the two research
reports demonstrate that HGV movements are not responsible for damage to
the fabric of heritage assets, which provides a context for consideration of this
issue. Both conservation areas are located on a busy public highway, which is
also identified in the Local Transport Plan as a primary route corridor for
HGVs. The increase in HGV traffic in real terms as a result of this proposal
running at full capacity has already been shown to be less than significant. It
must be concluded therefore that the proposal does not represent a significant
negative impact upon heritage assets.
7.70

The proposal site is not located within the setting of a Scheduled Ancient
Monument or Listed Building, the HGV movements do not cause harm to the
fabric, architectural or historic significance of heritage assets and will not
cause a significant negative impact to the context of the Beverston and
Tetbury Conservation Areas. The proposal is therefore considered acceptable
and complies with the guidance in the NPPF, particularly Paragraph 193,
Policy WCS1, WCS4 and WCS16 of the WCS, Policy EN4 of the CDLP and
Policy CE6 of the Cotswolds AONB Management Plan.
Other issues:
The Necessity for an Environmental Impact Assessment

7.71

The original planning application which established the waste use of the site in
2001 was screened under the relevant Town and Country Planning
(Environmental Impact Assessment) (England) Regulations. The EIA
Screening Opinion was issued in January 2001 that the proposal as submitted
did not represent EIA development and no Environmental Statement was
required.

7.72

Upon receipt of the current planning application, the Waste Planning Authority
carried out a screening opinion exercise under Regulation 6 of the Town and
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England) Regulations
2017. Consultations were sent to Statutory Consultees on this matter and
based upon an assessment by the case officer and from the responses
provided, a decision was made that whilst the proposal fell within the
descriptions of development listed in Schedule 2 Column 1 Paragraph 11 (b) –
(Other Projects – installations for the disposal of waste), there would not be a
requirement for an Environmental Statement (ES) to be submitted to
accompany the application because it did not represent EIA development as
outlined under the Regulations. (see below)

7.73

The Waste Planning Authority gave the opinion that: ‘While there is potential
for some effects to be generated by the scheme, such as highway impacts
and safety, landscape character and visual amenity, public rights of way,
these details can be considered through documentation to be submitted and
mitigation measures which could be set out and submitted/ considered with
any planning application to avoid the potential for significant effects to be
generated.’
45

Page 171

7.74

Therefore no ES was required. The potential environmental impacts arising
from this planning application are still assessed within the consideration of the
proposal. The response from Calcot Manor stated that the application should
be accompanied by an Environmental Statement. The respondent stated that
guidance provided by IEMA on Environmental Impact Assessment meant that
an ES was required in the circumstances created by this application. The
IEMA document is only available to IEMA members or by payment. The
document is not freely available to the general public and does not form part
of any statutory legislation or guidance. The specific guidance referred to has
therefore not been taken into account, unless it is mirrored in the statutory
guidance, which was adhered to.

7.75

Due consideration was given to the EIA Screening Opinion and the Waste
Planning Authority duly issued a negative Screening Opinion on 20th June
2019. The reasons why a negative screening opinion was issued are given
within the letter, which has been available to view on the public access system
of the Waste Planning Authority since it was issued.
The appropriateness of the County Council to determine a planning
application according to the provisions of Section 73 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990

7.76

Section 73 of the TCPA 1990 allows for the variation or deletion of a condition
attached to a planning permission. Guidance states that Section 73
applications should not be used to make significant or fundamental changes
to the extant planning permission.

7.77

The proposal does not seek to fundamentally change the processes or wastes
dealt with at the site. The site will still operate in the same manner, according
to the same hours of operation, noise limits and within the same site
boundary. The proposed variation seeks purely to increase the permitted
throughput.

7.78

The application has been screened according to the EIA Regulations and has
been fully consulted upon over a prolonged period. All material considerations
have been addressed. Additionally, the Section 73 process permits the Waste
Planning Authority to assess the efficacy of all conditions attached to the
planning permission, as a decision to approve the application will result in a
new, free-standing permission. The Waste Planning Authority is confident that
Section 73 TCPA is the correct method for considering and determining this
application.
Similarities of this scheme with an ‘on farm’ digester refused planning
permission in 2015

7.79

Beverston Parish Council questioned if this proposal was similar to an
application for an ‘on farm’ anaerobic digester near Chavenage. The
application outlined was refused planning permission by Stroud District
Council in 2015 when considered that the proposal (for anaerobic digestion)
46

Page 172

would represent a significant negative impact to safety on the local highway
network and a significant negative impact to the character of the AONB. The
refusal of planning permission was subject to an appeal to the Secretary of
State. Whilst the Planning Inspector dismissed the appeal, the appellant was
awarded costs, due to the application being refused on the grounds of
highway safety when no objection had been received from the Highway
Authority.
7.80

It is considered that the proposal detailed above is not comparable with the
application before the Waste Planning Authority. That proposal, albeit also a
completely new proposal, was located on a narrow rural lane, also identified
as a key cycle route and requiring highway improvements to enhance safety
and traffic flow. No impact was predicted to the A46 by the Inspector. The
Inspector found that the character of the AONB would be negatively affected
by the new built form of the proposal and the highway works would affect the
character of the rural road upon which it relied.

7.81

That proposal differs from the application under consideration in that the
Valley Trading application is able to use a direct private access road to the
public highway, which is also an Advisory Freight Route (LTP 2016). No
highway improvements are required by the Highway Authority because the
site already benefits from the necessary visibility splays at the junction
between the A4135 and the access road. This deals partially with another
matter, in that the required enhancements would have caused harm to the
rural setting. This added to the Inspectors view that the built form would cause
harm. The Valley Trading proposal does not seek to introduce any further built
form to the location. It is therefore considered that the refused application at
Chavenage is materially different from the proposal being considered and
whilst the consideration may be upon the same issues and potential impacts,
the conclusion need not be the same.

7.82

The recent planning permission granted to Woodlodge Products (also situated
on the Babdown Industrial Estate) for expansion included information solely
relating to staff vehicle quantities and movements. The staff movements at
peak hours would increase from 6 vehicles to 10 during those periods. The
application was accompanied with a Transport Assessment, which whilst
selecting traffic movements at only peak hours (AM and PM), demonstrated
that 74% and 78% respectively of all traffic entering and leaving Babdown
Industrial estate either arrived from the direction of the A46 or exited in that
direction.
The impact of the proposal on the County Council’s climate change
commitment

7.83

Gloucestershire County Council has declared a climate emergency and
Cabinet has voted in favour of pursuing a 5 year climate change strategy. (see
Paragraph 4.35 of this report for further information).Due attention must be
paid to this during the consideration of this and all planning applications.
Waste management is a sector which involves the transportation of waste
from the place of its creation to a processing site. It is rare that waste
47

Page 173

materials arising in one location can be confined and reused in the same
location.
7.84

For the proposal to be cost effective, there needs to be a proven market need
for waste recovery. Therefore, without this proposal being granted consent,
the waste would foreseeably still arise and would still need transporting by
HGV, to meet the market need and comply with Paragraph 1 of the National
Planning Policy for Waste and Policy WCS4 of the WCS in order to redirect
waste up the waste hierarchy. These HGV movements would still collect
waste from the AONB, but would transport it to another location. The net gain
is that using a local collection centre and company, the majority of the waste
is dealt with in line with the proximity principle, limiting those movements to
local ones, rather than majority long haul journeys to other facilities.

7.85

Provided that the vehicle operators use vehicles which are fit for purpose and
use on the public highway, the control of such emissions is not within the
scope of the planning system. Vehicle emissions are controlled by other
legislation and the planning system is not empowered to deal with such
considerations.

7.86

Therefore, with reference to the need to reduce carbon emissions as part of
the County Councils strategy, but also being mindful of the nature of waste
recovery operations and the need to transport waste materials from their
source to an appropriate processing facility, the proposal is considered not to
be unnecessarily detrimental to this aim.
Human Rights

7.87

From 2nd October 2000, the Human Rights Act 1998 has the effect of
enshrining much of the European Convention on Human Rights in UK law.
Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 1998 guarantees a right to respect for
private and family life and Article 1 of the First Protocol guarantees the right to
peaceful enjoyment of possessions. Article 8 also provides that there shall be
no interference by a public authority with the exercise of this right except in
the interests of national security, public safety, or the economic well-being of
the country, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health
or morals, or for the protection of the freedom of others.

7.88

For the reasons set out in the Planning Considerations above it is not
considered that there would be any breach of the Convention rights. Even if
there was to be an interference with Convention rights then, in this case, it is
considered that the interference would be justified in the interests of economic
well-being and proportionate. Accordingly, it would not be unlawful to grant
planning permission for this proposal.
Summary Reasons for the Grant of Planning Permission

7.89

The proposal in this planning application is for the increase of the throughput
limit on site from 45,000 tonnes to 75,000 tonnes to accommodate anticipated
growth in market need for waste recovery in the locality. The proposals do
48

Page 174

not include the creation of any new buildings or other related operational
development and the use of the existing access route will continue.
7.90

Beverston Parish Council and other neighbouring Parish Councils have
objected to the proposal. Their concerns centre around the location of the site
within the AONB, the potential increase in HGV movements and the impact
upon heritage assets. No other statutory consultees have objected to the
proposals.

7.91

On balance, it is considered that the proposal complies with the Development
Plan, National Planning Policy and any other relevant policies or Guidance
and where there is a conflict with any Policy, other material considerations;
the potential impact of the extra HGV traffic – which represents a 0.2%
increase in highway traffic, the potential impact to the Cotswolds AONB and
the potential impact upon heritage assets are all considered to either not be
significant enough to recommend refusal or alternatively they capable of
mitigation. This report has addressed the need for an Environmental
Statement and the mechanism for consideration of the proposal. The proposal
is considered to be consistent in context with the County Council’s Climate
Emergency Declaration. The proposal is considered to comply with the
guidance in the NPPF, particularly Paragraph 80, 83, 109, 172 and 193,
National Planning Policy for Waste, Paragraph 1, Policy WCS3, WCS4,
WCS14, WCS16, WCS18 and WCS19 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core
Strategy and Policy EN4, EN5 and INF4 of the Cotswold District Local Plan.

7.92

In determining this application, the County Planning Authority has worked with
the Applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking solutions
to problems arising in relation to dealing with the planning application by
liaising with consultees, respondents and the Applicant/agent and discussing
changes to the proposal where considered appropriate or necessary. This
approach has been taken positively and proactively in accordance with the
requirements of the NPPF, as set out in the Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

8.0

RECOMMENDATION

8.1

It is recommended that planning permission is GRANTED for the reasons
summarised in paragraphs 7.89 to 7.92 subject to the following conditions.
(New or amended conditions are indicated in bold, and all conditions have
been updated to reflect current Policies):
Commencement

1.

Condition Deleted (because not relevant to an ongoing development).
Approved Plans

49

Page 175

2.

Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority or
varied by other condition(s) attached to this permission, the development
hereby permitted shall be carried out within the site edged red on the „Revised
Site Layout Plan‟ Plan Ref No VTL/03 dated 10/06/09 (-„the Site‟). No
development shall be carried out other than in accordance with the
aforementioned plan.
Reason: In order to define the scope of this consent and in the interests of the
amenity of the area in accordance with Policy WCS4 of the adopted
Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy, Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste
Local Plan and Policy EN4 of the Cotswold Local Plan.
Vehicle Management

3.

Steps shall be taken to ensure that all vehicles leaving the site are in such
condition as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the
highway and all loaded vehicles leaving the site with materials which are
under 500mm in any dimension shall be sheeted.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to prevent mud, debris and
materials getting on the highway, in accordance with Policy WCS10 and
WCS19 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy.

4.

All vehicles used for conveying skips working under the operations
hereby permitted shall have at all times chain sheaths fitted to all chains
to prevent noise and disturbance before moving.
Reason: in the interests of local residents and businesses and the
tranquillity of the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, in
accordance with the guidance in the NPPF and Policy WCS10 and
WCS19 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy.

5.

No vehicles shall be stored or maintained on the site other than those involved
in the skip hire and waste processing and recycling business hereby
approved.
Reason: To maintain control over the site in the interest of highway safety and
in accordance with Policy WCS10 and WCS19 of the adopted Gloucestershire
Waste Core Strategy.
Copy of the Planning Permission

6.

From the date of this permission to the cessation of the use hereby permitted
a copy of the terms of this planning permission including all documents hereby
approved and any documents subsequently approved in accordance with this
permission (or amendments approved pursuant to this permission) shall be
displayed at the office on the site and shall be made known to any person(s)
given responsibility for the management or control of the waste operations on
site.

50

Page 176

Reason: To enable an easy reference and to encourage compliance with the
requirements of this permission so as to ensure the orderly operation of the
site in the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy
WCS4, WCS10 and WCS19 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core
Strategy, Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy EN4
of the Cotswold Local Plan.
Records of Vehicles
7.

From the date of this permission the operators shall maintain daily records of
the number of vehicles bringing materials to Site, and the quantity and type of
material accepted onto the site. Copies of these records shall be forwarded to
the Waste Planning Authority within seven days of such a request and all
records shall be kept for at least 24 months.
Reason: To maintain control over the Site and to allow the Waste Planning
Authority to monitor the characteristics of the throughput of the Site and traffic
movements, in the interest of highway safety and in accordance with Policy
WCS4, WCS10 and WCS19 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core
Strategy and Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and also in
the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy EN4 INF4 of
the Cotswold Local Plan.
Controls over Waste

8.

No waste other than those waste materials defined in the application shall
enter the Site.
Reason: Waste materials outside these categories raise environmental and
amenity considerations that would require consideration afresh and also in the
interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy WCS4 and
WCS10 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy, Policy 37 of the
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy EN15 of the Cotswold Local
Plan.

9.

The throughput of material, including waste and any other products
brought onto the Site, shall not exceed a maximum of 75,000 tonnes per
calendar year.
Reason: To maintain control over the Site and to allow the Waste
Planning Authority to monitor the characteristics of the throughput of
the Site and traffic movements, in the interest of highway safety and in
accordance with Policy WCS4 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste
Core Strategy and also in the interests of the amenity of the area in
accordance with Policy WCS10 and WCS19 of the adopted
Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy and Policy INF4 of the Cotswold
Local Plan.

10.

No processing of waste shall take place outside the confines of the waste
processing building other than that hereby permitted, namely processing via
51

Page 177

the use of a concrete crusher, a grading screen, timber shredder and mobile
waste separation plant. For the avoidance of doubt only these four items of
processing equipment shall be operated outside at any one time.
Reason: In the in the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with
Policy WCS4 and WCS10 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core
Strategy, Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy EN4
of the Cotswold Local Plan.
Storage Heights
11.

Materials shall be stockpiled to a maximum height of 5 metres above the
existing ground level using appropriate machinery operating from ground level
or from consolidated benches of soil, stone and/or hardcore, within such stock
piles providing the height of such benches do not exceed 2.5 metres above
said ground level.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity of the area in accordance with
Policy WCS4 and Policy WCS10 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core
Strategy, Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy EN4
of the Cotswold Local Plan.

12.

The height of stored skips and/or waste containers shall not exceed 5 metres
above existing ground levels.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity of the area in accordance with
Policy WCS4, WCS10 and WCS14 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste
Core Strategy, Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy
EN4 of the Cotswold Local Plan.
Burning of Materials

13.

No materials shall be burnt on site unless the appropriate authorisations have
been obtained and the details agreed in advance and in writing by the Waste
Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of amenity of the area in accordance with Policy
WCS4 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy, Policy 37 of the
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy EN4 of the Cotswold Local Plan.
Processes

14.

No additional processes for the treatment of waste, other than those specified
in the submitted application and plans, shall be carried out at any time on the
site.
Reason: In the interests of amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 37 of
the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy EN15 of the Cotswold Local
Plan.

52

Page 178

Control of Noise
15.

The level of noise emitted from the site shall not exceed 65dB LAeq (1-hour)
between 7.30 am and 5.30pm on Mondays to Fridays and 7.30am to 1pm on
Saturdays and 45 dB LAeq (1-hour) at any other time when measured at the
boundary of the site.
Reason: In the interests of amenity of the area in accordance with Policy
WCS4 and WCS10 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy,
Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy EN4 of the
Cotswold Local Plan.

16.

No vehicles used for the loading or movement of materials shall be used on
the site unless they are fitted with sound attenuated reversing alarms of a type
approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. All such alarms shall be
maintained in working condition and used at all times when the vehicles are
reversing.
Reason: In the interests of amenity of the area in accordance with Policy 37 of
the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan, Policy 37 of the
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy 5 of the Cotswold Local Plan
2001-2011.

17.

There shall be no outdoor public address system within the site.
Reason: In the interests of amenity of the area in accordance with Policy
WCS4 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy and Policy EN4
of the Cotswold Local Plan.
Operating Hours

18.

No operations (including the acceptance of materials and vehicles entering or
leaving the site) shall be carried out at the site except between the following
hours:
7am to 5:30pm on Mondays to Fridays
7am to 2:30pm on Saturdays
No operations shall be carried out at the site on Sundays or Bank or Public
Holidays.
Reason: In the interests of amenity of the area in accordance with Policy
WCS4, WCS10 and WCS14 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core
Strategy, Policy 38 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy EN4
and EN5 of the Cotswold Local Plan.
Permitted Development Rights

53

Page 179

19.

Notwithstanding the provisions of parts 4 and 21 of Schedule 2 of the Town
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any
Order amending, replacing or re-enacting that Order), no fixed plant or
machinery, building, structures and erections, or private ways shall be
erected, extended, installed or replaced within the site without the prior
approval in writing of the Waste Planning Authority.
Reason: To maintain control over the development in the interests of amenity
of the area in accordance with Policy WCS4, WCS10 and WCS14 of the
adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy, Policy 38 of the
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy EN4 and EN5 of the Cotswold
Local Plan.
Pollution Prevention

20.

There shall be no discharge of foul or contaminated drainage from the site into
either groundwater or any surface waters, whether direct or via soakaways.
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance with
Policy WCS4 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy, Policy 37
of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy EN15 of the Cotswold
Local Plan.

21.

Any facilities for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on
impervious bases and surrounded by impervious bund walls. The volume of
the bunded compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the tank
plus 10%. If there is multiple tankage, the compound shall be at least
equivalent to the capacity of the largest tank, vessel or the combined capacity
of interconnected tanks or vessels plus 10%. All filling points, associated
pipework, vents, gauges and sight glasses must be located within the bund or
have separate secondary containment. The drainage system of the bund shall
be sealed with no discharge to any watercourse, land or underground strata.
Associated pipework shall be located above ground and protected from
accidental damage. All filling points and tank/vessels overflow pipe outlets
shall be detailed to discharge downwards into the bund.
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance with
Policy WCS10 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy, Policy 33
of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy EN15 of the Cotswold
Local Plan.

22.

Prior to being discharged into any watercourse, surface water sewer or
soakaway system, all surface water drainage from parking areas and
hardstandings shall be passed through an oil interceptor designed and
constructed to have a capacity and details compatible with the site being
drained. Roof water shall not pass through the interceptor.

54

Page 180

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance with
Policy WCS4 and WCS10 of the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core
Strategy, Policy 33 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan and Policy EN15
of the Cotswold Local Plan.
Screening Bund Maintenance
23.

All nursery stock to be planted on the bund shall be locally indigenous tree
and shrub species and shall be planted according to plan VTL/03 (10/06/09).
Trees should be planted as whips and feathered whips and appropriately
staked and guarded. Topsoil depth and preparation should be as per plan
VTL/03 (10/06/09). The small group of more mature hawthorn at the base of
the west facing bund should be protected and retained.
Reason: The provision and maintenance of a satisfactory degree of
landscaping is considered essential in the interest of visual amenity of the
area in accordance with Policy WCS4 and WCS14 of the adopted
Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy and Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire
Waste Local Plan.

24.

The aftercare maintenance scheme for the care of the approved bunds and
their planting submitted to the Waste Planning Authority for written approval
and implemented in full accordance with the approved scheme will be
maintained throughout the course of the development. The scheme should
provide for the maintenance of the bund faces as bare earth until canopy
closure is achieved or, if grass seeding is required for slope stabilisation a low
competition, ideally wildflower grass mix, should be used, with the subsequent
spraying out and maintaining of a vegetation free 500mm radius circle around
each tree and shrub. Remaining grass areas should be maintained to
encourage wildflower establishment and to ensure pernicious weed and
bramble do not establish.
Reason: The provision and maintenance of a satisfactory degree of
landscaping is considered essential in the interest of visual amenity of the
area in accordance with Policy WCS4 and WCS14 of the adopted
Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy, Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste
Local Plan and Policy EN4 of the Cotswold Local Plan.

25.

If at any time during the operation of the site any tree or shrub, forming part of
the approved landscaping scheme at the site, shall for any reason die, or be
removed or felled it shall be replaced in the next planting season with another
tree or shrub of the same species unless the Waste Planning Authority gives
written consent to any variation.
Reason: The provision and maintenance of a satisfactory degree of
landscaping is considered essential in the interest of visual amenity of the
area in accordance with Policy WCS4 and WCS14 of the adopted
Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy, Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste
Local Plan and Policy EN4 of the Cotswold Local Plan.

55

Page 181

Routeing Strategy
26.

A routeing strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Waste Planning Authority within 3 months from the date of this
permission in order to address local concerns in relation to the vehicle
manoeuvres through Beverston and Tetbury. The approved strategy
shall be implemented and adhered to throughout the duration of the
development.
Reason: To avoid an unacceptable impact on highway safety in
accordance with paragraph 110 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.

INFORMATIVES :-

BACKGROUND PAPERS:
 Planning Application file 19/0018/CWMAJW containing the planning application,
supporting statement, drawings, consultation responses and representations may
be viewed by appointment with the case officer below or on the Council’s Public
Access website www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning by a search with the
application reference.

CONTACT OFFICER:
Case Officer: Nick Bainton.
Telephone: 01452 425771
Email: planningdc@gloucestershire.gov.uk

56

Page 182

Agenda Item 8
APPLICATION NO:

19/0089/CWMAJM

VALIDATION
DATE:

DISTRICT REF:

20/00045/CPO

APPLICANT:

Mr M Brown, Northcot Brick Limited

SITE:

Loaders Barn, Land off Station Road, Blockley.

PROPOSAL:

The winning and working of clay with restoration to amenity
and nature conservation

PARISH OF:
Blockley Parish
Council

SITE
AREA:

12.7Ha

17 December
2019

GRIDREF:
418701,
236487

RECOMMENDED: That planning permission is Granted for the reasons set out in this
report and subject to completion of a legal agreement under S106 of
the Town and Country Planning act 1990 (as amended) summarised
at paragraphs 7.14.1 to 7.14.11
1.0

SITE DESCRIPTION

1.1

The existing brickworks are located in the north of Cotswold District Council in
the Parish of Blockley. The site is located off the B4479 Station Road with the
Cotswold mainline railway adjacent to the north east boundary of the
application site on an elevated embankment. The site itself is currently in
agricultural use and measures approximately 12.7 hectares (Ha) of which
approximately 8 Ha would be for mineral extraction.

1.2

The existing site (21 Ha) where the brickworks is located includes Wellacre
Quarry (9 Ha) to the north and ancillary industrial / commercial land-uses. The
surrounding area is rural, comprising of predominantly arable fields.

1.3

The settlements of Paxford, Draycott and Aston Magna are located to the north
(1 km), south (c800m) and south east (c1.18 km) respectively. The nearest
residential properties/agricultural dwellings from the application site are
Stapenhill Farm and Longmeadow located c 300m to the north east and north
respectively. Kettle’s Barn is located 390 m to the south and Wellacre Farm is
located 420m to the west.

1.4

The application site lies within the Cotswold AONB. More specific nearby
designations, located approximately 345m to the northwest of the site include
Wellacre Quarry, which is designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest
(SSSI) and a Regionally Important Geological Site (RIGS).
1

Page 183

1.5

The nearest Grade II listed buildings are located at Stapenhill Farm and
Wellacre Farm; and also within the village of Blockley. The nearest Scheduled
Monument (Upper Ditchford medieval settlement) is located c. 1km to the west
of the site.

1.6

Blockley Brook flows west to east through the site which then joins Knee Brook
and eventually the Thames. An area of Flood Zone 2 and 3 is located either
side of the Blockley Brook.

1.7

A Public Right of Way (PROW) (Blockley Footpath 16) crosses east to west
through the site and bridleway (Blockley Bridleway 23) passes along the site’s
southern boundary.

1.8

Site Location plan submitted with planning application.

2

Page 184

This aerial photograph is taken from the Planning Statement. The approximate
boundaries of Wellacre Quarry, the brickworks and the application extraction
site and north arrow have been highlighted for convenience.

Wellacre Quarry
Brickworks
N
Site
S

2.0

THE PROPOSAL

2.1

The Loaders Barn application seeks to extract approximately 1,400,000 tonnes
(T) of clay to be undertaken concurrently with the existing Wellacre Quarry
quarrying operations. The rate of extraction from the combined sources will
reflect the current extraction rates of up to 50,000 T per annum (pa) at Wellacre
Quarry. Quarrying operations are proposed to take place in 5 phases over 24
years. Years 1-3 would involve site preparations including topsoil and
overburden storage within the application site. Years 3-10 would see the export
of overburden material and clay to Wellacre Quarry and the brickworks. From
year 10 clay would be removed from the site to the brickworks.

2.2

The extracted clay would be transported by dump truck to the existing
brickworks via a new haul road, running from the extraction area parallel to the
railway line nearby. The haul road would be soil stripped and appropriately
stored, measuring approximately 6m wide and 400m in length. Hedgerow
planting on the southern boundary of the haul road would be implemented
within the first year of operation.
3

Page 185

2.3

Mining operations are proposed to take place during the day between the hours
of 0700 to 1800 Monday to Saturday and not at all on Sundays, Bank Holidays
or Public Holidays.

2.4

No artificial lighting is proposed within the application site. Blockley Brook
would be culverted with mitigation for otters implemented at the point of
construction of the bridge/culvert.

2.5

A crossing with the B4479 (Station Road) would be formed to allow access to
the brickworks along with a new hedgerow, where necessary, planted inside
the visibility splays. Towards the southern side of Station Road on the haul road
would be located a wheel wash. A road sweeper would be used, when
required, to ensure that the crossing point is kept free from mud or clay that is
not removed by the wheel wash.

2.6

The overburden removal would generate 8 movements per day (16
movements) and the operations would generate approximately 6 loads of clay
per day (12 movements). Site traffic would give way to the through-traffic on
Station Road. (The application form 7(i) states No. and type of vehicles entering
and leaving the site daily stated as yrs 3-10, up to 14 HGV per working day
(max 28 movements). At all other times 6 HGVs per working day (12
movements). 7(ii) category of commercial goods vehicles entering or leaving
the site stated as being twin axle dump truck- max load 20T). In tonnage terms
yrs 3-10 =20T x 14 = 280T p day leaving site, yrs 10 onwards 6 x 20T = 120T
per day.

2.7

Extraction operations would commence in the north of the extraction area and
progress generally southerly and then easterly in direction. Extraction of clay
would be preceded by the phased removal of soil and unsaleable product
(overburden). The soil and some of the overburden (that is not required to leave
the site for operational reasons) would be retained on site and used in
restoration.

2.8

Mining would be undertaken in 5 phases/cuts. The first phase of 5 in total,
removed overburden (approximately 92,000m3), would be placed at the
southern end of the site, on the inside of the soil storage bund that wraps
around the southern boundary adjacent to the PROW BR23. Subsequent
overburden removal (up to 100,000 m3, subject to planning application ref:
19/0085/CWMAJM) between years 3 and 10 would be transported to Wellacre
Quarry via the haul road to allow for sufficient working space to be created and,
if needed, to aid in the restoration of the Wellacre quarry site.

2.9

The soil bund would be a maximum of 3m to preserve the soils within whilst the
overburden bund would be taller at 5m. This screening bund would remain for
the duration of the extraction. Subsequent soil and overburden would be placed
within worked out parts of the extraction area to achieve the proposed
restoration profile and placed in Wellacre Quarry to aid restoration of those
works.

4

Page 186

2.10

Collected rainwater from the base of the extraction area would be pumped to
the surface water settlement treatment area before being released into the
Blockley Brook. Other disturbed ground, such as the haul road, would also be
drained to the settlement lagoons.

2.11

Progressive restoration of the site would be undertaken concurrently with
extraction operations to a mix of agriculture and meadow with woodland blocks,
water and hedgerow. The applicant states there is no intention to import
material to bring the land back to original levels hence a water body is
proposed in the final restoration.

2.12

Following the cessation of extraction a conduit pipe is proposed between
Blockley Brook and the worked out void that would allow for the periodic
inundation of the worked out area during times of flood.

2.13

A “Permissive” public access is proposed upon restoration through the restored
site to link with the existing PROW access network.
Environmental Impact Assessment – Screening

2.14

The application was not accompanied by an Environmental Statement. Under
Regulation 8 of The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) (Regulations 2017 (EIA Regs) the Mineral Planning Authority
(MPA) must screen the proposal to determine if there may be significant
environmental effects as if a screening opinion had been requested by the
applicant under Regulation 6(6).

2.15

The MPA considered that although the extraction site was 12.7Ha that because
the operation was directly linked to the brickworks and established workings at
Wellacre Quarry that the combined surface site area of the existing Wellacre
Quarry, manufacturing plant and proposed Loader’s Barn (Wellacre Quarry
extension) exceeds 25 hectares, and, therefore, fell within Schedule 1, Part 19
“Quarries and open-cast mining where the surface of the site exceeds 25
hectares, or peat extraction where the surface of the site exceeds 150
hectares” of the above EIA Regulation 2017. For projects that fall under
Schedule 1 of the above Regulations an Environmental Statement (ES) is
mandatory.

2.16

Following issue of the MPA Screening Opinion the applicant sought a
Screening Direction from the Secretary of State (SoS) regarding whether the
development was considered EIA development or not.

2.17

The SoS considered that the development fell within the description of
Schedule 2a (“Quarries, opencast mining and peat extraction”) of the 2017
Regulations, and is located in a sensitive area namely Cotswold AONB.
Therefore, the SoS considered the proposal to be ‘Schedule 2 development’
within the meaning of the 2017 Regulations.

2.18

However, having taken into account the selection criteria in Schedule 3 to the
2017 Regulations the SoS does not consider that the proposal is likely to have
5

Page 187

significant effects on the environment to merit a formal Environmental
Statement, in the reasons contained in the written statement as required by
5(6) of the EIA Regulations.
2.19

The SoS, in exercise of the powers conferred on him by regulation 7(5) of the
2017 Regulations the Secretary of State directed that the proposed
development described in the applicant’s request and the documents submitted
with it, is not ‘EIA development’ within the meaning of the 2017 Regulations.
Application documents

2.20

The application documents include the following which can all be found on
public access
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gccdocs/gcc_docs_start.asp?action=show&a
ppName=planning&appNumber=19/0089/CWMAJM





Planning application form
Supplementary Information Form A and D
Statement of Community Engagement
Planning Statement (PS) & Appendices (App)
Supporting Documents/Appendices
App 1
App 2
App 3
App 4
App 5
App 6
App 7

App forms, certificate
Drawings
Statement of Community Engagement (SoCE)
Soil Survey and Agricultural Land Classification (ALC)
assessment
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA)
Surface Water Drainage Scheme
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA)
App1 LVIA Methodology
App 2 Aboricultural Report (BS5837)

App 8
App 9
App 10
App 11
App 12
App 13
App 14

Archaeology desk based assessment DBA and
Geophysical Study Report
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA)
Ecological Surveys and Otter Mitigation
Noise Assessment (NA)
Borehole Logs and Location Plan
Transport Statement (TS)
Air Quality Assessment (AQA)

Plans
Drwg No M17 148 D 015
Drwg No M17.148.D.003
Drwg No M17 148 D 026
Drwg No M17 148 D 039

Location Plan
Designations Plan
Direction of Works/Section
Landform sections C-C’and D-D’
6

Page 188

Drwg No M17 148 D 014
Drwg No M17 148 D 033
Drwg No M17 148 D 035
Drwg No M17 148 D 036
Drwg No M17 148 D 028
















3

Influences
Phasing Plan –Year 1
Phasing Plan –Year 10
Phasing Plan –Year 24
Restoration Concept

Documents submitted as part of application
Agricultural Land Classification - Askew Land & Soil Limited – ref C646
dated 29 April 2019
Flood Risk Assessment – RAB Consultants –Ref RAB2286L dated 25
November 2019
Hydrology and Surface Water Drainage Strategy Report
Heritage Desk-Based Assessment – Cotswold Archaeology Report ref
18516 – dated October 2018
Geophysical Survey Report – SUMO Geophysics Ltd – 9 September
2019
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal – Pleydell Smithyman Limited – ref
M17.148.R.001A – Rev A September 2019
Bat Roost & Bat Activity Survey - Pleydell Smithyman Limited – ref
M17.148.R.005 September 2019
Breeding Bird Survey (Including Barn Owl) Report - Pleydell Smithyman
Limited – ref M17.148.R.007 September 2019
Otter, Water Vole, and Crayfish Survey - Pleydell Smithyman Limited –
ref M17.148.R.008September 2019
Otter Mitigation - Pleydell Smithyman Limited – ref M17.148.R.018 4
November 2019
Noise Assessment – WBM Acoustic Consultants – ref 4865 25
September 2019
Plan – Borehole Location Plan – Peak Surveying Services –
Topographic Survey 21 May 2018 – ref PSS-079-002-001 30 May 2018
Borehole Log 1 to Log 4 – James Associates – October 2017
Transport Statement
Air Quality Assessment - Isopleth Ltd – ref 01.0142.001 (v2) November
2019
Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment - Pleydell Smithyman Limited
November 2019

PLANNING HISTORY
19/0089/CWMAJM

19/0085/CWMAJM

The winning and working of clay
and restoration to amenity and
nature conservation. (Loaders
Barn)
Variation of condition 10
(Importation/ Exportation of
Waste Material) relating to
planning consent
15/0011/CWMAJM dated
19/02/2015 to allow for the
7

Page 189

Pending
consideration
Pending
consideration

15/0011/CWMAJM

14/0012/SCREEN

98/5007/CWROMP

4
4.1

importation of 'as dug'
overburden material from a
single specified source.
(Wellacre Quarry)
An extension to the permitted
depth of clay extraction within the
existing quarry void, amendment
to the currently permitted
phasing of operations and
extension to the limit of clay
extraction at surface along the
western site boundary
Screening request for the review
of planning conditions relating to
CD/0458/1/F and deepening of
quarry
Review of Mineral Permission

Consent
11.08.2015

Screening
Opinion
Issued
25.03.2014
Consent
24.05.1999

PLANNING POLICY
The National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) and associated
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), form the national guidance for the
determination of planning applications.
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

4.2

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (February 2019) sets out the
Government’s planning policies and how these should be applied. The NPPF is
a material consideration in planning decisions and must be taken into account.

4.2.1 NPPF Paragraph 7 advises that the purpose of the planning system is to
contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. Sustainable
development means that 3 overarching objectives of building a strong and
competitive economy, maintaining healthy and vibrant communities and
protecting the environment need to be pursued.
4.2.2 NPPF Paragraph 11 advises that decision takers should apply a presumption in
favour of sustainable development by:
•
approving development proposals that accord with an up to date
development plan without delay; or
•
where there are no relevant development plan policies or the policies are
out of date, granting permission unless the application of policies in the NPPF
that protect areas or assets of particular importance provide a clear reason for
refusing the proposed development or any adverse impact of doing so would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against
the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.
8

Page 190

4.2.3

NPPF Paragraph 108 advises that, in assessing proposals for development, it
should be ensured that a safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved
for all users, while NPPF Paragraph 109 requires development should not be
refused on highway grounds unless there would be an unacceptable impact
on highway safety or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network
would be severe.

4.2.4

NPPF Paragraph 170 states that planning policies and decisions should
contribute to enhance the natural and local environment.

4.2.5

NPPF Paragraph 172 states that great weight should be given to conserving
and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks, the Broads
and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) which have the highest
status of protection in relation to these issues. The scale and extent of
development within these designated areas should be limited. Planning
permission should be refused for major development other than in exceptional
circumstances, and where it can be demonstrated that the development is in
the public interest.

4.2.6

NPPF Paragraph 175 requires the protection and enhancement of biodiversity
and geodiversity and, in determining applications, the MPA should avoid
significant harm through locating on an alternative site with less harmful
impacts, mitigate or as a last resort compensate otherwise permission should
be refused.

4.2.7

NPPF Paragraph 180 advises that planning “decisions should ensure that new
development is appropriate for its location, taking into account the likely
effects of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as
well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that
could arise from the development. In so doing they should mitigate and
reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise from new
development and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impact on
health and the quality of life…identify and protect tranquil areas which have
remained relatively undisturbed by noise….limit the impact of light pollution
from artificial light on local amenity….”

4.2.8

NPPF Paragraph 183 states “The focus of planning decisions should be on
whether the proposed development is an acceptable use of land rather than
the control of processes or emissions where these are subject to separate
pollution control regimes. Planning decisions should assume that these
regimes will operate effectively”.

4.2.9

NPPF Paragraphs 184-202 relate to conserving and enhancing the historic
environment.

4.2.10 NPPF Paragraphs 203 -208 relate to the facilitation of the sustainable use of
minerals. The most relevant paragraphs are 203, 205 and 208. Paragraph 203
refers to supply of minerals, 205 refers to the considerations in determining

9

Page 191

planning applications and 208 refers to considerations in planning for a steady
and adequate supply of industrial minerals.
4.2.11 The NPPF is supported by technical guidance in the form of the Planning
Practice Guidance (PPG). This provides guidance on matters including
mineral extraction and restoration and impacts relating to noise and air quality.
4.3

Development Plan
Under Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004,
planning applications should be determined in accordance with the
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The
Development Plan relevant to this planning application is the Minerals Local
Plan for Gloucestershire (2018 – 2032) which was adopted on 20 March 2020.
All policies of the previously adopted Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan
(1997 – 2006) have been replaced or are deleted. Also the policies in the
adopted Cotswold District Local Plan (2011 to 2031) are material planning
considerations.

Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018 - 2032) (MLP)
4.3.1 The MLP for Gloucestershire contains the following policies of relevance to this
application.
4.3.2

Policy MW04: Brick Clay
Mineral development proposals for working of brick clays as an industrial
mineral will be permitted, where it can be demonstrated: I.

II.

a contribution will be made towards the supply of brick clays necessary
to enable production to be maintained at a specified brickworks either
located within Gloucestershire or beyond for at least 25 years throughout
and at the end of the plan period; and
a positive contribution will be made to sustaining or growing local
economies and upholding cultural heritage throughout Gloucestershire.

4.3.3 Policy DM01: Amenity
Mineral development proposals will be permitted only where it can be
demonstrated adverse impacts on the amenity of local communities within
Gloucestershire and those of neighbouring administrative areas will be
avoided, strictly controlled or mitigated so as to ensure unacceptable impacts
will not arise in respect of noise, vibration, air pollution and visual intrusion.
4.3.4 Policy DM02: Cumulative Impact
Mineral development proposals will only be permitted where it can be
demonstrated:
I. unacceptable cumulative adverse impacts will not be generated from within
the mineral site for which the proposal is located and / or from a number of
minerals and non-mineral developments in the locality; or
10

Page 192

II. the benefits of development will clearly outweigh unacceptable cumulative
adverse impacts to justify the grant of planning permission.
4.3.5 Policy DM03 Transport
Part a | Sustainable Transport
Mineral development proposals that minimise the miles travelled by minerals
and demonstrate how road-based transport will also be kept to a minimum will
be permitted. Wherever possible alternative and more sustainable, modes of
non-road transport must be used along with fuel efficient and / or low, ultra-low
or zero greenhouse gas emitting haulage vehicles.
Part b | Highway Network
Mineral development proposals will only be permitted where public safety is not
adversely affected and it can be demonstrated: I. unacceptable impacts on the capacity and function of the strategic and local
highway networks will be avoided or satisfactorily mitigated; and
II. any unavoidable adverse impacts on the capacity and function of the
strategic and local highway networks will not be severe.
Part c | Public Rights of Way (PRoW) Network and open access land
Mineral development proposals will only be permitted where it can be
demonstrated:
I. public rights of way routes and / or open access land will be retained and
their safe use maintained, and unacceptable adverse impacts will be avoided or
satisfactorily mitigated; and / or
II. the temporary or permanent diversion of public rights of way routes and / or
the temporary restriction or permanent exclusion of access to open access land
is justified and that such changes will not affect public safety and cause
unacceptable impacts on the integrity and enjoyment of the wider public rights
of way network and / or open access land in the locality; and / or
III.the formal closure of public right of way routes represents a very exceptional
circumstance where replacement routes are no longer required and that
unacceptable impacts on the wider public rights of way network will be avoided.
Mineral development proposals affecting National Trails will be permitted only
where unacceptable adverse impacts are avoided or satisfactory mitigated.
4.3.6 Policy DM04 | Flood risk
Mineral development proposals will be permitted, where it can be
demonstrated:
I.
II.

there will be no increase in the risk of flooding on site and elsewhere from
all sources of flooding now and in the future;
wherever possible, flood risk reduction initiatives will be incorporated that
will achieve a reduction in the risk of flooding overall;

11

Page 193

III.

appropriate measures will be put in place to manage and wherever
possible, reduce surface water run-off including through the use of
sustainable drainage systems (SuDS);
IV. wherever possible, a net increase in flood water storage capacity will be
achieved;
V. where applicable, flood flow routes will be improved such as through the
removal of obstructions;
VI. where applicable, there will be no detriment to the integrity of existing
flood defences and that access to allow for their future maintenance or
improvement will not be impeded
VII. they accord with the policies contained in the River Severn, Severn Tidal
Tributaries and Thames Catchment Flood Management Plans; and
VIII. any mineral processing plant, associated building(s), and / or equipment
should be designed to remain operational, safe for users, and flood
resilient during a flood event.
Mineral development proposals will only be permitted in areas of flood risk
(Flood Risk Zones 2, 3a or 3b) having taken into account climate change,
where they have passed the Sequential Test and, where applicable, the
Exception Test as set out in national policy.
Mineral development proposals involving sand and gravel working along with
water-compatible development1 may be appropriate within ‘Flood Risk Zone 3b’
or any identified ‘functional floodplain’, providing that: 



there will be no net loss in flood storage and flood risk reduction measures
(betterment opportunities) are provided where possible;
there will be no impediment to water flow routes; and
any mineral processing plant, associated building(s), and / or equipment is
designed to remain operational, safe for users, and flood resilient during a
flood event.

Mineral development proposals in areas of flood risk and where they exceed
1ha must be accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) that shows how
the risk of flooding on-site and elsewhere from all sources will not increase and,
where possible could be reduced. The FRA must identify and assess the
following: 



all current and future sources of flooding, appropriately taking into account
the anticipated impacts of climate change;
how flood risk on-site and elsewhere will be effectively managed for the
lifetime of the proposal including during site restoration and aftercare; and
identify measures to prevent increased flood risk including through the use
of sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) and compensatory works if any
loss of flood storage capacity is expected to occur.

4.3.7 Policy DM05: Water Resources

12

Page 194

Mineral development proposals will be permitted where it can be
demonstrated: I.

II.
III.
IV.
V.

VI.

there will be no decline in water quality that would lead to a deterioration
of EU Water Framework Directive (WFD) water body status and that
measures to improve water quality and water body status will be
incorporated wherever possible to help achieve good ecological status;
measures will be incorporated to enhance and protect water quality,
including Gloucestershire’s groundwater resources;
the actions and objectives set out in the Severn and / or Thames River
Basin Management Plan (RBMP) will be supported in striving to protect
and improve the quality of water bodies;
unless justifiable and agreeable change is achievable to the physical
integrity of watercourses, they will be preserved and wherever possible
enhanced, including
riverside habitats. Where necessary, management and mitigation
measures will be incorporated to improve and / or enhance water quality
and habitats of aquatic environments in or adjoining the development site;
and
wherever possible, measures to achieve the efficient use of water will be
delivered including incorporating appropriate water conservation
techniques.

4.3.8 Policy DM06: Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Part a | Biodiversity and geodiversity outside of designated areas
Mineral development proposals that demonstrate the conservation of
biodiversity and/or geodiversity, in addition to providing net gains where
possible, will normally be permitted. Potential adverse impacts on natural
environment assets must be avoided or satisfactorily mitigated in line with
Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership objectives. Exceptionally, where an
impact cannot be avoided or mitigated, then compensatory measures including
the use of offsets for habitat or geological feature losses will be considered.
Irreplaceable habitat and geological assets must be retained and protected
from deterioration unless this cannot be avoided because there are exceptional
overriding reasons of demonstrable public benefit.
4.3.9 Policy DM07: Soil Resources
Mineral development proposals will be permitted where they have been
informed by and are sympathetic to the protection of soil resources by
demonstrating: I.
unacceptable adverse impacts on the quality of soil including as a result
of disturbance and / or from contamination will be avoided or satisfactorily
mitigated; and
II.
wherever possible, measures to achieve improvements in soil quality will
be delivered; and
III. where Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land (BMVAL) is present, it
will be avoided, or where this is not possible, it will be restored to the
highest quality grade possible unless in doing so, beneficial restoration
13

Page 195

IV.

that outweighs the importance of protecting soil resources would be
compromised; or
the overall benefits of minerals development will clearly outweigh
unacceptable adverse impacts on the quality of soil and / or opportunities
to achieve soil quality improvements to justify of planning permission
being granted.

4.3.10 Policy DM08: Historic Environment
Mineral development proposals will be permitted where they conserve, and
where appropriate, enhance the significance of any affected heritage asset.
The Gloucestershire Historic Environment Record should be used to inform the
consideration of future development including potential conservation and
enhancement measures.
Where relevant, archaeological excavation and / or the recording of historic
buildings will be required, followed by analysis and publication of the results.
Scheduled Monuments and other non-designated assets of
archaeological interest of equivalent importance
Scheduled monuments and other non-designated archaeological assets of
equivalent importance will be expected to be preserved in situ.
Where there are no alternative options which will reduce or eliminate any
adverse impact, or where scheduled monuments and other non-designated
archaeological assets of equivalent importance cannot be preserved in situ,
and harm is therefore unavoidable, then measures to mitigate and minimise the
impact will be considered.
4.3.11 Policy DM09: Landscape
Mineral development proposals will be permitted where it can be demonstrated
they have been informed by, are sympathetic to, and wherever practicable, will
support the enhancement of the character, features and qualities of the
landscape character areas or types of the relevant NCAs and LCAs that form
the Gloucestershire Landscape Character Assessment.
Part b | AONB designations and other areas that form part of the setting
of an AONB
Mineral development proposals within or that affect the setting of the
Cotswolds, Wye Valley or Malvern Hills AONBs will only be permitted where it
can be demonstrated: I. they will not prejudice the conservation of the character, features and
qualities of the landscapes and scenic beauty of the AONB and that account
will have been given to the conservation of wildlife and cultural heritage;
II. adverse impacts on the special qualities of the AONB as defined by the
AONB Management Plan (specifically concerning the environment,
landscape and recreational opportunities) will be avoided or satisfactorily
mitigated; and

14

Page 196

III. opportunities will be taken to support the enhancement of the character,
features and qualities of the landscapes and scenic beauty of the AONB as
promoted through the relevant AONB Management Plan.
Mineral development proposals within or that affect the setting of the
Cotswolds, Wye Valley and Malvern Hills AONBs, that are defined as major
development will only be permitted under exceptional circumstances. All of the
relevant criteria set out above in part b must be satisfied. In addition, proposals
must be in the public interest by demonstrating:
I. there is an overriding need to work and / or process the mineral, including
national considerations;
II. the local economy will not be subject to unacceptable adverse impacts; and
III. alternative non-AONB sources of mineral supply, which are no more
constrained, will not be available on practicality and viability grounds.

4.3.12 Policy MR01: Restoration, aftercare and facilitating beneficial after-uses
Mineral development proposals will be permitted where it can be demonstrated
high quality restoration and aftercare will: I. take place at the earliest opportunity and without generating unacceptable
adverse impacts; and
II. be delivered to a high environmental standard; and
III. facilitate beneficial after-uses that will contribute to the delivery of
sustainable development.
4.4

Adopted Cotswold District Local Plan (2011 to 2031)

4.4.1 Policy EN1: BUILT, NATURAL AND HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT
New development will, where appropriate, promote the protection, conservation
and enhancement of the historic and natural environment by:
a. ensuring the protection and enhancement of existing natural and historic
environmental assets and their settings in proportion with the significance of
the asset;
b. contributing to the provision and enhancement of multi-functional green
infrastructure;
c. addressing climate change, habitat loss and fragmentation through creating
new habitats and the better management of existing habitats;
d. seeking to improve air, soil and water quality where feasible; and
e. ensuring design standards that complement the character of the area and
the sustainable use of the development.
4.4.2 Policy EN2: DESIGN OF THE BUILT AND NATURAL ENVIRONMENT
Development will be permitted which accords with the Cotswold Design Code
(Appendix D). Proposals should be of design quality that respects the character
and distinctive appearance of the locality.

15

Page 197

4.4.3 Policy EN4: THE WIDER NATURAL AND HISTORIC LANDSCAPE
1. Development will be permitted where it does not have a significant
detrimental impact on the natural and historic landscape (including the
tranquillity of the countryside) of Cotswold District or neighbouring areas.
2. Proposals will take account of landscape and historic landscape character,
visual quality and local distinctiveness. They will be expected to enhance,
restore and better manage the natural and historic landscape, and any
significant landscape features and elements, including key views, the setting
of settlements, settlement patterns and heritage assets.
4.4.4 Policy EN5: COTSWOLDS AREA OF OUTSTANDING NATURAL BEAUTY
(AONB)
1. In determining development proposals within the AONB or its setting, the
conservation and enhancement of the natural beauty of the landscape, its
character and special qualities will be given great weight.
2. Major development will not be permitted within the AONB unless it satisfies
the exceptions set out in national Policy and Guidance.
4.4.5 Policy EN7: TREES, HEDGEROWS AND WOODLANDS
1. Where such natural assets are likely to be affected, development will not be
permitted that fails to conserve and enhance:
a. trees of high landscape, amenity, ecological or historical value;
b. veteran trees;
c. hedgerows of high landscape, amenity, ecological or historical value;
and/or
d. woodland of high landscape, amenity, ecological or historical value.
2. Where trees, woodland or hedgerows are proposed to be removed as part of
development, compensatory planting will be required.
3. Development proposals affected by (2) above should, where appropriate,
have regard to the potential for new or extended woodland to assist in
carbon storage and to be a potential local source of biomass or biofuel.
4.4.6 Policy EN8: BIODIVERSITY AND GEODIVERSITY: FEATURES, HABITATS
AND SPECIES
1. Development will be permitted that conserves and enhances biodiversity
and geodiversity, providing net gains where possible.
2. Proposals that would result in significant habitat fragmentation and loss of
ecological connectivity will not be permitted.
3. Proposals that reverse habitat fragmentation and promote creation,
restoration and beneficial management of ecological networks, habitats and
features will be permitted, particularly in areas subject to landscape-scale
biodiversity initiatives. Developer contributions may be sought in this regard.

16

Page 198

4. Proposals that would result in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable
habitats and resources, or which are likely to have an adverse effect on
internationally protected species, will not be permitted.
5. Development with a detrimental impact on other protected species and
species and habitats “of principal importance for the purpose of conserving
biodiversity”) will not be permitted unless adequate provision can be made
to ensure the conservation of the species or habitat.
4.4.7 Policy EN9: BIODIVERSITY AND GEODIVERSITY: DESIGNATED SITES
1. Development that is likely to have an adverse effect upon a nationally
designated nature conservation site will not be permitted unless the benefits
of development at the site clearly outweigh the impact development is likely
to have both on (a) its special features and (b) the national network of Sites
of Special Scientific Interest. Where a proposal is permitted appropriate
mitigation or compensation will be required.
4.4.8 Policy EN15: POLLUTION AND CONTAMINATED LAND
1. Development will be permitted that will not result in unacceptable risk to
public health or safety, the natural environment or the amenity of existing
land uses through:
a. pollution of the air, land, surface water, or ground water sources; and/or
b. generation of noise or light levels, or other disturbance such as spillage,
flicker, vibration, dust or smell.
2. Unless proposals would result in no unacceptable risk to future occupiers of
the development and/or the surrounding land, development will not be
permitted:
a. that is located on or in the vicinity of land that is contaminated or suspected
of being contaminated; and/or
b. on land that contains or which potentially would create through development
a pathway for migration of a potentially hazardous substance into a
sensitive receptor.
3. In respect of affected sites the developer and/or landowner will be required
to undertake appropriate investigation(s) and to carry out necessary
remedial works.
4.4.9 Policy INF1: INFRASTRUCTURE DELIVERY
1. Development will be permitted where infrastructure requirements identified
to make the proposal acceptable in planning terms can be met. Provision

17

Page 199

of infrastructure will be secured having regard to regulatory and national
policy requirements relating to developer contributions.
Where, on the basis of evidence, a need for on-site infrastructure and
services is identified provision may, where necessary, be secured through
planning obligations.
Where, on the basis of evidence, a need for off-site infrastructure and
services is identified and/or negative impacts on existing off-site
infrastructure and services are expected to arise, provision will be secured
through either planning obligations and/or CIL as appropriate. Infrastructure
provision in this context will take account of delivery of the strategic off-site
infrastructure set out in policies SA1, SA2 and SA3.
2. New or upgraded infrastructure will be provided in accordance with an
agreed, phased timescale. Provision will be made, where necessary, for the
ongoing maintenance of infrastructure and services.
3. Where there is concern relating to the viability of the development having
regard to infrastructure provision requirements, an independent viability
assessment, in proportion with the scale, nature and/or context of the
proposal, will be required to accompany the planning application. The
reasonable costs of the viability assessment will be met by the applicant.
4.4.10 Policy INF4: HIGHWAY SAFETY
Development will be permitted that:
a. is well integrated with the existing transport network within and beyond the
development itself, avoiding severance of communities as a result of
measures to accommodate increased levels of traffic on the highway
network;
b. creates safe and secure layouts which minimise conflicts between traffic
and cyclists or pedestrians, avoids street clutter and where appropriate
establishes home zones;
c. provides safe and suitable access and includes designs, where appropriate,
that incorporate low speeds;
d. avoids locations where the cumulative impact of congestion or other
undesirable impact on the transport network is likely to remain severe
following mitigation; and
e. has regard, where appropriate, to the Manual for Gloucestershire Streets or
any guidance produced by the Local Highway Authority that may supersede
it.

18

Page 200

4.4.11 Policy INF8: WATER MANAGEMENT INFRASTRUCTURE
1. Proposals will be permitted that:
a. take into account the capacity of existing off-site water and wastewater
infrastructure and the impact of development on it, and make satisfactory
provision for improvement where a need is identified that is related to the
proposal. In addition, proposals should not result in a deterioration in water
quality. Where a need for improvement or a risk of deterioration in water
quality is identified, the Council will require satisfactory improvement or
mitigation measures to be implemented in full prior to occupation of the
development;
b. address sustainable water supply through the implementation of demand
management measures, particularly to reduce the use of water and to
prevent leakages, and are complimented by management initiatives that
make efficient use of water, for example, through rainwater harvesting and
grey water collection;
c.

incorporate suitable Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) where
appropriate; and
d. do not result in pollution of groundwater sources.
2 . Development proposals within Source Protection Zone 1 (SPZ1) will be
designed to allow for contamination being encountered and for restrictions
on deep penetrative foundation methods, together with avoidance of:
a. deep borehole soakaways;
b. foul sewage discharge to groundwater;
c. direct discharge of hazardous substances to groundwater;
d. discharge of trade effluent to ground water; and
e. underground oil storage tanks.
4.4.12 Policy EC1: EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT
Employment Development will be permitted where it:
a. supports the creation of high quality jobs in professional, technical and
knowledge-based sectors and seeks to support economic opportunities
which capitalise on the strength of existing academic and training
institutions and research organisations;
b. maintains and enhances the vitality of the rural economy;
4.4.13 Policy EC3: PROPOSALS FOR ALL TYPES OF EMPLOYMENTGENERATING USES

19

Page 201

2. Outside Development Boundaries, and outside established employment
sites, proposals for small-scale employment development appropriate to the
rural area will be permitted where they:
a. do not entail residential use as anything other than ancillary to the business;
and
b. are justified by a business case, demonstrating that the business is viable;
or
c. facilitate the retention or growth of a local employment opportunity.
4.5

Climate Change

4.5.1 On the 15th May 2019, Gloucestershire County Council endorsed the UK
Parliament’s declaration of an environment and climate change emergency by
committing the Council to: - an 80% reduction in its corporate carbon emissions
by no later than 2030 when compared to 2005, with a 100% reduction ambition
by the same time inclusive of carbon off-setting; contributing to the delivery of a
carbon neutral county by 2050; ensuring major council plans have clearly
identified strategies to reduce carbon emissions; and apply the scientific advice
published by The Committee on Climate Change (CCC). On the 20th
December 2019, Gloucestershire County Council Cabinet agreed to: - approve
the Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy 2019/20 to 2024/25 incorporating
an immediate action plan; and to endorse the Gloucestershire Climate Change
manifesto.
4.5.2 The 2019/20 to 2024/25 Strategy sets out an immediate action plan for delivery
by April 2020 and a suite of medium and long-term measures that are to be
implemented as part of a five-year rolling programme, which will be reviewed
and updated annually.
4.5.3 The immediate action plan is made up of 10 key actions that incorporate
commitments to: - joint-working to bring about a coordinated response to
climate change; dedicated staff and financial resources to tackling climate
change; and targeted climate change procurement practices. It also specifically
supports the planting of 1 million trees by 2030 and commencement of a review
of the Local Transport Plan to reflect the climate change emergency
declaration.
4.5.4 The medium and long-term measures consist of a further 14 actions that cover
such matters as: - dedicated local climate change research, assessment and
monitoring; targeted climate change communication and campaigning
initiatives; carbon reduction transport-related actions; exploration of renewable
energy potential on public sector land and the development of at least one
District Heating Networks by 2025; offering of support for both future public and
private sector developments that are zero carbon and will contribute towards
improvements in climate change resilience; and making provision for green
infrastructure in line with Building with Nature (BwN) standards.4.5.5
The
Gloucestershire Climate Change Manifesto which has been endorsed by the
County Council seeks a wider pledge from the Council’s partners to commit to
the headline ambitions outlined in the Council’s climate change emergency
20

Page 202

resolution and Climate Change Strategy 2019/20 to 2024/25. It seeks for a
partnership approach to be taken to grow a low carbon economy, help
residents, business and partners to radically reduce carbon; and to maintain
and enhance the quality of our natural environment by protecting and
enhancing the county’s biodiversity.
4.5.6 The commitments set out in the climate change emergency resolution,
Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy 2019/20 to 2024/25 and
Gloucestershire Climate Change Manifesto that contain a land-use planning
element are a material consideration in the assessment of planning applications
determined by the County Council. In particular weight should be given to
measures contained within individual proposals that are likely to make a
positive contribution to the implementation of the resolution, strategy and / or
the manifesto.
5

REPRESENTATIONS

5.1

In accordance with Gloucestershire County Council’s Statement of Community
Involvement June 2020 (SCI) the application was advertised by a site notice on
the 17 January 2020 and a newspaper advertisement was placed in the
Wiltshire and Gloucestershire Standard on the 16th January 2020 and 8
neighbour consultations. Representations have been received supporting and
objecting to the application. The following is a summary of the comments made:

5.2

Representations in favour of the application numbered 19. These are
summarised to include the following areas:










5.3

Good employer;
Rural employer;
long standing business in the community, support the local people, local
charities and provide important employment to many, skilled employees,
avoids imports;
heritage, artisan, bespoke brick supply, master brick maker;
traditional firing technique;
supports businesses indirectly;
Important to maintain UK manufactured bricks; and
winner of the RIBA National Sterling Prize for its bricks and the Brick
Development Association's National Brick Awards' Supreme prize on no
less than 3 of the last 4 years, putting Gloucester at the forefront of
traditional quality brick making.

Representations against the application numbered 19. These are summarised
to include the following areas:






Visual impact;
Located in AONB and visible;
Noise impact;
Property value depreciation;
Hours of operation;
21

Page 203

















5.4

Ecology impact –destruction of environment and biodiversity, knee brook
drainage interference;
Flooding impact;
Highway safety concerns regarding clay/mud on roads, crossing point on
Station Road;
Increased volume of traffic through villages;
Road use delay;
Tourism reduction;
Concern regarding restoration being achieved;
Light pollution;
Need for heritage bricks disputed;
Bricks not used locally;
Brick works has moved from a small local business to a” huge industrial
polluting monster”;
Incorrect accident data;
Concurrent working of two sites;
Fossil fuel use;
Opencast operation; and
Need for quarry should not override concerns.

Neutral representations totalled 4.

6

CONSULTATIONS

6.1

Local Member – No response

6.2

Cotswold District Council Planning (CDC) –
The District Council raise the following observations:
“When taken together with the adjacent site it is considered that the landscape
and visual impacts of the proposals would result in the short and longer term
adverse visual impacts on the AONB. In addition the cumulative impact of the
adjacent quarry works would adversely impact upon the overall tranquillity of
the AONB in this location.
As such we would maintain that an objection be raised to the proposals in
relation to the adverse impact on the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty contrary to Policies EN1, EN2, EN4 and EN5 of the Cotswold District
Local Plan.”
Cotswold District Council Environmental Health – No response

6.3

Blockley Parish Council (BPC)
The applicant undertook pre application public engagement with the community
with a briefing to the Parish Council on 19th September 2019 and a one day
exhibition held at Paxford Village hall on 20th September 2019. Details and
responses are available in the Statement of Community Engagement in the
Planning Statement submitted with the application. It is understood that the
22

Page 204

applicant undertook a further two days in February 2020 as referred to below at
bullet point two.
BPC Comments received 10 March 2020
Overall, “BPC remain neutral towards the application and instead ask that
Gloucestershire County Council undertake careful consideration of the central
points which have been consistently raised by parishioners both through the
survey and other means including Parish Council meetings, social media
engagement and indicative conversation with Parish Councillors”.
To summarise BPC raise concern regarding impact on AONB, screening, noise
and air pollution, lighting, access and highway implications, water pollution to
Knee Brook and flooding implications, impact on the wildlife and bio-diversity,
impact on the wildlife and water course is fully mitigated, and a restrictive
covenant is placed on the land in order that any future development or change
of use of the existing quarry, by either the current owners or their successors in
title, is prohibited.
The full copy of the comments received is below:
“Blockley Parish Council (BPC) have made significant efforts to engage with
parishioners both through their own initiatives, and by encouraging the
applicant and their agent to undertake public consultations and open days.
To summarise the initiatives that have been undertaken and/or supported by
BPC:
• The applicant engaged in a public consultation event in September 2019
(before the applications were validated) which was widely advertised by BPC to
encourage attendance. As the applicant states in their Statement of Community
Engagement, 36 parishioners attended and had the opportunity to have their
questions answered by the applicant.
• BPC requested the applicant undertake two open days at the existing site in
February 2020 which, again were widely advertised via a number of methods
within the Parish. This gave parishioners the opportunity to review the
applications in a more in-depth manner after submission and validation by
Gloucestershire County Council. Although this was not very well attended, the
feedback from parishioners who did attend was positive.
• BPC undertook an online survey of parishioners to establish the points of
both support and concern within the Parish. At the time of this comment, 57
responses have been gathered and the data has been used as one of the
bases on which BPC have determined their position.
To summarise the data from the parishioner survey:
• The survey was opened on 12/02/20 and covered nine questions relating to
the application.
23

Page 205

• There were 57 responses from around the Parish and broken down as
follows:- 21 Blockley (37%), 21 Paxford (37%), 7 Draycott (12%), 6 Aston
Magna (11%) and 2 from Northwick Park (4%). Of the responses received, 5
had a personal connection to the existing quarry.
• Parishioners were asked to give an indication of how they would comment on
the application, should they choose to. Of the responses received:- 34 object
(60%), 15 support (26%) and 8 are neutral (14%).
While the survey was invaluable at encouraging engagement and discussion
within the Parish, BPC do not feel that there is a large enough representative
sample size (response) to indicate meaningful support or objection to the
application. While there are significant points of concern within the Parish, there
is also a deep appreciation for the existing site, the quality of product and
craftsmanship, and the local jobs (including apprenticeships) and skills it
supports.
On that basis, BPC remain neutral towards the application and instead ask that
Gloucestershire County Council undertake careful consideration of the central
points which have been consistently raised by parishioners both through the
survey and other means including Parish Council meetings, social media
engagement and indicative conversation with Parish Councillors.
• The location of the proposed new quarry is not adjoined to the existing site,
and lies within an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). The AONB is
absolutely vital to this area, and is a significant reason why people both live in
and visit our Parish. It is of great concern and importance to our Parish that the
AONB is protected, and that development within it is deemed both absolutely
essential, and undertaken in an extremely sensitive and appropriate way that is
in keeping with the AONB. While it is understood that the existing quarry has
been in operation for many years and will inevitably require further supply of
clay to continue production in the future (although we somewhat unclear how
long the existing supply can continue), there is great concern that the AONB
will suffer as a result of the expansion.
• There are a number of properties which are in close proximity to the proposed
quarry, and indeed the majority of Paxford village is within sight and/or audible
range of the existing facility. It is therefore critical if this application is approved,
that the new quarry is of absolute minimal additional burden from a screening,
noise and air pollution perspective. The proposed site of the new quarry is on
land which is relatively low in comparison to the surrounding village (albeit with
a railway embankment on one side) which makes screening particularly
important. It is noted that there are plans for screening through the use of
bunds and additional planting, but we would ask that this is done thoroughly
and allowed to mature somewhat, and become effective to at least some
degree prior to the quarry being brought in to use. We understand through
consultation with the brick works that the actual extraction of clay using
machinery will be around 20 mins per hour to supply sufficient material for the
process. We would ask that this limit is defined in the determination and there is
24

Page 206

a restriction on both total working time per day and working hours for heavy
machinery. Furthermore, we understand that there will be no fixed lighting
required at the new site and would ask that this is also defined in the
determination of the application. Any additional lighting could create light
pollution for neighbouring properties and harm the quality of the AONB.
• The B4479 over which quarry vehicles will need to cross around two times per
hour is already quite a busy arterial route linking a number of villages. It is
understood that the opinion of The Highways Agency is that the quarry crossing
should be separate from the existing entrance to the brick works (which also
serves as vehicular access for other businesses on the estate) in order to avoid
mixing quarry movements with other business traffic. Feedback from
parishioners clearly indicates that there is concern with this proposal and BPC
would agree that it would be much more favourable to utilise the existing
entrance in to the brick works site rather than create a new one adjacent to the
railway crossing. Whilst it is noted the applicant intends to install a wheel wash
station on the south-east side of the B4479 to limit the depositing of mud on the
road, there is concern that if this solution is not effective, this could pose a risk
to cars crossing the rail line, and the railway lines themselves. Additionally,
even if the wheel wash is effective, there remains the risk of additional water
being dragged on to the road which will cause similar risks, particularly in
winter.
• There is concern about the risk of potentially polluted water being pumped
from the quarry into neighbouring Knee Brook. In heavy rain (which we have
already seen frequently this year), the brook is already prone to flooding and
this presents concern to some local residents. Furthermore, the brook is a
habitat for a wide variety of wildlife, and it is critical that the purity of the brook is
maintained.
• We note that there are a number of statutory consultees on the application
assessing the ecological impact of the proposal including GCC Ecologist and
Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust. While we rely on them to assess the application
fully and offer their professional opinion, there is significant concern from
parishioners, particularly in Paxford about the impact on the wildlife and biodiversity which is so rich in our Parish. We would request that this aspect is
explored fully by the applicant and local authority and that any impact on the
wildlife and water course is fully mitigated.
• Whilst we recognise that the current applicant intends to restore the original
quarry to a natural state, (and indeed the applicant has even suggested the
existing quarry could in future be donated to the Parish), BPC would seek to
ensure that a restrictive covenant is placed on the land in order that any future
development or change of use of the existing quarry, by either the current
owners or their successors in title, is prohibited.”
6.4

Environment Agency (EA)
Comments received 6 February 2020

25

Page 207

The Environment Agency has raised no objections to the proposed
development, but and made the following comments:
Regarding groundwater protection and enhancement;
“It is expected, as per the current works, the quarry extension will be worked
‘dry’ and only surface water that collects at the base of the excavations will
require dewatering, it will then be treated via settlement lagoons before being
discharged to the Blockley Brook under an Environmental Permit.”
“Considering the site setting it would appear the proposed development will
present a low risk in terms of impacts to controlled waters and potential impacts
to water resources, we note the indicated presence of Superficial deposits at
the new application site, this does however appear to be restricted towards the
western extension site boundary (associated with the Blockley Brook) and not
present over an extensive area.”
“We are reassured the operator will adopt appropriate site measures to protect
groundwater from accidents and spillages and believe any potential
environmental impacts can be mitigated or controlled through the planning
regime by application of appropriate conditions or via the current permit which
the site operates under.”
Regarding ecological protection and enhancement the EA state:
“We have no objections to the development in principle providing all required
ecological mitigation is adhered to. Furthermore we would wish to see a
minimum 10% Biodiversity Net Gain achieved through the final restoration plan.
The proposed restoration plan does not provide sufficient enhancement of the
Blockley Brook. It is clear from OS map and lidar data that the brook (within the
proposed development site) has been subject to significant straightening
historically removing all the natural meanders, possibly in association with
agricultural practices in the past. Furthermore the watercourse is classified as
‘Poor’ status (‘Blockley Brook - source to conference Knee Brook’ waterbody
ID: GB109054039830) under the Water Framework Directive (WFD) which
requires waterbodies to reach ‘Good’ ecological status. We therefore consider
there is an opportunity to provide biodiversity net gain and ecological
enhancement by including a proposal to restore the natural geomorphological
form and processes of the brook in the restoration plan. You may see fit to
attach a suitably worded condition to ensure this.
Such a provision would be in line with the principles of sustainable development
enshrined in the NPPF as it would deliver biodiversity and water quality
enhancements. It would also be in line with the requirements of the WFD. We
therefore consider there is good justification to seek more enhanced restoration
proposals than current proposed.”
6.5

Natural England (NE)
Comments received on 28 January 2020.
26

Page 208

NE raise no objection. “Based on the plans submitted, Natural England
considers that the proposed development will not have significant adverse
impacts on designated sites and has no objection.”
NE provided a further comment by e mail on 3 July 2020.
“Following on from Natural England’s response to 19/0089/CWMAJM - Working
of clay at Loader's Barn, Northcot Brick Ltd, Blockley, we would like to provide
some clarification.
The Cotswold Conservation Board has also asked for clarification around the
wording of our response.
Our no objection response relates solely to nature conservation designations,
and does not relate to protected landscapes. The message from the body of the
letter is intended to defer comments on landscape to the AONB Board, in case
there are any issues concerning said landscapes that need to be addressed. In
the text of our response, Natural England has recommended that due to the
proposal being located within an AONB, the Local Authority contact the relevant
AONB Board for further comments before any planning decision is made.”
6.6

Historic England (HE)
Planning Comments received 17/01/2020.
HE has stated that they do not wish to offer any comments on the proposed
development and suggest seeking the views of specialist conservation and
archaeological advisors, as relevant.

6.7

Network Rail (NR)
Comments received 28 January 2020. NR have provided the following
comments:
“Having consulted with our Drainage Engineer, Network Rail would like to issue
a holding objection as plans show water to be discharged into Network Rails
Drainage system under the tracks, and the culvert is likely to surcharge as a
result.
When designing drainage, the following should be considered;
Storm/surface water must not be discharged onto Network Rail’s property or
into Network Rail’s culverts or drains. Network Rail’s drainage system(s) are not
to be compromised by any work(s). Suitable drainage or other works must be
provided and maintained by the Developer to prevent surface water flows or
run-off onto Network Rail’s property / infrastructure.
Once these matters have been addressed, and reviewed by our Drainage
Engineer, Network Rail will be in a position to submit final comments on this
application.

27

Page 209

Moreover, the Level Crossings Manager believes it would be worth speaking to
the applicant to ask whether they would be interested in diverting the public
footpath. It would be in our interests if a diversion enabled us to close the
footpath level crossing (Blockley FP OWW 94m 61c) and wonders if the site of
the application is limited by the existing legal line of the footpath such that
moving it would also be in the interests of the applicant. I believe the LCM will
be in contact directly with the agent regarding this.”
On 14 February 2020 NR removed their objection stating:
“Network Rail has no objection in principle to the above proposal but due to the
proposal being next to Network Rail land and our infrastructure and to ensure
that no part of the development adversely impacts the safety, operation and
integrity of the operational railway we have included asset protection comments
which the applicant is strongly recommended to action should the proposal be
granted planning permission. The local authority should include these
requirements as planning conditions if these matters have not been addressed
in the supporting documentation submitted with this application.
Any works on this land will need to be undertaken following engagement with
Asset Protection to determine the interface with Network Rail assets, buried or
otherwise and by entering into a Basis Asset Protection Agreement, if required,
with a minimum of 3 months’ notice before works start.
assetprotectionwestern@networkrail.co.uk
The assets listed (attached) are to be Asset Protected and access to these
assets to be maintained during and after completion of the development. There
is to be no short term or long-term impacts on the structural integrity or
aesthetics of the attached assets and no encroachment within 2m of any of
Network Rail’s assets.
The developer/applicant is to consult Network Rail where they feel the above
may cause challenges.
Should the planning be granted, Network Rail intend to carry out routine site
visits to check that the operations will not impact the railway.
Notwithstanding the above, I include additional comments and requirements for
the safe operation of the railway and the protection of Network Rail’s adjoining
land.
DRAINAGE
Soakaways / attenuation ponds / septic tanks etc., as a means of storm/surface
water disposal must not be constructed near/within 5 metres of Network Rail’s
boundary or at any point which could adversely affect the stability of Network
Rail’s property/infrastructure. Storm/surface water must not be discharged onto
Network Rail’s property or into Network Rail’s culverts or drains. Network Rail’s
drainage system(s) are not to be compromised by any work(s). Suitable
drainage or other works must be provided and maintained by the Developer to
prevent surface water flows or run-off onto Network Rail’s property /
28

Page 210

infrastructure. Ground levels – if altered to be such that surface water flows
away from the railway. Drainage is also not to show up on Buried Service
checks.
EXCAVATIONS/EARTHWORKS
All excavations / earthworks carried out in the vicinity of Network Rail’s property
/ structures must be designed and executed such that no interference with the
integrity of that property / structure can occur. If temporary compounds are to
be located adjacent to the operational railway, these should be included in a
method statement for approval by Network Rail. Prior to commencement of
works, full details of excavations and earthworks to be carried out near the
railway undertaker’s boundary fence should be submitted for approval of the
Local Planning Authority acting in consultation with the railway undertaker and
the works shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Where development may affect the railway, consultation with the Asset
Protection Engineer should be undertaken.
GROUND DISTURBANCE
The works involve disturbing the ground on or adjacent to Network Rail’s land it
is likely/possible that the Network Rail and the utility companies have buried
services in the area in which there is a need to excavate. Network Rail’s ground
disturbance regulations applies. The developer should seek specific advice
from Network Rail on any significant raising or lowering of the levels of the site.”
6.8

Cotswold Conservation Board (CCB)
CCB provided responses on 27 March 2020 and 17 June 2020 regarding
additional information provided by the applicant’s agent. On the 27 March 2020
CCB raised an objection to the application citing the following main reasons for
doing so:
“The Board objects to the proposed development and recommends that the
proposed development should not be granted planning permission.
The main reasons for this objection are that the proposed development would:






constitute major development in the context of paragraph 172 and
footnote 55 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) - as
such, there should be a presumption against granting planning
permission for the proposed development;
not constitute exceptional circumstances or be in the public interest;
primarily meet needs arising outside the AONB – as such, it would not
be appropriate to locate the proposed development within the AONB;
have significant adverse impacts on:
 landscape quality / landscape character;
 scenic quality / visual receptors;
 tranquillity.

The Board also considers that the applicant has not adequately assessed the
traffic movements or noise. In both cases, the applicant has not compared the
29

Page 211

scenario of the proposed development being granted planning permission with
a scenario in which planning permission is refused and production at Wellacres
Quarry (and, presumably, production at the brickworks) has come to an end.
In addition, the Board considers that the applicant has not adequately
demonstrated the visual impacts of the proposed development. For example,
the applicant has not provided photomontages of the views across the site from
the footpath and bridleway when the bunds and storage areas have been
installed and, post-restoration, when the new hedges are well established.
Further information relating to these issues and these recommendations is
provided in Annex 1.”
Annex 1 contains 10 sides of A4 in support of the above reasons for objecting
to the application. The full comments are available in Public Access
(http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/19_0089_CWMAJM_COTCON
_COMM_27MAR20.pdf ) and are referred to later in this report.
The applicant provided a response to the above in its letter of 3rd June 2020.In
response CCB provided the following:
“•
The Board’s opinion of the proposed development: The applicant’s
letter does not alter the Board’s opinion on the proposed development (other
than clarifying that the brickworks operation is still likely to continue even if the
development is not granted planning permission). The Board’s opinion – and
the reasons for this opinion - is well covered in our consultation response.
•
Economic benefits and AONB considerations: The Board recognises
the potential economic benefits of permitting the development and the
importance of the clay resource. However, this should be balanced against the
national importance of the AONB designation, the great weight that should be
given to conserving and enhancing the landscape and scenic beauty of the
AONB and the highest status of protection that should be afforded to AONBs in
this regard (i.e. equal in status to the level of protection that should be afforded
to National Parks). N.B. In terms of the importance of the clay resource, that
resource would / could still be safeguarded even if the development is not
granted planning permission.
•
Major development tests: The level of detail provided by the applicant
with regard to the major development ‘tests’ of paragraph 172 of the NPPF is
fairly limited and does not reflect the level of scrutiny that should be applied to
these tests.
•
Impacts associated with sourcing the clay from elsewhere: The
applicant asserts that sourcing the clay from elsewhere would have more
significant environmental effects and adverse effects on the AONB than if the
development was granted planning permission. The Board does not accept that
this is necessarily the case. The AONB designation is primarily a landscape
designation. Although tranquillity is a component of landscape, the long term
impact on landscape character is a more significant consideration (where there
30

Page 212

is a potential conflict between addressing both aspects). So, having more HGV
movements in the shorter term (bringing in clay from elsewhere) may be a less
significant impact on the AONB designation than the long term adverse effects
on landscape character that would result from the development being granted
planning permission.
•
Relationship between the brickworks / quarry and the AONB
designation: The applicant makes the point that the brickworks and Wellacres
quarry existed before the AONB was designated. However, as explained in my
comments, this does not mean that the brickworks and the quarry make a
positive contribution to the natural beauty of the AONB. Nor are they identified
as key features / characteristics of the Pastoral Lowland Vale landscape
character type. In fact, the existing, steep-sided quarry and the proposed,
steep-sided quarry are not in keeping with the ‘gentle landform’ of this LCT. The
proposed development would almost double the area of this incompatible land
use.
•
Cross section and impact on views: The cross-section that the
applicant has produced, showing the extent to which the screening / storage
bunds would have a visual effect on receptors using the footpath and bridleway,
demonstrate that views across the Pastoral Lowland Vale (LCT 17) – which are
one of the key features / characteristics of this LCT - would be blocked or
severely restricted. The cross-section does not explicitly show the extent to
which views to the Farmed Slopes (LCT15) would be blocked or restricted.
However, given the elevated angles of the site lines shown on the crosssection, it would seem that these views would, in fact, be restricted or severely
restricted.
•
Need for the end product (i.e. bricks) within the AONB: The applicant
has pointed out that the clay would be needed within the AONB – at the
brickworks. This does not address the Board’s main issue, in this regard, which
is the extent to which the end product (i.e. the bricks) would be used within the
AONB. The extent to which the end product is used in the AONB is an
important consideration when deciding if the proposed mineral development is
appropriate within the AONB.
•
The Board’s statutory duty: The applicant refers to the Board’s duty to
further the social and economic wellbeing of local communities in the AONB.
This duty applies in pursuing the Board’s two statutory purposes. The duty does
not mean that the Board is required to support development that would have
some economic benefit but which would have an adverse effect on the natural
beauty of the AONB.
•
Natural England’s response: The applicant refers to the fact that
Natural England had no objection to the development and did not consider that
the development would have any significant adverse effects on any designated
sites. However, it is not uncommon for Natural England to be referring
specifically to nature conservation designated sites, rather than designated
landscapes, when they make such a comment. I have asked Natural England
to clarify if that was the case in this instance and I am currently waiting for a
31

Page 213

response. Natural England did recommend that the Board should be consulted
on the proposed development, so they obviously consider the Board’s opinion
on proposed development within the AONB and its setting to be an important
consideration.”
6.9

Campaign for the Protection of Rural England (CPRE)
CPRE Gloucestershire raises no objections.

6.10

County Archaeologist
The County Archaeologist raises no objection to the planning application.
The County Archaeologist notes that the planning application is supported by
reports on a Heritage Desk-Based Assessment (Cotswold Archaeology,
October 2018) and a geophysical survey (SUMO, September 2019). In addition
the County Archaeologist notes the applicant provided a report on an
archaeological evaluation (Cotswold Archaeology, November 2019). The
County Archaeologist, regarding the planning application, recommends that no
further archaeological investigation or recording need be undertaken in
connection with this development proposal.

6.11

County Ecologist
The County Ecologist notes the submission of the following ecological reports
by Pleydell Smithyman Ltd (all dated September 2019):
•
•
•
•
•

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal or ‘PEA’ (Rev A)
Bat Activity Survey
Bat Roost Survey
Breeding Bird Survey (Including Barn Owl)
Otter, Water Vole and Crayfish Survey (OWVC)

In addition Appendix 10(5) is an Otter Mitigation Method Statement and dated
November 2019.
The County Ecologist concludes “the development is likely to have some shortterm adverse effects upon biodiversity but with safeguards, mitigation and
effective restoration of the scheme proposed plus suitable aftercare
management a good long-term biodiversity net gain should be achieved”
Overall the County Ecologist raises no objection to the planning application
subject to planning conditions and advice notes to secure a tree and hedge
removal plan including appropriate planting of a new hedge, an Operational
Ecological/Environmental Management Plan (OEMP), a hydrological plan, dust
management plan, installation of the bridge crossing, submission of a pre
lighting installation bat report, and a restoration and aftercare management plan
and reintroducing a more natural watercourse alignment. The County Ecologist

32

Page 214

recommends that long term biodiversity habitat management post aftercare is
secured.
6.12

Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA)
The LLFA raise no objection to the application and have provided the following
comments:
Comments received 13/02/2020.
“The letter from Mr J Potter dated 28th January 2020 indicates that the affected
owner is aware and accepting of the increased flood risk outside the red line
boundary of this development on their property, that I referred to in my
response of 13th January 2020, the LLFA therefore has no objection to this
proposal.”
Comments received 13/01/2020.
“The bridge crossing over the Blockley Brook may require consent under the
1991 Land Drainage Act. This is additional to planning consent and should be
applied for from Cotswold District Council. This is referenced in the Hydrology
and Surface Water Drainage Strategy which indicates that the developer is
aware of the requirement.
The proposal does lead to an increase in flood risk outside the proposed
development; this is in contravention of the requirements of the NPPF.
Paragraph 4.2.3 of the FRA addresses this with a comment that the landowner
affected has been consulted and agrees that the increased risk is acceptable. It
would be useful if some evidence of this acceptance could be made available.”

6.13

Public Rights of Way (PROW)
The PROW Officer – Central & North Cotswolds raises no objections to the
application providing the following comment:
“ From looking at the planning application, I have no objections; it looks like
they have taken the footpath into consideration to keep the public walking the
footpath safe. However, if they are unable to keep the public safe, they will
need to apply to us to temporarily close the footpath. However if it would be or
require more of a permeant closure to maintain public safety, then they should
undertake a diversion order to reroute the footpath onto a safer line for the
public.”

6.14

Highway Authority
Final comments received 21July 2020 The County Highway Authority raises no
objections subject to conditions and informatives. Conditions recommended
relate to a Construction Management Plan, highway condition survey, and
deleterious material on the road and vehicle access. Informatives relate to
alterations to the access under Highways Act S184 and a Construction
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP).
33

Page 215

6.15

County Minerals and Waste Planning Policy
The County Minerals and Waste Planning Policy team has provided comments
and are summarised below:
Initial comments were received on 21 February 2020:
Key NPPF policy points include the potential impact on the Cotswolds AONB
(paragraph 172) and the need to maintain supply of a nationally important
industrial mineral (paragraph 205a). The NPPF recognises (paragraph 208)
that mineral planning authorities should plan for a steady and adequate supply
of industrial minerals which includes maintaining a stock of permitted reserves
to maintain and improve existing plant and equipment. Footnote 68 suggests
that the land bank for brick clay should be at least 25 years. It is acknowledged
that Northcot Brick is a long-standing and valuable producer of heritage bricks,
one of only two brickworks remaining in the county.
The County Minerals and Waste Planning Policy comment on the relevant
policies of the Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018-2032). These are
stated as being:
Policy MW04 – Brick Clay
Policy DM01 – Amenity
Policy DM03 – Transport
Policy DM04 – Flood Risk
Policy DM05 – Water resources
Policy DM06 – Biodiversity and geodiversity
Policy DM07 – Soil Resources
Policy DM08 – Historic Environment
Policy DM09 – Landscape
Policy MR01 – Restoration, aftercare and facilitating beneficial after-uses
The County Minerals and Waste Planning Policy comment that clarity is
required regarding the following:




Why there is a need to extract on a Saturday;
If the proposal is considered to be major development, then is the public
interest test met; and
What are the economic benefits of the proposal to the local and national
economy?

The County Minerals and Waste Planning Policy officers provided a further
response to the applicant’s response, received on 10th March 2020, to the
Policy comments initially made. These were received on 31 March 2020 and
are summarised below:
Clarity was provided regarding the change in development plan status following
adoption of the new minerals local plan. Comments were made regarding the
NPPF paragraphs 205 and 172 and MLP policies MW04, DM01 and DM03.
34

Page 216

The County Minerals and Waste Planning Policy officers confirm that the
information provided clearly sets out the ambition of the applicant for the
proposal and the applicant’s agent’s justification for the timescales associated
with it. Policy officers consider it reasonable for meeting the requirements of
part 1 of MW04 which is concerned with the scale and significance of the
contribution made to the future supply of brick clay minerals. Policy officers
also confirm that the employment figures and evidence of brick use in the local
built environment is highly applicable to part 2 of Policy MW04. They also
consider that the existing planning conditions at Wellacre Quarry are a material
consideration. Finally, Policy officers agree great weight (as required by NPPF
paragraph 205) should be given to the benefits of mineral extraction , including
the economy but also acknowledges that great weight should (as required by
NPPF paragraph 172) be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and
scenic beauty in AONB; that the scale and extent of such development within
such designated areas should be limited; and that planning permission should
be refused for major development other than in exceptional circumstances.

6.16

County Landscape Adviser
The County Landscape Adviser (CLA) has provided comments regarding the
application. Comments were received on the 28 January 2020, 28 April 2020,
03 June 2020.
Overall the CLA does not object to the proposed development.
In summary the CLA had initial concerns, when the application came in, that
the applicant had not demonstrated that all the overburden material could not
be retained on site and used for restoration of Loaders Barn Quarry. Wellacre
had a relatively recently approved restoration profile (albeit a concept
restoration plan). The redline boundary to the haul road was arbitrary within
open fields; and there appeared space to retain material on site to the south of
the haul road. This was raised with the applicant and in the debate provided
plans that showed just such an option. The applicant advised that the plans
were for information purposes and did not form part of the application
documents.
The justification for not pursuing on-site storage of all material was that the
potential site had been shown to be compromised by a high pressure sewer
(and attendant easement) and by PROW footpath 16. Some storage near to the
PROW was considered an option further justification sought. The applicant
stated that the application should be determined on the submitted application
documents.
The CLA commented that boundaries to AONB designations are often set for
ease of interpretation/identification on the ground and for mapping, rather than
for boundaries in landscape character or quality. In this instance the boundary
is the railway line, which itself sits on visually intrusive linear embankment.
35

Page 217

Regarding sensitivity of receptors, aside from the railway there is the existing
works and quarry in close proximity to the application area. The CLA
acknowledged that it can be argued that the sensitivity of receptors, in this case
primarily users of the local footpaths, is already diminished. The CLA also
comments that the 2015 “concept” restoration approval for Wellacre also
demonstrates that at that time restoration to a depression with waterbodies was
acceptable within the AONB.
The CLA acknowledges that the impact of bunding has been raised by other
respondents. The CLA considers that bunding for topsoil and overburden
storage for subsequent use in restoration is an accepted, common part of the
extractive industries and without we would not be able to achieve acceptable
restoration schemes. Whilst the CLA accepts that bunds in themselves can be
visually intrusive and incongruous in the landscape; in this case there are no
close residential receptors and for walkers etc who would be adversely
impacted on then views are currently restricted, especially by the railway line,
and the transitory nature of reduced views would be off-set by screening views
into the working and by associated noise mitigation.
The CLA acknowledges that only consideration of the application submitted.
Whilst the CLA remains of the view that a better restoration could be achieved
by retaining all material on site, the CLA is of the opinion that with an
appropriate phased detailed restoration proposal conditioned for early
submission, then the submitted application is acceptable in landscape and
visual terms.
The CLA responses are provided below.
The CLA provided the following comments were received on 28 January 2020:
“….concerned that the removal of a significant part of the overburden/waste
material to Wellacre quarry (Application 19/0085/CWMAJM) will result in a less
than optimum restoration to this quarry. The applicant mentioned utilities
restrictions on the use of adjoining land to stockpile material but this doesn’t
appear to have been quantified nor consideration to increasing the volumes of
material in boundary binding. A landform, albeit concave, that drained to the
brook would be more in keeping with the landscape of the AONB in this area.
Considering the above I would recommend that the applicant is to give further
consideration to the retention of potential restoration materials (or more fully
justify why retention on site isn’t an option) and to demonstrate how the
additional material would allow a more optimal restoration profile in landscape
and visual terms to be achieved. An LVIA (Pleydell Smithyman Nov 2019) has
been submitted, however I do not consider this adequately covers a scenario
with restoration based on the retention of all material arising from site; nor, in
this application nor that for Wellacre Quarry, is there sufficient justification for
the removal of material from this quarry in terms of betterment of the restoration
of Wellacre Quarry.”
Following correspondence with the applicant justifying why overburden material
has to be removed from the site to Wellacre Quarry the CLA provided further
comments on 28 April 2020:
36

Page 218

“I have read the agent’s comments and also the response from the AONB
Board.
Dealing with the agent’s comments first; It appears that they and the applicant
are unwilling to consider changes to the scheme to reduce the impact on the
landscape and on the character of the AONB? If so, then I don’t believe the
current proposals are acceptable in landscape or visual terms.
I don’t believe my previous comments indicated that the footpath should be
stopped up. Clearly there are options of adjusting the mounding to retain its
current alignment or local diversion, either horizontally or vertically (i.e. around
or over the mound)
I am surprised at the agent’s assertion that mounds shown on A and B would
be permanent features. No mention of this has been previously made and the
strong previous inference was that the material would be used for restoration.
The agent asked for the views of the AONB board on the stockpile mounds.
They note in the appendices to their consultation response that:
…the Board considers that the long-term benefits of retaining the overburden
on-site would potentially outweigh the associated, shorter term adverse visual
impacts. It would also outweigh the potential biodiversity benefits of using the
overburden to create shallow margins in the waterbody at Wellacre Quarry.
This is partly because, in line with paragraph 172 of the NPPF, landscape
considerations should be given ‘great weight’ in the planning decision, whereas,
in the context of this proposal, potential biodiversity benefits would be a lower
ranking ‘important consideration’.
I would also note that overburden mounds are a feature of many quarries in the
AONB e.g. the limestone quarries along Buckle Street and the B4077.
The AONB Board response recommends refusal on a number of grounds; the
overarching being that the proposal constitutes a major development in the
AONB in the context of the NPPF guidance and that the applicant has not
demonstrated exceptional circumstances. A key part of their argument is that
the applicant hasn’t demonstrated that similar bricks could not be made outside
the AONB, that they have not demonstrated a significant local demand or
character and that the Board’s recommendations, in line with the character of
the AONB and its policies, would always be for new developments to use
Cotswold stone. Set against this must be consideration of the existing quarry
and works.”
Following the applicant’s letter of 3rd June 2020 the CLA provided further
comments:
“In LVIA terms, I don’t disagree with what they have said in response to the
Board’s comments. Their methodology for the assessment was sound as are
their conclusions – the key thrust of my comments to date has been that there
is scope for a better restoration scheme by keeping more or all the overburden
etc. on site which in turn would deliver greater mitigation of the impacts.

37

Page 219

The Board have objected to the stockpile bunds blocking views for the full life of
the quarry. Assuming progressive restoration then that should not be the case
as the material will be required for restoration. From memory, there are no
individual locations that might be considered as a destination for views; as such
the localised restriction in views should be seen in the context of a walk in the
countryside and, as such blocking of views would only change a relatively short
part of the experience of any walk. I would find it difficult to support a view that
the bunds are such a large visual and physical intrusion and negative impact
that they would be grounds for refusal in themselves. If there was an option to
quarry clay but for all the material to go off site then it would have to be
stockpiled in Wellacre until required to be brought back for restoration which
potentially would delay final restoration of both Quarries.
I am concerned that, in the response to Boards concerns about waterbodies
being a-typical of the area, the agent points them to the 2019 restoration plan
for Wellacre. This confuses the issue given their choice to put in two separate
applications and effectively presumes that approval of the one will automatically
follow the approval of the other. There is clearly an option where Loaders is
approved but not Wellacre, in which case material that couldn’t be stockpiled at
loaders would have to go off site completely. Similarly if Loaders was refused
they presumably would need to withdraw the application for Wellacre and stay
with the 2015 restoration.”
6.17

County Hydrology/Hydrogeology Adviser (CHHA)
The CHHA has provided the following comments on 28 April 2020.
“Hydrogeological Impact Assessment
A hydrogeological impact assessment was completed and provided for
comment as document 19_0089_CWMAJM_HYDRO ASSESS. The Applicant
should provide a more robust hydrogeological risk assessment in line with the
Water Framework Directive, with further investigation on (but not exclusive to)
the following:






The current assessment does not make it clear that the Charnmouth
Mudstone Formation assessed is the bedrock at the site and is the strata
that will be excavated as part of the clay extraction works. This
clarification should be made in the text;
The assessment states that groundwater was not encountered during
exploratory borehole drilling to a depth beyond the maximum proposed
depth of extraction. This is confirmed on view of the borehole logs
provided as 19_0089_CWMAJM_BOREHOLE_LOG. The assessment
should also consider the potential for any groundwater seepage and
subsequent groundwater dewatering requirements as part of the
excavation works. If this is not anticipated, the assumption should be
stated in the text;
The assessment states that the ‘solid measures which will be worked as
a part of this scheme do not make any contribution to base flow to
Blockley Brook’, however, no information to justify this statement is
presented. Further consideration of this is required;
38

Page 220





The assessment does not assess the potential for any groundwater
dependent ecological receptors that may be impacted by the works, to
be present within the vicinity of the extraction. If present, these should be
considered as part of the HIA, or their absence recorded; and
The assessment should consider any impacts during the restoration of
the quarry. Further consideration of this is required.

Hydrology and Surface Water Drainage Strategy
The Hydrology and Surface Water Drainage Strategy does not consider the
potential for groundwater seepage into the quarry. If the strategy assumes that
there is no groundwater seepage, this needs to be stated.
A hydrological study, including a WFD assessment, is required to confirm the
impacts on the watercourses of the proposed extraction and assumed
dewatering of the excavation.
The flood risk assessment quotes the climate change allowances appropriate
for the site as the central and higher central categories, yet only presents the
results from the central estimate. Given the similarity of the allowances, it is
plausible that the flood risk character would not change significantly in the
higher central scenario, but this should be confirmed.
The assessment states that the landowner accepts the predicted increase in
upstream flood levels due to the new stream crossing. This statement needs to
be confirmed but otherwise the design, construction and maintenance of the
new river crossing must be appropriate to ensure that there is no adverse flood
risk impact. Similarly, it should be confirmed that the new crossing would not
create a temporary or permanent impoundment of normal flows. This may be
subject to additional approval/regulatory control.
Details of the surface water management and associated drainage systems will
need to be included within the assessment to confirm that appropriate
measures are included to ensure suitable water quality of discharge to the river.
The Applicant should consider how the proposed restoration affects both the
local surface water flow regime and flood risk. As requested by the
Environment Agency, opportunities to restore natural geomorphological form
and process should be sought within the restoration plan.”
Following initial queries, the applicant’s hydrogeology advisers provided clarity
to the CHHA on the 4th May 2020. Following this a “no further observations”
response was received.
7

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

7.1

Background to brickmaking in Gloucestershire.
The British Geological Survey (BGS) in 2006 produced a Mineral Resource
map for Gloucestershire. It identifies “Brick clay” as the term used to describe
clay and shale used predominantly in the manufacture of bricks and, to a lesser
extent, roof tiles and clay pipes. These clays may sometimes be used in
cement making, as a source of constructional fill and for lining and sealing
landfill sites. The suitability of clay for the manufacture of bricks depends
principally on its behaviour during shaping, drying and firing. This will dictate the
39

Page 221

properties of the fired brick, such as strength and frost resistance and,
importantly, its architectural appearance.
7.2

Most facing bricks, engineering bricks and related clay- based building products
are manufactured in large automated factories. These represent a high capital
investment and are dependent on raw materials with predictable and consistent
firing characteristics in order to achieve high yields of saleable products.
Blending different clays to achieve improved durability and to provide a range of
fired colours and textures is an increasingly common feature of the brick
industry. Continuity of supply of consistent raw materials is important.

7.3

The brickworks in Gloucestershire in 2005 included (Broadmoor, Hawkwell
Green and Wellacre). The clay formerly worked at Broadmoor and Hawkwell in
the Forest of Dean have since been replaced by Coleford Brickworks and
arises from the Cinderford Member of the Carboniferous Formation, whilst the
Wellacre Quarry, adjoining Northcot Brickworks, produces clay from part of the
Jurassic Charmouth Mudstone Formation.

7.4

The main issues to be considered in this application relate to:



the need for the mineral development and planning policy context
including impact upon the Cotswolds AONB; and
the environmental impacts of the proposed development.

The need for the mineral development and planning policy context
7.4.1 Northcot Brickworks and Wellacre Quarry are long established in the area. The
brickworks can offer a traditional method of brickmaking producing heritage
bricks (used in restoration and conservation projects). Bricks have been
manufactured since 1925 on the site using clay sourced from the adjoining
Wellacre Quarry. It is the supply of mineral clay for blending with the existing
clay reserves at Wellacre Quarry that the applicant is seeking to establish in
order that the long term future of the brickworks is secured. At present the
applicant states that there are 2 years left of good quality clay reserve at
Wellacre Quarry based on use of approximately 50,000 T pa. The proposed
clay extraction site comprises agricultural land near to, but not adjoining, the
brickworks site and Wellacre Quarry. The sites are separated by Station Road
(B4479), which would need to be crossed by quarry vehicles supplying clay and
associated quarry overburden waste (years 3-5) that is unable to be stored, in
the applicant’s view because of operational reasons, nearer to the proposed
site. The brickworks site, Wellacre Quarry and the Loaders Barn proposed
extraction site all lie within the Cotswold AONB.
7.4.2 The adopted MLP (2018-2032) is the local development plan for minerals
development throughout Gloucestershire and is the starting point for
considering the acceptability of this proposal. Relevant MLP policies concerned
with the extraction of clay at this site and within the wider locality include: MW04 – Brick Clay; DM01 – Amenity; DM02 - Cumulative impact; DM03 –
Transport; DM04 – Flood Risk; DM05 – Water resources; DM06 – Biodiversity
40

Page 222

and geodiversity; DM07 - Soil resources; DM08 – Historic Environment; DM09
– Landscape and MR01 – Restoration, aftercare and facilitating beneficial afteruses.
7.4.3 The MPA considers that the MLP policies MW04 –Brick Clay and DM09 –
Landscape are the main material planning policies to be satisfied in the
determination of the application. Following this the other MLP policies referred
to above are considered below under the environmental impacts of the
proposed development although reference to both MW04 and DM09 is also
made where appropriate.
7.4.4 MLP policy MW04 – Brick Clay is focused on ensuring the right provision
conditions will be met for ensuring the steady and adequate supply of brick
clay. Critical to policy compliance is a proposal’s demonstration that a
contribution towards brick clay supplies that will necessitate the production of a
specific brickworks for at least 25 years; and that support for a sustained or
growing the local economy and local cultural heritage will be achieved.
7.4.5 MLP Policy MW04 –Brick Clay.
As a reminder MLP Policy MW04 – Brick Clay states: “Mineral development
proposals for working of brick clays as an industrial mineral will be permitted,
where it can be demonstrated :



a contribution will be made towards the supply of brick clays necessary to
enable production to be maintained at a specified brickworks either located in
Gloucestershire or beyond for at least 25 years throughout and at the end of
the plan period: and
a positive contribution will be made to sustaining or growing local economies
and upholding cultural heritage throughout Gloucestershire.”

7.4.6 The applicant states that existing brick clay supplies from Wellacre Quarry has
now only 2 years of ‘good’ clay reserve left. This is despite the recent planning
permission granted in 2015, which allowed the deepening and widening of
Wellacre Quarry. The 2015 proposal claimed that extraction would support a
further 20 years’ worth of production and would open up clay seams that would
facilitate desirable blends.in the production of bricks within the Northcot
Brickworks. Even allowing for possible concentrated working over the past five
years following the 2015 permission, it is expected that more than 2 years of
reserve should remain at this time.
7.4.7 This proposal for the opening of a new working at Loader’s Barn is justified on
basis that further good quality clay reserves would be realised and that these
offer a blending opportunity with the remaining clay at Wellacre Quarry. In
combination the two working areas would appear to offer a long term supply
solution for Northcot Brickworks.
7.4.8 The circumstances surrounding the depletion of reserves from the 2015
permission at Wellacre Quarry, does raise some questions as to the confidence
in the assessment of and potential quality of the underlying clay resources.
Nevertheless, it is still reasonable to consider that the combination of the two
41

Page 223

workings (e.g. Wellacre Quarry and Loader’s Barn) would represent a more
secure and longer term supply option for Northcot Brickworks than presently
appears to be the case. As a consequence it could be judged that the first part
of policy MW04 will be satisfied.
7.4.9 The application states that this proposal would sustain the future of 65+
employees currently working within clay extraction at Wellacre Quarry and at
Northcot Brickworks. It is also of note that based on the Office for National
Statistics (ONS) in the region of 155 indirect jobs may also be supported. A
number of employees are said to live locally and the business could be
regarded as a local rural employer. However, a contrary view has also been
presented by some objectors who claim that locally-orientated employment is
overstated and that most employees come from further afield.
7.4.10 The applicant has also supplied a list of 139 different development projects
within 20 miles of the site that have been supplied by the brickworks in recent
years. In addition, a number of heritage projects supported by Northcot bricks –
both locally and beyond have been highlighted within the application to show its
importance in both repair and new build schemes.
7.4.11 Job security and diversity with non-agricultural employment opportunities within
the rural location, alongside support for built heritage both nearby and further
afield aligns with the second part of policy MW04.
7.4.11 The MPA considers that the proposed development would provide a
contribution towards the supply of brick clay necessary for the long term
production at the Northcot brickworks or beyond for at least 25 years
throughout and at the end of the MLP period. The MPA also considers that the
proposal would make a positive contribution to sustaining or growing local
economies and upholding cultural heritage throughout Gloucestershire. As such
it is considered that the proposed development is in accordance with Policy
MW04 Brick Clay.
7.4.12 MLP Policy DM09 – Landscape
Mineral developments located with the Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty (AONB), such as this proposal at Loader’s Barn must demonstrate
accordance with MLP policy DM09 – Landscape. The established landscape
character(s) and area(s) that the proposal would impact upon must been taken
into account and where practicable, consideration should be given to any
opportunities to achieve enhancements. Specifically in respect of the AONB
designation, the proposal must not prejudice scenic beauty and show how the
conservation of wildlife and cultural heritage has been considered. In addition,
enhancement opportunities concerning the AONB’s special qualities as
promoted through the Cotswold AONB Management Plan must be brought
forward.
7.4.13 As the Loader’s Barn proposal is by virtue of its size and scale to be a major
development within the Cotswold AONB, it must also show it is in the public
interest. Major development within AONB designations should only be
permitted under exceptional circumstances. To demonstrate this with the
42

Page 224

proposal, an overriding need for brick clay must be shown along with the ability
to show that the local economy will not be subject to unacceptable adverse
impacts and that alternative non-AONB sources of brick clay cannot be used
having taking into account their working constraints and availability based on
practicality and viability grounds.
7.4.14 MLP Policy DM09: Landscape states that mineral development proposals will
be permitted where it can be demonstrated they have been informed by, are
sympathetic to, and wherever practicable, will support the enhancement of the
character, features and qualities of the landscape character areas or types of
character relevant appropriate to the NCAs and LCAs that form the
Gloucestershire Landscape Character Assessment.
7.4.15 As referred to earlier, MLP Policy DM09, at Part b refers to AONB designations
and other areas that form part of the setting of an AONB and states “mineral
development proposals within or that affect the setting of the Cotswolds, Wye
Valley or Malvern Hills AONBs will only be permitted where it can be
demonstrated: I.

they will not prejudice the conservation of the character, features and
qualities of the landscapes and scenic beauty of the AONB and that
account will have been given to the conservation of wildlife and cultural
heritage;

II.

adverse impacts on the special qualities of the AONB as defined by the
AONB Management Plan (specifically concerning the environment,
landscape and recreational opportunities) will be avoided or satisfactorily
mitigated; and

III.

opportunities will be taken to support the enhancement of the character,
features and qualities of the landscapes and scenic beauty of the AONB
as promoted through the relevant AONB Management Plan.

Mineral development proposals within or that affect the setting of the
Cotswolds, Wye Valley and Malvern Hills AONBs, that are defined as major
development will only be permitted under exceptional circumstances. All of the
relevant criteria set out above in part b must be satisfied. In addition, proposals
must be in the public interest by demonstrating:
I.
II.
III.

there is an overriding need to work and / or process the mineral,
including national considerations;
the local economy will not be subject to unacceptable adverse impacts;
and
alternative non-AONB sources of mineral supply, which are no more
constrained, will not be available on practicality and viability grounds.”

7.4.16Referring to paragraph 7.4.15 above and MLP Policy MR09;

43

Page 225

I. they will not prejudice the conservation of the character, features and
qualities of the landscapes and scenic beauty of the AONB and that
account will have been given to the conservation of wildlife and cultural
heritage;
The applicant considers that the landscape impact is acceptable and the
proposed restoration is appropriate to the AONB designation whereas some
objectors and the CCB do not agree. The CLA considers that the LVIA has
been appropriately undertaken and does not disagree, in the planning balance,
that the proposed restoration is unacceptable. More details of the LVIA is
considered below under the environmental impacts of the proposed
development. Overall, the MPA considers that the proposed development
would not prejudice the conservation of the character, features and qualities of
the landscape where the site is situated or the scenic beauty of the AONB
overall. The MPA have considered the conservation of wildlife and cultural
heritage which are considered below under the environmental impacts of the
proposed development.
7.4.17 Referring to paragraph 7.4.15 above and MLP Policy MR09;
II.
adverse impacts on the special qualities of the AONB as defined by the
AONB Management Plan (specifically concerning the environment, landscape
and recreational opportunities) will be avoided or satisfactorily mitigated;
As referred to above, the CCB has objected to the proposed development.
Their objections relate to the adverse impacts on the special qualities of the
AONB as defined by the AONB Management Plan will be not be avoided or
satisfactorily mitigated.
CCB states “The main reasons for this objection are that the proposed
development would:


Constitute major development in the context of paragraph 172 and
footnote 55 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) - as such,
there should be a presumption against granting planning permission for
the proposed development;



Not constitute exceptional circumstances or be in the public interest;



Primarily meet needs arising outside the AONB – as such, it would not
be appropriate to locate the proposed development within the AONB;



Have significant adverse impacts on:


Landscape quality / landscape character;

44

Page 226

7.4.18



Scenic quality / visual receptors;



Tranquillity.”

In response the applicant disagrees with the interpretation and weight given by
the CCB to policies in the AONB Management Plan. The applicant also places
great weight on the initial consultation response given by NE and the
Screening Direction of the SoS. In response both the CCB and the applicant
are likely to attach differing weight to the impact of the proposed development
on the AONB and it is not surprising that there is disagreement between them.

7.4.19 It is noted that NE has clarified that its response did not include landscape
designations and defer the impact of the proposed development to the CCB.
As referred to above NE stated “Our no objection response relates solely to
nature conservation designations, and does not relate to protected
landscapes. The message from the body of the letter is intended to defer
comments on landscape to the AONB Board, in case there are any issues
concerning said landscapes that need to be addressed”
7.4.20 Regarding the Screening Direction by the SoS this was screened in the
context of the EIA Regs and the significance of environmental impacts on the
environment, individually and cumulatively. The negative Screening Direction
does not imply that, in considering the planning merits of the proposed
development, there are not impacts, significant or otherwise, on the Cotswold
AONB that are acceptable in the planning balance. The consideration of the
merits of the planning application is a separate exercise to the screening for
need of EIA or otherwise.
7.4.21 It is agreed by the applicant, CCB and the MPA that the development is major
development in the AONB and as such requires an assessment of the
exceptional circumstances and how it is in the public interest to allow such a
development. This has been considered below. Consideration is necessary of
the impact of the proposed development on the tranquillity (special quality) of
the AONB especially from the PROW receptors close to the proposed
development along with the proposed restoration landform and the long term
benefit of the permissive public footpath proposed as part of the restoration.
These are discussed in more detail below.
7.4.22 Referring to paragraph 7.4.15 above and MLP Policy MR09;
III. opportunities will be taken to support the enhancement of the character,
features and qualities of the landscapes and scenic beauty of the AONB as
promoted through the relevant AONB Management Plan.
7.4.23 The MPA notes the constraints referred to regarding storing the restoration
overburden material on land nearer to the application site along with the
advice from the CLA regarding the overall acceptability of the concept
restoration subject to detailed design being agreed via planning conditions.
The MPA notes the landscape and biodiversity enhancements referred to by
the County Ecologist and the EA in the long term management of biodiversity
outside the 5 year aftercare period and the reinstatement of meanders in the
45

Page 227

brook crossing the site. The securing of these benefits as part of the detailed
restoration scheme, controlled through a combination of planning conditions
and legal agreement, is considered to satisfy DM09 Policy III referred to
above.
7.4.24 As major development within the AONB the second part of Policy DM09 also
applies. This states that the proposed development should also consider how
the exceptional circumstances are satisfied and give consideration to the
following:
“I.
II.
III.

there is an overriding need to work and / or process the mineral,
including national considerations;
the local economy will not be subject to unacceptable adverse impacts;
and
alternative non-AONB sources of mineral supply, which are no more
constrained, will not be available on practicality and viability grounds”

7.4.25 The applicant, in assessing the exceptional circumstances and public interest
has provided the following summarised information in support of the reasoning
to source the clay from the proposed location.
7.4.26 Regarding the need to source clay from the proposed location the applicant
states;
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The clay is required for blending purposes with that from the existing
Wellacre Quarry;
The development would secure well paid employment both directly (65+)
and indirectly (137) beyond both the development plan periods;
Avoids rural unemployment;
Provide bespoke bricks at local and national level contributing to
conservation and enhancement of the nation’s cultural heritage through
repair and maintenance of historic buildings;
Provide bricks locally to support local distinctiveness of the AONB
designation;
The brickworks provide a premium product as evidenced from use at the
sites nationally and locally referred to above.
Complies with the national and local planning policy land bank
requirement; and
Need is supported by NPPF paragraphs 203, 205 and 208.

7.4.27 The applicant refers to the Cotswold AONB Management Plan 2018-2023
including the need for quarrying under Policy CE3 to provide building materials
that help maintain and enhance the local distinctiveness of the AONB. The
applicant stated that many of the properties within the vicinity of the brickworks
had been constructed using building materials from the works claiming the
provision of new clay reserves complied with this element of the Management
Plan. The applicant provided information relating to developments within
Gloucestershire and further afield that have used Northcot brick. The MPA
does not disagree that the type of clay and the ability of the brickworks to
produce small quantities of bricks of specific colour and finish, means that the
46

Page 228

distinctiveness of the local bricks can be matched for future development. As
such it is considered the proposed development would be in accordance with
MLP DM09 and part II of MW04.
7.4.28 The applicant considered Policy CE4 of the Cotswold AONB Management
Plan regarding tranquillity.
Policy CE4 states;
1. Proposals that are likely to impact on the tranquillity of the Cotswolds
AONB should have regard to this tranquillity, by seeking to (i) avoid and
(ii) minimise noise pollution and other aural and visual disturbance.
2. Measures should be taken to enhance the tranquillity of the Cotswolds
AONB by (i) removing and (ii) reducing existing sources of noise pollution
and other aural and visual disturbance.
The long term aspiration, as set out in Outcome 6 of the AONB Management
Plan, is that:


The tranquillity of the Cotswolds AONB will have been conserved and
enhanced, with fewer areas being affected by noise pollution and other
aural and visual disturbance.

7.4.29 In response to this the applicant stated that “over time the current temporary
development proposal would replace that of Wellacre Quarry removing this
noise source and in addition many features, such as hedgerows, which are
present in this landscape type, would be introduced by the initial planting and
the restoration plan”.
7.4.30 The applicant went on to state that the AONB Management Plan embodies the
statutory duty of the CCB to “seek to foster the economic and social well-being
of local communities within the AONB”. It is stated that the workforce is drawn
largely, from the local villages and the closure of the brickworks would have a
strong negative effect on that economic and social well-being factor.
7.4.31 The impact of permitting the application or refusing it, upon the local economy
is a material consideration to be addressed. Permitting the application will
sustain the long term future of 65+ employees currently working at the
quarry/brickworks. It is also of note the Office for National Statistics (ONS)
2015 uses a multiplier of 2.39 for the mining and quarrying industry regarding
full time equivalent (FTE) jobs. Based on this it equates to 155 indirect jobs. A
number of employees live locally to the brickworks site. These employees
support the local economy in spending, housing and service use. As such it
represents a valuable rural employer in the area. Contrary to this a view from
an objector is that most of the employees are not local to the site. The
applicant states that refusing the application is likely to result in job losses
which in turn may affect the ability of the existing population to stay in the area
47

Page 229

if there is no alternative employment for them. The applicant has also supplied
a list of 139 different projects within 20 miles of the site that have received
products from the works in recent years. These have fed into the construction
market and that industry has its’ own ONS jobs multiplier of 1.97 providing an
additional inferred level of employment and benefit to the economy. As such it
is considered the proposed development is in accordance with MW04 part II
above.
7.4.32 The use of the bricks locally is a consideration. Whilst it is noted that there is
an objection regarding the bricks not being used locally as much as the
Cotswold Stone building material it is none the less used locally. The bricks
are manufactured for heritage development in new build and repair both
locally and further afield. The applicant has stated that the bricks have been
supplied to Battersea Power Station refurbishment, Newport St Gallery, Keble
College, Oxford, Newnham College, Cambridge and the Flaxmill Maltings,
Shrewsbury (repairs). Whilst locally the applicant has provided bricks to the
following projects:
Batsford Arboretum
Charlcote Park
Croome Court
Hidcote Manor Gardens
New House in Blockley
Bricks
Coughton Court
The Manor house
Wickhamford Manor
Binswood Hall

Restoration of the garden wall
National Trust (visitor centre)
National Trust (Ice House, Garden Wall and Red Wing)
National Trust.
Mixed development with Cotswold Stone and
National Trust
Shipston on Stour
Restoration
Leamington Spa 320,000 bricks and specials

7.4.33 This in itself provides a positive contribution to the local economy in the
preservation of local jobs and spend in the area where some job holders
reside. As such it is considered the proposed development is in accordance
with MW04 part II above.
7.4.34 Ideally, the MPA recognises that, for both economic and sustainable transport
reasons, there are sustainability advantages in this material being sourced as
close as possible to the brickworks site. Clearly this is achieved by the
proposal since there is no alternative supply closer than the proposed mineral
site to the brickworks.
7.4.35 Apart from the land bank reserve requirement, it needs to be considered
whether there exists appropriate clay mineral resource elsewhere in the
County especially from outside the AONB or the County itself. This is
considered below.
7.4.36 In addition to the need consideration above, the applicant, in assessing the
exceptional circumstances and public interest has provided the following
summarised information in support of the reasoning to source the clay from
the proposed location.

48

Page 230

7.4.37 Regarding the cost and scope for developing outside the designated area;
•
•
•
•
•
•

The British Geological Survey (BGS) indicates that the resource extends
south eastwards but still within the AONB boundary on the same side as
the Main Line railway.
If located outside the AONB the resource would need to traverse the
railway line, creating additional journeys along the public highway.
From outside the AONB clay would need to be transported from eastern
sources through the village of Paxford;
The applicant states there is no substitute for the clay itself and when the
supply ceases the brickworks would close;
The Aston Magna identified BGS resource also lies within the AONB and
in any event is unavailable;
In a hypothetical situation where the new quarry was as close as
possible to the brickworks but outside the designated area i.e. north of
the railway line there would be additional transport, visual, noise and air
quality impacts on a greater number of sensitive receptors which is
environmentally unsound and, therefore, not a sustainable option.

7.4.38

To provide the clay material from another source would mean that clay would
need to be sourced from active clay pits or otherwise. The CCB have
maintained their objection to the application referring to the need to identify
alternative sources of supply from outside the AONB or other more
appropriate sources within the AONB.

7.4.39

The other clay source in Gloucestershire is within the Forest of Dean where it
lies in an historic tip associated with historic coal extraction. The tonnage
here is not known but, according to the operator of Coleford Brickworks, is
considered to be in excess of 100,000 T. The Coleford brickworks is
currently operational and recently had its planning conditions updated as a
mineral review site. The land bank permitted reserve at Coleford is
considered to be in excess of 25 years at existing production levels of 34000T pa the site itself is approximately 48 miles from Northcot Brickworks
and arises from different geology to that mined at Wellacre Quarry. Whilst it
may be uneconomic to transport clay over this distance, it would also have
greater transport impacts on amenity and the environment than sourcing the
clay closer to the Northcot Brickworks whilst in any event, the chemical
characteristics are different given the differing geology of the clay source.

7.4.40

The applicant has been asked to provide the nearest alternative source of
clay mineral from outside the AONB but has not provided the information
other than stating that Aston Magna (which lies within the AONB) there was
an historic clay pit quarries which have now ceased operations and are being
filled as part of restoration.

7.4.41

It is recognised that the chemical and physical characteristics of clay sourced
from elsewhere need to be appropriate for the brick manufacturing process
at Northcot as well as the economics of transporting the clay to the Northcot
Brickworks site.

49

Page 231

7.4.42

It is accepted that the cost of sourcing alternative clay from a site further than
the proposed location is likely to be more expensive than that which is closer
to the brickworks site. Whether this is uneconomic or not is difficult to assess
if no other clay sources have been identified by the applicant. The applicant
has referred the MPA to the Aston Magna clay quarry to the south of the site.
This is an historic site, non-operational, in restoration and therefore
unavailable. It is therefore accepted that, on practicality and viability grounds
that sourcing the material from the proposed site is the sustainable option
and accords with MLP Policy DM09.

7.4.43

In addition to the need consideration above, the applicant, in assessing the
exceptional circumstances and public interest has provided the following
summarised information in support of the reasoning to source the clay from
the proposed location with particular regard to the effect on the environment,
the landscape and recreational opportunities;
•

•

•

•

•
•

7.4.44

Advise that changes to the environment have to be taken into account in
the planning balance. Applicant considers effects are negligible and
amelioration is built into the design or effects can be controlled by
planning conditions;
Winning and working of minerals changes the physical landscape. The
AONB designation has informed the design including part of the
reasoning to place overburden from the site within the permanent
restoration of Wellacre Quarry;
Options discounted include storage of overburden above ground level
within the AONB because of constraints imposed by the operational site
area available –notably the PROW (footpath 16) and high pressure
sewer; other options discounted were the temporary storage of
overburden below ground at Wellacre before returning it back to the site
for use in restoration. This was discounted because of the delay it would
cause to the restoration of Wellacre Quarry and additional cost of double
handling and the environmental cost of running transport a second time;
Recreational features affected by the proposal include that on PROW
(footpath 16). The PROW would remain open throughout the
development and would have hedge planting to minimise visual impact
of the transport of the mineral;
Storage of overburden on the field adjacent to Station Road would have
enclosed the footpath reducing enjoyment of the user; and
The provision of a permissive path linking the footpath and the bridleway
would enable better access as the steep climb up and over the railway
line could be avoided.

The effect on the environment, landscape and recreational opportunities is
considered either above or below in the environmental impacts of the
proposed development. Restoration of the mineral site apart from satisfying
MLP Policy DM09 would also have to satisfy MLP Policy MR01: Restoration,
aftercare and facilitating beneficial after-uses.
This states that; “Mineral development proposals will be permitted where
it can be demonstrated high quality restoration and aftercare will: 50

Page 232

I.

take place at the earliest opportunity and without generating
unacceptable adverse impacts; and
II.
be delivered to a high environmental standard; and
III.
facilitate beneficial after-uses that will contribute to the delivery of
sustainable development.”
7.4.45

The extraction of clay from the site is an intrusive form of development.
However, it is a long term but temporary development with the land proposed
to be restored to amenity and nature conservation. The final landform as
submitted shows a bowl like depression in the land containing water.
Whether this would affect the conservation of the character, features and
qualities of the AONB is an issue raised by the CCB. It is noted that the CLA
does not agree with this view and considers that the proposed concept
restoration landform is not unacceptable. The applicant considers that the
proposed development does not adversely affect the conservation of the
character, features and qualities of the AONB whereas the CCB considers
that it would.

7.4.46

Whilst it can be argued that the availability of all overburden material would
be preferred for restoration purposes it does not mean that the loss of the
100,000 m3 means that the proposed restoration would be unacceptable
affecting the conservation of the character, features and qualities of the
AONB. The restoration is only in concept and the final design is a matter that
would need to be agreed with the MPA through the control of a planning
condition.

7.4.47

Overall the CLA in the consultation response summary identifies that whilst
the CLA remains of the view that a better restoration could be achieved by
retaining all material on site, (which is not an option available in the
determination of the application) the CLA is of the opinion that with an
appropriate phased detailed restoration proposal conditioned for early
submission, then the submitted application is acceptable in landscape and
visual terms.

7.4.48

The MPA is satisfied that appropriate consideration regarding restoration has
been given in the conservation of wildlife and cultural heritage and these
matters are discussed in more detail later in this report.

7.4.49

CDC Policy EN5 in substance covers the aspects referred to in GCC Policy
DM09 above.

7.4.50

The above policies MLP policies DM09, MR01 and CDC Local Plan policy
EN5 are material to the consideration of this application and appropriate
weight should be attached in the planning balance in the determination of the
application.
NPPF consideration

7.4.51

Following consideration of the development plan policies considered above it
is appropriate to consider the guidance contained in the NPPF. The NPPF is
51

Page 233

a material consideration in planning decisions. The NPPF (paragraph 172)
places great weight upon conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic
beauty within AONBs which have the highest status of protection in relation
to these issues. NPPF Paragraph 205 “states that when determining
applications, great weight should be given to the benefits of mineral
extraction, including the economy”. It also states that mineral planning
authorities should, as far as is practical, provide for the maintenance of land
banks of non-energy minerals from outside the AONBs.
7.4.52 However, the NPPF (paragraph 208) also states that mineral planning
authorities should plan for a steady and adequate supply of industrial
minerals which includes safeguarding or maintaining an available stock of
permitted reserves, for blending purposes within and outside the Mineral
Planning Authority to maintain and improve existing plant and equipment.
The NPPF footnote 68 suggests that the land bank for brick clay should be at
least 25 years.
7.4.53 NPPF Paragraph 172 referred to above states “Great weight should be given
to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks,
the Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest
status of protection in relation to these issues. The conservation and
enhancement of wildlife and cultural heritage are also important
considerations in these areas, and should be given great weight in National
Parks and the Broads.”
7.4.54 NPPF paragraph 172 goes on to state “The scale and extent of development
within these designated areas should be limited. Planning permission should
be refused for major development other than in exceptional circumstances,
and where it can be demonstrated that the development is in the public
interest. Consideration of such applications should include an assessment of:
a) the need for the development, including in terms of any national
considerations, and the impact of permitting it, or refusing it, upon the
local economy;
b) the cost of, and scope for, developing outside the designated area, or
meeting the need for it in some other way; and
c) any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and
recreational opportunities, and the extent to which that could be
moderated.”
7.4.55

For the purposes of paragraph 172, the NPPF states that whether a
proposal is ‘major development’ is a matter for the decision maker, taking
into account its nature, scale and setting, and whether it could have a
significant adverse impact on the purposes for which the area has been
designated or defined.
52

Page 234

7.4.56

Paragraphs 172, 205 and 208 are considered above under the MLP policies
MW04 and MW09. It is not considered that the NPPF raises any material
considerations which are not considered through the policy consideration in
this report and do not raise any matters which outweigh the primacy of the
development plan(s).

7.4.57

Overall, having considered the exceptional and public interest requirements
of NPPF paragraph 172, MLP DM09 and MW04 the MPA consider reasons
in favour of the proposal include:
In favour the proposal the development would:
 be closer to the brickworks than a site further afield resulting in less
transport impacts;

•

comply with national and local policy (MLP MW04) regarding land bank
provision;
• secure brick production in the long term preserving existing jobs (direct
and indirect);
• be likely to be a more sustainable option by avoiding the environmental
cost and financial cost of securing the appropriate clay resource from
further away;
• provide high quality clay from Loaders Barn in order to augment current
reserves of poorer clay quality;
• allow continued long term provision of bespoke bricks; and
 reduction in flood risk in local area by removal of some of the catchment
and the acceptance of flows into the site from the Blockley Brook in
extreme events.
7.5

The environmental impacts of the proposed development.

7.5.1 In addition to the above, the environmental impacts of the proposed
development have been considered. The application was accompanied by a
supporting Planning Statement. This considered the following topic areas:








Landscape and Visual Amenity, (including Arboriculture);
Ecology and Biodiversity;
Archaeology and Cultural Heritage;
Noise and Air Quality;
Hydrology and Hydrogeology;
Highway and Transport; and
Rights of Way.

Landscape and Visual Amenity & Aboricultural
7.6

Landscape and Visual Amenity

53

Page 235

7.6.1 Relevant planning policies include DM01: Amenity; DM02 Cumulative Impact;
DM09: Landscape Part b | AONB designations and other areas that form part of
the setting of an AONB and MR01: Restoration, aftercare and facilitating
beneficial after-uses of the MLP and policies EN4: The Wider Natural and
Historic Landscape: EN5: Cotswold AONB of the CDC Local Plan and NPPF
paragraphs 170 and 172.
7.6.2 The application is supported by a LVIA at Chapter 3.2 of the PS and Appendix
7. The LVIA includes a LVIA Methodology at App1 and an Aboricultural Report
at App 2.
7.6.3 Regarding Landscape the LVIA examined the effects of the proposed
development through the change on the landscape. The LVIA recognises the
site and study area are part of the Cotswold AONB and lies within National
Character Area (NCA) 107: Cotswolds and displays a number of characteristics
which define this area. The site is located within Pastoral Lowland Vale
Landscape Character Type (LCT) and displays some of the characteristics of
this classification.
7.6.4 The applicant refers to the Cotswold AONB Management Plan and considers
the proposal complies given the fact that the proposed quarry is smaller scale
than the hard rock quarries and because of the heritage bricks it produces.
7.6.5 The LVIA concludes that an overall Medium Landscape Susceptibility is
appropriate and considers the impacts during operational and post-restoration
periods where the final restored site would have “a Minor net beneficial effect
upon landscape character compared with the baseline due to the inclusion of
more diverse native planting and new water bodies”.
7.6.6 Regarding Visual Amenity the LVIA considered viewpoints from near and far
and the inter-visibility of the proposed operations with close, medium and long
range receptors. The study assumed early hedgerow planting along the haul
road, adjacent to PROW footpath 16 north of the site and adjacent to the
PROW Bridleway 23 at the southern boundary.
7.6.7 The close receptors are users of the PROWs and train passengers. The MPA
considers that the users of the PROWs would experience visual impacts that
particularly at the site preparation stage before peripheral planting has matured
and during the creation of the screening bunds. Following seeding of the bunds,
views are stated as being restricted to intermittent glimpses of the operations
and transport of the mineral. Greater views would be experienced during winter
months but overall it was considered that the overall effect would be moderate
or “not important”. For rail passengers it is stated that the effect would be
“moderate adverse” during the operational period for a very short duration and
minor beneficial once the site was restored.
7.6.8

Alterations in the landscape for users of Station Road would comprise
lowering of hedgerows, the creation of a crossing point and gates. The initial
lowering of the hedgerow would allow longer views to the south across the
retained agricultural land and the proposed haul road. The impact is judged to
54

Page 236

be “moderate/minor adverse” during the operational phase, reducing all the
time as the new proposed hedgerow matures until the effect becoming
“neutral” when restored.
7.6.9

The effect on medium and long distance views would occur mainly from
PROWs and one cycle route where the effects were considered to be of “low
or neutral magnitude”.

7.6.10 It is noted that the weighting given to the landscape and visual amenity differs
from that of the CCB. However, the CLA agrees with the applicant’s
assessment provided in the application.
7.6.11 Regarding soils then an Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) was undertaken
in 2018 involving seventeen auger samples at 1.2m depth. The soil appeared
to have been formed from the Charmouth Mudstone Formation with a band of
alluvium in the centre of the site. The soil type was classified as 3b and as
such falls outside the definition of “Best and Most Versatile Land”. The ALC
report states that “the presence of Subgrade 3b agricultural land at the site
represents some of the poorer quality agricultural land in the area.”
7.6.12 The landscape and visual amenity impacts should be considered with regard
to the landscape designation. The proposed restoration would result in a
depression because of the removal of the clay mineral and some of the
overburden for operational reasons. The reasoning for some of the
overburden would be removed as part of the operation has been provided.
7.6.13 The applicant considers that the landscape impact is acceptable and the
proposed restoration is appropriate to the AONB designation whereas some
objectors and the CCB do not agree. The CLA considers that the LVIA has
been appropriately undertaken and does not disagree, in the planning
balance, that the proposed restoration is unacceptable.
7.6.14 The development description states “The winning and working of clay with
restoration to amenity and nature conservation” Part of the restoration involves
the proposed connecting of PROW Footpath 16 and the PROW Bridleway 23
by a permissive path. The permissive path is identified as being publicly
accessible in the application documents. The applicant has indicated that such
a path can be controlled via planning condition. It is agreed that such a path
can be provided as part of a restoration planning condition and throughout the
5 year mineral aftercare period normally associated with such mineral
development. However, it is not agreed that such a condition can control
maintenance and provision of public access outside the 5 year aftercare
period. The applicant does not consider the long term provision and
maintenance of the public access via a legal agreement is necessary and has
stated that the landowner (who is not the applicant) may keep the path open in
the long term. There is no reason to consider that this may not be the case but
the MPA has no control over this. The permissive path proposed as part of the
concept restoration is an amenity benefit of the proposal. For this to be a long
term benefit would require a legal agreement with all interested parties in the
land. Such a legal agreement through a planning obligation under S106 of the
55

Page 237

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) would be required to
satisfy three tests namely;
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
(b) directly related to the development; and
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.
In this case the MPA considers that whilst the proposed permissive path is a
benefit of the restoration it is not considered necessary to make the
development acceptable in planning terms.
7.6.15 GCC Policy MR01 refers to supporting high quality restoration, aftercare and
facilitating beneficial after-uses. GCC Policy DM09 refers to landscape
considerations. Having considered the landscape and visual impacts during
and post development, the proposed concept restoration and the advice of the
CLA that the proposed development is considered acceptable subject to
appropriate restoration and aftercare conditions that will accord with MLP
policies DM09 and MR01.
Aboricultural
7.6.16 The Aboricultural Assessment is contained at Appendix 2 to the LVIA in the
form of a BS 5837 Tree Survey (TS) (issue 4 –Nov 2019). The TS identifies that
there are trees present, including in small plantation areas largely on
margins/boundaries. The report provides details of the structure, condition and
quality of individual trees, and tree groups present within the survey area as
well as root protection areas (RPA) of relevant trees that could be affected by
the proposed development.
7.6.17 The TS provides qualitative data relating to tree species, height, stem,
diameter, height and direction of first significant branch, crown spread, age
class and a brief qualitative assessment on the condition of the trees surveyed.
7.6.18 The TS identified 41 individual trees, 12 tree groups and 3 hedgerows generally
located on or near to field boundaries. The northern boundary of the site is
defined by overgrown hedgerow consisting of Hazel, Hawthorn, Field maple,
Field Rose, Oak and Blackthorn. Trees located on this boundary include 5
Willows 3 ash, 1 Oak 1 Hawthorn and 1 Hazel. Of which 1 tree is a category b
tree (tree of moderate quality and value) and 8 no category C trees (tree of low
quality and value) and 2 category U trees (trees in such a condition that they
cannot realistically be retained as living trees in the context of the current land
use for longer than 10 years).
7.6.19 Where applicable, trees site are proposed to be retained and protected by tree
protection fencing in accordance with the requirements of BS5387:2012, as
part of the development proposals. Subject to tree protection measures
recommended the arborist considers the proposed works would not adversely
affect the trees proposed to be retained.
7.6.20 Mitigation proposed is proposed at a ratio of 1:2 in restoration. It is
recommended that like for like native trees species, of local provenance, and
extra heavy standard tree stock are specified (for individual tree planting), as a
56

Page 238

minimum. This would offset the impacts of the removal of 2 individual trees, 1
tree group and a section of hedgerow.
7.6.21 In conclusion several trees would be lost to allow access to the site. The
restoration scheme to be agreed, via planning condition, is capable of providing
compensation for these losses. Stand offs are proposed for all retained trees
some of which are within other habitats/features on site. Details regarding tree
removal, retention and protection can be controlled via planning condition(s).
7.6.22 The proposed development, with regard to tree impacts, is not considered to
conflict with Policy DM09 and MR01 of the MLP, EN7 of the CDC Local Plan
and NPPF paragraphs 170 and 172.
7.7

Ecology and Biodiversity

7.7.1 Relevant planning policies include DM05: Water Resources, DM06: Biodiversity
and Geodiversity of the MLP and Policies EN7: Trees, Hedgerows and
Woodlands, EN8: Biodiversity and Geodiversity: Features, Habitats and
Species of the CDC Local Plan and NPPF paragraphs 170, 174 and 175.
7.7.2 GCC MLP Policy DM06 at Part a seeks to support mineral development
proposals that demonstrate the conservation of biodiversity and/or geodiversity,
in addition to providing net gains where possible or avoided or mitigated against
or in exceptional circumstances compensated against.
7.7.3 CDC Policies EN7: Trees, Hedgerows and Woodlands seeks to support
development that enhances trees and hedgerows. CDC Policy EN8 seeks to
support development where it conserves and enhances biodiversity and
protected species.
7.7.4 The application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) at
appendix 9 and at chapter 3.2.17.
7.7.5 The PEA was undertaken to determine the likelihood of habitats being present
and the need for further studies to be undertaken. The PEA gathered data from
a variety of sources; aerial photography was studied and a Phase 1 Habitat
survey undertaken which established that there were no Priority Habitat on the
site but the features present on the site included;










Arable fields;
Semi- improved neutral grassland;
Tall ruderal;
Scattered scrub;
Species-rich intact hedgerow – can be Priority Habitat;
Broadleaved plantation woodland;
Scattered trees;
Running water;
Fence; and
57

Page 239



Hardstanding.

7.7.6 The PEA identified the need for additional survey work for badgers, bats, otters,
crayfish, water voles and breeding birds/barn owls. These surveys were carried
out at the appropriate time of year by trained ecologists. The PEA also
considered the opportunity for the enhancement of habitats to produce
biodiversity net gain. It concludes that the restoration scheme would create
habitat for a range of protected species in the long term. The County Ecologist
considered that the information contained in the Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal (PEA (Rev A)), Bat Activity Survey, Bat Roost Survey, Breeding Bird
Survey (Including Barn Owl), Otter, Water Vole and Crayfish Survey (OWVC)
and the Otter Mitigation Method Statement were sufficient to assess and inform
a decision on the development.
7.7.7 Designated Sites
Regarding Special Area of Conservation (SAC)/Special Protection Area
(SPA)/Ramsar sites it was considered that no conceivable effect would result to
European/International Sites.
7.7.8 Regarding Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) Wellacre Quarry SSSI
(geological) is about 320m away. This development is required to continue brick
production at Northcot. The proposed development is not considered to have
any significant implications on the SSSI.
7.7.9 Regarding Local (Key) Wildlife Site (LWS) it is noted that The following LWS’s
are present in the surrounding area: Hill Barn wood (c. 1.3km); Sedgecombe
Wood (c.1.4km); and Norcombe Wood (c. 2.6km). It is considered that the
proposed development would be unlikely to significantly affect any of these
LWSs.
7.7.10 Regarding Regionally Important Geological Sites (RIGS) it is noted that
Wellacre Quarry has geological interest and is a RIGS site along with Aston
Magna Clay Pit which is about 1.4km away (also with some biodiversity
interest). It is considered the proposed development would be unlikely to
significantly affect this RIGS/proposed LWS.
7.7.11 NE considered that there would be no significant adverse impacts on
Designated Sites and raised no objections. The GGT were consulted as part of
the application but did not provide any response.
7.7.12 Strategic Green Infrastructure
The Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership (Sept 2019) framework infers
that restoration full or in part to nature conservation use would be appropriate
(as is proposed).
7.7.13 Priority Habitats
Regarding hedgerows a species-rich intact hedgerow was identified along the
northern boundary next to Station Road. About 11 m of this is proposed for
removal to create an access to the mineral site. The PS at 3.2.28 states that a
new hedgerow along the south-eastern boundary of the site is proposed to be
58

Page 240

incorporated in the restoration proposals. With mitigation/compensation being
proposed the development would be unlikely to significantly affect any priority
habitats.
7.7.14 Trees
The application details identify that there are trees present, including in small
plantation areas largely on margins/boundaries. It is noted that several trees
would be lost to allow access to the site. The restoration scheme provides
compensation for these losses. Stand offs are proposed for all retained trees
some of which are within other habitats/features on site. Details regarding tree
removal, retention and protection controlled via planning condition, are
recommended by the County Ecologist to be submitted before development
commences.
7.7.15 Other habitats / features of interest
These are identified as being a stream (Blockley Brook) which runs west to east
across the near centre of the site; arable fields and margins; semi-improved
grassland; Scrub near margins in places along with tall ruderal vegetation.
7.7.16 The MPA are aware that there are existing records nearby in the stream for
brown/sea trout and white-clawed crayfish. Otter records are also known from
the Knee Brook which the stream runs into. As such this stream corridor should
be protected from direct impact as well as from silty run-off and pollution from
vehicles/machinery. A stand off of 10m is recommended controlled by planning.
Such a stand off would assist in preserving the structure of the watercourse,
biodiversity and water quality. A Hydrological & Dust Management Plan is also
recommended to be conditioned.
7.7.17 A bridge crossing the stream is proposed affecting 8m of habitat and some
compensation for this is provided in the form of new ponds in the restoration
scheme. However precaution would be required due to the likely presence of
otter and possible presence of water vole and white-clawed crayfish. A
culverted shorter span bridge has been confirmed for vehicles and machinery to
be able to cross the watercourse. Preliminary Drainage Details drawing D05- A
is considered acceptable if installed in accordance with the measures set out in
the Otter Mitigation Memo M17.148.R.018 dated November 2019. This is a
matter that can be controlled via a planning condition. Both the EA and the
LLFA have raised no objection to this aspect of the proposed development.
7.7.18 The proposed loss of arable, grassland and woody vegetation would be
compensated through the restoration scheme which should provide a net gain
for biodiversity.
7.7.19 European Protected Species (EPS)
Bats (pipistrelle, long-eared, lesser horseshoe, Daubenton’s and Myotis
species) are identified in the area.
7.7.20 The site has good foraging habitats around the margins and across the stream
corridor. No buildings are present on site but three mature trees have been
identified as having potential roosting features (PRFs). Due to these factors
59

Page 241

follow up reports on bat activity and roosting were submitted with this planning
application.
7.7.21 The Tree Bat Roost Survey report confirmed three identified trees had high and
moderate potential for roosting bats. The dusk and dawn surveys carried out
were taken at an appropriate time of year (July & August). No bats were
recorded as likely to be emerging from the trees and only one of these, Tree 2
(white willow) would need to be felled to facilitate the development. A planning
condition so that the tree is removed using soft felling techniques is
recommended by the County Ecologist.
7.7.22 The Bat Foraging Habitat Survey report outlined surveys carried out at dawn in
May and July and dawn in September. Activity along all boundaries was
recorded and particularly within the Blockley Brook corridor. Common and
soprano pipistrelles, Myotis bats, noctule, brown long-eared, Leisler’s,
barbastelle and lesser horseshoe bats were recorded most frequently.
Daubenton’s bats were probably present (Myostis) plus possibly also Brandt’s
and Natterer’s bats. This is an excellent diversity of species (possibly 10) even
if numbers were not particularly high. The boundary vegetation and stream
corridor are therefore very important to retain.
7.7.23 The hedgerow loss (and some trees) to enable access to the site and scrub
loss within the brook’s banks to install a bridge crossing would have a potential
minor impact on bat foraging and commuting routes. Mitigation is proposed
through access and bridge use confined to daylight hours, no lighting,
restoration works including proposed new species-rich meadow, trees, plus
hedgerows placed in strategically useful locations for bat movements and
feeding opportunities to be assisted. Some of the new planting must be carried
out shortly after development would commence to reduce residual effects
occurring.
7.7.24 It is noted that existing and new trees and hedgerows with stand offs would
secure foraging and potential roosting habitat for bats.
7.7.25 Dormouse
The survey indicated that there was some suitable habitat on the proposed site
but there were no observations or records within 2km. It is acknowledged that
removal of dormouse suitable habitat would be limited and the County Ecologist
considers that an adverse effect on dormice would be unlikely and
recommends an Advisory note should be attached to the Decision Notice
should planning permission be granted.
7.7.26 Great Crested Newt (GCN)
The survey indicated that there was some suitable habitat around the margins
of the proposed site but there were no GCN records within 2km. Two nearby
(c.100m to the west) ponds were assessed as being of “just about average and
below average suitability”. It was noted that there were also some
barriers/issues to widespread dispersal into/across this site such as arable
land, the stream, possible flooding of ponds [fish access], road and railway line.
Recent GCN District Licencing Scheme mapping available to the MPA showed
60

Page 242

the site to be in a green zone where risk of disturbance to GCN’s was likely to
be low and the County Ecologist considers that an adverse effect on GCNs
would be unlikely and recommends an Advisory note should be attached to the
Decision Notice should planning permission be granted.
7.7.27 Otter
The Blockley Brook provides good habitat for otter and this EPS has been
recorded from the Knee Brook corridor which the site’s stream runs into. The
County Ecologist notes that as part of the PEA spraints were recorded close to
the site’s western boundary and also a little further away from this. The
applicant’s follow up work (Otter, Water Vole & Crayfish Survey report –
OWVC) found only ‘possible’ signs of otter just upstream, e.g. slide and laying
out areas. The County Ecologist considers it is quite likely that otters could
pass through the site and advises, should planning permission be issued, that
sensitive implementation of the bridge/crossing point is required.
7.7.28 Suitable watercourse mitigation to avoid any potential significant impact on
otters is referred to above in “Other Habitats”.
7.7.29 Other Protected Species
7.7.30 Water Vole
The County Ecologist advises that that no recent records exist within 2km of the
site but good habitat exists along the Blockley Brook. Old records near to the
site from 1978 do exist however. The applicant’s follow up work (Otter, Water
Vole & Crayfish Survey report – OWVC) found only a ‘possible’ print of a water
vole downstream but it may have been rat.
7.7.40 Suitable watercourse mitigation to avoid any potential significant impact on
water vole is referred to above in “Other Habitats”.
7.7.41 Badgers
Information on a badger survey was provided in a confidential appendix to the
PEA for assessment by the MPA. It was concluded that the layout of the
development and restoration works were unlikely to impact adversely on
badgers. The proposed temporary soil storage areas, once vegetated, may
attract badgers, reptiles and other protected species. It is recommended that
these proposed soil stores be checked by an ecologist before being utilised for
restoring the land. Should planning approval be forthcoming and prior to works
commencing an updated badger survey is recommended as a precautionary
measure to ensure the proposed site layout and works are still appropriate and
acceptable.
7.7.42 Badgers are protected species and as such information regarding them is
sensitive and is confidential. Mitigation measures are provided and have been
considered by the County Ecologist and is considered satisfactory. It is
considered that with the implementation of these measures, impacts can be
reduced to an acceptable level. The County Ecologist recommends a planning
condition is required to provide appropriate control.

61

Page 243

7.7.43 Reptiles
The County Ecologist comments that there is limited habitat on site for slow
worms, viviparous lizard and adder although grass snakes may use the stream
corridor but the bridge crossing should not have significant issues for grass
snakes. However snakes hiding up in waterside vegetation will not easily get
out of the way if the bridge is put in during their less active periods (coolest
times of the year). The County Ecologist recommends that the proposed bridge
is erected between March and September as a sensible precaution to protect
any grass snakes etc.
7.7.44 Nesting Birds
The County Ecologist advises the site is suitable for farmland birds using arable
(margins), grassland, hedges, trees, hedges and shrubs. It is noted that a
kingfisher was observed using the Blockley Brook and a barn owl was seen to
nest in a nearby barn.
7.7.45 The Breeding Bird (& Barn Owl) Survey report covers field work in March, May
and June 2018. A wide variety (mainly common species) of bird was recorded
on and next to the sites that were or might be breeding. This included
confirmation of breeding barn owl about 140m away but using the site at times.
There is some possibility that kingfisher may have nested in the stream bank
but there were no indication of this and so more likely nesting was off site.
Overall the site is considered to be of local importance for breeding birds.
7.7.46 Some arable habitat will be lost as well as some changes to one hedgerow plus
the stream (bridge crossing). This would alone have some adverse impact on
breeding (and foraging/displaying) habitat including some disturbance from
machinery using the site. The disturbance from machinery can be habituated by
birds to some extent. Significantly the landscaping/restoration proposals will
provide an enhanced (if different) mosaic of habitats. In terms of notable
species the vast majority (cuckoo, kingfisher, linnet, skylark, song thrush and
barn owl) will benefit and only a few may be affected but to a very minor extent
(yellowhammer, stock dove). To reduce residual impacts, including giving birds
time to adapt to an evolving change in the habitat mosaic, it is recommended
some of the hedge and tree planting is progressed promptly].
7.7.47 Recommended mitigation measures at 5.2 & 5.3 of the bird report are
appropriate for inclusion in an Operational Biodiversity Management &
Mitigation Scheme (cf. CEMP). Measures at 5.4, 5.5 & 5.8 should be made part
of aftercare management proposals.
7.7.48 White-clawed Crayfish
The County Ecologist advises that this protected species is known from the
stream further to the west (2011) although the current status of the native
crayfish is not known to the County Ecologist for this area of the catchment.
The stream section running through the site is normally quite fast flowing but at
times of low water the section may become suitable for use by white-clawed
crayfish.

62

Page 244

7.7.49 The follow up work (Otter, Water Vole & Crayfish Survey report – OWVC) was
largely carried out in September 2018. This found White-clawed Crayfish
burrows downstream of the site but no evidence of them being in current/recent
use.
7.7.50 The County Ecologist advises that suitable watercourse mitigation is put in
place to avoid any significant impact on riverine species.
7.7.51 Priority Species (excluding birds)
The County Ecologist notes that no observations of other priority species
(hedgehog, toad, brown hare) were made on site but may occur and the
proposed development is considered unlikely to significantly affect these priority
species.
7.7.52 Invertebrates
The County Ecologist considers that the proposed development would be
unlikely to significantly affect notable invertebrate species or populations.
7.7.53 Mitigation, Restoration and Aftercare
The County Ecologist notes that mitigation is included in the proposal and
recommends the Operational Biodiversity Management and Mitigation Plan (cf
CEMP) is conditioned to cover protected species conservation during works
along with the other measures referred to earlier.
7.7.54 Restoration is shown on drawing M17.148.D.028 and referred to at 4.40 of the
PEA identifying one large waterbody and three ponds, species-rich grassland
(meadow), woodland, hedgerows and some scattered trees. An Aftercare
Management Scheme is recommended to form part of a planning condition.
Subject to successful restoration and aftercare, safeguards and monitoring,
then the County Ecologist considers that a biodiversity net gain is likely.
7.7.55 It is noted that the EA “have no objections to the development in principle
providing all required ecological mitigation is adhered to. Furthermore we would
wish to see a minimum 10% Biodiversity Net Gain achieved through the final
restoration plan.”
7.7.56 Conclusion
The County Ecologist raises no objection to the planning application subject to
planning conditions and advice notes to secure a tree and hedge removal plan
including appropriate planting of a new hedge, an Operational
Ecological/Environmental Management Plan (OEMP) Landscape Ecological
Management Plan (LEMP), a hydrological plan, dust management plan,
installation of the bridge crossing, submission of a pre lighting installation bat
report, and a restoration and aftercare management plan and reintroducing a
more natural watercourse alignment.
7.7.57 The County Ecologist considers the development provides an important
opportunity to improve this largely arable site situated within the Cotswolds
AONB. The proposal is likely to have some temporary but limited adverse
effects upon biodiversity. The County Ecologist considers that with safeguards,
63

Page 245

mitigation, effective restoration and long-term aftercare the development can
result in an overall biodiversity net gain being achieved. Biodiversity net gain of
at least 10% is proposed to be mandatory quite soon (as identified through the
Environment Bill 2020) and this development would meet and probably exceed
this new standard.
7.7.58 Given the sensitive location within the AONB and a range of protected and
priority species matters to be managed the proposed development must be
properly secured. This can be done by appropriately worded conditions as
recommended herewith and also by the imposition of a S106 agreement. The
agreement must cover the restoration concept (scheme), detailed design
details to be implemented and ongoing management beyond 5 years for each
completed phase.
7.7.57 Having considered the planning policy context and advice in the NPPF it is
concluded that the applicant has appropriately considered the ecology impacts
of the proposed development. As such, it is considered that the proposed
development would subject to planning conditions be in accordance with
policies DM05 and DM06 of the MLP and EN7 and EN8 of the CDC Local Plan.
7.8

Archaeology and Cultural Heritage

7.8.1 Relevant planning policies include DM08: Historic Environment of the MLP and
Policy EN1: Built, Natural and Historic Environment of the CDC Local Plan and
NPPF paragraphs 189-202.
7.8.2 MLP Policy DM08 seeks to conserve, enhance the significance of a heritage
assets. CBC Policy EN1 seeks to promote the protection, conservation and
enhancement of the historic environment.
7.8.3 The application is supported by an archaeological and cultural heritage
assessment at Chapter 3.3 and Appendix 8.
7.8.4 The applicant undertook a desk-based assessment, drawing together aerial
photographs, records of designated assets, historic records and other data to
establish the likelihood of there being heritage assets on the site. The study
area was wider than the application area and demonstrated the presence of
cropmarks and Listed buildings in the wider area.
7.8.5 Following advice from the MPA the applicant undertook a geophysical survey
which concluded;
“The survey at Loaders Barn has not identified any anomalies of definite
archaeological interest. A few linear and curvilinear trends of uncertain
provenance have been mapped; these could be archaeological, agricultural or
natural in origin. A former field boundary is visible in the data, along with
extensive evidence for medieval ridge and furrow, modern ploughing effects,
natural alluvial magnetic variations and two underground services.”

64

Page 246

7.8.6 Given that there are no designated heritage assets in close proximity to the site
and no notable archaeological features of interest within the site it was not
considered likely that there would be any significant effect on the historic
environment. To support this a written scheme of investigation (WSI), detailing
a system of trial trenching was agreed with the County Archaeologist. The WSI
involved stripping the soils down to the level of archaeological interest and the
recording of any features discovered. The WSI results reinforced the findings of
the desk-based assessment and the geophysical survey.
7.8.7 The Count Archaeologist has considered the impact of the proposed
development on archaeology and cultural heritage and advised that the result
of the archaeological investigations was negative, in that no archaeological
remains were found within the proposed development area. In his view the
results indicate that there is a low risk that any significant archaeological
remains would be present recommended that no further archaeological
investigation or recording need be undertaken in connection with the
development proposal.
7.8.6 Having considered the planning policy context and advice in the NPPF it is
concluded that the applicant has appropriately considered the archaeology and
cultural heritage impacts of the proposed development. As such, it is
considered that the proposed development would be in accordance with Policy
DM08 of the MLP and EN1 of the CDC Local Plan.
7.9

Noise

7.9.1 Relevant planning policies include DM01: Amenity, DM02: Cumulative Impact,
DM03: Part c PROW, DM09: Landscape Part b AONB, in the GCC MLP and
EN4: The Wider Natural and Historic Landscape and EN5: Cotswolds AONB in
the CDC Local Plan and NPPF paragraphs 170, 180, 204 and 205.
7.9.2 GCC MLP Policy DM01 seeks to avoid, control or mitigate adverse impacts
arising from mineral development so that unacceptable impacts will not arise in
respect of noise, vibration, air pollution and visual intrusion. GCC MLP Policy
DM02 seeks to control mineral development against unacceptable cumulative
impacts or where the benefits of the development clearly outweigh the
cumulative adverse impacts. GCC MLP Policy DM03 seeks, in part, to avoid or
satisfactorily mitigate unacceptable adverse impacts on the use of a PROW.
GCC MLP Policy DM09 seeks to control adverse impacts on the special
qualities of the AONB as defined by the AONB Management Plan (specifically
concerning the environment, landscape and recreational opportunities) to be
avoided or satisfactorily mitigated and as an exceptional circumstance. As an
exceptional circumstance alternative non-AONB sources of mineral supply,
which are no more constrained, are not available on practicality and viability
grounds.
7.9.3 CDC Policy EN4 seeks to support development where it protects the wider
natural landscape including the tranquility of the landscape and CDC Policy
EN5 seeks to give great weight to the conservation and enhancement of the
natural beauty of the landscape, its character and special qualities in the AONB
65

Page 247

or its setting along with satisfying the “exceptions” set out in national policy and
guidance.
7.9.4 The application is supported by a noise assessment at Chapter 3.4 and
Appendix 11(undertaken by Walker Beak Mason (WBM)). The assessment
identified that background noise levels were established through the collection
of data at four locations around the proposed operations. The locations were
considered representative of the noise sensitive receptors that were nearest to
the proposed operations. The background levels were measured in October
2018 and since that time the applicant states that the brickworks have
upgraded the noise attenuation around the air intake and fans which have
reduced the output from the site. The applicant and the MPA are unaware of
any noise complaints having been made over the last five years.
7.9.5 The assessment noted the noise limits that were imposed under the planning
permission Ref. 15/0011/CWMAJM for operations currently being carried out
within the existing Wellacre Quarry that may affect the noise-sensitive receptors
that are closest to that site. A noise limit of 50dBA LAeq(1 hour) for ‘normal’
operations was imposed which was more stringent than the previous limit by
5dB.
7.9.6 Current guidance, contained in the government’s web-based Planning Practice
Guidance (PPG) recommends that operations from new mineral operations
should, preferably, not exceed the background levels by 10dB. Background
levels are determined as the noise level which is exceeded 90% of the time.
The assessment noted that background levels were measured as;
Location
1. Wellacres House
2. Stapenhill Farm
3. Longmeadow
4. Kettles Barn

Average dB
LAeq,15min
44
40
50
46

Average dB
LA90,15min
32 (Range 30-34)
31 (Range 27-34)
35 (Range 34-38)
39 (Range 35-42)

7.9.7 The assessment went onto say various assumptions were made with regard to
both receptors and noise generating operations. All of the receptors were
treated as residential receptors even though three of them were working farms.
The assessment stated this meant that where an idling tractor was recorded
during one of the survey periods it was discounted as not being part of the
‘background’. Whilst the initial soil stripping/spoil movement was regarded as a
temporary operation, for which a less onerous noise limit was advised, the
supplementary stripping and movement was classified as ‘routine’ operations
that were subject to a more onerous limit. No account was taken of bunding
between the operations and the receptors. Thus, there was no attenuation
allowance for the railway bank.
7.9.8 The calculations also assumed (Appendix G) that for the calculation of impact
on a given property/receptor the noise being generated was consistently at the
nearest point of operation to the receptor whereas, in fact, this was a transient
situation. The noise report compared the calculated noise levels with the
66

Page 248

proposed/suggested noise limits based on PPG levels of background + 10dBA.
That comparison identified that the routine operations were below or matched
the guideline levels of acceptable noise at noise sensitive properties (NSPs).
7.9.9 The applicant does not consider that there would be any unacceptable levels of
noise on the basis of the proposed hours of working and the calculations, which
represent a greater impact due to the assumptions which have been made.
Tranquility
7.9.10 The applicant notes that the Cotswolds Conservation Board (CCB) has
responsibility for the management of the AONB and has produced a tranquillity
position statement and notes that the CCB acknowledges that there would be
some change in the aural and visual environment if development was to take
place.
7.9.11 The applicant notes that the tranquility position statement set out the
circumstances for noise emissions that were considered to be normal or
acceptable in the area. These included “temporary - and / or infrequent workday noise, especially for such noise associated with rural land
management, rural skills and / or conservation management”. Whilst the mining
operations are not of a type listed, the applicant considers that the list is not
exhaustive and the noise emissions do represent temporary or infrequent
workday noise.
7.9.12 The application details state that levels of noise generated by the proposals
would be subsumed on occasions by the passage of trains on the elevated
track and, as the workings deepen, by agricultural operations.
7.9.13 The applicant concluded that the proposals comply with the relevant noise
guidance and the requirements of MLP Policy DM01and the AONB
Management Plan Policy CE4.
7.9.14 Noise representations
7.9.15 Noise concerns regarding the proposed development were raised by CDC,
CCB, parish council and the public.
7.9.16 The district planning authority, CDC, stated “the cumulative impact of the
adjacent quarry works would adversely impact upon the overall tranquillity of
the AONB in this location.”
7.9.17 The CCB considered that the proposed development would have significant
adverse impacts on the tranquillity of the AONB and strongly disagreed with the
assertions that the proposed development would: “constitute temporary or
infrequent workday noise” or be “consistent with Policy CE4 (Tranquility) of the
Cotswolds AONB Management Plan”. The CCB considered that an adequate
assessment had not been undertaken regarding noise and had not compared
the scenario where the Wellacre Quarry had come to an end.

67

Page 249

7.9.18 The CCB supported this view in stating in their consultation response:
“Tranquillity / Noise
The relative tranquillity of the Cotswolds AONB is one of its special qualities. In
other words it is one of the features of the AONB that makes it so outstanding
that it is in the nation’s interest to safeguard the AONB. As such, potential
adverse impacts on tranquillity are a key consideration.
7.9.19 Four key considerations, in this regard are the:
i. potential impacts on traffic movements on local roads, in particular, HGV
movements;
ii. potential noise impacts on local receptors;
iii. working hours;
iv. compliance with Policy CE4 (Tranquillity) in the Cotswolds AONB
Management Plan 2018-2023.”
7.9.20 Regarding noise in particular CCB considered:
“ii. Noise
The applicant has undertaken a noise assessment in relation to the four
residential properties that are in close proximity to the site. However, the
impacts of noise pollution on receptors using the footpath and bridleway should
also be an important consideration. This is particularly important given that
‘tranquillity’ and ‘an accessible landscape for quiet recreation’ are both special
qualities of the Cotswolds AONB.
To address this issue, the Board recommends that the applicant should be
required to undertake a further assessment of the impacts of noise from the
development on receptors using the footpath, the bridleway and the B4479.
As well as comparing noise levels with the current baseline, a comparison
should also be made with noise levels in a scenario where planning permission
is not granted and where clay is no longer being extracted from Wellacre
Quarry, processed into bricks and exported from the brickworks (and,
presumably, the brickworks are no longer active).
Any noise assessment should also take into account the fact that there would
be a period of time (approximately two to five years) where both the Wellacre
Quarry site and the proposed development would be operational, involving
noise from both operations.
The Board strongly objects to the applicant’s implication that the reduction in
noise associated with the ending of the Wellacre Quarry operation is one of the
benefits of the proposed development and is one of the ways in which the
proposed development is helping to reduce noise pollution in the area. The
Wellacre Quarry operation would be coming to an end within the next few years
regardless of whether or not the proposed development is granted planning
permission. Therefore, the proposed development should not be considered to
be reducing noise levels associated with the Wellacre Quarry operation.
68

Page 250

The Board strongly objects to the applicant’s assertion that the noise emissions
represent ‘temporary or infrequent workday noise’. The noise associated with
the proposed development (including the resulting continued use of the
brickworks) would continue six days a week for 30 years. There is no way that
such noise could be considered to be temporary or infrequent.”
7.9.21 Having considered the planning policy context and advice in the NPPF and
PPG, the MPA concluded that the applicant had appropriately considered the
noise impacts of the proposed development on noise sensitive properties but
not on the nearby PROW network. The MPA considered this was required to
assess whether operational noise impacted to an unacceptable degree upon
the amenity enjoyed in using the PROWs near to the proposed site as well as
the impact on tranquillity in the AONB. The noise concerns raised were
considered to be relevant matters which needed to be addressed in the
determination of the application. It was considered necessary to establish
whether the noise impact on receptors enjoying the existing tranquillity
(perceived or otherwise) in the AONB from, for example, the nearby PROW’s
is an unacceptable impact or not. As such the MPA sought technical advice
from the CAA regarding the matter and is referred to below.
7.9.22 The CAA has provided the following summary of the noise assessment at the
PROWs, The CAA “has undertaken an assessment of noise from the
proposed site on public rights of way to supplement the assessment
undertaken by WBM.
Source data set out in 19_0089_CWMAJM_NOISE_Assess has been used in
this assessment.
In the absence of specific national guidance on the assessment of noise on
public rights of way, a level of 55dB has been used in the assessment based
on the limit for daytime operations set in current Minerals Planning Guidance.
This level is supported by Mineral Policy Statement Annex 2 which references
the WHO Guidelines for Community Noise which states that 55dB LAeq, 16 hour
is the level at which serious annoyance would occur in outdoor spaces. The
levels of 55dB has been used to determine the length of each right of way
where people may be annoyed by site noise. Durations of annoyance have
then been derived based on an assumed average walking speed of 5km/h.
The assessment shows that people would typically be within the area where
serious annoyance may be expected for up to 1 minute during routine site
operations and up to 9 minutes during temporary site operations should they
walk past at the same time that such operations were taking place.
The baseline noise survey undertaken by WBM shows that the area is already
subject to some noise from industrial and transportation sources.”
7.9.23 The assessment provided by the CAA assessed noise impact on the users of
the PROW 16 and 23. The duration of the impact differed for routine
operations (up to 1 minute) and temporary operations (up to 9 minutes). The
assessment identified that the baseline noise assessment was already
affected by nearby existing industrial and transportation noise sources. Any
69

Page 251

impact would be within the thresholds set within the PPG and could be within
noise limit conditions accordingly. Based on the technical advice provided by
the CAA the MPA does not consider that there would be, subject to planning
conditions, an unacceptable noise impact on the users of the PROWs.
7.9.24 The site is located in an area of the Cotswold AONB that is not considered by
the MPA to be particularly tranquil because of the existing industrial and
transportation noise referred to in the baseline noise assessment in the
application documents. It is accepted that at the identified Noise Sensitive
Properties (NSPs) that there is unlikely to be an adverse noise impact. At the
PROWs there is some impact but it is of a transient nature and for a temporary
period and is within thresholds identified within the PPG. Conditions controlling
noise limits are recommended regarding both the NSPs and the PROW’s
affected.
7.9.25 Therefore it is concluded that subject to compliance with planning conditions
controlling noise limits at the NSPs and at the PROWs it is considered that the
proposed development would be in accordance with policies DM01, DM03,
and DM09 of the GCC MLP, policies EN4 and EN5 of the CDC Local Plan and
paragraphs 170 and 180 of the NPPF.
7.10

Air Quality

7.10.1 Relevant planning policies include DM01 of the MLP and EN15 of the CDC
Local Plan.
7.10.2 GCC MLP Policy DM01 – Amenity states that “mineral development will be
permitted only where it can be demonstrated adverse impacts on the amenity
of local communities ... will be avoided, strictly controlled or mitigated to
ensure unacceptable impacts will not arise in respect of noise, vibration, air
pollution and visual intrusion.”
7.10.5 CDC Policy EN15 Pollution and Contaminated Land states:
“1. Development will be permitted that will not result in unacceptable risk to
public health and safety, the natural environment or the amenity of existing
land uses through:
a. pollution of the air, land, surface water, or ground water sources; and/or
b. generation of noise or light levels, or other disturbance such as spillage,
flicker, vibration, dust or smell.”
7.10.6 The application is supported by an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) at Appendix
14 and 3.4.13 in the Planning Statement (PS). The AQA considered the
baseline situation, sources of dust and other particulates, identifying potential
receptors and the significance of impacts on those sensitive receptors. It is
noted the site is not within a designated Air Quality Management Area
(AQMA) and there are no proposed changes to the levels of transport on the
public highway that currently occur.

70

Page 252

7.10.7 The PS identifies that the PPG requires the assessment to establish the
existing baseline and the future situation both with and without the proposed
development stating without the proposed development other dust-generating
activities would occur during normal agricultural operations.
7.10.8 It is stated that the nearest human receptor is defined as the occupiers of
Stapenhill Farm and typical activities that are potential dust generators are;








Site preparation / restoration;
Mineral extraction;
Materials handling;
On-site transportation;
Mineral processing;
Stockpiles / exposed surfaces; and
Off-site transportation.

7.10.9 The assessment recognises the ‘embedded mitigation’ that is present in the
proposals and the applicant’s commitment to a 15mph speed limit within the
application area at all times. The low frequency of vehicle movements would
also contribute to the minimal dust impact being generated. Dust generation
activities would also be controlled by the hours of working of the site.
7.10.10 Transport emissions were below the screening threshold for assessment
which considers the impact to be ‘imperceptible’ and consequently discounted.
The assessment acknowledged that there would be residual dust impacts from
mineral operations even after embedded mitigation has been taken into
account but these impacts would be diminished over distance such that the
effect on sensitive receptors was shown to be “not significant”.
7.10.11

The assessment states;
“All impacts are predicted to be ‘not significant’ after embedded mitigation and
therefore no further mitigation or enhancement is necessary in this case.
However, a number of good practice operational measures will be taken at the
site, as described in the dust management plan for the site, which are
consistent with those described in Table 5 of the IAQM Mineral Dust
Guidance, included as Appendix D.
The measures include, for example:






Prevention of drying out of fine material where possible;
Minimising drop heights;
Maintain good standards of all plant and equipment;
Enclosure of transfer points when close to sensitive receptors;
Dampen material using sprays or bowsers in locations close to receptors
during periods of dry weather.

In addition to these measures, the site will keep its transport options and dust
management plan under review during the life of the site and make further
improvements as appropriate.”
71

Page 253

7.10.12 It is stated that the applicant would employ these measures at the site.
7.10.13 The PS states that during the public consultation exercise one of the matters
raised was the potential for fugitive dust to be generated from the transport of
overburden/mineral along the new haul road. It was considered this would only
occur in dry periods when there is a substantial wind component that would
carry dust beyond the railway line. Given the distance of the haul road from
receptors it was concluded by the AQ assessment that impacts were unlikely
to occur. However, the applicant has undertaken, in response to the
consultation concern, to use a road surface material and a wheel wash that
will reduce the incidence of dust generation. The material choice will be made
following advice from the Highway Authority.
7.10.14 The AQA submitted has been assessed by the County air quality advisers. It
concludes that the proposed area of extraction and associated activities are a
sufficient distance away (over 300 metres) from sensitive human health
receptors such that they are unlikely to cause any loss of amenity due to dust
emissions during construction and operation, subject to appropriate mitigation
being identified and secured. Residual effects are deemed to be not
significant. The advice considers that a Dust Management Plan is established
to manage dust impact. Therefore it is recommended that the Dust
Management Plan should include for record keeping of the proposed visible
dust monitoring.
7.10.15 Having considered the planning policy context and technical advice provided
the MPA concludes that the applicant has appropriately considered the noise
impacts of the proposed development and suggested appropriate mitigation.
Concerns raised regarding air quality impacts are not considered so
significant, with mitigation, to be considered unacceptable. As such, subject
to appropriate planning conditions it is considered that the proposed
development would be in accordance with policies DM01 of the MLP and
EN15 of the CDC Local Plan.
7.11

Hydrology and Hydrogeology

7.11.1

Relevant planning policies include DM04: Flood Risk and DM05: Water
Resources of the MLP and Policy INF8: Water Management Infrastructure of
the CDC Local Plan and NPPF paragraph 163 of the NPPF.

7.11.2

MLP Policy DM04 seeks to prevent, minimise and mitigate flooding. MLP
Policy DM05: seeks to protect water resources including groundwater,
watercourses and riverside habitats.

7.11.3

CDC Policy INF8 seeks to water management infrastructure including avoiding
polluting groundwater sources.

7.11.4

The application is supported by a Hydrology and Surface Water Drainage
report and a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA).

72

Page 254

7.11.5

The Hydrology and Surface Water Drainage report considered the potential
effects on the surface water environment due of the proposed development
and puts forward a surface water drainage strategy for the proposed site.

7.11.6

An assessment of the possible effects from the proposed development on the
existing groundwater and any other issues related to sub-surface drainage
measures were separately covered by a site hydrogeological assessment
undertaken by a different consultant advisor.

7.11.7

The report identified that the proposed haul road would need to cross over the
Blockley Brook watercourse. Topsoil would be stored on the north side of
Blockley Brook and overburden from the initial void would be stored along the
south eastern boundary of the proposed quarry, bordered with a screening
bund. Drainage channels would be designed to direct any surface run-off from
the earthworks down into the quarry excavation.

7.11.8

As Blockley Brook flows under the railway line it leaves the Cotswold AONB
and joins the Knee Brook before flowing into the River Stour which itself is a
tributary of the River Avon. The site falls generally from south to north with an
average gradient of 1 in 45 with an elevation from 107m AOD (southern
boundary) to 98 m AOD (northern boundary). Blockley Brook runs along the
north western field boundary where the quarry is proposed to be located. At
the western corner of the proposed quarry the brook flows through an existing
1400mm concrete culvert allowing agricultural access to surrounding
farmland. The existing surface water run-off from the site collects into Blockley
Brook and flows under the nearby railway line towards the north-east via a
2700mm brick arch culvert.

7.11.9

The proposed site is located at an elevated position and is in the category of
Flood Zone 1 and as such is considered to be of little or no risk of flooding and
as a mineral site it is categorised as a less vulnerable development. The
immediate corridor surrounding Blockley Brook is identified on the
Environment Agency flood risk mapping as being in Flood Zone 2 / Flood
Zone 3, suggesting that the watercourse may flow out of brook bank during
high return rainfall conditions. To date there are no known flooding events
resulting from the Brook.

7.11.10 Since part of the application area is located within Environment Agency
identified Flood Zones 2 and 3 adjacent to the Blockley Brook with an
application area being greater than 1ha it was identified that a site specific
FRA was required which was submitted with the application. The proposed
extraction area has been located in order to avoid Flood Zones 2 and 3. The
restoration concept includes the provision of an ‘overflow’ pipe leading from
the winter water level of the Brook into the restored void.
7.11.11 The FRA considered the potential for the development to increase the risk of
flooding both upstream and downstream. The proposals envisaged the
creation of a settling pond to the north of the Brook to receive surface water
that had collected in the quarry floor. Proposed settling ponds would allow
suspended particles to settle out of the surface water before it is discharged to
73

Page 255

the Brook. The FRA acknowledged that there is an existing culvert 150m
upstream of the proposed new crossing point and an existing culvert 70m
downstream of the proposed crossing.
7.11.12 The FRA modelled the baseline situation without the new culvert for a 100
year event plus an allowance for climate change. The same modelling was
undertaken for the site with the new proposed culverts in place and the
drainage accepted to be working as intended.
7.11.13 Overall the effect was a rise in the flood levels which would result in additional
floodwaters being accepted onto agricultural land immediately upstream of the
site. That land is owned by the same landowner as the proposed clay pit
quarry site and the additional floodwaters do not affect any buildings or
infrastructure. The FRA concluded that “the proposed development is
appropriate for the flood risk and is not expected to increase the risk of
flooding elsewhere”. The presence of the culverts is temporary, to be removed
at the point of restoration. At this point the flows are expected to revert to their
predevelopment levels without interruption.
7.11.14 The FRA included the following recommendations:








Provide perimeter protection embankments along both the left and right
banks outside the predicted flood extent (suitability designed,
constructed, inspected and maintained);
Set the crest level of the embankments upstream of the proposed bridge
no lower than 99.80m AOD and set the crest level of the embankment
downstream of the proposed bridge no lower than 99.0m AOD;
Set the deck level of the proposed new bridge crossing no higher than
99.40m AOD;
The site operator must monitor severe weather warnings, monitor the
water level in the brook and be prepared to cease operation. Regular
inspection of the culverts and removal of debris must also be undertaken
to minimise blockage risk. This should be captured in the site safety plan;
Retain the existing site access for safe pedestrian access and egress;
and
Implement a SuDS drainage scheme to manage surface water run-off.

7.11.15 The hydrogeological assessment of the site established the following:
“The Charnmouth Mudstone Formation is identified by the Environment
Agency as a non-aquifer.
The unit is recognised as having negligible permeability and storativity but
does, as experience in Wellacre Quarry has demonstrated, contain thin
[perched] horizons from which very minor water seepages occur.
There are no identified abstraction wells in close proximity to site, and the site
does not lie within a groundwater protection zone.
Whilst any groundwater contained within the solid measures has a very low
potential vulnerability to contamination, any water contained within the
superficial deposits adjacent to Blockley Brook would potentially be vulnerable
without appropriate mitigatory measures being in place.
74

Page 256

Exploratory borehole drilling did not identify any ‘makes’ of groundwater down
to the maximum proposed depth of extraction (approximately 30 metres bgl)
and beyond to a depth of 35 metres below ground level [maximum borehole
depth].
The solid measures which will be worked as a part of this scheme do not
make any contribution to base flow to Blockley Brook.”
7.11.16 The applicant states that they would adopt appropriate site measures for the
protection of groundwater from accidents and spillages. The surface water
strategy sets out the likely surface water flows with and without the
development and explains how the drainage from the site is intended to work.
There would be surface water collection points in the base of the quarry from
where collected water would be pumped to the settlement lagoons. The rate of
pumping and size of the settlement lagoons was calculated to reflect the
maximum run-off rate. The report considers that there would be an element of
attenuation of the flows because of a time lag between collection in the base
of the clay pit quarry and the onward pumping.
7.11.17 The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) raises no objection. The LLFA refers to
the owner of the land being aware and accepting of the increased flood risk
outside the application site boundary given the confirmation.
7.11.18 The EA raise no objections to the application but comment on groundwater
and ecological protection and enhancement. Regarding groundwater
protection and enhancement the EA consider the proposed development
would present a low risk in terms of impacts to controlled waters and potential
impacts to water resources, noting the presence of superficial deposits at the
proposed site, and are reassured that the operator will adopt appropriate site
measures to protect groundwater from accidents and spillages. Any potential
environmental impacts are considered capable of being mitigated or controlled
through planning conditions or environmental permit. Regarding ecological
protection and enhancement the EA have no objections to the development in
principle providing all required ecological mitigation is adhered to. The EA
wishes to see a minimum 10% Biodiversity Net Gain achieved through the
final restoration plan.
7.11.19 The EA considers that the proposed restoration plan does not provide
sufficient enhancement of the Blockley Brook. It notes from OS map and lidar
data that the brook (within the proposed development site) has been subject to
significant straightening historically removing all the natural meanders,
possibly in association with agricultural practices in the past. The EA states
the watercourse is classified as ‘Poor’ status (‘Blockley Brook - source to
conference Knee Brook’ waterbody ID: GB109054039830) under the Water
Framework Directive (WFD) which requires waterbodies to reach ‘Good’
ecological status. The EA therefore consider there is an opportunity to provide
biodiversity net gain and ecological enhancement by including a proposal to
restore the natural geomorphological form and processes of the brook in the
restoration plan which could be controlled by planning condition.

75

Page 257

7.11.20 It goes onto say that such a provision would be in line with the principles of
sustainable development enshrined in the NPPF as it would deliver
biodiversity and water quality enhancements. It would also be in line with the
requirements of the WFD. The EA therefore consider there is good justification
to seek more enhanced restoration proposals than currently proposed.
7.11.21 The County hydrogeology and hydrology advisers (CHHA) provided
observations seeking clarification regarding certain matters in the application
report which was submitted. Following the clarification by the applicant’s
technical advisers the CHHA raised no objection to the proposed
development.
7.11.22 The EA, LLFA and CHHA , following further information and clarification from
the applicant, raise no objections subject to appropriate planning conditions
relating to biodiversity, pollution and restoration design being attached to any
consent. Having considered the planning policy context and advice in the
NPPF the officers conclude that the applicant has appropriately considered
hydrology and hydrogeology impacts of the proposed development. As such, it
is considered that the proposed development would be in accordance with
policies DM04 and DM05 of the MLP and INF8 of the CDC Local Plan.
7.12

Highway and Transport

7.12.1

Relevant planning policies include DM02: Cumulative Impact, DM03:
Transport of the MLP, policies EN7: Trees, Hedgerows and Woodlands and
INF4: Highway Safety of the CDC Local Plan and NPPF paragraph 108 and
109.

7.12.2

MLP Policy DM02 seeks to control mineral development from unacceptable
cumulative impacts or where the benefits of the development clearly outweigh
the cumulative adverse impacts. DM03 seeks to minimise miles travelled by
minerals, address public safety concern on the highway network, avoid or
satisfactorily mitigate unacceptable adverse impacts on the use of a PROW.

7.12.3

CBC Policy EN7 seeks to conserve and enhance natural assets such as trees
and hedgerows. Policy INF4 seeks to support development that provides
appropriate highway safety.

7.12.4

The application is supported by the submission of a Transport Statement (TS).
The TS assessed the likely effects of the proposed development with respect
to the transportation and highway considerations. It also provided an overview
of the sustainable transport characteristics and assessed the effects of the
proposed development on the local highway network.

7.12.5

Potential highway impacts were considered and those that were considered
relevant to the proposed development included:



Changes in traffic flows;
Heavy truck movements;
76

Page 258




Accidents and safety; and
Noise, dust, vibration and air pollution.

7.12.6

Staff and visitors currently access the factory car park via the southern site
access and there would be no proposed change to these arrangements.
Commercial vehicles to and from the brick factory and other industrial units
also use the southern access, passing by the factory parking area to access
the brickyard and the other industrial units. The applicant states that there
would be no change to the site access arrangements and no change to the
number of vehicles using the southern access as a consequence of the
proposed development.

7.12.7

The proposed extension of the clay quarry is planned to the south-east of the
B4479 (Station Road) and for the new quarry to become operational, trucks
would need to cross the B4479 to transport clay and overburden to the brick
factory for use in the manufacturing of the bricks. Other than crossing over the
public highway, the new truck movements would be on private ground for
which a purpose-built private haul road would be constructed.

7.12.8

In order to keep the operational vehicular movements separate from other
general traffic to and from the factory, it is proposed to use the existing
northern quarry site access for all clay deliveries from the proposed quarry. A
new quarry site access is proposed across the B4479 (Station Road) directly
opposite the northern site access, forming a crossroads to permit ease of
crossing and minimise the use of the B4479 (Station Road) for the clay
deliveries. The overburden removal would generate 8 movements per day (16
movements) and the operations would generate approximately 6 loads of clay
per day (12 movements).
Local Highway Network

7.12.9

The existing Northcot brick factory and adjacent clay quarry to the north-west
of the factory are accessed via two simple priority junctions on the B4479. The
south access provides for general traffic to the factory and other industrial
units. The north access provides a separate site access to the existing quarry
facilities.

7.12.10 The two existing site accesses have been operational for many years and a
local accident appraisal shows that there have been no recorded accidents in
the vicinity of either junction or the railway level crossing over the last five
years.
7.12.11 The B4479 (Station Road) is a rural single carriageway highway that links the
small villages of Blockley and Paxford. The carriageway varies between 5m to
6m wide with grass verges that are flanked with hedgerows and trees.
7.12.13 Approximately 55m to the north of the existing quarry site access there is a
level crossing of the Cotswolds Main Line Railway. The legal speed limit
along this road is the national speed limit of 60mph but due to the level
crossing and road geometry the actual average vehicle speeds are lower. This
77

Page 259

was confirmed by an on-site vehicle speed survey undertaken on Tuesday
25th September 2018 with the results of the survey demonstrating that the 85th
percentile vehicle speeds were 47mph northbound and 35mph southbound. A
further 14-day traffic survey was undertaken between 23rd February and 8th
March 2019.
7.12.14 This recent independent survey confirmed the current traffic flows to be
around 567 vehicles per weekday northbound and 583 vehicles per weekday
southbound, totalling 1150 vehicles per day. The morning peak hour flows
were observed to be 47 vehicles northbound and 60 vehicles southbound with
afternoon peak hour flows comprising 63 vehicles northbound and 57 vehicles
southbound.
Accident appraisal
7.12.15 The Highway Authority records indicate that the nearest accident was 1.8km
away from the site. The absence of any recorded accidents either at the site
access junctions or nearby on the B4479 suggest that the existing access
junction arrangements have been suitable for purpose and there is no reason
to assume that should not continue to operate in a safe manner going forward.
Transport Impacts
7.12.16 Approval of this application would enable the brick factory to continue to
process at its current rate of brick production so the development proposals
would not increase or decrease the existing road traffic to and from the
existing factory.
7.12.17 The applicant states that there would be no change to the maximum output of
the works (using up to 50,000 T pa of mineral) and considers that the impact
of the proposals on the public highway is limited to the use of the crossing
point which has been designed by professional transport consultants. The
building of the crossing-point would require the provision of concrete
hardstanding either side of the public highway, maintenance of the existing
drainage systems, the removal of two trees and of hedgerow.
7.12.18 The creation of the visibility splays requires the removal of one tree, the
raising of the crown of a second tree and the removal/lowering of the
hedgerow within the affected splay distance and replanting to provide the
recommended splay requirement identified by the applicant. The development
proposals include the provision of a wheel wash on the south side of Station
Road and the operator proposes to use, as and when required, a water
bowser to dampen the haul road and a dry sweeper for use on the public
highway.
7.12.19 The TS considered the impacts of the development in terms of the
construction, operational period and reinstatement of the crossing point. It
considered that, whilst there would be some disturbance to the flow of traffic
near to the proposed new access to the application site and the number of
vehicles due to demand for raw/construction materials, the impacts on the
78

Page 260

public highway the overall effects would be so small so as to be considered
‘neutral’.
7.12.20 The applicant states that the crossing point allows for vehicles to pass each
other at the junction although, with the anticipated output levels creating less
than two deliveries per hour, the incidence of two vehicles arriving at the
junction at the same time was considered to be infrequent.
7.12.21 The centre of the crossing point is approximately 59m from the railway which,
if the barriers close at the level crossing, would allow approximately 10 cars to
be able to queue at the crossing before having an impact on the ability to use
the crossing.
7.12.22 The TS noted the structural integrity of the B4479 (Station Road) may possibly
be affected by the loadings from the proposed development traffic and stated
that “if the existing public highway is damaged by the low frequency repeat
truck loading at the crossing point the applicant will accept responsibility for
repairs to the highway that may be required as a consequence of the clay
delivery truck movements. If any highway repairs are required, the extent of
such repairs will be agreed with the Highways Authority and the works
undertaken promptly at the appropriate time.” The HA has confirmed that this
aspect is covered by highways legislation and would be backed up by a
planning condition(s). No other residual effects on the local highway network
have been identified by the assessment.
7.12.23 The TS concludes “The possible impact of the proposed change in the existing
factory operations on the local highway network has been assessed and it has
been concluded that the proposals would have a neutral effect on the public
highway. The free flow of traffic along the B4479 will not be interrupted and it
has been determined there will be a neutral effect from the proposals on the
local highway network and the operation of the nearby railway level crossing.
It is concluded that there are no reasons relating to highways and
transportation why the clay quarry application should not be granted planning
consent.”
7.12.24 The HA in its consultation response concurs with the conclusion of the TS and
raise no objections subject to planning conditions relating to a Construction
Management Plan (CMP), highways condition survey scheme, mud on the
road, vehicular access and informatives relating to alterations to vehicular
access and a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP). The
construction of a new access would require the extension of a verge and/or
footway crossing from the carriageway under the Highways Act 1980 – section
184 with permission from the HA being obtained before commencing works on
the public highway.
7.12.25 Having considered the planning policy context and advice in the NPPF the
MPA concludes that the applicant has appropriately considered the
transportation and highway impacts of the proposed development. Should this
be the case then it is considered that the proposed development would be in

79

Page 261

accordance with policy DM03 of the GCC MLP and INF4 of the Cheltenham
BC Local Plan.
7.13

Public Rights of Way

7.13.1 Relevant planning policies include DM03: Transport of the MLP and NPPF
paragraph 98.
7.13.2 Policy DM03 seeks to minimise miles travelled by minerals, address public
safety concern on the highway network, avoid or satisfactorily mitigate
unacceptable adverse impacts on the use of a PROW.
7.13.3 The PS advises that one PROW is directly affected by the proposed
development and states that Footpath 16 runs from the northeast to the
southwest between the Paxford/Aston Magna road and B4479 (Station Road).
It crosses the main railway line before crossing the proposed haul road and
continuing across the field to join a track that runs northwest to Station Road.
7.13.4 The applicant identifies that the footpath will be impacted by the change in
level caused by the creation of the haul road and the passage of vehicles on
that haul road. The applicant states that the change in level would be minor
compared to the change in gradient required in order to cross the railway line.
The applicant proposes to create a crossing point where the PROW Footpath
crosses the haul road that has the safety of footpath users in mind with
sufficient space provided for walkers/ramblers enabling them to wait at the
side of the haul road to observe the passage of vehicles. Given the low
frequency of proposed vehicle movements along the haul road it is stated that
there would be no problems related to waiting or severance. The MPA
considers the potential for significant, unmanageable conflict between vehicles
and footpath users is very low.
7.13.5 To the south of the proposed site is another PROW which is a designated
bridleway. This runs adjacent to, but outside, the application site. Between this
PROW and the extraction site is proposed to be a soil storage bund and
separately an overburden bund. Officers consider that these would provide
screening into the site and contribute to reducing both dust and noise from the
site.
7.13.6 The PROW team has not objected to the application subject to PROW 16 not
being impeded by the haul road crossing it and as such it is considered that
the proposed development is in accordance with policy DM03 of the MLP
regarding the impact of the development on the PROW network.
7.14

Conclusion and summary reasons for approval

7.14.1 The application seeks removal of 1.4 M T of clay from agricultural land within
the Cotswold AONB. The clay is required for use by the nearby brickworks
and would significantly contribute to the maintaining the supply of bricks for at
least 25 years for such an industrial mineral in accordance with the MLP
80

Page 262

policy MW04 and the NPPF. In this respect the proposed development is in
accordance with this MLP Policy.
7.14.2 The purpose of the application is to secure a long term reserve of clay of a
sufficient quality for blending purposes with that from the existing Wellacre
Quarry for use at the brickworks. The applicant states that there is a two year
supply of suitable good quality clay available at Wellacre Quarry. The
brickworks currently employ 66 employees. It is indicated by the applicant that
these jobs are at risk if a source of good quality clay cannot be secured. The
social and economic argument regarding the preservation of a rural employer
supports that identified in the AONB Management Plan. The MPA agrees with
the social and economic case made and is considered to accord with MLP
Policy MW04.
7.14.3 The application site is by definition located in a “sensitive area” in that it is
within the Cotswolds AONB. It is also considered to be “major” development.
The NPPF at Paragraph 172 identifies “Great weight should be given to
conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks, the
Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest
status of protection in relation to these issues…..” and “…The scale and extent
of development within these designated areas should be limited. Planning
permission should be refused for major development other than in exceptional
circumstances, and where it can be demonstrated that the development is in
the public interest….”
7.14.4 Paragraph 205 of the NPPF states that, amongst other things, when planning
proposals for mineral extraction are determined: “great weight should be given
to the benefits of mineral extraction, including to the economy”; and, as far as
is practical such decisions should provide for the maintenance of non-energy
minerals land-banks from outside designated locations, such as AONBs.
7.14.5 The applicant has put forward a case for the exceptional circumstances being
satisfied. The MPA has considered the evidence put forward regarding the
“…cost, and scope for developing outside of the designated area..” The MPA
accepts that on practicality and viability grounds there is merit in the case
made. Overall, in the planning balance, the MPA considers that the proposed
development does accord with MLP Policy DM09 – Landscape regarding
major development in part b (III) of this policy.
7.14.6 The restoration of the site is a material consideration if the extraction of clay is
deemed acceptable in the AONB location. The CCB has objected to the
proposal for the reasons referred to above. NE has clarified their position
regarding its consultation response and defers its consultation response
regarding the designated landscape to the CCB. The CLA advises that the
proposed concept restoration subject to detailed design, controlled by
planning conditions, to be acceptable in landscape terms in this part of the
AONB.
7.14.7 In the consideration of this application the MPA has had regard to the “highest
status of protection” referred to in the national policy context and in particular
81

Page 263

focusing on the requirements contained in the MLP Policies DM09 Landscape
and MR01: Restoration, aftercare and facilitating beneficial after-uses.
7.14.8 The County Ecologist has raised no objection subject to the attachment of
planning conditions. Biodiversity gain is required and also controlled via
planning conditions although its management outside the 5 year aftercare
period for a further 5 years for each phase of restoration completed, would
require a Section 106 planning obligation. Given the location in the AONB it is
considered necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms,
directly related to the development; and fairly and reasonably related in scale
and kind to the development.
7.14.9 The acoustic information provided has been assessed and is accepted as
appropriate with regard to noise sensitive properties. Consideration has also
been given to the impact on users of the PROW Footpath 16 and Bridleway 23
and the tranquility at this location in the AONB. Whilst there was found to be a
noise impact it was such that it would be transient and of a temporary nature
for approximately 9 walking minutes and within PPG thresholds. The site
location is already affected by nearby industrial and transportation noise and
the MPA concludes that the impact on users of the PROWs would not be
unacceptable.
7.14.10 The HA has raised no objection to the proposed development subject to
planning conditions and informatives including compliance with Section 184 of
the Highways Act to be entered into prior the proposed access being brought
into beneficial use.
7.14.11 The environmental impacts of the proposed development are able to be
managed through planning conditions to acceptable levels such that they are
not expected to give rise to any significant adverse impact on the public and
the nearest residential properties.
7.14.12 The T&CP Act 1990 (as amended) directs that development requiring planning
permission is determined in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. For the reasons referred to above
in the officers consideration and in particular as concluded in paragraphs
7.14.1 – 7.14.11, that when taken into account and with the imposition of
appropriate mitigation through planning conditions mean that the proposals
accord with the Development Plan.
Other considerations
7.14.13 In determining this planning application, the Waste Planning Authority has
worked with the applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on
seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to dealing with the planning
application by liaising with consultees, respondents and the agent, and by
discussing changes to the proposal where considered appropriate or
necessary. This approach has been taken positively and proactively in
accordance with the requirement in the NPPF, as set out in the Town and
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order
2015.
82

Page 264

Human Rights
7.14.14 From 2nd October 2000 the Human Rights Act 1998 has the effect of
enshrining much of the European Convention on Human Rights in UK law.
Under 6(1) of the Act, it is unlawful for a public authority to act in a way,
which is incompatible with a convention right. A person who claims that a
public authority has acted (or proposes to act) in a way which is made
unlawful by Section 6(1), and that he is (or would be) a victim of the unlawful
act, may bring proceedings against the authority under the Act in the
appropriate court or tribunal, or may rely on the convention right or rights
concerned in any legal proceedings.
7.14.15 The main Convention rights relevant when considering planning proposals
are Article 1 of the First Protocol (the peaceful enjoyment of property) and
Article 8 (the right to a private and family life). Article 1 of the First Protocol
guarantees the right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions and Article 8 of
the Human Rights Act 1998 guarantees a right to respect for private and
family life. Article 8 also provides that there shall be no interference by a
public authority with the exercise of this right except in the interests of
national security, public safety, or the economic well-being of the country, for
the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or morals, or
for the protection of the freedom of others.
7.14.16 Objections have been received from members of the public, Cotswold District
Council, CCB but not from other consultees. For the reasons set out in the
Planning Considerations, it is not thought there would be any breach of the
convention rights. Even if there was to be an interference with convention
rights then, in this case, it is thought that the interference would be justified in
the interests of public benefit.
8.0

RECOMMENDATION It is recommended that planning permission is granted
for the reasons set out in this report and summarised in paragraphs 7.14.1 –
7.14.11 subject to the prior completion of a S106 planning agreement to
secure the long term provision of biodiversity management of a further 5
years outside the 5 year aftercare period for each restored restoration phase,
and substantially in accordance with the following conditions:
Conditions
Commencement

1. The development shall commence before the expiry of three years from the date
of this permission. Written notification of the date of commencement of
development shall be sent to the Minerals Planning Authority within seven days
of such commencement.
Reason:
To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 (as amended).
83

Page 265

Duration of planning permission
2. The development hereby permitted shall cease mineral extraction and be
restored in accordance with the approved restoration scheme within 30 years
from the date of commencement as notified in Condition 1.
Reason: To comply with Section 72(5), paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 5 of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and to ensure the
effective progressive restoration of the site in accordance with Policies MR01,
DM06 and DM09 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018-2032
Approved Plans and Documents
3. The development shall only be carried out in accordance with the following
plans and documents:
Supporting Documents/Appendices
App 1
App 2
App 3
App 4
App 5
App 6
App 7

App forms, certificate
Drawings
Statement of Community Engagement (SoCE)
Soil Survey and Agricultural Land Classification (ALC)
assessment
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA)
Surface Water Drainage Scheme
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA)
App1 LVIA Methodology
App 2 Aboricultural Report (BS5837)

App 8
App 9
App 10
App 11
App 12
App 13
App 14

Archaeology desk based assessment DBA and
Geophysical Study Report
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA)
Ecological Surveys and Otter Mitigation
Noise Assessment (NA)
Borehole Logs and Location Plan
Transport Statement (TS)
Air Quality Assessment (AQA)

Plans
Drwg No M17 148 D 015
Drwg No M17.148.D.003
Drwg No M17 148 D 026
Drwg No M17 148 D 039
Drwg No M17 148 D 014
Drwg No M17 148 D 033
Drwg No M17 148 D 034
Drwg No M17 148 D 035
Drwg No M17 148 D 036
Drwg No M17 148 D 028

Location Plan
Designations Plan
Direction of Works/Section
Landform sections C-C’and D-D’
Influences
Phasing Plan –Year 1
Phasing Plan –Year 3
Phasing Plan –Year 10
Phasing Plan –Year 24
Restoration Concept
84

Page 266


















Documents submitted as part of application
Agricultural Land Classification - Askew Land & Soil Limited – ref C646
dated 29 April 2019
Flood Risk Assessment – RAB Consultants –Ref RAB2286L dated 25
November 2019
Hydrology and Surface Water Drainage Strategy Report
Heritage Desk-Based Assessment – Cotswold Archaeology Report ref
18516 – dated October 2018
Geophysical Survey Report – SUMO Geophysics Ltd – 9 September
2019
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal – Pleydell Smithyman Limited – ref
M17.148.R.001A – Rev A September 2019
Bat Roost & Bat Activity Survey - Pleydell Smithyman Limited – ref
M17.148.R.005 September 2019
Breeding Bird Survey (Including Barn Owl) Report - Pleydell Smithyman
Limited – ref M17.148.R.007 September 2019
Otter, Water Vole, and Crayfish Survey - Pleydell Smithyman Limited –
ref M17.148.R.008September 2019
Otter Mitigation - Pleydell Smithyman Limited – ref M17.148.R.018 4
November 2019
Noise Assessment – WBM Acoustic Consultants – ref 4865 25
September 2019
Plan – Borehole Location Plan – Peak Surveying Services –
Topographic Survey 21 May 2018 – ref PSS-079-002-001 30 May 2018
Borehole Log 1 to Log 4 – James Associates – October 2017
Transport Statement
Air Quality Assessment - Isopleth Ltd – ref 01.0142.001 (v2) November
2019
Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment - Pleydell Smithyman Limited
November 2019

except so far as any elements of the contents of documents and plans listed
above are superseded by any requirements of any of the other conditions
herewith.
Reason:
To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with
the details in the submitted planning application and supporting documents and
in accordance with Policies DM01to DM09, MR01 and MW04 of the
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018-2032.
4. A copy of this Decision Notice and other approved documents (including future
approved versions of schemes required by other conditions to which this
permission is subject) shall be kept available for inspection at the site offices
during the prescribed working hours of operation for the duration of the
development.
Reason:
To ensure that the site operators are fully aware of the
requirements of the planning conditions throughout the period of development

85

Page 267

and in accordance with Policies DM01to DM09, MR01 of the Gloucestershire
Minerals Local Plan 2018-2032.
Permitted Development Rights
5. Notwithstanding that certain types of development could otherwise be carried
out at the site as permitted development under the provisions of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or
any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), no buildings, external
floodlighting or other illumination, plant structures, screening and crushing
equipment, shall be brought to or erected on the site without the prior written
approval of the Mineral Planning Authority.
Reason:
To enable the Minerals Planning Authority to adequately control,
monitor and minimise the impacts on the amenities of the local area and in
accordance with Policies DM01to DM09, MR01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals
Local Plan 2018-2032.
6. Within one month of the commencement of development a scheme providing
details of the location of the site operator’s site compound, offices and
maintenance and parking areas shall be submitted to the Minerals Planning
Authority for its written approval. The approved scheme shall be fully
implemented during the lifetime of the permission.
Reason:
To enable the Minerals Planning Authority to adequately control,
monitor and minimise the impacts on the amenities of the local area and in
accordance with Policies DM01 to DM09, MR01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals
Local Plan 2018-2032.
Extraction
7. The approved works hereby permitted shall be carried out in 5 phases as
detailed on the submitted drawing M17.148.D.026 ‘Direction of Works and
Section’ dated April 2019 and the Planning Statement dated October 2019.
Reason: To enable the Minerals Planning Authority to adequately control,
monitor and minimise the impacts on the amenities of the local area and in
accordance with Policies DM01to DM09, MR01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals
Local Plan 2018-2032
Hours of operation
8. With the exception of necessary works arising from emergency situations, no
operations under this development shall take place other than between the
following hours:
i. 07:00 – 17:00 hours Mondays – Fridays and
08:00 – 13:00 hours on Saturdays and
not at any time on Sundays and Bank/public holidays,
ii. Vehicles may enter the site no earlier than 07:00 hours Monday 86

Page 268

Saturday. The engines of all vehicles entering the site between 07:00 and
7:30 hours must be turned off following entry to the site and no tipping
activities or deliveries to take place until 07:30 hours.
Reason:
To protect the amenity of the area and in accordance with Policies
DM01to DM09 and MR01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 20182032.
Soil Imports, Soil Handling and Material Storage
9. No soils or soil making materials, shall be imported to the site.
Reason:
To protect the amenity of the area and in accordance with Policies
DM01to DM09 and MR01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 20182032.
10. No development shall take place, other than the construction of the new access,
until drawings detailing a layout for use of the site, including soil and material
storage areas, parking spaces and operational equipment areas have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Minerals Planning Authority. All use
of the site under this permission shall be in accordance with the layout detailed
under the drawings approved and the parking and storage areas shall be
maintained as such for the duration of the development. No soil or material
storage or parking which is outside the relevant space or area under drawings
as approved shall take place at any time.
Reason:
In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of occupiers of
neighbouring properties, recreational users of the Cotswold AONB. and in
accordance with Policies DM01to DM09 and MR01 of the Gloucestershire
Minerals Local Plan 2018-2032.
11. The Minerals Planning Authority shall be given at least 7 days’ notice in writing
of the commencement of soil stripping operations. Before any part of the site is
excavated or traversed by heavy vehicles or machinery, or used for the storing
of subsoil, soil forming material or overburden, or as a machinery plant yard, or
for the construction of a haul road, all available topsoil (and subsoil) shall be
stripped from that part and stored in accordance with details to be submitted to
and approved in writing with the Minerals Planning Authority.
Reason:
To prevent unnecessary trafficking over soil by heavy equipment
and vehicles that may damage the soil in the interests of the successful
restoration of the site in accordance with Policies DM07 and MR01 of the
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
12. No more than 100,000 cubic metres of overburden shall be removed from the
site.
Reason: To ensure that sufficient material is available for the approved
restoration and in accordance with Policies DM07 and MR01 of the
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
87

Page 269

13. Records of all materials removed from the site shall be kept for 5 years and
made available upon written request by the MineralsPlanning Authority within 2
weeks of such a request. Written records of clay and overburden removal shall
be provided to the Mineral Planning Authority every 12 months from the date
provided in accordance with Condition 11 of this permission.
Reason: For monitoring purposes and Policies DM01to DM09, MW04 and
MR01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018-2032.
14. All topsoil, subsoil, and soil forming material derived from the site shall be
retained on the site for use in its subsequent restoration.
Reason:
To ensure that remaining soil resources are retained, in the
interests of the successful restoration of the site in accordance with Policies
DM07, DM09and MR01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 –
2032.
15. No plant or vehicles shall cross any area of unstripped topsoil or subsoil except
where such trafficking is essential and unavoidable for undertaking permitted
operations. Essential trafficking routes shall be clearly marked on the ground by
stakes or other means. No part of the site shall be excavated, traversed, used
for a road, for the stationing of plant or buildings, storage of subsoil or
overburden, waste or mineral deposit, until all available topsoil and subsoil have
been stripped from that part.
Reason:
To prevent unnecessary trafficking over soil by heavy equipment
and vehicles that may damage the soil in the interests of the successful
restoration of the site in accordance with Policies DM07 and MR01 of the
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
16. No topsoil and subsoil shall be stripped unless they are in a dry and friable
condition. In particular no soils shall be moved:
a) during the months of November to March inclusive, unless otherwise
approved in writing by the mineral planning authority (This shall only be
considered on the basis of a soil assessment carried out by a qualified
person); or
b) when the soil to be moved or trafficked upon has a moisture content that
is equal to, or greater than that at which the soils become plastic.
(Tested in accordance with the “worm test” as set out in BS 1377:1975
“British Standard Methods Test for Soils for Civil Engineering
Purposes”); or if
c) when there are pools of water on the soil surface.
Reason:
To ensure that remaining soil resources are retained, in the
interests of the successful restoration of the site in accordance with Policies
DM07 and MR01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
88

Page 270

17. All topsoil and subsoil shall be stored in separate mounds. Topsoil storage
mounds shall not exceed 3 metres in height and overburden/subsoil mounds 5
metres in height. The mounds shall be constructed with the minimum amount of
compaction.
Reason:
To ensure that remaining soil resources are stored, in the
interests of the successful restoration of the site in accordance with Policies
DM07 and MR01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
18. All storage mounds which are to remain in situ for more than 3 months, or over
winter, shall be grass seeded and managed in accordance with a scheme
approved in writing by the Minerals Planning Authority. The scheme shall be
submitted, in writing, to the Minerals Planning Authority two months prior to the
commencement of soil storage.
Reason:
To ensure that remaining soil resources are stored, in the
interests of the successful restoration of the site in accordance with Policies
DM07 and MR01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
Access, Traffic and Protection of the Public Highway
19. Prior to commencement of the construction of the vehicular access hereby
permitted details of a Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Minerals Planning Authority. The
approved CTMP shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The
approved CTMP shall include but not be restricted to:











Parking of vehicle of site operatives and visitors (including measures
taken to ensure satisfactory access and movement for existing occupiers
of neighbouring properties during construction);
Routes for construction traffic;
Any temporary access to the site;
Temporary measures for crossing of Blockley Brook;
Locations for loading/unloading and storage of plant, waste and
construction materials;
Method of preventing mud and dust being carried onto the highway
(including wheel wash);
Arrangements for turning vehicles;
Arrangements to receive abnormal loads or large vehicles; and
Methods of communicating the approved CTMP to staff, visitors and
neighbouring residents and businesses.

The development shall then be carried out in accordance with the CTMP as
approved.
Reason:
In the interests of the safety of the users of the highway and to
protect the amenity of the area. It is considered that compliance with these
requirements would only be effective if the CTMP is found to be acceptable
89

Page 271

and approved as such, prior to the construction of the new access in
accordance with Policies DM01 and DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals
Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
20. Prior to commencement of extraction of minerals hereby permitted, the
vehicular access hereby permitted shall be laid out and constructed in
accordance with the submitted Preliminary Road Crossing Layout 2385 H10-F
dated 13 September 2019 and thereafter maintained for the duration of this
permission.
Reason:
To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring that there is a
safe, suitable and secure means of access for all people that minimises the
conflict between traffic and cyclists and pedestrians in accordance with the
NPPF and in accordance with Policy DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals
Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
Visibility splays
21. The vehicular access hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the
existing roadside frontage boundaries have been set back to provide visibility
splays extending from a point 2.4m back along the centre of the access
measured from the public road carriageway edge (the X points) to a point on the
nearer carriageway edge of the public road 135m south west and 59m north
east (the Y points). The area between those splays and the carriageway shall
be reduced in level and thereafter maintained so as to provide clear visibility
between 1.05m and 2.0m at the X point and between 0.6m and 2.0m at the Y
point above the adjacent carriageway level.
Reason:
To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring that adequate
visibility is provided and maintained and to ensure that a safe, suitable and
secure means of access for all people that minimises the conflict between site
traffic and other users of the public highway is provided in accordance with
the NPPF in accordance with Policy DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals
Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
22. The sole means of vehicular access to and from the site for HGVs shall be via
the new access as shown on drawing Preliminary Road Crossing Layout 2385
H10-F dated 13 September 2019 other than for the purposes of installing or
removing quarry plant and equipment.
Reason:
To define the scope of the application and in the interests of
traffic safety in accordance with Policies DM01 and DM03 of the
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
23. Prior to construction of the permitted access a highway condition survey is to be
undertaken by the operator of the public highway that will be affected by
operational traffic post construction. For the duration of the development hereby
permitted, highway condition surveys by the site operator will then take place
and be submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority every 12 months to establish
the need for remedial work required to remedy deterioration. The financial
90

Page 272

responsibility for any necessary remedial highway works will be for the site
operator.
Reason:
To maintain a safe public highway at the point of crossing and in
the interests of traffic safety in accordance with Policies DM01 and DM03 of the
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
24. Any remedial work deemed necessary by the Mineral Planning Authority shall
be undertaken within 6 months of the highways condition survey being
submitted to the Minerals Planning Authority in accordance with Condition 23.
Reason:
To maintain a safe public highway at the point of crossing and in
the interests of traffic safety in accordance with Policies DM01 and DM03 of the
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032
25. No vehicles shall enter the public highway from the Site unless their wheels and
chassis have been cleaned to prevent materials being deposited on the public
highway.
Reason:
In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policies
DM01 and DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
26. No mud, debris or materials shall be deposited on the highway from vehicles
entering or leaving the site.
Reason:
In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policies
DM01 and DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
27. Within six months of the date of this permission a schedule of advisory signs
(incorporating changes recommended in the submitted Road Safety Audit),
warning highway users of the crossing of HGVs shall be submitted for the
written approval of the Minerals Planning Authority. The approved schedule
shall be implemented before the permitted access is brought into use of its
approval and the signage maintained for the duration of this permission.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policies
DM01 and DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
Environmental Protection
Securing of Loads
28. All loads of overburden and clay materials removed from the site shall be
enclosed or covered so as to prevent spillage, dust or loss of material at the site
or onto the public highway.
Reason:
In the interests of environmental and highway safety and dust
minimization in accordance with Policies DM01 and DM03 of the
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032
91

Page 273

Air quality /dust
29. No materials shall be burnt on the site at any time.
Reason:
In the interests of amenity of the area and in accordance with
Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
30. All mitigation measures identified in the submitted Air Quality Assessment
report dated November 2019 (Ref: 01.0142.001 (v2)) shall be implemented from
the date of commencement and maintained throughout the period of operation
and restoration of the site.
Reason:
To minimise the impact on the aural amenity of the area on local
residents and recreational users of the Cotswold AONB in accordance with
Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
Noise
31. All reasonable steps shall be taken to minimise noise from vehicles and
machinery and, in particular silencers shall be fitted to and used by all vehicles,
plant and machinery used in operations on the Site.
Reason:
To minimise the impact on the aural amenity of the area on local
residents and recreational users of the Cotswold AONB in accordance with
Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
32. All HGVs and other vehicles involved with site operations shall be fitted with
white noise reversing warning devices.
Reason:
To minimise the impact on the aural amenity of the area on local
residents and recreational users of the Cotswold AONB in accordance with
Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
33. During routine operations, as defined in the Noise Assessment (Appendix 11 of
the Planning Statement dated October 2019 - WBM Acoustic Consultants),
between the hours of 07:00 to 18:00 on Mondays to Fridays and 08:00 to 13:00
on Saturdays, the noise levels from the site shall not exceed:

i)

44dB LAeq,1hour freefield at the property boundaries of Wellacre House and
Stapenhill Farm;
ii) 45dB LAeq,1hour, freefield at the property boundary of Longmeadow;
iii) 46dB LAeq,1hour, freefield at the property boundary of Kettles Barn.; and
iv) 50dB LAeq,1hour, freefield at any other property.
Reason:
To minimise the impact on the aural amenity of the area on local
residents and recreational users of the Cotswold AONB in accordance with
Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
34. Temporary operations, as defined in the Noise Assessment (appendix 11 of the
92

Page 274

Planning Statement dated October 2019 - WBM Acoustic Consultants), may
take place for up to 8 weeks in a 12 month period and during this time noise
levels shall not exceed 70 dB LAeq,1hour freefield at the property boundary of the
receptors identified in condition 33.
Reason:
To minimise the impact on the aural amenity of the area on local
residents and recreational users of the Cotswold AONB in accordance with
Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
Ecology
35. No removal of hedgerows, trees or shrubs or soil stripping works of ground shall
take place between 1st March and 31st August inclusive, unless a competent
ecologist has undertaken a careful, detailed check of the vicinity of the
vegetation or ground concerned for active birds’ nests. No such vegetation
should be cleared or soils stripped if birds are shown to be nesting unless the
ecologist has given confirmation in writing that no nesting birds are present or
that there are appropriate measures in place to protect any identified nesting
birds on the site. Any such measures should also be copied in writing to the
Minerals Planning Authority for information and then implemented.
Reason:
To ensure that wild birds building or using their nests are
protected as required and in accordance with Policy DM06 of the
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
36. Within six months of the commencement of development a detailed
methodology and timescale for the planting of the hedgerow at the new access
onto the B4479 shall be submitted to the Minerals Planning Authority for
approval in writing and implemented in full as approved. Any sections of
hedgerow which fail to thrive or die for a period of 5 years from the date of
planting should be cut back to ground level and new hedgerow planting with
appropriate protection undertaken. The detail of this and maintenance and
management of the hedgerow should be set out as part of the approved
methodology.
Reason:
To ensure the existing landscape and visual character of the
B4479 is maintained in accordance with Policies DM03 and DM09 of the
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
37. Prior to the removal of any trees that have been found to support bat roosting
features, an update bat roost survey will be conducted to identify the
presence/absence of roosting bats. Where no roosting bats are identified, the
trees can be felled using suitable methods by appropriately qualified
contractors. Should roosting bats be identified, the trees must remain in-situ
until a licence has been obtained from Natural England for the
destruction/disturbance of a bat roost. All surveys will be reported to the
Minerals Planning Authority with 14 days of the completion of the survey.
Reason:
To ensure that roosting bats are protected as required by national
and European legislation and in accordance with Policy DM06 of the
93

Page 275

Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
38. Immediately prior to habitat removal along the banks of the Blockley Brook, an
inspection for reptiles will be conducted by a suitably experienced ecologist. All
suitable vegetation will be hand searched for reptiles and any reptiles
encountered will be allowed to naturally disperse prior to any vegetation
removal. Where necessary, reptiles will be captured and translocated to a
suitable location that will not be impacted by the works. The details of the above
ecological supervision will be provided in writing to the Mineral Planning
Authority within 14 days of the completion of the supervision.
Reason:
To ensure that reptiles are protected as required by national
legislation and in accordance with Policy DM06 of the Gloucestershire Minerals
Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
39. Prior to any vegetation clearance an Operational Ecological Management Plan
(OEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning
Authority. The approved OEMP shall be adhered to and implemented
throughout the site operations hereby approved strictly in accordance with the
approved details. Any modifications to the approved details for example as a
result of requirements of a protected species licence must be submitted to and
agreed in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority. The approved OEMP shall
be based on the following reports:
(i) Preliminary Ecological Appraisal paragraphs 4.9, 4.13 and 4.34
(ii) Bat Activity Survey paragraphs 4.12, 4.13 and 4.16
(iii) Bat Roost Survey paragraphs 4.2 to 4.8
(iv) Breeding Bird Survey paragraphs 5.2 to 5.9
(v) Otter, Water Vole and Crayfish Survey paragraphs 4.4 to 4.10
(vi) Memo M17.148.R.018
(vii) Confidential Appendix M17.148.R.007.
The OEMP shall include the following items:
(a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities;
(b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones” and use of protective
fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs;
(c) Practical measures practices informed by further (some annual) surveys
where appropriate, to avoid or reduce impacts on protected species during
construction. The measures can be presented through Method Statements for
badgers, bats, otters, water voles, white-clawed crayfish, reptiles especially
grass snake and breeding birds;
(d) Management of injurious plants or invasive non-native species;
(e) Enhancement features to be suitably installed including 3 bat roost boxes
on trees, a barn owl nest box;
(f) Temporary habitats including soil stores to be created and managed and/or
removed appropriately;
(g) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be
present on site to oversee works;
(h) The role and responsibilities on site of an Ecological Clerk of Works
94

Page 276

(ECoW) and other responsible persons plus lines of communication.
Reason:
To ensure that biodiversity is conserved and enhanced in
accordance with NPPF paragraphs 8, 170, 175, 109, 118 and 180 and in
accordance with Policy DM06 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018
– 2032.
40. Within three months of commencement of the development a Landscape and
Ecology Management Plan (LEMP) based on the Concept Restoration drawing
M17.148.D.028; the Breeding Bird Survey report paragraphs 5.4 to 5.8; Bat
Activity Survey report paragraphs 4.18 and 4.19; plus the Otter, Water Vole and
Crayfish Survey paragraph 4.11shall be submitted to the Minerals Planning
Authority for approval. The LEMP shall also include the creation of one or more
meanders and re-profiling within the brook corridor to benefit biodiversity. The
methods of establishment and the aftercare management for the next 10 years
following restoration of each particular phase should also form part of the
LEMP. Planted vegetation for natural areas and features must be of trees,
shrubs, grass and herbaceous species of native species and origin. The LEMP
should be submitted to for approval by the Mineral Planning Authority and then
implemented as approved.
Reason:
To conserve and enhance landscape and biodiversity value in
accordance with Minerals Local Plan policies DM06 and MR01, ODPM Circular
06/2005 plus National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 8, 170, 172 and
175
41. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Minerals Planning Authority the
permanent bridge crossing the brook shall be of a design as shown on the
Preliminary Drainage Details drawing D05-A and installed between March and
September inclusive and be in accordance with the measures set out in the
Otter Mitigation Memo M17.148.R.018 dated November 2019.
Reason: To ensure protected species are conserved and the development is
carried out in accordance with the submitted details and in accordance with
NPPF paragraphs 8, 170, 175, 109, 118 and 180 and in accordance with Policy
DM06 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032
42. The proposed hedgerow planting along the south-eastern boundary of the site
and the proposed tree planting in the south east corner as shown on Concept
Restoration Concept drawing M17.148.D.028 must be planted no later than the
first available planting season after the approved vehicular access has been
constructed. All other planting or sowing must be completed within 12 months of
extraction works ceasing, or the first available planting season whichever is
sooner, in each phase as shown on the Direction of Works and Section drawing
M17.148.D.026 and progressive works and restoration drawings
M17.148.D.033, M17.148.D.034, M17.148.D.035, M17.148.D.036 and
M17.148.D.028.
Reason:
To support amenity and biodiversity value of trees and hedgerow
planting and militate against loss of hedgerow and trees caused by the
95

Page 277

development in accordance with the NPPF and in accordance with Policy
DM06 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
43. Prior to the commencement of mineral extraction hereby permitted, tree and
hedgerow protection measures as set out in the Tree Survey report
accompanying the application shall be put in place. No materials, soils, or
equipment shall be stored within the tree protection zone of any retained tree
within the site.
Reason:
To prevent loss of amenity and biodiversity value of trees and
shrubs to be retained in accordance with the NPPF and in accordance with
Policy DM06 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
44. The tree protection measures required by condition 43 shall be maintained for
the duration of the development.
Reason:
To protect the landscape and biodiversity importance of boundary
features and in accordance with NPPF Paragraphs 109 and 118 and Policy
DM06 plus of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
45. Prior to the installation of any new or replacement external lighting relevant
details shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority for approval. The
submission shall be based on Bat Activity Report paragraph 4.16 and include
the following details
(a) the position, height and type of all lighting,
(b) the predicted intensity and predicted spread of light
(c) the lighting proposed must create no significant increase in illumination on
habitats and features that may be or are used by bats;.
(d) the expected times throughout the year when such lighting will be used
and controlled.
The approved external lighting shall be implemented for the duration of the
development and maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s
instructions.
Reason:
To protect local amenity and to ensure that bats are not
discouraged at this location and in accordance Policies DM01to DM09 and
MR01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018-2032. ODPM Circular
06/2005 plus National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 170, 172, 175
and 180.
Lighting
46. In addition to the requirements of condition 45, no external lighting shall be
installed on the site except in accordance with a scheme that has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Minerals Planning Authority. The
scheme shall include precise details of the lighting proposals including lux
levels. The scheme shall then be implemented as approved.

96

Page 278

Reason:
To minimise the nuisance and disturbance to neighbours,
recreational users of the Cotswold AONB, surrounding area and the ecology of
the area. It is considered that compliance with these requirements would only
be effective if the lighting scheme is found to be acceptable and approved as
such, prior to it being installed in accordance with Policies DM01to DM09 and
MR01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018-2032.
Water Protection and Pollution Prevention
47. Prior to commencement of mineral extraction a detailed design and associated
management and maintenance plan of the surface water drainage for the site,
in accordance with the principles outlined within the Surface Water and
Drainage Strategy accompanying the application shall be submitted in writing
for approval by the Mineral Planning Authority. The approved drainage system
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved detailed design and
managed and maintained in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason:
To ensure that the proposed development does not increase flood
risk and that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this
proposal, and sufficient detail of the construction, operation and
maintenance/management of the sustainable drainage systems are provided to
and approved by the Mineral Planning Authority to prevent pollution of the water
environment in accordance Policy DM05 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local
Plan 2018 – 2032.
Contamination/Pollution Control.
48. Any facilities for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on
impervious bases and surrounded by impervious bund walls. The volume of the
bunded compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the tank plus
10%. If there are multiple tanks, the compound should be at least equivalent to
the capacity of the largest tank, or the combined capacity of the interconnected
tanks, plus 10%. All filling points, vents, gauges, and sight glasses must be
located within the bund. The drainage system of the bund shall be sealed with
no discharge to any watercourse, land, or underground strata. Associated
pipework should be located above ground and protected from accidental
damage. All filing points and tank overflow pipe outlets should be directed to
discharge downwards into the bund.
Reason:
To prevent pollution of the water environment accordance Policy
DM05 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
49. Water used for the cleaning of vehicles in the approved wheel wash shall not be
discharged to any watercourse or soakaway on the site. All water removed from
the wheel wash is to be removed from the site for treatment.
Reason: to prevent pollution of the water environment accordance Policy
DM05 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
50. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be
97

Page 279

present at the Site then no further development shall be carried out until the
developer has submitted to and obtained written approval from the Mineral
Planning Authority for a mitigation and remediation strategy detailing how this
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and thereafter the scheme shall
be implemented as approved.
Reason:
To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance
Policy DM05 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
51. No waste materials shall be imported into Loaders Barn Quarry.
Reason:
To ensure satisfactory restoration and management of the
landscape and biodiversity features in accordance with Mineral Local Plan
Policies DM01, DM06, DM09 and MR01.
Temporary and Permanent Site Fencing
52. No other development shall commence, apart from the construction of the site
access, until the implementation of any temporary and permanent fencing at the
site. Details of the location and specification/finish of such fencing shall be
submitted in writing for the written approval of the Minerals Planning Authority.
The approved temporary fencing shall be erected as approved prior to any
construction operations, (apart from the construction of the site access) and
maintained for the construction/extraction/restoration period, as relevant. The
approved permanent fencing shall be erected as approved prior to the start of
operations, apart from the construction of the site access, and maintained for
the life of the development.
Reason:
To ensure that the site is properly secured and minimise any
visual impact to nearby receptors and to ensure satisfactory restoration and
management of the landscape and biodiversity features in accordance with
Mineral Local Plan Policies DM01, DM06, DM09 and MR01.
Protection of the Railway
53. No drainage (including culverts) or any engineering works including earthworks
shall be undertaken that would affect the safety and integrity of the railway line
and associated infrastructure.
Reason:
In the interests of safety and integrity of the railway and
associated infrastructure in accordance with Policies DM01to DM09, MW1,
MA01 and MR01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018-2032.
54. Within 2 months of commencement of development a scheme shall be
submitted for approval in writing by the Minerals Planning Authority detailing the
temporary and long term boundary treatment near to the railway line. The
approved scheme shall be fully implemented within 1 month of approval in
writing by the Minerals Planning Authority and maintained throughout the
restoration works and aftercare.

98

Page 280

Reason:
In the interests of railway and public safety and to protect railway
infrastructure in accordance with Policies DM01to DM09, MW1, MA01 and
MR01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018-2032
Restoration, Landscape and Aftercare
55. Within 1 year of the date of the commencement of mineral extraction hereby
permitted, a detailed restoration, landscape and aftercare management scheme
for each phase of extraction and a final restoration scheme shall be submitted to
the Mineral Planning Authority for written approval. The detailed schemes shall
be based on approved drawing M17.148.D.028 Restoration Concept and shall
provide the following:



















A summary of all restoration and aftercare processes planned, in
progress or completed across the whole Site;
Ecological trends and identified or new constraints on Site that might
influence management;
The purpose, aims and objectives for the restoration and aftercare and
management of the phase;
Detail of species, sizes, spacing and areas of tree and shrub planting;
Details of seed mixes and areas of seeding to be used;
Restoration levels;
Selection of appropriate measures (including establishment,
enhancement and after-care) for achieving the aims and objectives of
management for maintaining or introducing target habitats and
landscape features including hedgerows, woodland, grassland, ponds,
seasonal wetland and creation of a meandering route of the Blockley
Brook;
Description of any opportunities to retain or re-expose earth heritage
features;
Details for ground forming, soil, substrate, mineral, rock preparation and
habitat and species establishment;
Sources of soil forming materials, plant stock and other species
introductions;
Provisions for any public access or interpretation;
Extent and location of proposed works shown on appropriate scale
plans;
Prescriptions and programme for initial aftercare of 5 years and long
term management of a further 10 years;
The organisation, body or personnel responsible for the work;
Timing of the restoration operations in relation to phased working of the
site overall;
Proposals for monitoring the success of all restoration works; and
Submitted details shall also include the mechanisms by which the longterm implementation of the scheme will be secured including with those
organisations or persons responsible for its delivery.

The restoration, landscape and aftercare management schemes shall be
implemented in full as approved by the Minerals Planning Authority for the
99

Page 281

duration of this permission. The approved Aftercare Scheme shall be reviewed
and updated every 2 years from implementation.
Reason: To conserve, restore and enhance the environmental value and
amenity of the land and in accordance with Policies DM06, DM09 and MR01
of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
Informatives

1)

The development under this permission does not permit the importation of
waste materials. In the event that additional fill material is required an
application for planning permission would need to be made.

2)

Network Rail has assets in the vicinity and adjoining the site. Network Rail
property, infrastructure and operational land shall be protected from any
interference by the developer. Any works that may affect Network Rail assets
(or within 20m of such) shall be agreed with Network Rail before being
undertaken. These works may relate to drainage rights, flow rates to culverts
beneath the railway line, discharge of storm water or surface water flows or
run–off affecting the railway, surface water lagoons and soakaways, location
of plant and machinery, boundary treatment, earthworks and landscaping.

3)

In relation to the County Council’s Service Level Agreement with the Local
Biological Records Centre and to assist in the strategic conservation of
countywide biodiversity, all species and habitat records from the ecological
work commissioned by the applicant should be copied [if not already] to the
Gloucestershire Centre for Environmental Records (GCER).

4)

The planning permission is subject to a Section 106 Agreement.

5)

The construction of the new access will require the extension of a verge
and/or footway crossing from the carriageway under the Highways Act 1908 –
Section 184 and the applicant is required to obtain the permission of
Gloucestershire County Council as the Highway Authority before commencing
any works on the highway. (Contact details:
highways@gloucestershire.gov.uk or 08000 514514)

100

Page 282

